# FITCHBURG STATE
P UNIVERSITY

Fitchburg State University

Board of Trustees

Published on March 26, 2019 at 2:49 PM EDT

Date and Time
Tuesday April 2, 2019 at 8:00 AM EDT

Location

Presidents' Hall, Mazzaferro Center, 291 Highland Ave., Fitchburg, MA 01420

Notice of a Meeting of the Fitchburg State University Board of Trustees

Tuesday, April 2, 2019, at 8:00 a.m. in Presidents' Hall, Mazzaferro Center, 291 Highland Ave.,

Fitchburg, MA 01420

Agenda

l. Opening Items
A. Record Attendance and Guests
B. Call the Meeting to Order

C. Public Comments

D. Approve Minutes from the Board of Approve Minutes

Trustees January 29, 2019 meeting - VOTE
(19-18/19)

8:00 AM

Im

3m

Im

Approve minutes for Board of Trustees Joint Meeting with the Fitchburg State University Foundation on

January 29, 2019

Il. Habitat for Humanity

A. Student presentation FYI
Ill. Tenure
A. Tenure- VOTE (20-18/19) Vote

IV. Notifications

A. Personnel Actions (N05-18/19) FYI
B. Promotions - (N06-18/19) FYI
C. Financial Statements (N07-18/19) FYI
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8:14 AM

5m

8:19 AM
Im
3m

3m
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V. Delegation of Authority
A. VOTE (24-18/19)

V1. Financial Audit Restatement

A. Draft Financial Audit Restatement

B. Final Financial Audit Restatement

Vote

Discuss

Discuss

C. Acceptance of Financial Audit Restatement  Vote

- VOTE (21-18/19)

VII. Support of Increased Funding for Public Higher Education

A. Resolution - VOTE (22-18/19)

VIIl. Chair's Report

Vote

A. DHE Trustee Conference March 28, 2019 FYI

IX. President's Report

A. Collective Bargaining

. New Approved Programs

. Property Updates

. Strategic Planning

. Fitchburg State 125th Anniversary
. Future Falcon Day

. Commencement Speaker

. 2019-2020 Academic Calendar

T 0 M m g O W

I. News Articles

X. Executive Session

A. Executive Session

FYI
FYI
FYI
FYI
Discuss
FYI
FYI
FYI
FYI

Vote

Alexander Ramos, Jr.

8:26 AM

3m

8:29 AM

5m

3m

8:40 AM

5m

8:45 AM

8:46 AM

5m

2m

5m

Im

2m

Im

9:13 AM

It is requested that the Board of Trustees enter into executive session to discuss honorary degrees, and
not return to public session. VOTE (23-18/19)

XI. Closing Items

A. Adjourn Meeting

Vote
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Cover Sheet

Approve Minutes from the Board of Trustees January 29,
2019 meeting - VOTE (19-18/19)

Section: I. Opening Items

Item: D. Approve Minutes from the Board of Trustees January 29, 2019
meeting - VOTE (19-18/19)

Purpose: Approve Minutes

Submitted by:
Related Material:

Minutes for Board of Trustees Joint Meeting with the Fitchburg State University
Foundation on January 29, 2019
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# FITCHBURG STATE
# UNIVERSITY

Fitchburg State University
Minutes

Board of Trustees Joint Meeting with the Fitchburg State
University Foundation

Date and Time
Tuesday January 29, 2019 at 8:00 AM

Location

Fitchburg State Theater Block, 717 Main Street, Fitchburg, MA 01420

Notice of a Meeting of the Fitchburg State University Board of Trustees
Tuesday, January 29, 2019, at 8:00 a.m. at the Fitchburg State University idealLab in
the Theater Block, 717 Main Street, Fitchburg, MA 01420.

This meeting with be a joint meeting with the Fitchburg State University Foundation

Trustees Present
A. Clementi, A. Ramos, Jr., C. Stimpson, D. Nieto, F. O'Donnell, L. Barrieau, M. Nicholson

Trustees Absent
C. Stover, D. Irving, D. Phillips, D. Tiernan

Guests Present

A. Cardelle, A. Krishnamurthy, B. Railton, C. Canney, C. Picone, D. Benes, G. Doiron, J.
Bry, J. Murdoch, K. McCarthy, L. Bayless, M. Bruun, M. McKenzie, M. Siderwicz, S. Battit,
S. Swartz, Y. Malcolm

. Opening Items

A. Record Attendance and Guests

B. Call the Meeting to Order

Powered by BoardOnTrack 4 of 282
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A. Clementi called a meeting of the board of trustees of Fitchburg State
University to order on Tuesday Jan 29, 2019 @ 8:04 AM at Fitchburg State
Theater Block, 717 Main Street, Fitchburg, MA 01420.

A. Clementi introduced and welcomed newest Trustee, Martha Nicholson.

C. Public Comments
MSCA Union Faculty members from various departments expressed their
concerns regarding the contract. They compelled the board members to support

the contract.

A. Krishnamurthy, MSCA Chapter President, read a prepared statement urging
the Board to work with the MSCA to fund the contract.

D. Approve Minutes from the Board of Trustees October 30, 2018 Meeting - VOTE
(18-18/19)
A. Ramos, Jr. made a motion to approve minutes from the Board of Trustees on
10-30-18.
C. Stimpson seconded the motion.
The board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.

E. Approve October 4, 2018 minutes from the Fitchburg State Foundation Meeting
(FB-01-190129)
The October 4, 2018 Foundation minutes were approved unanimously by the
Foundation Board.

Il. Institutional Advancement

A. Presentation by Suzanne Battit
The president introduced Suzanne Battit from the organization the Development
Guild. S. Batitt's is serving in a consultant role for the university and assisting
with the search for a permanent Vice President for Institutional Advancement. S.
Battit thanked the board for the opportunity to meet with them and provide
information regarding her work with the unit. She provided an update on the
search. She indicated that her organization was in the process of phone
screening a candidate pool of approximately125 individuals. She explained the
process and the timing for the search. Next, she briefly presented on the Theater
Block initiative. Currently the Development Guild is conducting a feasibility of
higher perspective donors and testing various levels of giving in order to assess
the potential to raise money. She explained the scope of the work. She stated all
opportunities would be looked at including grant funding M. Connors expressed
concern about timing with the City of Fitchburg Library campaign. There was a
discussion.

Ill. Foundation Committee Reports
A. Audit Committee - 990 Tax Review - VOTE- (FB-02-190129)
K. Spinelli reviewed the 990 Tax Form. The president requested a motion to
accept the 990 Tax Form. The Foundation Board voted unanimously to approve

the 990 Tax Form.

IV. Notifications

Powered by BoardOnTrack 5 of 282
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A. Personnel Actions (NO4- 18/19)
Personal actions were presented for informational purposes.

B. Financial Statements
The Financial Statements were presented for informational purposes.

V. President's Report

A. Collective Bargaining
President Lapidus discussed the MSCA Collective Bargaining Agreement. He
explained the bargaining process and the fact that the Office Employment
Relations reviewed and rejected the agreement submitted as it exceeded the 2%
specified by the Governor's Office. He emphasized that faculty are being paid,
but not receiving the 2% increase. He reported that once negotiations are
finalized, all raises would be retroactive. The president discussed a recent
bargaining meeting that A. Krishnamurthy attended as well. He thought they had
a productive conversation. He agrees that the current environment is not what
we want on campus. He stated that the administration greatly values the faculty
and the many contributions they make at the institution. He is hopeful that all
both parties will come to a resolution at some point soon. He concluded by
stating that the APA and AFSCME union contracts have been completed. There
was a discussion.

B. Winter Commencement
The president informed the board that the Winter Commencement was well
attended by graduates and faculty. He thanked the board members that
participated. He reported that a good number of fully online students, who had
not previously been on campus travelled to meet faculty in person and attend
graduation.

C. Opening of the Spring Semester
The move in for the start of the semester went smoothly despite a winter storm
during that time. The president expressed his concern with decline in student
enrollment and indicated that it is consistent with what is being experienced on
sister campuses. The university is down approximately 212 students from where
it was in the fall. He indicated that a tightening of the budget was underway. The
administration is also working more closely with Admissions to maximize the
yields. He indicated that as enrollment declines, our residence hall occupancy
has also declined. The university is looking at various strategies to increase the
occupancy in the residence halls for fall. There was a discussion related to
enrollment.

D. Financial Audit Restate
The president informed the board that when the Financial Audit was submitted,
there was an error at the state level. The university will need to resubmit the
audit however, there are no substantive changes.

E. ADA Audit Update
The president informed the board that State Auditors are on campus reviewing
ADA compliance. They continue to work on this and it is a new process for them.
He anticipates the findings will show that the campus is doing a good job, but
there could be some recommendations for improvement.

Powered by BoardOnTrack 6 of 282
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F. Urban Agenda Grant
The university hosted the Urban Agenda Grant event at the idealab. Lt. Governor
Karyn Polito recognized the recipients. Fitchburg State received a $60,000 grant
in support of the idealLab.

G. NECHE Approval of AUAI International School
The AUAI program was approved by NECHE. Fitchburg State faculty will now have
the opportunity to teach classes in China to students from other institutions all
over the world. He explained the program and its many associated benefits.

H. Beginning of Strategic Plan Process
The president explained the strategic process. Every five years the university
must develop a new strategic plan. There is a new process mandated by the
Department of Higher Education. There are no formal dates to complete the
exercise, but there are touch points that guide the overall process.

The university will be celebrating its 125 Anniversary this coming academic year.
There will be a committee structure that guides the planning process. He
welcomed members of the Board of Trustees, Foundation Board and Alumni
Board to participate. There was a discussion.

I. News Articles
The news articles were presented for informational purposes.

VI. Closing Items

A. Adjourn Meeting
F. O'Donnell made a motion to adjourn the meeting.
C. Stimpson seconded the motion.
The board VOTED unanimously to approve the motion.
There being no further business to be transacted, and upon motion duly made,
seconded and approved, the meeting was adjourned at 9:22 AM.

Respectfully Submitted,
A. Clementi
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Cover Sheet

Tenure- VOTE (20-18/19)

Section: Ill. Tenure
Item: A. Tenure- VOTE (20-18/19)
Purpose: Vote

Submitted by:

Related Material: MEMO to BOT re TENURE 2019.pdf
VOTE Tenure 2019.pdf
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‘ FITCHBURG STATE 160 Pearl Street, Fitchburg, MA 01420-2697
¢ ’ U N | V E RS ITY Tel 978.665.3101 = Fax 978.665.3699

rlapidus@fitchburgstate.edu

www.fitchburgstate.edu

Richard S. Lapidus, Ph.D.

PRESIDENT
MEMORANDUM

TO: Board of Trustees

FROM: Richard S. Lapidus, President

RE: Tenure Recommendations

DATE: April 2, 2019

Pursuant to the MSCA Collective Bargaining Contract, | am recommending tenure for the following
faculty/library members effective September 1, 2019:

Tenure with Promotion to Associate Professor: Current Rank
Jonathan Amakawa Communications Media Assistant Professor
Andrew Chan Business Administration Assistant Professor
William Cortezia Education Assistant Professor
Steven Fiedler Biology/Chemistry Assistant Professor
Asher Jackson Gallucci-Cirio Library Assistant Librarian
Abdel Mustafa Industrial Technology Assistant Professor
Daniel Welsh Biology/Chemistry Assistant Professor
Tenure:

DeMisty Bellinger-Delfeld  English Studies Associate Professor

Powered by BoardOnTrack 9 of 282
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Fitchburg State University

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION

TO: Board of Trustees

DATE:

April 2, 2019

FROM: The President

SUBJECT: Tenure

20-18/19

REQUEST NUMBER:

Pursuant to the MSCA Collective Bargaining Contact, | am recommending tenure for the
following faculty members effective September 1, 2019:

Tenure with Promotion to Associate Professor:

Jonathan Amakawa
Andrew Chan
William Cortezia
Steven Fiedler
Asher Jackson
Abdel Mustafa
Daniel Welsh

Tenure:

DeMuisty Bellinger-Delfeld

Communications Media
Business Administration
Education
Biology/Chemistry
Gallucci-Cirio Library
Industrial Technology
Biology/Chemistry

English Studies

Powered by BoardOnTrack

Current Rank

Assistant Professor
Assistant Professor
Assistant Professor
Assistant Professor
Assistant Librarian
Assistant Professor
Assistant Professor

Associate Professor
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Cover Sheet

Personnel Actions (N05-18/19)

Section: IV. Notifications
Item: A. Personnel Actions (N05-18/19)
Purpose: FYI

Submitted by:
Related Material: BOT Notifications 04022019.pdf
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FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY
Board of Trustees
NOTIFICATIONS

TO: Board of Trustees

DATE: April 2, 2019

FROM: The President

SUBIJECT: Personnel Actions

NOTIFICATION NUMBER: NO05-18/19

New Hire

Allison Bunnell, MED
Effective: 3/11/19

Amanda Egesi, MA
Effective: 3/19/19

Christian Estrella, MS
Effective: 3/25/19
Nicole Lajoie, BS

Effective: 3/18/19

Juan Orta, BS
Effective: 3/25/19

Omar Reyes, MA
Effective: 4/1/19
Resignation

Brianna Hartford
Effective: 3/23/19

Philip McCormack
Effective: 8/31/19

Retirement

Magda Bechar
Effective: 5/31/19

Staff Assistant, Technology Trainer (10 month)

Technology

Staff Assistant, Admissions Counselor
Admissions

Assistant Vice President for Finance Planning
and Analysis
Finance and Administration

Staff Assistant, Nursing Coordinator
Nursing

Staff Assistant, Admissions Counselor
Admissions

Associate Director of Multicultural Outreach

and Recruitment
Admissions

Staff Assistant, Education Coordinator
Upward Bound

Assistant Professor
Behavioral Sciences

Associate Professor
Nursing

Powered by BoardOnTrack

$47,500.00

$47,500.00

$115,000.00

$70,000.00

$47,500.00

$63,500.00

$48,000.00

$56,941.59

$88,028.66
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Nancy Duphily
Effective: 6/1/19

Promotion
Frank Campo

Effective: 3/4/19

Michelle Cota
Effective: 1/1/19

Gretchen Mayhew

Effective: 1/20/19

Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday April 2, 2019 at 8:00 AM

Associate Professor
Nursing

From: Staff Associate, Event Operations Mgr
To: Director of Event Management
Event Management

From: Staff Assistant
To: Assistant Director
Admissions

From: Assistant Director
To: Director
Admissions

Change in Salary (adjustment)

Jessica Murdoch
Effective: 2/3/19

Associate Vice President
Human Resources & Payroll Services

Powered by BoardOnTrack

$98,239.79

From: $53,500.00

To: $68,000.00

From: $48,591.86
To: $52,091.86

From: $56,701.80
To: $61,701.80

From: $115,661.25

To: $123,661.25
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Cover Sheet

Promotions - (N06-18/19)

Section: IV. Notifications
Item: B. Promotions - (N06-18/19)
Purpose: FYI

Submitted by:
Related Material: BOT Promotion Notifications 04022019.pdf
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FIT

HBURG STA

E UNIV
Board of Trustees
NOTIFICATIONS

RSITY

TO: Board of Trustees

DATE: April 2, 2019

FROM: The President

SUBIJECT: Promotions

NOTIFICATION NUMBER: NO06-18/19

Effective September 1, 2019:

Promotion to Full Professor:

Jennifer Berg
Jeffrey Godin
Elizabeth Gordon
Timothy Hilliard
Daniel Sarefield

Promotion to Associate Professor:

Nermin Bayazit
Adem Elveren
Kevin McCarthy
Deborah Stone
Sarah Wright

Department Current Rank

Mathematics Associate Professor
Exercise and Sports Science Associate Professor
Earth and Geographic Sciences Associate Professor
Exercise and Sports Science Associate Professor

Economics, History & Political Science Associate Professor

Mathematics Assistant Professor

Economics, History & Political Science Assistant Professor

Communications Media Assistant Professor

Nursing Assistant Professor

Mathematics Assistant Professor
1

Powered by BoardOnTrack
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Cover Sheet

Financial Statements (N07-18/19)

Section: IV. Notifications
Item: C. Financial Statements (N07-18/19)
Purpose: FYI

Submitted by:
Related Material:  Financial Statement.pdf
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FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY
Board of Trustees
NOTIFICATIONS

TO: Board of Trustees

DATE: April 2, 2019

FROM: The President

NOTIFICATION NUMBER: N07-18/19

SUBIJECT: Financial Statements

FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED

DECEMBER 31, 2018, 2017 AND 2016

Powered by BoardOnTrack
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FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY
STATEMENTS OF NET ASSETS
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash eauivalents-restricted
Bond proceeds

Due from other funds

Accounts receivable, net

Loans receivable, net
Other assets

Total Current Assets

Noncurrent Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Endowment investments
Loans receivable, net
Prepaid expenses
Due from other funds
Capital assets, net

Total Noncurrent Assets

Total Assets

Deferred Qutflows of Resources
Deferred outflows

Total Assets and Deferred
Outflows of Resources

ASSETS
2018 2017 2016

$ 31.859.333 30.265.947 28.831.098
6.438.680 7.243.646 6.312.656
© 93.900 1.734.115 17.273
- B 8,675
2,698,914 1,985,335 3,151,192
1,107 707 337
112,582 144,733 482,680
41.204.516 41,374,483 38,803,911
8,109,059 8,122,443 6,200,421
15,021,131 15,751,636 14,252,368
795,156 847,433 750,342
1,609,359 1,886,797 1,976,919
62,394 196,175 163,252

170,000 - "
180,549,684 174,459,644 173,523,282
206,316,783 201,264,128 196,866,584
247,521,299. 242,638,611 235,670,495
5,579,646 4,901,385 3,999,478
$ 253.100.945 247.539.996 239,669,973

For those charged with governance and internal management use only

1
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FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY
STATEMENTS OF NET ASSETS
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EOUITY

2018 2017 2016
Current Liabilities
Bonds payable-current portion $ 3,523,606 $ 3,327,030 §$ 3,148,347
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,104,464 3,681,344 3,333,491
Accounts payable-construction 321,150 148,743 38,814
Salaries and benefits payable 1,234,559 1,059,111 2,978,645
Accrued workers compensation-current portio 141,432 126,662 110,720
Compensated absences-current portion 2,306,066 3,210,879 3,413,149
Accrued faculty payroll 2,839,553 2,701,279 2,647,214
Deferred revenue-current portion 9,956,427 9,770,272 10,433,943
Capital lease-current portion 252,159 247,656 -
Other liabilities 1,231,562 872,752 572,619
Total Current Liabilities 24,910,978 25,145,728 26,676,942
Noncurrent Liabilities
Bonds payable 58,874,310 56,952,043 56,139,948
Accrued workers compensation 507,339 454,356 397,170
Compensated absences 3,318,486 1,967,958 2,004,548
Capital lease 518,156 770,316 -
Due to federal loan programs-Perkins 1,472,948 1,565,622 1,614,881
Due to federal loan programs-Nursing 380,771 421,133 414,603
Deferred revenue 26,759 777,691 -
Net OPEB Liability 22,232,674 - -
Unfunded pension liability 11.430.648 12.580.841 9.995.092
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 98,762,091 75,489,960 70,566,242
Total Liabilities 123,673,069 100,635,688 97,243,184
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred inflows - concessions 1,264,590 1,517,507 1,896,884
Deferred inflow-OPEB 2,609,760 - -
Deferred inflows - pensions 679,709 51,499 358,503
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 4,554,059 1,569,006 2,255,387
Net Assets
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 119,139,389 117,023,718 116,255,629
Restricted for:
Non-expendable
Scholarships & fellowships 507,322 506,331 467,162
Research - 41,568 -
Expendable
Scholarships & fellowships 454,890 446,120 503,835
Loans 258,769 276,911 274,961
Other 403,463 930 930
Capital projects 853,928 1,280,306 846,610
Debt service 10,974,462 9,631,213 9,522,920
Unrestricted (7,718,406) 16,128,205 12,299,355
Total Net Assets 124,873,817 145,335,302 140.171.,402
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows and
Net Assets $ 253100945 $§ 247539996 $ 239669973

For those charged with governance and internal management use only
2
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FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY
STATEMENT OF REVENUE, EXPENSES & CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

For the Six Months Ended DECEMBER 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016

Operating Revenues

Student tuition and fees
Waivers and exemptions

Net student tuition and fees
Federal grants and contracts

State and local grants and contracts
Nongovernmental grants and contracts

Sales and services of educational departments

Auxiliary enterprises:

Residential life (net of scholarship allowances)

Residential life- dining hall revenue
Administrative overhead
Fundraising
Commissions
Miscellaneous
Nursing and Perkins

Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses
Salaries:
Faculty
Exempt wages
Non-exempt wages
Benefits
Other Operating Expenses:
Employee related travel
Administrative expense
Facility operational supplies
Utilities
Consultant services
Operational services
Equipment purchases
Equipment maintenance and repairs
Purchased client services-program
Construction and building improvement
Grants & Subsidies
Scholarships
Loans & special payments
IT expenditures
Depreciation
Bad debt expense
Auxiliary enterprises:
Residential life

Total Operating Expenses

Operating profit/(loss)

2018 2017 2016
26.323.598 25.006.197 $ 23.325.478
(810.837) (896,413) (891.217)
25,512,761 24,109,784 22,434,261
4,429,262 4,369,972 4,030,240
468,636 50,590 77,169
429,387 295,984 13,546
670,278 725,389 636,634
5,822,572 5,527,501 5,252,716
1,956,133 - -
49,530 25,850 40,842
78,772 79,604 68,494
202,975 247,340 255,027
3,252 5,412 13,987
15.111 10.263 14.188
39,638,669 35,447,689 32,837,104
11,358,212 10,805,117 10,588,856
2,003,645 1,611,912 1,705,633
9,680,508 9,490,813 9,540,328
7,704,985 6,546,747 8,839,454
198,015 151,594 174,928
1,069,623 913,456 990,881
828,256 825,868 755,489
1,370,660 1,158,912 1,406,086
650,322 494,445 567,450
1,465,723 859,513 557,891
371,920 198,657 269,704
379,107 378,342 395,447
78,498 107,103 132,671
875,809 643,813 725,196
38,899 -
5,418,074 5,144,116 4,648,983
1,787,973 8,636
3,016,138 2,437,153 1,996,044
5,071,844 4,923,512 4,866,762
(17,632) - 2,506
4,885,896 5,807,374 4,988,940
58,236,475 52,507,083 53,153,249
(18,597,806) (17,059,394) (20,316,145)

For those charged with governance and internal management use only

1
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FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY
STATEMENT OF REVENUE, EXPENSES & CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
For the Six Months Ended DECEMBER 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016

Nonoperating Revenues(Expenses)
State appropriations
Investment income (net of investment expenses)
Interest on capital debt
Unrealized gain/(loss)
Net Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

Income (loss) before Capital and
Endowment Additions

Capital appropriations
Capital grants and gifts

Increase (decrease) in net assets

Net Assets - beginning of period

Net Assets - end of period

For those charged with governance and internal management use only

2018 2017 2016

21,229,365 19,092,808 19,060,974
446,607 364,804 627,975
(1,095,906) (903,720) (321,667)
(1,083.035) 595,676 (415,551)
19,497,031 19,149,568 18,951,731
899,225 2,090,174 (1,364,414)

- 7,128 74,078

586,458 210,881 126,459
1,485,683 2,308,183 (1,163,877)
123,388,134 143,027,116 141,335,277
$ 124.873.817 3 145.335.299 3 140.171.400

2
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FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Six Months Ended DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

2018 201 016
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Increase in net assets § 1485302 § 2308185 g (1,163,877)
Adjustments to reconcile increase in net assets to
cash provided by (used by) operating activities:

(Gain)/Loss on marketable securities 1,080,451 '(690.,058) 415,551

Depreciation 5,071,844 4923512 4,866,762

(Increase) decrease in assets:

Accounts receivable (615,526) 56,339 (1,556,541)
Loans receivable 93,330 39,994 19,444
Other assets 268,859 152,028 (136,362)

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (936,410) 746,227 2,174,728
Compensated absences 283,271 17,591 (36,796)
Accrued faculty payroll (670,806) (641,467) (302,091)
Deferred revenue 8,312,715 8,440,751 9,259,628
Other liabilities 859,295 505,256 273,289
Net cash provided by operating activities 15,232,325 15,858,358 13,813,735

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeeds from sale of investments 25,679 14,473 4,138,260
Purchase of investments (193,491) (205,627) (2,560,574)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (4,172,004 (5,979.828) (3,392,161)

Net cash (used by) investing activities (4,339,816) (6,170,982) (1,814,475

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Federal loan program 8,354 (51,156) 11,621
Amortization of bond premium (132,141) (143,865) (154,761)
Payments of capital debt (255,611) (309,839) (271,468)
Payments of capital leases (124387) . - (122,165) -
Net cash (used by) financing activities (503,785) (627,025) (414,608)
Net increase in cash 10,388,724 9,060,351 11,584,652
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period 36,112,248 38,305,801 29,776,796

Cash and cash equivalents - end of period $§ 46,500,972 $ 47366,152 g 41361448

Supplemental Disclosures:
Cash paid for interest 3 1129579 $ 1181207 $ 1.089.794

For those charged with governance and internal management use only
1
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Fitchburg State University
Executive Summary
Financial Statements for the Six Months Ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016

Statements of Net Assets (pages 3-4):

>

>

>

Total assets increased by approximately $4.8 million. This was due to an increase in
Capital Assets of $6.0 million and a corresponding reduction of bond proceeds of $1.6
million.

Current liabilities decreased due primarily to a decrease in payroll compensated absences.
Total liabilities increased by $20 million. $22 2 million increase was from the new GASB
pronouncement (GASB 75 Net OPEB liabilities) and a reduction of $1.1 million from
GASB 68 — Unfunded pension liabilities.

Total net assets decreased from $145 million to $124.9 million. This reduction occurred
because of the prior year GASB 75 adjustment of $22.2 million.

Total debt from bond issues totaled $62.3 million, an increase of $1.million from last year.

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets (pages 5-6):

>
>

Total revenue for the period was $60 8 million versus $55.7 million at Dec 2017

Tuition and fee revenue increased by 5.8%. Scholarship expense for the period was $5.4
million.

Auxiliary revenue, which represents the operation of both the residence halls and the dining
facilities totaled $7.75 million. Due to a change in accounting method, the dining facility
is now being captured as a department of the university instead of as an agency fund. This
was result in increases in auxiliary income and expenses.

State appropriations increased to $21.23 million as compared with $19.09 million for the
same period last year. The increase is due to an increase in the fringe benefit rate charged
by the Commonwealth and a slight increase in state appropriations for retroactive salary
increases paid in FY2019.

Total expenditures increase to $59 3 million.

The stock market at the end of the fiscal year had a downturn and this causes an unrealized
investment loss of 1.0 million but a gain in investment income of $0.4 million.

Statements of Cash Flows (page 7):

>

>

Total cash at December 31, 2018 was $46.5 million which represents an increase of
approximately $10 million over cash balances at June 30, 2018.

Net cash provided from operations was $15.2 million.

Acquisitions of property and equipment totaled $4 2 million and this was mainly for the
Theater and Percival building projects.
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Item:

Purpose:
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Related Material:

Cover Sheet

VOTE (24-18/19)

V. Delegation of Authority
A. VOTE (24-18/19)
Vote

VOTE Delegation of Authority.pdf
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Fitchburg State University
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION

TO: Board of Trustees

DATE:

April 2, 2019

FROM: The President

SUBJECT: Delegation of Authority

REQUEST NUMBER:

24-18/19

It is requested that the Board of Trustees of Fitchburg State University vote to approve the

following motion:

MOTION:

To state, confirm and ratify the Board’s delegation of its authorities and powers pursuant to both labor
agreements between the Board of Higher Education and the unions representing employees of the state
universities and pursuant to G.L. c. 15A, 22, to the president of the University, including but not limited
to the authority to provide notice of personnel actions, to make personnel determinations, to non-renew
appointments and to terminate the employment of non-tenured faculty of the University.
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Cover Sheet

Draft Financial Audit Restatement

Section: VI. Financial Audit Restatement
Item: A. Draft Financial Audit Restatement
Purpose: Discuss

Submitted by:
Related Material: Restatement Draft FS - 3-11-19.pdf
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Fitchburg State University
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Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Financial Statements
(With Supplementary Information)
and Independent Auditor's Reports

June 30, 2018 and 2017
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)
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CohnReznick LLP COhnRezniCk@

cohnreznick.com ADVISORY « ASSURANCE - TAX

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Trustees
Fitchburg State University

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities and the discretely
presented component unit of Fitchburg State University (the "University") (a department of the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts), as of and for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, and the related
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the University's basic financial statements as
listed in the Index.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the business-type activities and discretely presented component unit of
Fitchburg State University as of June 30, 2018 and 2017, and the respective changes in financial position
and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

2
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CohnReznick@

Restatement

As described in Note 29, the University has restated the accompanying financial statements to correct
amounts allocated to the University by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. Our opinion is not modified
with respect to this matter.

Emphasis of Matters

As discussed in Notes 1 and 29 to the financial statements, in fiscal 2018, the University adopted new
accounting guidance, Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB") Statement No. 75, Accounting
and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. Our opinion is not modified
with respect to this matter.

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of Fitchburg State University and its discretely presented
component unit are intended to present the respective financial position, the changes in financial position
and, where applicable, cash flows of only that portion of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts that is attributable to the transactions
of Fitchburg State University and its discretely presented component unit. They do not purport to, and do
not, present fairly the financial position of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts as of June 30, 2018 and
2017, the changes in its financial position, or, where applicable, its cash flows for the years then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not
modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis and the pension and OPEB benefit schedules on pages 5 to 19 and 93 to 96,
respectively, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a
part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries,
the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the 2018 financial statements that
collectively comprise the University's basic financial statements. The residence hall fund and residence
hall damage fund activity shown on pages 97 to 99 are presented for purposes of additional analysis
and are not a required part of the 2018 financial statements. The residence hall fund and residence hall
damage fund activity are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 2018 financial statements.
The residence hall fund and residence hall damage fund activity information have been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 2018 financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the 2018 financial statements or to the 2018 financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. In
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our opinion, the residence hall fund and residence hall damage fund activity information are fairly stated, in
all material respects, in relation to the 2018 financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March __, 2019
on our consideration of Fitchburg State University's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of Fitchburg State University's internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in
considering Fitchburg State University's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Boston, Massachusetts
November 6, 2018, except Note 29 which is dated March __, 2019
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Management's Discussion and Analysis
(Unaudited)

Introduction

The following discussion and analysis are intended to provide an overview of the financial position and
results of operations of Fitchburg State University (the "University") for the fiscal years ended June 30,
2018, 2017 and 2016. This discussion is provided by the management of the University and should be
read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto. The purpose of this document is to
give some background to the financial statements, and foster an understanding of how these statements
relate to the mission and activities of the University.

The University, located in North Central Massachusetts, is one of the nine comprehensive public
universities in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the "Commonwealth™). These institutions, along with
the five-campus University of Massachusetts system and the fifteen community colleges comprise public
higher education in Massachusetts. The University offers more than 30 undergraduate degree programs in
sixteen academic departments, 22 graduate degree programs and several Graduate Certificates of
Advanced Study. During fall 2017, there were approximately 3,639 full-time students and thousands of
part-time students enrolled. For fiscal 2018, there was a combined full-time equivalent annual enroliment of
approximately 5,200. Thousands more non-matriculated students take advantage of professional
development programs through the Division of Graduate and Continuing Education ("DGCE"). The
University awarded approximately 1,243 graduate and undergraduate degrees in fiscal 2018. The
University is accredited by the New England Commission of Higher Education ("NECHE"), formerly known
as New England Association of Schools and Colleges ("NEASC"), and many of the University's programs
are accredited by program-specific accrediting bodies.

Financial Highlights
The University experienced positive results from operations in fiscal 2018 resulting in an increase in net
position of approximately 2.3%. The following are key financial highlights for the current period:

» General appropriations from the Commonwealth are approved by the legislature to help fund the
day-to-day operations of the University. The University received appropriations of $29.5 million in
fiscal 2018 as compared with $29.4 million in fiscal 2017 and $29.1 million in fiscal 2016.

» The University undergraduate fees were basically flat this fiscal year. Total mandatory fees per
semester were $4,592, $4,582 and $4,482 in fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Tuition,
which is controlled by the Commonwealth, has not increased since the fall of 2001 and remains at
$485 per semester for in-state students. The Graduate fees per 3 credit class were $957, $957,
and $912 in fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and the fees for the Accelerated Online
Programs were $933 to $1,251 per 3 credit class in fiscal 2018.

» The University expended $17.6 million from current funds for capital additions in fiscal 2018.
Projects completed during the year included the renovations of the Landry Arena, Thompson Hall
1st Floor, Percival Hall Phase 1, the Southside Chiller and the Pearl Street Improvement Project.
Projects in process at June 30, 2018 included the final renovations to Theater Building Phase 1, the
Edgerly Replacement Elevator, and the Mathematics Emporium Classroom. The following projects
were also in process at June 30, 2018, upgrades to the Holmes Walk in Coolers and the
Energy/Water Retrofit project, improvements to McKay Phase lll, Percival Hall Phase Il and the
Theater Block.

> Total assets and deferred outflows of resources at the end of fiscal 2018 were $244 million and
exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of resources of $121 million by $123 million (i.e. net
position).
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Management's Discussion and Analysis
(Unaudited)

» Total operating, non-operating, and gift revenue for fiscal 2018 was $105.6 million, while expenses
totaled $102.9 million, resulting in an increase to net position of $2.7 million. The increase in net
position includes a 7.2% increase in student tuition and fee revenues.

» The prior period net position has been decreased as a result of the implementation of
Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB") Statement No. 75. The statement requires
that an allocated portion of the Commonwealth's unfunded post-employment benefits other than
pensions be reported on the financial statements of the individual institutions of higher education.
The allocation is based on the actual contributions paid by the institutions through the group
insurance commission charges of the fringe benefit. The University's portion of the
Commonwealth's unfunded post-employment benefits other than pensions ("OPEB") liability is
calculated at $22.2 million at June 30, 2018 and $22.4 million at June 30, 2017. Net position and
other financial results have been adjusted accordingly.

» Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB") Statement No. 68 requires that an allocated
portion of the Commonwealth's net pension liability be reported on the financial statements of the
individual institutions of higher education. The allocation is based on the actual contributions paid
by the institutions through assessed fringe benefit charges. The University's portion of the
Commonwealth's net pension liability is calculated at $11.4 million at June 30, 2018. The financial
statements have been adjusted accordingly.

» Unrestricted net position (before benefits adjustments of $31.3 million at June 30, 2018) available to
support short-term operations totaled $26.8 million.

Ratio analysis measures certain elements of an institution's overall financial health. The Massachusetts
Department of Higher Education has instituted the use of certain core financial ratios as part of their
performance measures for public universities and colleges in the Commonwealth. Analysis using these
ratios, as well as other commonly accepted ratios, are incorporated throughout this document. These
financial ratios are shown before unfunded benefits adjustments. Net assets benefits adjustments amounts
are $31.3 million in 2018, $30.1 million in 2017 and $6.4 million in 2016.

» Current Ratio: An excess of current assets over current liabilities (the current ratio) is a measure
of liquidity and provides a buffer against future uncertainties. The University's current assets of
$32.5 million are sufficient to cover current liabilities of $17.9 million. The University's current ratio
at June 30 is 1.8 to 1 for 2018, 1.8 to 1 for 2017, and 1.8 to 1 for 2016.

» Return on Net Position Ratio: Net position represents the residual interest in the University's
assets and deferred outflows of resources after liabilities and deferred inflows of resources are
deducted. Comparing the current change in total net position to total net position at the beginning
of the period (return on net position) is an economic measure that determines if the University is
financially better off than in previous years. The University's return on net position at June 30,
2018, 2017 and 2016 was 2.65%, 2.08% and 2.43%, respectively. The increase in 2018 return on
net position ratio is primarily the result of the increase in tuition income from the Accelerated Online
program, increase in grants and contracts received and increase in auxiliary income.

» Primary Reserve Ratio: This ratio indicates how long the University could function using its
expendable reserves without relying on additional net position generated by operations. The
University's primary reserve ratio at June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was 35.14%, 35.05% and
34.41%, respectively.
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Management's Discussion and Analysis
(Unaudited)

» Secondary Reserve Ratio: This ratio measures the significance of non-expendable net position in
relation to an institution's operating size. An improving trend shows an improved capital base and
the higher the ratio value, the better the long term financial condition. The University's secondary
reserve ratio at June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was 116.80%, 119.65% and 126.90%, respectively.

» Composite Financial Index: In order to assess and evaluate the total financial health of an
institution, core financial ratios are weighted and combined into a single factor called the Composite
Financial Index ("CFI"). When calculated, a strength factor of three indicates a relatively healthy
institution that can sustain moderate growth with expendable net position exceeding debt levels.
The University's CFI at June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was 1.9, 1.7 and 1.8, respectively.

Using the Financial Statements

Fitchburg State University reports its activity as a business type activity using the full accrual basis of
accounting. The accrual basis of accounting ensures that all amounts owed to the University and all
pending obligations of the University are accounted for in the appropriate period, thus giving a clear picture
of the University's financial position. The University is a department of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts. A summary of the University's financial statements is incorporated in the Commonwealth's
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report in its government-wide financial statements.

The University's financial statements include three major documents: The Statement of Net Position; the
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position; and the Statement of Cash Flows. These
statements are prepared in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards.
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Management's Discussion and Analysis
(Unaudited)

Statement of Net Position

The statement of net position presents the financial position of the University at the end of the year and
includes all assets, liabilities and deferred inflows and outflows of resources of the University, with the
difference reported as net position. Assets, liabilities and deferred inflows and outflows are generally
measured using current values, with a notable exception in capital assets, which are stated at historical
cost less an allowance for depreciation. Net position is one indicator of the financial condition of the
University, while the change in net position from one period to the next is an indicator of whether the
financial condition has improved or worsened. The statements of net position (condensed, in thousands) at

June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, are as follows:

2018 2017 2016
Assets
Current assets $ 32,500 30,337 26,712
Capital assets, net 181,449 173,403 174,998
Other 24,742 28,149 24,170
Total assets 238,691 231,889 225,880
Deferred outflows of resources 5,580 4,901 3,999
Liabilities
Current liabilities 17,950 16,609 15,163
Long-term liabilities 98,126 97,716 70,999
Total liabilities 116,076 114,325 86,162
Deferred inflows of resources 4,807 1,822 2,382
Net position
Net investment in capital assets 118,282 116,097 115,713
Restricted
Nonexpendable 521 506 467
Expendable 9,089 8,096 7,230
Unrestricted
Designated 16,218 13,142 12,271
Undesignated (20,722) (17,198) 5,654
Total net position $ 123,388 120,643 141,335
8
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Management's Discussion and Analysis
(Unaudited)

Current assets consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents (92.0%). Other assets include non-current
restricted cash and cash equivalents, investments in marketable securities and loans receivable. Capital
assets are used to provide services to students, faculty and staff. These assets are not available for
current or future spending. Current liabilities primarily include trade accounts and salaries payable,
accounts payable - construction, the current portion of compensated absences and accrued faculty payroll.
In the normal course of events and based on a consistent past history in this regard, it is anticipated that
obligations due to employees will be funded by state appropriations. Deferred inflows and outflows of
resources represent either the acquisition or use of net assets applicable to future periods and are distinct
from assets and liabilities. Net position in fiscal 2017 has been decreased to reflect the recognition of the
University's unfunded ("OPEB") liability as required by the implementation of GASB Statement No. 75. The
increase in deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources in fiscal year 2018 are a result
of amounts associated with the implementation of GASB No. 75. The overall increase in net position over
the last three years, excluding the impact from the recognition of amounts associated with the
implementation of GASB Statement No. 75, is primarily the result of an influx of grant revenue, tuition and
rental income. These individual elements of revenue and the corresponding increases in net position are
illustrated in the following schedule.
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(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Management's Discussion and Analysis
(Unaudited)

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

The following Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position (condensed, in thousands)
presents information showing the University's results of operations for the fiscal years ended June 30,
2018, 2017 and 2016. Changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to
the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenue and expenses are
reported in this statement for some items that will result in cash flows in future periods (e.g. the accrual for
compensated absences).

2018 2017 2016
Operating revenues
Tuition and fees (net) $ 41,820 $ 39,020 $ 36,408
Grants 9,513 8,243 8,426
Sales and service of educational department 1,523 1,316 1,274
Auxiliary 10,675 9,647 9,270
Other operating revenue 779 862 982
Total operating revenue 64,310 59,088 56,360
Operating expenses
Instruction 37,154 36,052 33,729
Research and public service 660 515 481
Academic support 7,158 6,301 6,088
Student services 10,124 9,545 9,646
Scholarships 2,690 1,960 1,809
Institutional support 11,744 10,784 9,975
Operations and maintenance 11,030 11,961 11,223
Depreciation 9,991 10,126 9,088
Auxiliary 10,539 9,625 8,854
Total operating expenses 101,090 96,869 90,893
Net operating loss (36,780) (37,781) (34,533)
Non-operating revenue and expenses
State appropriations 39,404 38,873 37,159
Investment income 1,030 1,085 3)
Interest expense and debt issue costs (1,851) (1,963) (1,419)
State capital appropriations 439 74 73
Capital gifts and grants 503 1,404 1,473
Interagency transfers - - -
Total non-operating revenue 39,525 39,473 37,283
Increase in net position 2,745 1,692 2,750
Net position, beginning of the year 120,643 141,335 138,585
Restatement - (22,384) -
Net position, end of the year $ 123,388 $ 120,643  $ 141,335
10
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Management's Discussion and Analysis
(Unaudited)

State appropriations are reported net of the amount of in state day school tuition collected by the University
on behalf of the Commonwealth. The tuition collected (for in state supported courses taught by state
employees) is then remitted to the Commonwealth as required by Massachusetts General Law. The
following schedule details the Commonwealth appropriations received by the University. Included in
appropriations are the fringe benefit costs for University employees, which are paid by the Commonwealth.
The Commonwealth appropriates general funds to cover the cost of fringe benefits for state employees,
but these funds are not appropriated directly to the University. Employees who are paid from local trust
funds, grants or other sources receive the same fringe benefits. Generally, the University reimburses the
Commonwealth for the benefit costs associated with these employees. In 2012 legislation was passed that
allowed the state universities to retain out of state day tuition. The legislation further mandated that the
Commonwealth would fund the fringe benefits for any employee paid from this funding source. The fringe
benefit rate charged by the Commonwealth, exclusive of compensated absences, for fiscal years 2018,
2017 and 2016 was 34.86%, 33.5% and 29.2%, respectively. The current fringe benefit rate includes group
medical insurance (22.06%); retirement (11.78%) and terminal leave (1.02%).

The following schedule (condensed, in thousands) details the Commonwealth appropriations received by
the University:

2018 2017 2016
Commonwealth general appropriations $ 29,473 % 29,405 % 29,109
Appropriations to cover fringe
benefits provided to employees of
the Commonwealth 10,605 10,185 8,820
40,078 39,590 37,929
Tuition remitted back to the
Commonwealth (674) (717) (770)
Net appropriations 39,404 38,873 37,159
Additional state capital appropriations 439 74 73
Total appropriations $ 39,843 $ 38,947 $ 37,232
11
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State appropriations are a significant source of funding for the University. According to the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board, appropriations are considered non-operating revenue. As such, the
University appears to experience a loss from operations. However, it should be noted that state
appropriations are used to fund the operating activities of the University.

The following schedule (condensed, in thousands) illustrates the University's incurred losses from
operations for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

2018 2017 2016
Tuition and fees revenue, net $ 41,820 $ 39,020 $ 36,408
Other operating revenue 22,490 20,068 19,952
Total operating revenue 64,310 59,088 56,360
Operating expenses (101,090) (96,869) (90,893)
Operating loss (36,780) (37,781) (34,533)
Total state appropriations 39,404 38,873 37,159
Other revenue (expense), net 121 600 124
Increase in net position $ 2,745  $ 1692 $ 2,750

Net Operating Revenues Ratio: This ratio indicates whether total operating activities resulted in a surplus
or deficit. A positive ratio indicates that the institution experienced an operating surplus and is indicative of
efficient and effective operations. For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the
University's net operating revenues ratio was 2.92%, 1.61% and 2.28%, respectively.

12
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The following is a graphic illustration of total revenue (operating, non-operating and capital) by source.
Total revenue for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $105.6, $100.5 and $95.1
million, respectively:

Total Revenue by Source
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For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, general appropriations essentially remained flat with 2017 funding
levels but total appropriations increased slightly because of the increase in benefits. Collective bargaining
costs were not funded in fiscal 2018 resulting in an increase in the amount of payroll funded from local trust
funds and a corresponding increase in fringe benefit charges from the state. The lack of collective
bargaining funding further exacerbates the continued reduction in state support and forces the University to
rely more heavily on student fees to support operations. Over the last fifteen years, general appropriations
(including fringe benefits) that support the operating costs of the University have decreased to 28.6% from
61.5% in fiscal 2001. In addition to the increasing amount of local payroll, all other operating costs incurred
by the University are funded from other non-state revenue sources. Tuition and fees are reported net of
tuition waivers, exemptions, and scholarship allowances. The amount of tuition charged per semester is
controlled at the state level and remains unchanged. The University fee and targeted course fees were
increased in fiscal 2018 resulting in an overall increase in total tuition and fee revenue of 7.2%. During
fiscal year 2018, 2017 and 2016, in-state tuition, fees and room & board for full time resident students was
$10,347, $10,152 and $9,532 per semester, respectively. In-state tuition and fees for commuting students
in fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $5,077, $5,067 and $4,967 per semester, respectively.

Auxiliary revenue represents revenue received from the operations of the University's residence halls.
Auxiliary revenue does not include fees charged for the student housing facility owned and operated by the
FSU Supporting Organization, Inc. (the "Supporting Organization™). The average residence hall occupancy
rate for the year was 92.2% capacity.

Grant revenue is made up of federal, state and private grants. Grant revenue includes PELL, SEOG and
Federal Work Study financial aid programs.
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The following is a graphic illustration of total expenditures (operating and non-operating) by function. Total
expenditures for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $102.9, $98.8 and $92.3
million, respectively:

Total Expenditures by Function
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Expenditures, exclusive of depreciation, increased by 4.8% in FY2018. This increase was primarily due to
increases in benefits mandated by collective bargaining agreements, scholarships, GASB68, GASB75,
increases in resident halls debt payments to MSCBA and increase in commission from the accelerated
online program. The most significant area of expense remains Instruction, which represents 36.1% of total
operating expenses. Faculty payroll ($23.8 million) and related benefits ($7.8 million) represent
approximately 85.0% of instructional expenditures. Institutional Support consists of the day-to-day
operational support of the institution, excluding physical plant operations. Scholarships are funded from
Title V entitlement programs such as PELL and SEOG, as well as, from institutional operating funds.
Operations and Maintenance consists of expenditures related to physical plant. Expenditures in this
functional area include general repair costs and deferred maintenance costs that are below the
capitalization threshold of $50,000. The financial statements include $10.0, $10.1 and $9.1 million in
depreciation expense for 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Demand Ratios: Demand ratios measure the extent to which each type of expense consumes operating
and non-operating revenues. The following table displays the amount of operating and non-operating
revenue, exclusive of capital grants and appropriations, consumed by the various functional expense
categories:

Expense 2018 2017 2016
Instruction 35.2% 35.9% 36.0%
Institutional Support 11.1% 10.7% 10.6%
Academic Support 6.8% 6.3% 6.5%
Student Services & Scholarships 12.1% 11.4% 12.2%
Operations & Maintenance 10.4% 11.9% 12.0%
Auxiliary 10.0% 9.6% 9.4%
Depreciation 9.5% 10.1% 9.7%
14
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Note: The total sum of all Demand Ratios will be greater (less) than 100%, with the difference representing
the surplus (deficit).

Statement of Cash Flows

The statement of cash flows provides pertinent information about the cash receipts and cash payments
during a certain period of time. The statement provides an additional tool to assess the financial health of
the institution. As required by GASB, the statement is reported using the direct method. The direct method
of cash flow reporting portrays net cash flows from operations as major classes of receipts (e.qg. tuition and
fees) and disbursements (e.g. cash paid to employees for services).

The following are the University's statements of cash flows (condensed, in thousands) for the fiscal years
ended June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016:

2018 2017 2016
Cash received from operations $ 63,701 % 59,413 % 57,063
Cash expended for operations (77,372) (74,760) (74,289)
Net cash used by operations (13,671) (15,347) (17,226)
Net cash provided by noncapital
financing activities 28,799 28,692 28,510
Net cash used in capital and
related financing activities (17,351) (7,128) (23,918)
Net cash provided by investing
activities 29 2,312 455
Net increase (decrease) in cash and
equivalents (2,194) 8,529 (12,179)
Cash and equivalents, beginning of the
year 38,306 29,777 41,956
Cash and equivalents, end of the year $ 36,112 $ 38,306 $ 29,777

The University's cash and cash equivalents decreased by approximately $2.2 million during fiscal 2018,
resulting in the cash and cash equivalents balance of $36.1 million at fiscal year end. The decrease is
primarily due to the increase in capital expenditure and an increase in debt payments. Non-capital
financing activities, as defined by GASB, include state appropriations. These appropriations fund the
operating activities of the University. Investing activities include interest and dividends received from
portfolio investments, as well as, interest earned on University funds held in various short-term money
management vehicles.

Capital Assets
Capital assets consist of land, land improvements, buildings and building improvements, equipment, library

materials, and construction in progress. As of June 30, 2018, net capital assets increased to $181.4 million
net of current depreciation expense of $10.0 million. During the current fiscal year there were $18.0 million
in additions to capital assets.
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Major capital initiatives either continuing or undertaken during 2018 include:

Final renovations to Landry Arena $4 million (to date)
Phase | Percival Hall, $2 million (to date)

Southside Chiller, $1.7 million (to date)

Theater Building, Phase 1, $2.6 million (to date)
Edgerly Elevator Replacement, $1.6 million (to date)
Energy/Water Retrofit project, $6.7 million (to date)

VVVVVY

Additional information on Fitchburg State University's capital assets can be found in footnote 5 to the
accompanying financial statements.

Physical Asset Renewal Ratio: The extent to which capital renewal is occurring as compared to physical
usage (depreciation) can be measured by the physical asset renewal ratio. A ratio above 1:1 indicates
increasing investment in plant facilities. The University's physical asset renewal ratio for fiscal years ended
June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was 1.8, 0.9 and 2.2, respectively.

Long-term Debt

The University has long term debt obligations issued for various capital projects. The debt was issued
through several financing agreements with the Massachusetts Development Finance Agency ("MDFA")
(formerly the Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority ("MHEFA")), the Massachusetts
State College Building Authority ("MSCBA") and a capital lease through J P Morgan. The interest rate on
the MDFA debt is a floating rate set every 35 days based on market conditions. The interest rate on the
MSCBA debt is based on an increasing coupon rate ranging from 2.00% to 6.54 % over the term of the
debt as set by MSCBA. The interest rate on the capital lease is fixed at 1.81%. The debt is being repaid by
the University primarily through dedicated student fees ("DSF"). The following table summarizes the
various debt vehicles, interest rates, debt service and debt outstanding at June 30, 2018 and is inclusive of
any bond premiums or discounts.

Issuing Construction Fiscal Original Funding Effective Debt Debt Maturity
Agency Project Year Issue Source Interest Service Outstanding
Issued Rate Payments
MDFA Recreation Center 1997 $6,000,000 DSF 4.61% $381,934 $2,256,705 2023
MSCBA Holmes Dining 2005 $1,090,000 DSF 3.86% $82,938 $485,000 2025

Hall Renovations

MSCBA Elliot Athletic Field 2005 $4,020,000 DSF 3.86% $298,581 $1,770,000 2025
Improvements
MSCBA Holmes Dining 2006 $2,060,000 DSF 4.07% $144,440 $1,093,571 2026

Hall Renovations

MSCBA Hammond 2011 $15,935,656 DSF & 3.38% $1,131,858 | $11,078,908 2030
Campus Center operating
Renovations funds

MSCBA Hammond 2012 $7,043,416 DSF & 4.96% $510,050 $5,423,181 2031
Campus Center operating
Renovations funds

MSCBA Hammond 2013 $11,300,906 DSF & 3.27% $745,226 $9,075,216 2032
Campus Center operating
Renovations funds
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Issuing Construction Fiscal Original Funding Effective Debt Debt Maturity
Agency Project Year Issue Source Interest Service Outstanding
Issued Rate Payments
MSCBA Parking 2013 $2,563,127 DSF & 3.27% $170,788 $2,055,025 2032
Expansion operating
funds
MSCBA Hammond 2014 $12,235,614 DSF & 5.0% $916,500 $10,510,225 2033
Campus Center operating
Renovations funds
MSCBA Hammond 2015 $10,669,503 DSF & 4.93% $761,850 $9,555,372 2034
Campus Center operating
Renovations funds
MSCBA Landry Arena 2017 $4,166,418 DSF & 3.60% $265,533 $4,062,105 2037
Refurbishment operating
funds
DCAMM CEIP Funds 2016 $5,420,360 DCAMM 3.00% - $5,420,360 2039
JP Morgan | Campus wireless 2017 $1,261,206 DSF & 1.81% $264,966 $894,702 2021
project operating
funds
Total $83,766,206 $5,674,664 | $63,680,370

For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the total debt (current and long term) attributable
to interagency payments, bond premiums and capital lease payments amounted to $63.7, $61.9 and $59.7
million, respectively.

Additional information on Fitchburg State University's long-term debt activity can be found in footnotes 12
and 13 to the accompanying financial statements.

Viability Ratio: The availability of expendable net position to cover debt (the viability ratio) is a basic
determinant of financial health. Expendable net position are those assets not required to be retained in
perpetuity, i.e. those assets available for use for operations. A ratio of 1:1 or greater would indicate, as of
the balance sheet date, an institution has sufficient expandable net position to satisfy debt obligations.
However public institutions can operate effectively on a reduced ratio because of the benefit of state
support which is not captured in the institution's expendable net position. The University's viability ratio,
which has remained relatively consistent over time, is .56% for June 30, 2018, .55% for 2017 and .53% for
2016.

Debt Burden: The debt burden ratio measures an institution's dependence on borrowed funds by
comparing the level of debt service to total expenditures. In order to effectively manage resources,
including debt, industry standards set the upper threshold for institutional debt burden at 7%. As of June
30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the University's debt burden was 6.0%, 5.7% and 5.9%, respectively.

Looking Forward

Fall 2018 school year started out on the right note when sports team members were seen assisting
students move in to their dorm rooms on campus, some of which were recently refurbished. These resident
students are able to take advantage of not only living communities but also learning communities based on
their academic pursuit. The learning communities currently in operation are those for honors, criminal
justice and STEM programs.

Fitchburg State University has made strides on its strategic goals to strengthen academic programs and to
promote student success by breaking down barriers. With these goals in mind, faculty took two groups of
nursing students to Ghana and San Jose in 2018. On returning from Ghana, a student had this comment to
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make, "As | worked in Ghana, there was one thought that stuck with me: Be the change you want to see.
With the growing chaos in the world, be someone that can be a positive influence to bring change. We must
take hold of this opportunity and expand it around the world to help others. This experience has marked my
life forever." Another student remarked, "This trip helped me realize that | can do anything." Fitchburg
State University is working to change lives and thus the world one student at a time.

The University is creating multiple pathways to ensure student success. The faculty developed a Math Lab,
which opened fall 2018; the first year experience ("FYE") committee developed a general syllabus for all
FYE courses; and the community assessment and risk evaluation ("CARE") team changed its focus
towards a more holistic model that examines academic, behavioral, and environmental factors of students.

Fiscal 2018 saw the successful launch of the accelerated graduate and undergraduate online program from
business, nursing and education departments. Because of this, the University has been able to seek and
gain approval from the Massachusetts Board of Higher Education to participate in the State Authorization
Reciprocity Agreement ("SARA"). Fitchburg State received the distinction of being the first public, four-year
institution to be approved in Massachusetts to offer online classes to students in every state.

In September 2018, the first nine students from the 4+1 unique Fitchburg State University police program
graduated with a bachelor's and a master's degree and certification which has prepared them to work full-
time in municipal police departments in Massachusetts. They not only did years of academic study but they
spent the last 17 weeks in a rigorous program of physical training and tactical skills development.

As the University works tirelessly to increase diversity among the student body, its work has not gone
unnoticed. The report card from the University of Southern California’'s Race and Equity Center places
Fitchburg State University in the top 10 public institutions in the nation for serving black students. The
benchmark they used to determine the University's score included: representation, gender, and completion
equities, and black student to black faculty ratio.

The University continues to invest in capital assets to support the academic programs and to improve the
experience of students on campus. 2018 saw the completion of a number of renovation projects which
were started in prior years. One of the most prominent is that of the Idealab which is housed on the second
floor of the Theater Block which is also the home of a game design intern studio. The Idealab will include a
space that is open and easily reconfigured which will allow different disciplines and individuals from the
school and community to meet and discuss varying problems and hopefully arrive at innovation solutions.
This project has been referenced by Secretary Ash as a model project in which the anchor institution works
with their community to meet joint needs. With the construction of the Edgerly Elevator project completed,
all campus buildings now have automated vertical accessibility. We are now near completion of the Clean
Energy Investment Project ("CEIP") in conjunction with Department of Capital Asset Management and
Maintenance ("DCAMM") to increase energy efficiency on campus and reduce our carbon footprint by
upgrading our aging infrastructure.

Currently, the leadership of the University is working with a collective group from the community of
Fitchburg on the Relmagine North of Main project. This project has received approximately $350,000 in
grant funding from the Health Foundation of Central Massachusetts, Inc. in support of continued
revitalization of downtown Fitchburg. The initiative is also looking at developing a Resident Leadership
Institute, which will increase the campus visibility in the community. Another project of far reaching
consequence that the University has undertaken with the community is that of upgrading the Theater facility
which currently houses our Idealab. A project team is in place to work on the revitalization and financing of
this project. As a community resource, the institution continues to provide leadership and support for
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economic, environmental, and social and culture needs of Fitchburg, north central Massachusetts and the
Commonwealth.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the finances of Fitchburg State University
for anyone interested in this information. Questions concerning any of the data provided in this report or
requests for additional financial information should be addressed to Dr. Richard S. Lapidus, President,
Fitchburg State University, 160 Pearl Street, Fitchburg, Massachusetts, 01420.

Complete financial statements for Fitchburg State University Foundation, Inc., the University's component
unit, can be obtained from the office of the Vice President for Finance and Administration, Fitchburg State
University, 160 Pearl Street, Fitchburg, Massachusetts, 01420.
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Assets
Component Unit Component Unit
Fitchburg State Fitchburg State
University University
Foundation, Inc. Foundation, Inc.
2018 2018 2017 2017
Current assets
Cash and equivalents $ 23,463,140 $ 1,304,617 21,453,223 $ 1,361,159
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6,505,321 - 6,591,903 -
Investments - 8,612,256 - 7,121,426
Accounts receivable, net 2,163,522 37,160 1,956,116 49,239
Contributions receivable, net - 106,469 - 136,800
Loans receivable - current portion 1,207 - 100 -
Other current assets 366,499 28,195 335,835 60,429
Total current assets 32,499,689 10,088,697 30,337,177 8,729,053
Noncurrent assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6,143,787 - 10,260,675 -
Investments 15,880,005 - 14,927,981 -
Endowment investments 848,920 10,177,248 789,875 9,740,479
Accounts receivable, net of current portion 89,866 - 85,557 -
Contributions receivable, net - - - 79,385
Loans receivable, net of current portion 1,702,589 - 1,927,398 -
Capital assets, net 181,449,525 6,043,323 173,403,328 6,773,344
Other noncurrent assets 76,955 91,381 157,098 85,266
Total noncurrent assets 206,191,647 16,311,952 201,551,912 16,678,474
Total assets 238,691,336 26,400,649 231,889,089 25,407,527
Deferred outflows of resources
Deferred outflow - OPEB 2,075,508 - - -
Deferred outflow for pensions 3,504,138 - 4,901,385 -
Total deferred outflows of resources 5,579,646 - 4,901,385 -
20

Powered by BoardOnTrack

47 of 282


msnyder_37
Highlight

msnyder_38
Highlight


Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday April 2, 2019 at 8:00 AM

Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Statements of Net Position
June 30, 2018 and 2017

Liabilities and Net Position

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

University University
Foundation, Inc. Foundation, Inc.
2018 2018 2017 2017
Current liabilities
Interagency payables - current portion $ 3,487,348 $ - 3,334,367 $ -
Long-term debt - current portion - 756,909 - 188,765
Bank lines of credit - 320,000 - 250,000
Capital lease obligations - current portion 249,898 - 245,435 -
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,844,430 256,040 2,695,063 258,580
Accounts payable - construction 1,752,153 - 1,447,903 -
Accrued workers' compensation - current
portion 141,432 - 126,662 -
Compensated absences - current portion 3,175,133 - 3,195,296 -
Faculty payroll accrual 3,510,359 - 3,342,746 -
Revenue received in advance 1,417,553 43,475 1,854,294 17,200
Deposits 323,200 - 319,125 -
Other current liabilities 49,067 - 48,371 -
Total current liabilities 17,950,573 1,376,424 16,609,262 714,545
Noncurrent liabilities
Interagency payables, net of current portion 59,298,320 - 57,398,409 -
Accrued workers' compensation, net of current
portion 507,339 - 454,356 -
Compensated absences, net of current portion 2,166,148 - 1,965,950 -
Long-term debt, net of current portion - 2,801,813 - 3,443,878
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion 644,804 - 894,702 -
Loan payable - federal financial assistance
program 1,845,365 - 2,037,912 -
Net OPEB liability 22,232,674 - 22,384,199 -
Net pension liability 11,430,648 - 12,580,841 -
Total noncurrent liabilities 98,125,298 2,801,813 97,716,369 3,443,878
Total liabilities 116,075,871 4,178,237 114,325,631 4,158,423
Deferred inflows of resources
Service concession arrangement 1,517,508 - 1,770,425 -
Deferred inflow - OPEB 2,609,760 - - -
Deferred inflow for pensions 679,709 - 51,499 -
Total deferred inflows of resources 4,806,977 - 1,821,924 -
21
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Net Position

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

University University
Foundation, Inc. Foundation, Inc.
2018 2018 2017 2017
Net investment in capital assets $ 118,281,520 $ 2,164,600 $ 116,097,369 $ 2,890,701
Restricted for:
Nonexpendable
Scholarships and fellowships 520,615 5,335,072 506,331 4,945,904
Cultural programs - 3,183,493 - 3,175,098
Centennial endowments - 1,592,974 - 1,592,974
Other - 91,427 - 62,830
Expendable
Scholarships and fellowships 484,519 3,801,743 483,510 3,058,555
Cultural programs - 2,983,612 - 2,467,546
Loans 257,864 - 276,568 -
Capital projects 1,253,969 - 1,574,634 -
Debt service 6,699,132 - 5,759,312 -
Other 393,691 452,763 930 593,093
Unrestricted (4,503,176) 2,616,728 (4,055,735) 2,462,403
Total net position $ 123,388,134 $ 22,222,412 $ 120,642,919 $ 21,249,104

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Component Unit Component Unit
Fitchburg State Fitchburg State
University University
Foundation, Inc. Foundation, Inc.
2018 2018 2017 2017
Operating revenues
Student tuition and fees $ 43,632,761 $ - $ 40,930,851 $ -
Student fees restricted for repayment of
Interagency payables 5,909,693 - 5,800,350 -
Less: Scholarship allowances (7,722,510) - (7,711,629) -
Net student tuition and fees 41,819,944 - 39,019,572 -
Federal grants and contracts 8,312,288 - 7,739,969 -
State and local grants and contracts 292,900 98,042 244,862 392,700
Nongovernmental grants and contracts 907,615 - 258,594 -
Sales and services of educational departments 1,522,627 489,634 1,316,111 712,485
Gifts and contributions - 612,927 - 607,418
Auxiliary enterprises:
Residential life 10,643,816 262,981 9,616,860 523,798
Alcohol awareness and other programs 31,530 - 30,340 -
Other operating revenues 779,130 - 861,409 -
Total operating revenues 64,309,850 1,463,584 59,087,717 2,236,401
Operating expenses
Educational and general
Instruction 37,154,391 15,063 36,052,168 14,990
Research 104,463 104,142 10,635 -
Public service 555,403 45,755 504,007 76,831
Academic support 7,157,778 16,613 6,301,324 10,590
Student services 10,123,698 140,459 9,544,964 154,259
Institutional support 11,743,901 609,036 10,783,998 537,699
Operations and maintenance of plant 11,030,069 891,685 11,961,134 650,681
Depreciation and amortization 9,990,725 249,358 10,125,427 252,521
Scholarships and awards 2,690,116 507,301 1,960,021 561,831
Auxiliary enterprises
Residential life 10,514,709 78,067 9,606,338 77,663
Alcohol awareness and other programs 24,426 - 18,767 -
Total operating expenses 101,089,679 2,657,479 96,868,783 2,337,065
Operating income (loss) (36,779,829) (1,193,895) (37,781,066) (100,664)
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Component Unit
Fitchburg State

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

University University
Foundation, Inc. Foundation, Inc.
2018 2018 2017 2017
Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
State appropriations $ 39,403,569 $ - $ 38,873,231 $ -
Gifts 100 - - -
Investment income (loss), net of investment
expense 908,222 531,317 990,265 448,194
Investment income (loss) on restricted assets,
net of investment expense 122,149 1,367,217 95,123 1,224,612
Interest expense on Interagency payables and
capital asset related debt (1,851,587) (158,341) (1,900,661) (150,622)
Debt issuance costs - - (63,345) -
Net nonoperating revenues (expenses)
before capital and endowment additions 38,582,453 1,740,193 37,994,613 1,522,184
Income (loss) before capital and endowment
additions 1,802,624 546,298 213,547 1,421,520
State capital appropriations 439,467 - 74,078 -
Capital grants 503,124 - 1,404,215 -
Transfers (to)/from state agencies - - - -
Private gifts for endowment purposes - 427,010 - 245,750
Total capital and endowment additions 942,591 427,010 1,478,293 245,750
Increase (decrease) in net position 2,745,215 973,308 1,691,840 1,667,270
Net position - beginning of year, as previously
stated 120,642,919 21,249,104 141,335,278 19,581,834
Restatement (Note 29) - - (22,384,199) -
Net position - beginning of
year, as restated 120,642,919 21,249,104 118,951,079 19,581,834
Net position - end of the year $ 123,388,134 $ 22,222,412 $ 120,642,919 $ 21,249,104

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday April 2, 2019 at 8:00 AM

Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

2018 2017
Cash flows from operating activities
Tuition and fees $ 41,635,962 $ 38,618,973
Research grants and contracts 9,467,228 8,156,683
Payments to suppliers (20,843,013) (18,784,209)
Payments to utilities (4,437,738) (4,492,220)
Payments to employees (46,193,141) (46,008,199)
Payments for benefits (3,130,009) (3,337,866)
Payments for scholarships (2,731,812) (1,992,215)
Loans issued to students (36,291) (144,555)
Collection of loans to students 248,106 207,231
Auxiliary enterprise receipts
Residential life 10,606,391 9,611,462
Alcohol awareness program 31,530 30,340
Receipts from sales and services of educational departments 923,280 1,916,788
Other receipts 788,702 871,174
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (13,670,805) (15,346,613)
Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
State appropriations 29,473,032 29,404,821
Tuition remitted to State (674,450) (713,312)
Gifts from grants for other than capital purposes 100 -
Net cash provided by (used in) noncapital
financing activities 28,798,682 28,691,509
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
State capital appropriations 439,467 74,078
Loan programs net funds received 55,596 22,813
Interagency payable proceeds received 5,420,360 4,166,418
Payments for capital assets (17,591,182) (6,206,855)
Principal paid on capital debt (3,324,678) (2,954,918)
Interest paid on capital debt (2,349,986) (2,166,777)
Debt issuance costs - (63,345)
Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related
financing activities (17,350,423) (7,128,586)
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Fitchburg State University

(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from sale of investments
Earnings on investments

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents

Cash and equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and equivalents, end of year

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities
Operating loss
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities
Bad debt expense
Depreciation and amortization
Fringe benefits paid by the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts
Change in net pension liability
Change in net OPEB liability
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Other current and noncurrent assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accrued workers' compensation
Compensated absences
Accrued faculty payroll
Revenue received in advance
Other current liabilities
Deposits
Loans to students

Net cash used in operating activities

2018 2017
$ (3924835 $ (6,413,281)
3,396,907 8,375,271
556,921 350,705
28,993 2,312,695
(2,193,553) 8,529,005
38,305,801 29,776,796
$ 36,112,248 $ 38,305,801
$ (36,779,829) $ (37,781,066)
325,079 349,431
9,990,725 10,125,427
10,604,987 10,185,677
875,264 1,376,838
382,727 -
(532,536) (733,587)
49,479 17,641
1,218,053 2,424
67,753 73,128
180,035 (293,247)
167,613 393,441
(436,741) 806,438
696 966
4,075 67,200
211,815 62,676
$ (13,670,805) $ (15,346,613)
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

2018 2017
Schedule of noncash investing and financing activities

Acquisition of capital assets $ 18,036,922 8,530,873
Accounts payable thereon:

Beginning of year 1,447,903 1,526,988

End of year (1,752,153) (1,447,903)
Capital lease obligation - (1,261,206)
Capital grants from DCAMM - (1,146,989)
Net interest earned and incurred, capitalized in
construction in progress (141,490) 5,092
Payments for capital assets $ 17,591,182 6,206,855
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments $ 231,987 322,341
Fringe benefits paid by the Commonwealth
of Massachusetts $ 10,604,987 10,185,677
Capital grants - amortization of deferred inflows of
resources - service concession arrangement $ 252,918 252,918

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalent balances

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 23,463,140 21,453,223

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6,505,321 6,591,903
Noncurrent assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6,143,787 10,260,675

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 36,112,248 38,305,801

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2018 and 2017

Note 1 - Summary of significant accounting policies

Organization

Fitchburg State University (the "University") is a public, State-supported comprehensive four-year
University which offers a quality education leading to baccalaureate and master's degrees in many
disciplines. With its campus located in Fitchburg, Massachusetts, the University provides instruction in a
variety of liberal arts, allied health, and business fields of study. The University also offers, through the
Division of Graduate and Continuing Education, credit and non-credit courses. The University is
accredited by the New England Commission of Higher Education ("NECHE") (formerly known as the
New England Association of Schools and Colleges ("NEASC")).

The University is a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the "State" or the
"Commonwealth™). The accompanying financial statements reflect only the transactions of the
University and its discretely presented component unit. Accordingly, the accompanying financial
statements may not necessarily be indicative of the conditions that would have existed if the University
had been operated independently of the State.

Fitchburg State University Foundation, Inc. (the "Foundation") is a component unit of Fitchburg State
University. The Foundation is a legally separate, tax-exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the
Internal Revenue Code. It was organized on June 6, 1978, exclusively for the benefit of Fitchburg State
University, to establish scholarships and make awards to educationally talented and needy students; to
establish a Distinguished Professor award within the faculty of the University; to subsidize inter-
collegiate athletic programs; to subsidize budgets of departments of the University as needed for
particular purposes; to encourage public use and support of functions and activities which further the
mission of the University; and to encourage other activities necessary for, or incidental to, any or all of
the foregoing. The following programs are supported under the auspices of the Foundation: Center
Stage, Alumni Association, Women in Today's Society, Amelia V. Gallucci - Cirio endowment and the
University's Booster Clubs. The Board of the Foundation is self-perpetuating and consists of graduates
and friends of the University. Although the University does not control the timing or amount of receipts
from the Foundation, the majority of resources, or income thereon that the Foundation holds and
invests are restricted to the activities of the University by the donors. Because these restricted
resources held by the Foundation can only be used by, or for the benefit of, the University, the
Foundation is considered a component unit of the University and is discretely presented in the
University's financial statements.

FSU Foundation Supporting Organization, Inc. (the "Foundation Supporting Organization") was
organized on October 29, 1999 for the exclusive benefit of the Foundation and all of its educational and
charitable activities. The Foundation Supporting Organization is a legally separate, tax-exempt
organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Foundation Supporting
Organization's sole program activity, as of June 30, 2018, has been to acquire, hold, operate and lease
real estate and related improvements for the benefit of the Foundation and the University. The financial
information of the Foundation Supporting Organization is consolidated into the financial statements of
the Foundation. The Foundation and Foundation Supporting Organization are collectively referred to
hereinafter as the FSU Foundation.

During fiscal 2018, FSU Foundation distributed scholarships and awards in the amount of $507,301
directly to students and faculty of the University, and incurred an additional $2,308,519 in support of its
mission in other ways. Complete financial statements for FSU Foundation can be obtained from the
Office of the Vice President for Finance and Administration, Fitchburg State University, 160 Pearl
Street, Fitchburg, MA 01420.
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During fiscal 2017, FSU Foundation distributed scholarships and awards in the amount of $561,831
directly to students and faculty of the University, and incurred an additional $1,925,856 in support of its
mission in other ways.

Basis of presentation

The University's financial statements have been prepared using the "economic resources measurement
focus" and the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America, as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
("GASB"). Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred,
regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as
soon as all eligibility requirements have been met.

FSU Foundation, as a nonprofit organization, reports under Financial Accounting Standards Board
("FASB") guidance on financial reporting for Not-for-Profit Entities. As such, certain revenue recognition
criteria and presentation features are different from GASB revenue recognition criteria and presentation
features. Other than the reclassification of certain items, no modifications have been made to FSU
Foundation's consolidated financial information in the University's financial reporting entity for these
differences.

The University's policy for defining operating activities in the statements of revenues, expenses and
changes in net position are those that generally result from exchange transactions such as the payment
received for services and payment made for the purchase of goods and services. Certain other
transactions are reported as nonoperating activities in accordance with GASB Statement No. 35. These
nonoperating activities include the University's operating and capital appropriations from the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts, net investment income, gifts, and interest expense.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the University's policy to use
the restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

GASB Statement No. 34 requires that resources be classified for accounting purposes into the following
three net position categories:

o Net investment in capital assets: Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and
outstanding principal balances of debt attributable to the acquisition, construction or
improvement of those assets. Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
that are attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets or related
debt are also included in this component of net position.

e Restricted:

Nonexpendable - Component of net position whose net assets are subject to externally-
imposed stipulations that they be maintained permanently by the University. Such assets
include the University's permanent endowment funds.

Expendable - Component of net position whose use of net assets by the University is
subject to externally-imposed stipulations that can be fulfilled by actions of the University
pursuant to those stipulations or that expire by the passage of time.

o Unrestricted: All other categories of net position. Unrestricted net position may be designated
for specific purposes by action of management or the Board of Trustees.
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In accordance with the requirements of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, the University's
operations are accounted for in several trust funds. All of these trust funds have been consolidated and
are included in these financial statements.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts and disclosures reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Although these
estimates are based on management's knowledge of current events and actions it may undertake in the
future, they may ultimately differ from actual results.

Cash and cash equivalents and investments

The University's cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, cash and cash
equivalents held by the Commonwealth's Treasurer and Receiver-General, Massachusetts
Development Finance Agency ("MDFA") and Massachusetts State College Building Authority
("MSCBA"), and short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of
acquisition.

Investments for the University are reported at fair value. Any investments held with the
Commonwealth's Treasurer and Receiver-General in the Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust
("MMDT") are also at fair value. This external investment pool, run by the Treasurer and Receiver-
General, operates in accordance with appropriate laws and regulations. The reported value of the pool
is the same as the fair value of the pool shares.

Investments include marketable debt and equity securities which are carried at their readily
determinable fair values. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are included in nonoperating
revenues. Gains and losses on the disposition of investments are determined based on specific
identification of securities sold or the average cost method. Investment income is recognized when
earned and is generally credited to the trust fund holding the related assets.

Dividends, interest and net gains or losses on investments are reported in the Statements of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Net Position. Any net earnings not expended are included in net position
categories as follows:

() asincreases in restricted - nonexpendable net position if the terms of the gift require that they
be added to the principal of a permanent endowment fund,;

(i) asincreases in restricted - expendable net position if the terms of the gift or the University's
interpretation of relevant state law impose restrictions on the current use of the income or net
gains. The University has relied upon the Attorney General's interpretation of state law that
unappropriated endowment gains should be classified as restricted - expendable; and

(i) as increases in unrestricted net position in all other cases.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the University had $321,111 and $339,750, respectively, in endowment
income available for authorization for expenditure, which is included in restricted-expendable net
position for scholarships and fellowships.

Massachusetts General Law, Chapter 15 grants authority to the University Board of Trustees to
administer the general business of the University. Inherent in this authority is the authority to invest
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funds of the University. Chapter 15 further grants the Trustees the authority to delegate, to the
President, any said powers or responsibilities. The Board of Trustees of Fitchburg State University has
delegated the authority to make specific investment decisions to the President of the University and the
Finance Committee of the Board of Trustees. The University's endowment investments consist of debt,
marketable equity securities, mutual funds, and other investments which are carried at their fair values.
The primary cash equivalent funds are within the MMDT, the external investment pool for political
subdivisions of the Commonwealth.

The University's authorized spending rule provides that all earnings on endowment investments may be
expended pursuant to the stipulations placed on these endowments. If a donor has not provided
specific instructions, Massachusetts General Law permits the University's Board of Trustees to
authorize for expense the net appreciation (realized and unrealized) of the investments of endowment
funds. Any net appreciation that is spent is required to be spent for the purposes for which the
endowment was established.

FSU Foundation's investments consist of debt, marketable equity securities, mutual funds and other
investments which are carried at their fair values. Unrealized gains and losses are included in revenue.
Restricted investment income and gains are reported as increases in unrestricted net position, unless a
donor or law temporarily (expendable) or permanently (non-expendable) restricts their use. Gains and
losses on the disposition of investments are principally determined based on the first-in, first-out
method or specific identification of securities sold. Investment income is recognized when earned.
Dividends are recorded on the ex-dividend date.

FSU Foundation maintains cash and equivalents and an investment pool that is available for use by all
funds. Each fund's portion is reflected in the financial statements under cash and equivalents and
investments. Earnings on cash and investments of the unrestricted net position and temporarily
restricted (expendable) net position are reflected in the fund in which the assets are recorded.

The FSU Foundation's endowments consist of approximately 110 and 100 individual funds at June 30,
2018 and 2017, respectively, that are restricted by donors to function as endowments primarily for the
granting of scholarships and to fund other academic and cultural programs. During fiscal 2018, FSU
Foundation's Board of Directors voted to earmark $25,000 as a board-designated fund entitled The
Fund for Fitchburg State to function as an endowment fund. The fund is designated for students with
financial needs to be awarded financial aid scholarships. No funds have been designated by the Board
of Directors to function as endowments as of June 30, 2017. In accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America, net assets associated with endowment funds,
including funds designated by the Board of Directors to function as endowments, are classified and
reported based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.

FSU Foundation's Board of Directors has interpreted the Massachusetts Uniform Prudent Management
of Institutional Funds Act ("UPMIFA") as requiring the preservation of the fair value of the original gift as
of the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the
contrary. As a result of this interpretation, FSU Foundation classifies as permanently restricted net
assets (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent endowment, (b) the original value of
subsequent gifts to the permanent endowment, and (c) accumulations to the permanent endowment
made in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift instrument at the time the
accumulation is added to the fund. The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund that
is not classified in permanently restricted net assets is classified as temporarily restricted net assets
until those amounts are appropriated for expenditure by FSU Foundation in a manner consistent with
the standard of prudence prescribed by UPMIFA.
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In accordance with UPMIFA, FSU Foundation considers the following factors in making a determination
to appropriate or accumulate restricted endowment funds: (i) the duration and preservation of the fund,
(i) the purposes of FSU Foundation and the donor-restricted endowment fund, (iii) general economic
conditions, (iv) the possible effect of inflation and deflation, (v) the expected total return from income
and the appreciation of investments, (vi) other resources of FSU Foundation, and (vii) the investment
policies of FSU Foundation.

FSU Foundation has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that attempt to
provide a predictable stream of funding while seeking to maintain the purchasing power of the
endowment assets. Endowment assets include those assets of donor-restricted funds that FSU
Foundation must hold in perpetuity or for donor-specified periods as well as board-designated funds.
Under this policy, as approved by FSU Foundation's Board of Directors, the endowment assets are
invested in a variety of investments that aim to preserve principal, generate income and provide the
opportunity for conservative growth.

FSU Foundation's performance goals are to provide an average annual total rate of return, net of fees,
that equals or exceeds its spending rate plus inflation ("CPI") over a rolling five-year period.
Additionally, the endowment assets are invested in a manner that is intended to produce results that
equal or exceed the average return of appropriate capital market indices weighted by FSU Foundation's
asset allocation target percentages over a rolling five-year period. FSU Foundation's performance goals
are also intended to produce results that equal or exceed the average return of a universe of similarly
managed funds. FSU Foundation's performance goals are based upon a long-term investment horizon.
Accordingly, actual returns in any given year may vary from these amounts.

To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, FSU Foundation relies on a total return strategy in
which investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and
current yield (interest and dividends). FSU Foundation targets a diversified asset allocation that places
a greater emphasis on equity-based investments to achieve its long-term return objectives within
prudent risk constraints.

FSU Foundation has a spending policy of appropriating for distribution each year a percentage of its
endowment fund's average fair value over the preceding three years. The amount to be appropriated for
distribution shall not exceed 5%. In establishing this policy, FSU Foundation considered the long-term
expected return on its endowment fund assets. Accordingly, over the long-term, FSU Foundation
expects the current spending policy to be consistent with the FSU Foundation's objective of seeking to
maintain the purchasing power of the endowment fund assets held in perpetuity or for a specified term
as well as to provide additional real growth through investment return.

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment funds
may fall below the level that the donor or Massachusetts General Laws requires FSU Foundation to
retain as a fund of perpetual duration. In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America, deficiencies of this nature are reported in unrestricted net assets. As of
June 30, 2018 and 2017, there were no deficiencies of this nature.

The University's and FSU Foundation's investment income are presented net of investment expense in
the statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. The University's investment
expense amounted to $85,581 and $96,668 for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
FSU Foundation's investment expense amounted to $107,210 and $96,801 for the years ended June
30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount the University expects to collect from outstanding
balances. The University provides for probable uncollectible amounts through a charge to operations
and a credit to a valuation allowance based on its assessment of the current status of individual
accounts. Balances that are still outstanding after the University has used reasonable collection efforts
are written off through a charge to the valuation allowance and a credit to accounts receivable.

Accounts receivable also include a receivable from the operator of the University's food services
operation in connection with a service concession arrangement between the University and the
operator. The receivable has been recorded at the net present value of the installments to be received
from the operator using a discount rate determined by management of the University.

Loans receivable and payable

Loans receivable consist, primarily, of the Federal Perkins Loan Program ("Perkins") and the Federal
Nursing Student Loan Program ("NSL"). The federal government provides the majority of the funds to
support these programs. Loan payments received from students made under the Perkins and NSL
programs may be re-loaned after collection. The portion of the Perkins and NSL Loan Programs
provided by the federal government is refundable to the federal government upon the ending
(liquidation) of the University's participation in the programs. The amount due to the federal government
upon liquidation by the University is $1,467,263 and $1,619,081 for Perkins and $378,102 and
$418,831 for NSL at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. These amounts are included as a
noncurrent liability in the accompanying statements of net position.

The prescribed practices for the Perkins and NSL programs do not provide for accrual of interest on
student loans receivable or for the provision of an allowance for doubtful loans. Accordingly, interest on
loans is recorded as received and loan balances are reduced subsequent to the determination of their
uncollectability and have been accepted (assigned) by the Department of Education and the
Department of Health and Human Services. Management closely monitors outstanding balances and
assigns loans to the Department of Education based upon such factors as student payment history,
current status of applicable students, and the results of collection efforts.

Capital assets

Capital assets are controlled but not owned by the University. The University is not able to sell or
otherwise pledge its assets, since the assets are all owned by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.
Capital assets, which include land, land improvements, buildings, building improvements, equipment
and other assets are reported in the statements of net position at cost or fair market value, if donated.
Capital assets are defined by the University as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than
$50,000 in accordance with the Commonwealth's capitalization policy. The University does not hold
collections of historical treasures, works of art, or other items not requiring capitalization or
depreciation.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially
extend asset lives are not capitalized.

Capital assets, with the exception of land, are depreciated using the straight-line method over estimated
useful lives of 40 years for buildings, 20 years for building and land improvements, 5 years for furniture
and 3 to 10 years for equipment.
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Library materials acquired for the most recent five-year period are capitalized. The cost of library
materials purchased in the current year is added and the cost of purchases made in the earliest year of
the five-year period is deducted from the net position balance.

The land on which the residence halls stand is leased by the MSCBA from the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts at a yearly cost of one dollar. The leases are long-term leases which can be extended
at the end of their terms for additional 10-year periods.

The University, in accordance with a management and services agreement between the MSCBA and
Commonwealth of Massachusetts, is charged a semi-annual revenue assessment which is based on a
certified occupancy report, the current rent schedule, and the design capacity for each of the residence
halls. This revenue assessment is used by MSCBA to pay principal and interest due on its long-term
debt obligations. These obligations may include the costs of periodic renovations and improvements to
the residence halls. The revenue assessment amounts for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017
were $6,827,009 and $6,175,634, respectively, and are included in the Residential life auxiliary
enterprises in the accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. All
facilities and obligations of the MSCBA are included in the financial statements of the MSCBA. It is not
practical to determine the specific asset cost or liability attributable to the University. The leases,
therefore, are accounted for under the operating method for financial statement purposes.

FSU Foundation's capital assets are recorded at cost, if purchased or constructed and, if donated, at
fair value at the date of donation. Capital assets, with the exception of land, are depreciated using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets of 40 years for buildings, 20 years for
building and land improvements, 7 and 10 years for furniture and fixtures, 5 years for equipment and 3
years for computer software and equipment. FSU Foundation generally capitalizes all additions and
improvements with an individual cost or, if donated, fair value in excess of $5,000.

Contributions and bequests

FSU Foundation recognizes contributions revenue when the donor makes a promise to give, thatis, in
substance, unconditional. Unconditional promises to give are reported at net realizable value if at the
time the promise is made collection is expected to be received in one year or less. Unconditional
promises to give that are expected to be collected in more than one year are reported at fair value using
present value techniques and a discount rate determined by management of FSU Foundation.
Amortization of discounts is recorded as additional contribution revenue in accordance with donor-
imposed restrictions, if any, on the contributions. Conditional promises to give are recognized only
when the conditions on which they depend are substantially met and the promises become
unconditional. Contributions in the form of property and equipment and other assets are recorded at the
fair value on the date the donation is received. All contributions are considered to be available for
unrestricted use by FSU Foundation unless specifically restricted by the donor. FSU Foundation
provides for probable uncollectible amounts of unconditional promises to give through a charge to
earnings and a credit to a valuation allowance based on its assessment of the current status of
individual account balances.

Compensated absences

Employees earn the right to be compensated during absences for vacation leave and sick leave.
Accrued vacation is the amount earned by all eligible employees through June 30 each year. Pursuant
to statewide experience on sick pay buy-back agreements applicable to state employees, the University
accrues sick leave to a level representing 20% of amounts earned by those University employees with
ten or more years of State service at the end of the fiscal year. Upon retirement, these employees are
entitled to receive payment for this accrued balance (see also Note 8).
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Student fees

Student tuition and fees are presented net of scholarships applied to students' accounts. Certain other
scholarship amounts are paid directly to, or refunded to, the student and are generally reflected as
expenses.

Revenue received in advance

Deposits and advance payments received for tuition and fees related to the University's summer
programs and tuition billed for the following fiscal year are recorded as revenues received in advance.
Funds received in advance from various grants and contracts are also included in revenues received in
advance.

Agency funds

Agency funds consist of resources held by the University as custodian or fiscal agent of student
organizations, the State Treasurer and others. Transactions are recorded to asset and liability
accounts. There were no material balances at June 30, 2018 and 2017.

Bond premiums
Bond premiums are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the related debt
agreements.

Interest expense and capitalization

The University follows the policy of capitalizing interest expense as a component of the cost of capital
assets constructed for its own use. During 2018 and 2017, total interest costs incurred were accounted
for as follows:

2018 2017
Total interest costs incurred $ 2,290,601 $ 2,216,234
Less: Interest income on unused funds from tax
exempt borrowings (9,299) (6,050)
Bond premium amortization (288,225) (314,615)
1,993,077 1,895,569
Less: Capitalized portion of net interest earned (141,490) 5,092
and incurred
Interest expense $ 1,851,587 $ 1,900,661

Pension plan

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of
the Massachusetts State Employees' Retirement System ("MSERS") and additions to/deductions from
MSERS's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by
MSERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at
fair value.
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OPEB plan

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to post-employment benefits other than pensions, and OPEB expense, information
about the fiduciary net position of the OPEB Trust Fund and additions to/deductions from OPEB Trust
Fund's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the
OPEB Trust Fund. Investments are reported at fair value.

Fringe benefits

The University participates in the Commonwealth's fringe benefit programs, including health insurance,
unemployment, pension and workers' compensation benefits. Workers' compensation coverage is
provided by the Commonwealth on a self-insured basis. Health insurance and pension costs are billed
through a fringe benefit rate charged to the University. Workers' compensation and unemployment
insurance costs are assessed separately based on the University's actual experience.

Tax status
The University is a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and is, therefore, exempt from
federal and state income taxes.

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2017 financial statements to conform to the 2018
presentation.

Recently adopted accounting pronouncements

In June 2015, the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. The primary objective of GASB Statement No. 75 is to
improve accounting and financial reporting by state and local governments for postemployment benefits
other than pensions (other postemployment benefits or "OPEB"). GASB Statement No. 75 requires
governments providing defined benefit OPEB plans to recognize their long-term obligation for OPEB
benefits as a liability for the first time, and to more comprehensively and comparably measure the
annual costs of OPEB benefits. GASB Statement No. 75 also enhances accountability and
transparency through revised and new note disclosures and required supplementary information. The
provisions in GASB Statement No. 75 are effective for financial statements for fiscal years beginning
after June 15, 2017 with earlier application encouraged. The University adopted this standard in fiscal
year 2018.

In March 2017, the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 85, Omnibus 2017. The objective of GASB
Statement No. 85 is to address practice issues that have been identified during implementation and
application of certain GASB Statements, including GASB Statement No. 75. The applicable provisions
of GASB Statement No. 85 have been adopted in fiscal year 2018 with the University's initial adoption
of GASB Statement No. 75.

The impact of implementing GASB Statements No. 75 and 85 on the University's financial statements is
further discussed in Notes 22 and 29.
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Note 2 - Cash and cash equivalents, and investments

Cash and cash equivalents - unrestricted and restricted - include the following at June 30, 2018 and
2017:
2018
Current Current Noncurrent
unrestricted restricted restricted
Cash and money market accounts $ 13,076,865 $ 5,769,441 $ 2,428,922
Cash equivalents held by MDFA * - 293,344 283,274
Cash equivalents held by MSCBA ** - 363,739 3,307,247
Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust 5,950,122 - 124,344
Massachusetts State Treasurer *** 4,435,208 78,797 -
Petty cash 945 - -

$ 23,463,140 $ 6,505,321 $ 6,143,787

2017

Current Current Noncurrent

unrestricted restricted restricted
Cash and money market accounts $ 12,356,254 $ 5,288,931 $ 1,950,069
Cash equivalents held by MDFA * - 276,740 293,261
Cash equivalents held by MSCBA ** - 304,586 7,894,943
Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust 5,857,201 - 122,402

Massachusetts State Treasurer *** 3,238,798 721,646 -

Petty cash 970 - -

*

**

*kk

$ 21,453,223 $ 6,591,903 $ 10,260,675

This amount consists of cash equivalents which are restricted by the Massachusetts
Development Finance Agency ("MDFA") for the funding of payments to retire the bonds (see
Note 12). The University does not have access to these funds except by the authorization of
MDFA.

This amount consists of cash and cash equivalents which are restricted by the Massachusetts
State College Building Authority ("MSCBA") for the funding of certain construction projects at the
University and payments to retire bonds (see Note 12). The University does not have access to
these funds except by authorization of MSCBA. Interest earned on debt service reserve funds is
used on a current basis to offset annual debt service payments.

The University has recorded cash held for the benefit of the University by the State Treasurer in
the amount of $4,435,208 and $3,238,798 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, for University
funds and $78,797 and $721,646 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, to pay year-end
liabilities. The latter balance represents amounts paid from State appropriations subsequent to
the fiscal year-end.

Money market funds include the Goldman Sachs Financial Square Government Fund in the aggregate

amou

nt of $93,465 and $63,402 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The Goldman Sachs
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Financial Square Government Fund invests in U.S. Government securities and repurchase agreements.
The fund seeks to maximum current income consistent with the preservation of capital and liquidity, and
the maintenance of a stable $1.00 per share net asset value. At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the fund's
investment securities had a weighted average maturity of 32 and 24 days, respectively. The fund had
an average credit quality rating of AAAm at both June 30, 2018 and 2017.

Money market funds include the Northern Institutional U.S. Government Portfolio (formerly known as
the Northern Institutional Government Assets Portfolio) in the aggregate amount of $99,475 and
$231,979 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The Northern Institutional U.S. Government
Portfolio invests primarily in marketable securities issued or guaranteed as to principal and interest by
the U.S. Government, or any of its agencies or instrumentalities, and repurchase agreements backed
by such securities. The fund seeks to maximize current income to the extent consistent with the
preservation of capital and maintenance of liquidity. At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the fund's investment
securities had a weighted average maturity of 45 days and 25 days, respectively. The fund had an
average credit quality rating of AAAm at June 30, 2018 and Aa at June 30, 2017.

Money market funds also include the RWM Cash Management money market account with a balance
of $27,959 and $62,187 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

The Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust ("MMDT") is not subject to FDIC insurance. According
to the MMDT, the Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust is an investment pool for political
subdivisions in the Commonwealth which was designed as a legal means to safely invest temporarily
available cash. Its primary purpose is to provide a safe, liquid, high-yield investment vehicle offering
participation in a diversified portfolio of high quality debt instruments. The MMDT is not a bank, savings
institution, or financial institution. The MMDT is an instrumentality of the State Treasurer.

The University maintains a cash and investment pool that is available for use by all trust funds. Each
fund type's portion of this pool is reflected in the financial statements under the caption, cash and cash
equivalents and investments. The method of allocating interest earned on pooled cash and investments
is to record all interest to the appropriate fund based on that fund's average monthly balance. Interest
earnings attributable to each trust fund are included under investment income.

Custodial credit risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the University's deposits
may not be returned to it. The University's deposit policy provides for bank balances to be held in
interest-bearing checking accounts and, where account activity and balances warrant it, in money
market accounts. All bank balances are to be held at financial institutions of high credit quality. At June
30, 2018 and 2017, the University had uninsured cash balances totaling approximately $5,920,900 and
$5,963,600, respectively.

The University does not have a formal policy with respect to the custodial credit risk. Custodial credit
risk is that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the University will not be able to recover the
value of investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.

Certain investments are covered by the Securities Investor Protection Corporation ("SIPC") up to
$500,000, including $250,000 of cash from sale or for purchase of investments, but not cash held solely
for the purpose of earning interest. SIPC protects securities such as notes, stocks, bonds, debentures,
certificates of deposit and money funds. Certain cash balances are covered by the National Credit
Union Administration's Share Insurance Fund up to $250,000.
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The following University investments at June 30, 2018 and 2017 are held by the counterparty's trust
department or agent but not in the University's name and, therefore, are subject to custodial credit risk
as follows:

2018 2017
U.S. Treasury Notes and Government Securities $ 1,295,626 $ 1,293,367
Corporate Debt Securities 1,929,532 1,944,881
Equity Securities 6,825,505 6,273,275
Mutual Funds 6,678,262 6,206,333
Total 16,728,925 15,717,856
Less insured amounts 1,500,000 1,500,000
Amount subject to Custodial Credit Risk $ 15,228,925 $ 14,217,856

Credit risk

The University is required to comply with the Commonwealth of Massachusetts' deposit and investment
policies which are principally defined in the Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 29. State Statutes
permit investment in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, authorized bonds of all states, bankers'
acceptances, certificates of deposit, commercial paper rated within the three highest classifications
established by Standard & Poor's Corporation and Moody's Commercial Paper Record and repurchase
agreements secured by any of these obligations. The University has also adopted its own formal
investment policy, the objectives of which are: safety of principal; liquidity for operating needs; return on
investment; and diversification of risk. The University's investment policy generally limits the maturities
of investments to not more than one year. However, the University may invest in securities with
maturities in excess of one year if it is determined to be in the best interest of the University as
described in the University's investment policy. The University may also appoint a professional fund
manager and invest in equity and bond funds. Eligible investments shall be consistent with those
permitted by State Statutes.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the fair values of the University's deposits held at the Massachusetts
Municipal Depository Trust were $6,074,466 and $5,979,603, respectively. At June 30, 2018, the
approximate percentage of the University's deposits held at the MMDT and the respective investment
maturities in days were as follows: 71% at 30 days or less; 20% at 31-90 days; 9% at 91-180 days; and
0% at 181 days or more. At June 30, 2018, approximately 100% of the MMDT's cash portfolio had a
First Tier credit quality rating.

The University's funds held at MDFA are invested in the Short-Term Asset Reserve ("STAR") Fund and
had a fair value of $576,618 and $570,001 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The STAR Fund
invests primarily in U.S. Treasury bills, notes, and other obligations guaranteed by the U.S. government
or its agencies or instrumentalities. Additionally, the fund invests in repurchase agreements, bankers'
acceptances, certificates of deposit, commercial paper, notes, and both corporate floating rate and
corporate fixed-rate securities. The STAR Fund maintains a net asset value of $1 per share and had a
fund credit quality rating of AAAm as of both June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. At June 30, 2018
and 2017, the fund's investment securities maintain a weighted average maturity of 37 and 41 days,
respectively.
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At June 30, 2018, certain of the University's funds are held at MSCBA. Of the total, $1,599,693 is
deposited in various cash accounts which are fully collateralized by securities in accounts in the name
of MSCBA, and $2,071,293 is invested in various funds as listed below:

Investment maturities (in years)

Fair Less Greater Credit
Investment type value than 1 1-5 6-10 than 10 rating
Federal Home Loan Bank
Discount Notes $ 144,841  $ 144,841  $ - $ - $ - N/A
Federal Farm Credit 881,963 - 881,963 - - AA+
Massachusetts ST Bonds 1,044,489 80,326 - 964,163 AAA
Total $ 2,071,293 $ 225,167 $ 881,963 $ - $ 964,163

At June 30, 2017, certain of the University's funds are held at MSCBA. Of the total, $5,937,112 is
deposited in various cash accounts which are fully collateralized by securities in accounts in the name
of MSCBA, and $2,262,417 is invested in various funds as listed below:

Investment maturities (in years)

Fair Less Greater Credit
Investment type value than 1 1-5 6-10 than 10 rating
Federal Home Loan Bank
Discount Notes $ 144,841  $ 144,841  $ - $ - $ - N/A
Federal Farm Credit 667,799 - 667,799 - - AA+
Massachusetts ST Bonds 1,449,777 - 485,614 - 964,163 AAA
Total $ 2,262,417  $ 144,841  $ 1,153,413  $ - $ 964,163

The University's investments in marketable securities are represented by the following at June 30, 2018
and 2017:

2018 2017
Cost Fair value Cost Fair value

Noncurrent:

U.S. Treasury Notes and

Government Securities $ 1,360,003 $ 1,295,626 $ 1,346,929 $ 1,293,367
Corporate Debt Securities 1,985,769 1,929,532 1,935,769 1,944,881
Equity Securities 5,276,629 6,825,505 5,011,045 6,273,275
Mutual Funds 6,591,075 6,678,262 6,140,651 6,206,333

$ 15,213,476 $ 16,728,925 $ 14,434,394 $ 15,717,856

The University's investments at fair value are presented in the accompanying statements of net position
as follows:

2018 2017
Investments $ 15,880,005 $ 14,927,981
Endowment investments 848,920 789,875

$ 16,728,925 $ 15,717,856
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At June 30, 2018, the University's U.S. Treasury Notes and Government Securities and corporate debt
securities along with their investment maturities and credit quality ratings are as follows:

Investment maturities (in years)

Fair Less Greater Credit
Investment type value than 1 1-5 6-10 than 10 rating

U.S. Treasury Notes and
Government Securities

1.625% to 3.375% $ 1,295,626 $ 301,472 $ 767,048 $ 227,106 $ - AA+
Corporate Debt Securities

1.875% to 5.625% 366,153 59,984 306,169 - - A
Corporate Debt Securities

3.100% to 6.000% 405,536 - 169,893 235,643 - A-
Corporate Debt Securities

2.800% to 3.300% 366,339 - 180,186 186,153 - A+
Corporate Debt Securities

3.400% to 3.625% 171,926 - 171,926 - - AA
Corporate Debt Securities

1.750% to 3.625% 267,285 - 170,760 96,525 - AA-
Corporate Debt Securities

3.200% to 4.650% 107,232 - - 107,232 - AA+
Corporate Debt Securities

3.125% 49,120 - - 49,120 - AAA
Corporate Debt Securities

1.400% to 5.000% 195,941 60,796 62,023 73,122 - BBB+
Total $ 3,225,158 $ 422,252 $ 1,828,005 $ 974,901 $ -

At June 30, 2017, the University's U.S. Treasury Notes and Government Securities and corporate debt
securities along with their investment maturities and credit quality ratings are as follows:

Investment maturities (in years)

Fair Less Greater Credit
Investment type value than 1 1-5 6-10 than 10 rating

U.S. Treasury Notes and
Government Securities

1.625% to 3.500% $ 1,293,367 $ 212,642 $ 769,878  $ 310,847 % - AA+
Corporate Debt Securities

1.875% to 5.625% 497,053 121,218 375,835 - - A
Corporate Debt Securities

3.100% to 6.000% 355,362 61,348 51,753 242,261 - A-
Corporate Debt Securities

2.800% to 3.300% 183,960 - 62,739 121,221 - A+
Corporate Debt Securities

3.400% to 3.625% 178,576 - 126,314 52,262 - AA
Corporate Debt Securities

1.750% to 3.625% 303,356 - 116,245 187,111 - AA-
Corporate Debt Securities

3.200% to 4.650% 111,579 - - 111,579 - AA+
Corporate Debt Securities

3.125% 51,017 - - 51,017 - AAA
Corporate Debt Securities

1.400% to 5.000% 263,978 59,950 127,228 76,800 - BBB+
Total $ 3238248 % 455,158 $ 1,629,992 $ 1,153,098 $ -
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FSU Foundation's cash and cash equivalents consist of the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Cash and other demand deposits $ 471,462 $ 708,072
Money Market Funds 833,155 653,087

$ 1,304,617 $ 1,361,159

Money market funds include the SSgA US Government Money Market Fund, the Goldman Sachs
Financial Square Government Fund, RWM Cash Management and the Fidelity Bank LifeDesign
Business Cash Management Money Market accounts in the amounts of $112,880, $104,726, $146,615
and $468,934 at June 30, 2018.

Money market funds include the SSgA US Government Money Market Fund, the Goldman Sachs
Financial Square Government Fund, RWM Cash Management and the Fidelity Bank LifeDesign
Business Cash Management Money Market accounts in the amounts of $51,013, $68,472, $91,288 and
$442,314 at June 30, 2017.

The cash balances are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") up to $250,000.
At June 30, 2018 and 2017, FSU Foundation's uninsured cash and equivalent balances, including the
SSgA US Government Money Market Fund, Goldman Sachs Financial Square Government Fund,
RWM Cash Management and the Fidelity Bank LifeDesign Business Cash Management Money Market
accounts, amounted to approximately $554,900 and $706,700, respectively.

FSU Foundation's investment policy consists of an asset allocation range of 50% to 70% equity
securities, 30% to 50% fixed income securities and up to 10% in cash and cash equivalents.

FSU Foundation's investments are represented by the following at June 30:

2018 2017

Fair Fair

Cost value Cost value
Equities $ 5,956,602 $ 9,755,423 $ 5,735,924 $ 8,765,351
Preferred Stocks 72,335 73,216 95,092 97,245
Mutual Funds 4,546,413 5,207,596 4,100,943 4,480,726
Corporate Bonds 1,795,019 1,751,921 1,570,558 1,579,007
U.S. Government Securities 2,056,409 2,001,348 1,954,323 1,939,576

$ 14,426,778 $ 18,789,504 $ 13,456,840 $ 16,861,905
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FSU Foundation's investments at fair value are presented in the accompanying statements of net
position as follows:

2018 2017
Current assets
Investments $ 8,612,256 $ 7,121,426
Noncurrent assets
Endowment investments 10,177,248 9,740,479

$ 18,789,504 $ 16,861,905

At June 30, 2018, net unrealized gains in FSU Foundation's investment portfolio amounted to
$4,362,726. At June 30, 2017, net unrealized gains in FSU Foundation's investment portfolio amounted
to $3,405,065.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, equities include securities in the consumer goods sector which represent
17% in each year of the fair value of FSU Foundation's investment portfolio.

At June 30, 2018, equities include securities in the technology sector which represent 10% of the fair
value of FSU Foundation's investment portfolio.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, 8% of the fair value of FSU Foundation's investment portfolio in each year
represents foreign investments.

Investments held by FSU Foundation with an equivalent fair value of $11,338,000 at June 30, 2018
collateralize certain debt agreements (see Notes 14 and 15).

At June 30, 2018, the fair value of FSU Foundation's investments in debt securities by contractual
maturities is as follows:

Maturity
Within 1-5 6-10 More than
1 year years years 10 years Total
Corporate Bonds $ 25005 $ 1,462,981 % 263,935 % - $ 1,751,921
U.S. Government
Securities 242,898 1,494,970 263,480 - 2,001,348
$ 267,903 $ 2,957,951 $ 527,415 $ - $ 3,753,269
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At June 30, 2017, the fair value of FSU Foundation's Investments in debt securities by contractual
maturities is as follows:

Maturity
Within 1-5 6-10 More than
1 year years years 10 years Total
Corporate Bonds $ 261,280 $ 853,493 $ 464,234 $ - $ 1,579,007
U.S. Government
Securities 400,388 1,187,142 352,046 - 1,939,576
$ 661,668 $ 2,040,635 $ 816,280 $ - $ 3,518,583

The University’s investments are measured at fair value on a recurring basis and have been
categorized based upon the fair value hierarchy in accordance with GASB 72 below. Similarly, the FSU
Foundation follows similar guidance in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board
Accounting Standards Codification ASC 820-10, which prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques
used to measure fair value of investment assets into three levels also.

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
University can access at measurement date.

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for an asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for an asset or liability.
The University's investments' fair value measurements are as follows at June 30, 2018:

Quoted prices in

active markets Significant other Significant
for identical observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs
Investments Fair value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

U.S. Treasury Notes and
Government Securities $ 1,295,626 $ - $ 1,295,626 $ -
Corporate Debt Securities 1,929,532 - 1,929,532 -
Equity Securities 6,825,505 6,825,505 - -
Mutual Funds 6,678,262 6,678,262 - -

$ 16,728,925 $ 13,503,767 $ 3,225,158 $ -
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The University's investments' fair value measurements are as follows at June 30, 2017:

Quoted prices in

active markets Significant other Significant
for identical observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs
Investments Fair value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

U.S. Treasury Notes and
Government Securities $ 1,293,367 $ - $ 1,293,367 $ -
Corporate Debt Securities 1,944,881 - 1,944,881 -
Equity Securities 6,273,275 6,273,275 - -
Mutual Funds 6,206,333 6,206,333 - -

$ 15,717,856 $ 12,479,608 $ 3,238,248 $ -

FSU Foundation's investments' fair value measurements are as follows at June 30, 2018:

Quoted prices in

active markets Significant other Significant
for identical observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs
Investments Fair value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

U.S. Treasury Notes and
Government Securities $ 2,001,348 $ - $ 2,001,348 $ -
Preferred Stocks 73,216 - 73,216 -
Corporate Bonds 1,751,921 - 1,751,921 -
Equity Securities 9,755,423 9,755,423 - -
Mutual Funds 5,207,596 5,207,596 - -

$ 18,789,504 $ 14,963,019 $ 3,826,485 $ -

FSU Foundation's investments' fair value measurements are as follows at June 30, 2017:

Quoted prices in

active markets Significant other Significant
for identical observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs
Investments Fair value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

U.S. Treasury Notes and
Government Securities $ 1,939,576 $ - $ 1,939,576 $ -
Preferred Stocks 97,245 - 97,245 -
Corporate Bonds 1,579,007 - 1,579,007 -
Equity Securities 8,765,351 8,765,351 - -
Mutual Funds 4,480,726 4,480,726 - -

$ 16,861,905 $ 13,246,077 $ 3,615,828 $ -
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technique that values securities based on their relationship to benchmark quoted prices.

Changes in FSU Foundation's board-designated and donor-restricted endowment net position by type

of fund for the year ended June 30, 2018 are as follows:

Endowment net position,

beginning of year

Investment return
Investment income
Appreciation (depreciation),
realized and unrealized

Total investment return

Contributions

Appropriation of endowment
assets for expenditure
Investment management fees
Reclassification of net position

Transfers to create board-designated

endowment funds

Transfer upon removal of donor restrictions - -

Endowment net position,
end of year

Changes in FSU Foundation's donor-restricted endowment net position by type of fund for the year

Temporarily Permanently
restricted restricted
Unrestricted (Expendable) (Nonexpendable) Total

$ - $ 5,065,644 9,776,806 $ 14,842,450
- 244,587 - 244,587

- 1,195,940 - 1,195,940

- 1,440,527 - 1,440,527

- 13,975 427,010 440,985
- (218,165) - (218,165)
- (77,283) - (77,283)
- (24,060) 500 (23,560)

25,000 - - 25,000

(1,350) (1,350)

$ 25,000 $ 6,200,638 10,202,966 $ 16,428,604

ended June 30, 2017 are as follows:

Endowment net position,

beginning of year

Investment return
Investment income
Appreciation (depreciation),
realized and unrealized

Total investment return

Contributions

Appropriation of endowment
assets for expenditure
Investment management fees
Reclassification of net position

Endowment net position,
end of year

Temporarily Permanently
restricted restricted
Unrestricted (Expendable) (Nonexpendable) Total

$ - $ 4,130,783 9,505,236 $ 13,636,019
- 231,627 - 231,627
- 1,060,615 - 1,060,615
- 1,292,242 - 1,292,242
- 12,140 245,750 257,890
- (284,794) - (284,794)
- (70,933) - (70,933)
- (13,794) 25,820 12,026

$ - $ 5,065,644 9,776,806 $ 14,842,450
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June 30, 2018 and 2017

Note 3 - Accounts and contributions receivable

The University's accounts receivable include the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Student accounts receivable $ 1,921,064 $ 1,793,529
Parking and other fines receivable 104,485 89,796
Commissions receivable 111,269 67,631
Grants receivable 464,096 220,567
Compass receivable, including accrued
interest of $11,848 and $7,540 (see Note 11) 89,866 85,557
FSU Foundation receivable 203,534 229,878
Miscellaneous other receivables - 28,509

2,894,314 2,515,467
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (640,926) (473,794)

2,253,388 $ 2,041,673

FSU Foundation's contributions receivable consist of the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Receivable in less than one year 106,585 $ 136,800
Receivable in one to five years 400 80,600
106,985 217,400
Discount on pledges (516) (1,215)
$ 106,469 $ 216,185

Contributions which are to be received in more than one year are reflected net of a discount determined
at the time of contribution ranging from 1% to 2%.
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Note 4 - Loans receivable

Loans receivable include the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Perkins loans receivable $ 1,408,153 $ 1,601,156
Nursing loans receivable 295,643 326,342
Emergency student loans receivable 3,018 3,018

1,706,814 1,930,516
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (3,018) (3,018)

$ 1,703,796 $ 1,927,498

The federal law authorizing the disbursing of Perkins loans expired on September 30, 2017. As of
October 1, 2017, the University is prohibited from issuing new Perkins loans to undergraduate students.
As of October 1, 2016, the University is prohibited from issuing new Perkins loans to graduate students
who received them prior to October 1, 2015. The Perkins loan program ended any further new loans
being issued after September 30, 2017. The University may remit all federal proceeds and loans at any
time thereafter to the Department of Education or continue to maintain them for five additional years.
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Note 5 - Capital assets

Capital assets activity of the University for the year ended June 30, 2018 is as follows:

Reclassifications*

Totals and Totals

Capital assets: June 30, 2017 Additions reductions June 30, 2018
Non-depreciable capital assets
Land 5,478,125 $ - $ - 5,478,125
Construction in progress 6,184,439 10,459,780 (4,312,293) 12,331,926

Total non-depreciable assets 11,662,564 10,459,780 (4,312,293) 17,810,051
Depreciable capital assets
Land improvements 16,777,625 655,169 146,528 17,579,322
Buildings 80,591,909 - - 80,591,909
Building improvements 146,360,296 5,572,887 3,688,309 155,621,492
Equipment 17,400,275 1,250,937 477,456 19,128,668
Furniture 597,676 - - 597,676
Library materials 493,446 98,149 (89,874) 501,721

Total depreciable assets 262,221,227 7,577,142 4,222,419 274,020,788

Total capital assets 273,883,791 18,036,922 (89,874) 291,830,839
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Land improvements 6,123,733 854,250 - 6,977,983
Buildings 42,266,570 1,153,760 - 43,420,330
Building improvements 36,417,644 7,248,539 - 43,666,183
Equipment 15,074,840 644,302 - 15,719,142
Furniture 597,676 - - 597,676
Library materials - 89,874 (89,874) -
Total accumulated depreciation 100,480,463 9,990,725 (89,874) 110,381,314
Capital assets, net $ 173,403,328 $ 8,046,197  $ - $ 181,449,525

As of June 30, 2018, capital assets of the University with a cost of approximately $54,241,000 were
fully depreciated and still in service.

*  Construction costs incurred for various capital projects were included in construction in progress
and subsequently transferred to capital asset additions upon completion during the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2018.

The University enters into various contract commitments with contractors, from time to time, for
improvements to its facilities. Remaining contract commitments totaled approximately $3,773,000 and
$4,646,000 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Capital assets activity of the University for the year ended June 30, 2017 is as follows:

Reclassifications*
Totals and Totals

Capital assets: June 30, 2016 Additions reductions June 30, 2017
Non-depreciable capital assets
Land $ 5,478,125 $ - $ - $ 5,478,125
Construction in progress 3,483,129 3,921,005 (1,219,695) 6,184,439

Total non-depreciable assets 8,961,254 3,921,005 (1,219,695) 11,662,564
Depreciable capital assets
Land improvements 16,777,625 - - 16,777,625
Buildings 80,591,909 - - 80,591,909
Building improvements 142,152,855 3,179,856 1,027,585 146,360,296
Equipment 15,888,447 1,319,718 192,110 17,400,275
Furniture 597,676 - - 597,676
Library materials 489,364 110,294 (106,212) 493,446

Total depreciable assets 256,497,876 4,609,868 1,113,483 262,221,227

Total capital assets 265,459,130 8,530,873 (106,212) 273,883,791
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Land improvements 5,285,393 838,340 - 6,123,733
Buildings 41,049,115 1,217,455 - 42,266,570
Building improvements 29,274,488 7,143,156 - 36,417,644
Equipment 14,254,576 820,264 - 15,074,840
Furniture 597,676 - - 597,676
Library materials - 106,212 (106,212) -
Total accumulated depreciation 90,461,248 10,125,427 (106,212) 100,480,463

Capital assets, net $ 174,997,882 $ (1,594,554) $ - $ 173,403,328

As of June 30, 2017, capital assets of the University with a cost of approximately $52,804,000 were
fully depreciated and still in service.

* Construction costs incurred for various capital projects were included in construction in progress
and subsequently transferred to capital asset additions upon completion during the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2017.

The University has considered the requirements of GASB Statement No. 49, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Pollution Remediation Obligations, and has noted no implications of this standard to the
University's financial statements for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017.
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Capital assets activity of FSU Foundation for the year ended June 30, 2018 is as follows:

Reclassifications

Totals and Totals
Capital assets: June 30, 2017 Additions reductions June 30, 2018
Real estate under lease to the University:
Land $ 402,663 $ - $ - $ 402,663
Building 1,557,724 - - 1,557,724
Building improvements 100,452 - - 100,452
2,060,839 - - 2,060,839
Real estate used for student housing:
Land 253,555 - - 253,555
Buildings 434,225 - - 434,225
Building improvements 28,600 - - 28,600
716,380 - - 716,380
Other:
Land 2,333,018 110,172 (726,493) 1,716,697
Land improvements 158,127 - - 158,127
Buildings 1,249,071 266,737 (135,892) 1,379,916
Building improvements 1,109,006 - - 1,109,006
Equipment 759,307 - - 759,307
Furniture and fixtures 60,773 - - 60,773
Library materials 6,570 - - 6,570
5,675,872 376,909 (862,385) 5,190,396
Total capital assets 8,453,091 376,909 (862,385) 7,967,615
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Real estate under lease to the University:
Building 421,883 38,944 - 460,827
Building improvements 51,063 5,022 - 56,085
472,946 43,966 - 516,912
Real estate used for student housing:
Buildings 109,461 10,856 - 120,317
Building improvements 11,202 1,430 - 12,632
120,663 12,286 - 132,949
Other:
Land improvements 75,250 11,145 - 86,395
Buildings 154,866 23,709 - 178,575
Building improvements 157,836 60,261 (4,813) 213,284
Equipment 657,238 93,711 - 750,949
Furniture and fixtures 34,378 4,280 - 38,658
Library materials 6,570 - - 6,570
1,086,138 193,106 (4,813) 1,274,431
Total accumulated depreciation 1,679,747 249,358 (4,813) 1,924,292
Capital assets, net $ 6,773,344 $ 127,551 $ (857,572) % 6,043,323
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Non-depreciable capital assets of FSU Foundation total $2,372,915 at June 30, 2018, which is
comprised of land.

At June 30, 2018, capital assets of FSU Foundation with a cost of approximately $507,100 were fully
depreciated and still in service.

On November 28, 2017, the Foundation Supporting Organization transferred seven properties,
consisting solely of land, to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts acting by and through DCAMM on
behalf of Fitchburg State University. On the date the properties were transferred, the seven properties
collectively had a net book value of $678,470. A loss of $678,470 was recorded from the transfers of
the properties and recognized in operations and maintenance of plant in FSU Foundation's
accompanying 2018 statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position.

On April 5, 2018, the Foundation Supporting Organization sold a property consisting of land and a
building to Massachusetts State College Building Authority ("MSCBA") with an original cost of $183,915
and a net book value of $179,102 for a net sales price of $133,196. A loss of $45,906 was recorded
from the sale of the property and recognized in operations and maintenance of plant in FSU
Foundation's accompanying 2018 statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. The
property is being renovated by MSCBA for use by the University for faculty/staff housing.

The Foundation Supporting Organization is planning a major renovation and expansion of a property
consisting of land and a building that it acquired in fiscal 2017. The renovation of the property which
when completed is expected to cost approximately $25,000,000 and consist of a multi-phased project
providing academic space, student support services space, retail and community space and a theatre
renovation. The space is expected to be used by the University and the Fitchburg and surrounding
communities. Fitchburg State University will be responsible for the costs of the project's development
and construction pursuant to the terms of the license agreement between the University and the
Foundation Supporting Organization. Funding for the project is expected to come from a variety of
sources including, but not limited to, New Market Tax Credits, Historic Tax Credits, bonds, grants and
philanthropy. The project is in the very early stages of development and is estimated to require four
years to completion. At some point during that period, the property will be transferred to a new entity.
The Foundation Supporting Organization will pay for certain legal services incurred in connection with
the project which the Foundation Supporting Organization currently estimates to be approximately
$148,000 for the entire project. For the year ended June 30, 2018, the Foundation Supporting
Organization has incurred $9,342 of legal costs related to the project. Fitchburg State University has
incurred $3,181,520 of costs which have been capitalized to construction in progress as of June 30,
2018.
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Capital assets activity of FSU Foundation for the year ended June 30, 2017 is as follows:

Reclassifications

Totals and Totals
Capital assets: June 30, 2016 Additions reductions June 30, 2017
Real estate under lease to the University:
Land $ 402,663 $ - $ - $ 402,663
Building 1,557,724 - - 1,557,724
Building improvements 100,452 - - 100,452
2,060,839 - - 2,060,839
Real estate used for student housing:
Land 253,555 - - 253,555
Buildings 434,225 - - 434,225
Building improvements 28,600 - - 28,600
716,380 - - 716,380
Other:
Land 1,913,847 419,171 - 2,333,018
Land improvements 158,127 - - 158,127
Buildings 893,022 641,946 (285,897) 1,249,071
Building improvements 1,109,006 - - 1,109,006
Equipment 758,208 1,099 - 759,307
Furniture and fixtures 60,773 - - 60,773
Library materials 6,570 - - 6,570
4,899,553 1,062,216 (285,897) 5,675,872
Total capital assets 7,676,772 1,062,216 (285,897) 8,453,091
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Real estate under lease to the University:
Building 382,941 38,942 - 421,883
Building improvements 46,040 5,023 - 51,063
428,981 43,965 - 472,946
Real estate used for student housing:
Buildings 98,605 10,856 - 109,461
Building improvements 9,772 1,430 - 11,202
108,377 12,286 - 120,663
Other:
Land improvements 61,410 13,840 - 75,250
Buildings 132,540 22,326 - 154,866
Building improvements 102,384 55,452 - 157,836
Equipment 558,167 99,071 - 657,238
Furniture and fixtures 28,797 5,581 - 34,378
Library materials 6,570 - - 6,570
889,868 196,270 - 1,086,138
Total accumulated depreciation 1,427,226 252,521 - 1,679,747
Capital assets, net $ 6,249,546 $ 809,695 $ (285,897) $ 6,773,344
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Non-depreciable capital assets of FSU Foundation totaled $2,989,236 at June 30, 2017, which is
comprised of land.

At June 30, 2017, capital assets of FSU Foundation with a cost of approximately $507,100 were fully
depreciated and still in service.

In fiscal 2017, the Foundation Supporting Organization acquired three properties in close proximity to
the Fitchburg State University campus consistent with its mission and the University's strategic plan
which includes campus expansion. The properties, which each included land and a building, were
acquired for an aggregate cost of $359,467. The Foundation Supporting Organization razed the
buildings on the properties to create green space. As a result of its decision to raze the buildings,
management determined, in accordance with the requirements of accounting guidance, that the
properties were impaired and they were written down to their aggregate fair value of $73,570 resulting
in an impairment charge to operations in the amount of $285,897. The impairment charges (noncash
accounting charges) to operations on the three properties are included in operations and maintenance
of plant in FSU Foundation's accompanying 2017 statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net
position and had no impact on FSU Foundation's fiscal 2017 cash flow or its ability to generate cash
flow in the future. The fair values of the properties were measured using significant unobservable inputs
(Level 3) pursuant to the accounting guidance on fair value measurements. The fair values of the
properties were determined based upon the properties' assessment values at the purchase dates.

Note 6 - Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities include the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Accounts payable - trade $ 1,367,592 $ 777,936
Salaries and fringe benefits payable 1,758,301 1,022,131
Accrued interest payable 286,962 355,647
Tuition due State 75,539 75,766
Other 356,036 463,583

$ 3,844,430 $ 2,695,063

Note 7 - Accrued workers' compensation

Independent actuarial reviews of the outstanding loss reserve requirements for the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts' self-insured workers' compensation program were conducted as of June 30, 2018 and
2017. Based upon the Commonwealth's analyses, $648,771 and $581,018 of accrued workers'
compensation has been recorded as a liability at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Note 8 - Accrued compensated absences

Accrued compensated absences are comprised of the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017

Vacation time payable $ 2,623,970 $ 2,430,615
Sick time payable 2,717,311 2,730,631
Total $ 5,341,281 $ 5,161,246
Amount representing obligations due to employees

funded through sources other than State appropriations  $ 248,299 $ 224,486
Amount representing obligations due to employees

compensated through State appropriations 5,092,982 4,936,760
Total $ 5,341,281 $ 5,161,246

It is anticipated that the obligation due to employees funded through State appropriations will be
discharged through future State appropriations and the balance is expected to be liquidated through
trust funds. Had these amounts not been reflected as obligations of the University, the University's
unrestricted net position (deficiency) balances would be $589,806 and $881,025 at June 30, 2018 and
2017, respectively (see Note 1, Compensated absences).

Note 9 - Faculty payroll accrual

The contract for full-time faculty begins on September 1 and ends on May 31, of any given academic
year. The Commonwealth of Massachusetts and Fitchburg State University pay all faculty over the 12-
month period from September through August. Consequently, on June 30 of each year there is a
balance due on each faculty contract which is to be paid from the subsequent year's State
appropriation. The total amount due at June 30, 2018 of $3,510,359 will be paid from the University's
fiscal 2019 State appropriations. The total amount due at June 30, 2017 of $3,342,746 was paid from
the University's fiscal 2018 State appropriations.

Note 10 - Revenue received in advance

Revenue received in advance includes tuition received in advance from students for summer courses
commencing after June 30 and grant funds received in advance.
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Revenue received in advance includes the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Tuition, fees and professional development $ 1,215,856 $ 1,036,336
Grants 103,367 787,961
Other 98,330 29,997

$ 1,417,553 $ 1,854,294

Note 11 - Deferred inflows of resources from service concession arrangement

Deferred inflows of resources from service concession arrangement at June 30, 2018 and 2017 in the
amounts of $1,517,508 and $1,770,425, respectively, consist of the unamortized balances of a service
concession arrangement with Compass Group USA, Inc. ("Compass") to manage and operate the
University's food services operation at the University's dining services locations as more fully described
in the arrangement. The service concession arrangement commenced on July 1, 1999 for a term of 10
years through June 30, 2009 and has been amended several times thereafter to modify its terms,
provide for additional payments to the University for investment in improvements in or at the University
as mutually agreed upon by the parties, and extend the term of the arrangement until June 30, 2024.
The last such amendment to the service concession arrangement was effective May 1, 2014 and
provides for the extension of the arrangement to June 30, 2024 and payments to the University totaling
$2,500,000. These payments shall be made to the University by Compass in seven installments as
follows: $300,000 in fiscal 2011; $1,200,000 in fiscal 2012; $200,000 in fiscal 2014; $500,000 in fiscal
2015; $200,000 in fiscal 2016; $50,000 in fiscal 2020; and $50,000 in fiscal 2022. As of June 30, 2018,
the University has received the first five installments from Compass. In addition, Compass has agreed
to pay the University specified percentages of 4%, 4 ¥2% or 12% of specified sales receipts from the
food services operation as more fully described in the arrangement. All improvements and equipment
purchased with the payments received from Compass shall remain the property of the University. The
arrangement may be terminated by either party at any time, without cause, by giving not less than 60
days prior written notice to the other party. The arrangement contains provisions, whereby, in the event
of termination of the arrangement, the University shall be required to repay a portion of any payments
made to the University by Compass. The portion required to be repaid shall be determined in
accordance with amortization schedules prepared by Compass. The amortization schedules assume
that all funds will be received from Compass. The University does not anticipate that the arrangement
will be terminated prior to its expiration date.

The University has recorded the service concession arrangement as a deferred inflow of resources at
its present value using a 5% discount rate determined by management of the University. In fiscal 2011,
the University recorded an accounts receivable from Compass at the present value of the future
payments to be received from Compass, using a 5% discount rate determined by management of the
University. At June 30, 2018, the accompanying statement of net position includes a remaining
receivable from Compass in the amount of $89,866, which includes accrued interest receivable of
$11,848 (see Note 3). At June 30, 2017, the accompanying statement of net position includes a
remaining receivable from Compass in the amount of $85,557, which includes accrued interest
receivable of $7,540 (see Note 3). The deferred inflow of resources is being amortized to revenue on a
straight-line basis over the term of the arrangement. Amortization in the amounts of $252,918 has been
recognized in capital grants revenue in the accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and
changes in net position for each of the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017.
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Note 12 - Interagency payables

The University, in association with the Massachusetts State College Building Authority ("MSCBA"), the Massachusetts Development Finance
Agency ("MDFA"), and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Division of Capital Asset Management and Maintenance ("DCAMM"), has
entered into financing and construction agreements for various campus projects.

Fitchburg State University

(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2018 and 2017

The following table summarizes the University's Interagency payables as of June 30, 2018:

MDFA Series J-3
MSCBA Series 2005A
MSCBA Series 2006A
MSCBA Series 2010B
MSCBA Series 2012A
MSCBA Series 2012C
MSCBA Series 2014A
MSCBA Series 2014C
DCAMM CEIP Funds
MSCBA Series 2017A

Total

*Effective Interest Rates are calculated by dividing total interest paid during the year by the average outstanding balance of the Interagency payable.

Effective

Original Interest interest Interagency Unamortized Total interagency

Issue date amount rates (%) Due date rates (%)* payable balance  bond premiums payable
11/22/1996 $ 6,000,000 Floating 7/1/2023 4.61 $ 2,256,705 $ - $ 2,256,705
3/1/2005 5,110,000 3.50-5.00 5/1/2025 3.86 2,255,000 - 2,255,000
3/8/2006 2,060,000 3.50-5.00 5/1/2026 4.07 1,050,000 43,571 1,093,571
12/17/2010 11,078,908 4.89-6.54 5/1/2030 3.38 11,078,908 - 11,078,908
1/4/2012 7,043,416 3.00-5.00 5/1/2031 4.96 4,810,000 613,181 5,423,181
12/20/2012 13,864,033 2.00-5.00 5/1/2032 3.27 10,320,000 810,241 11,130,241
1/7/2014 12,235,614 2.00-5.00 5/1/2033 5.00 9,510,000 1,000,226 10,510,226
12/17/2014 10,669,502 3.00-5.00 5/1/2034 4.93 8,235,000 1,320,371 9,555,371
11/7/2016 5,420,360 3.00 1/1/2039 0.00 5,420,360 - 5,420,360
1/25/2017 4,166,418 3.00-5.00 6/30/2037 3.60 3,835,000 227,105 4,062,105
$ 77,648,251 $ 58,770,973 $ 4,014,695 $ 62,785,668
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The following table summarizes the University's Interagency payables as of June 30, 2017:

Effective
Original Interest interest Interagency Unamortized Total interagency
Issue date amount rates (%) Due date rates (%)* payable balance bond premiums payable

MDFA Series J-3 11/22/1996 $ 6,000,000 Floating 7/1/2023 211 $ 2,566,545 $ - $ 2,566,545
MSCBA Series 2005A 3/1/2005 5,110,000 3.50-5.00 5/1/2025 3.03 2,530,000 - 2,530,000
MSCBA Series 2006A 3/8/2006 2,060,000 3.50-5.00 5/1/2026 3.75 1,155,000 49,254 1,204,254
MSCBA Series 2010A 12/17/2010 4,856,749 3.00-5.00 5/1/2018 3.38 717,403 23,942 741,345
MSCBA Series 2010B 12/17/2010 11,078,908 4.89-6.54 5/1/2030 3.38 11,078,908 - 11,078,908
MSCBA Series 2012A 1/4/2012 7,043,416 3.00-5.00 5/1/2031 4.95 5,075,000 658,602 5,733,602
MSCBA Series 2012C 12/20/2012 13,864,033 2.00-5.00 5/1/2032 3.25 10,880,000 866,442 11,746,442
MSCBA Series 2014A 1/7/2014 12,235,614 2.00-5.00 5/1/2033 4.97 9,930,000 1,064,757 10,994,757
MSCBA Series 2014C 12/17/2014 10,669,502 3.00-5.00 5/1/2034 4.86 8,575,000 1,400,597 9,975,597

DCAMM CEIP Funds 11/7/2016 5,420,360 3.00 1/1/2039 0.00 - - -
MSCBA Series 2017A 1/25/2017 4,166,418 3.00-5.00 6/30/2037 3.28 3,922,000 239,326 4,161,326
Total $ 82,505,000 $ 56,429,856 $ 4,302,920 $ 60,732,776

*Effective Interest Rates are calculated by dividing total interest paid during the year by the average outstanding balance of the Interagency payable.
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MDFA Series J-3 bond issuance

On November 22, 1996, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $6,000,000 from a
MDFA (formerly Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority ("MHEFA")) bond issuance
to be used for the construction of the University's athletic facility. This obligation is being repaid solely
by the University. Construction of the athletic facility was completed in August 2000. MDFA retained
$502,899 of the bond proceeds for a debt service retirement fund.

The University is required to make annual funding payments of principal on this debt each July 1. The
principal payment due July 1, 2018 of $293,344 was made as scheduled. These payments are made to
a restricted cash account held in escrow in the University's name and recorded on the books of the
University. These amounts, along with the remaining balance of the debt service retirement fund, are
held in an escrow account by MDFA. Earnings on this balance are transferred and used by the
University to offset the administrative costs associated with this debt. In a prior year, the University
elected to release the annual funding payments from the reserve to redeem portions of the debt
obligation. Accordingly, each year the funding payments are now being released from the debt service
reserve to redeem portions of the outstanding debt obligation. These debt payments are to be repaid by
the University solely from student fees.

Interest on the debt is paid every 35 days at a floating rate of interest subject to market conditions. The
interest rate is determined by MDFA conducting a true auction of their debt issuance every 35 days, in
which the University's obligation is pooled with other higher education institutions within the
Commonwealth who have debt funded through MDFA. The most recent auctioned interest rate in effect
at June 30, 2018 and 2017 was 5.943% and 1.737%, respectively. The University is also responsible to
pay for program expenses at an annual rate of 0.926% (2018) and 0.900% (2017) of the outstanding
principal balance, calculated and payable every 35 days when the rate is auctioned.

MDFA is responsible to determine, subject to certain criteria, if income earned on unexpended bond
proceeds exceeds the interest cost to the bondholders. Any excess income earned is held in a rebate
fund by an appointed trustee. Such amounts are held until every fifth year, whereby payment is to be
made as indicated by the bond indenture agreement.

MSCBA Series 2005A bond issuance

During March 2005, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $5,110,000 from a MSCBA
bond issuance. These funds were used for renovations of the athletic fields and dining hall (the
"Projects") at the University. This obligation will be repaid solely by the University through dedicated
student fees.

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final
principal payment is due on May 1, 2025. Interest on the debt is payable May 1 and November 1 each
year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA using an
increasing coupon rate of interest ranging from 3.50% to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity.
Funds from the debt service reserve fund are expected to be applied to the final payment on the debt.
Earnings on the balance in the debt service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.
The effective interest rate at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, reflects interest savings as a result
of bond refundings in prior years.

MSCBA Series 2006A bond issuance

During March 2006, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $2,060,000 from a MSCBA
bond issuance. These funds were used for renovations of the dining hall (the "Project™) at the
University. This obligation will be repaid solely by the University through dedicated student fees.
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As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, MSCBA held debt service reserve funds in the amount of $144,841
each year, which are included in the accompanying statements of net position at June 30, 2018 and
2017 as noncurrent restricted cash and cash equivalents.

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final
principal payment is due on May 1, 2026. Interest on the debt is payable May 1 and November 1 each
year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA using an
increasing coupon rate of interest ranging from 3.50% to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity.
Funds from the debt service reserve fund are expected to be applied to the final payment on the debt.
Earnings on the balance in the debt service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.

MSCBA Series 2010A bond issuance

During December 2010, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $4,856,749 from a
MSCBA bond issuance. These funds, net of bond issuance costs and a debt service reserve fund, were
used for renovations to the Hammond Campus Center. This obligation was repaid solely by the
University through dedicated student fees and operating funds.

During 2018, debt service reserve funds in the amount of $405,288 were released and applied to the
final payment on the debt. As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, MSCBA held debt service reserve funds in
the amount of $80,326 and $485,614, respectively, which is included in the accompanying statements
of net position at June 30, 2018 and 2017 as noncurrent restricted cash and cash equivalents.

The University was required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final
principal payment was due on May 1, 2018. Interest on the debt was payable May 1 and November 1
each year. Interest payments were based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA with
interest rates ranging from 3.00% to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity. Earnings on the
balance in the debt service reserve fund were used to defray debt service costs. During May 2018, the
University made the final payment on the 2010A bonds.

MSCBA Series 2010B bond issuance

During December 2010, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $11,078,908 from a
MSCBA bond issuance. These funds, net of bond issuance costs and a debt service reserve fund, were
used for renovations to the Hammond Campus Center. This obligation will be repaid solely by the
University through dedicated student fees and operating funds.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, MSCBA held debt service reserve funds in the amount of $964,163
each year, which are included in the accompanying statements of net position at June 30, 2018 and
2017 as noncurrent restricted cash and cash equivalents.

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1 commencing in
fiscal 2019. The final principal payment is due on May 1, 2030. Interest on the debt is payable May 1
and November 1 each year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by
MSCBA with interest rates ranging from 4.89% to 6.54% over the term of the debt to maturity. Funds
from the debt service reserve fund are expected to be applied to the final payment on the debt.
Earnings on the balance in the debt service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.
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MSCBA Series 2012A bond issuance

During December 2011, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $7,043,416 from a
MSCBA bond issuance. These funds, net of bond issuance costs, were used for renovations to the
Hammond Campus Center. This obligation will be repaid solely by the University through dedicated
student fees and operating funds.

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final
principal payment is due on May 1, 2031. Interest on the debt is payable May 1 and November 1 each
year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA with interest rates
ranging from 3.00% to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity.

MSCBA Series 2012C bond issuance

During December 2012, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $13,864,033 from a
MSCBA bond issuance. These funds, net of bond issuance costs and a debt service reserve fund, were
used for Phase lll of renovations to the Hammond Campus Center and parking expansion. This
obligation will be repaid solely by the University through dedicated student fees and operating funds.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, MSCBA held debt service reserve funds in the amount of $214,164
each year, which are included in the accompanying statements of net position at June 30, 2018 and
2017 as noncurrent restricted cash and cash equivalents.

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final
principal payment is due on May 1, 2032. Interest on the debt is payable May 1 and November 1 each
year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA with interest rates
ranging from 2.00% to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity. Funds from the debt service reserve
fund are expected to be applied to the final payment on the debt. Earnings on the balance in the debt
service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.

MSCBA Series 2014A bond issuance

During January 2014, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $12,235,614 from a
MSCBA bond issuance. These funds, net of bond issuance costs and a debt service reserve fund, were
used for Phase IV of renovations to the Hammond Campus Center. This obligation will be repaid solely
by the University through dedicated student fees and operating funds.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, MSCBA held debt service reserve funds in the amount of $667,799
each year, which are included in the accompanying statements of net position at June 30, 2018 and
2017 as noncurrent restricted cash and cash equivalents.

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final
principal payment is due on May 1, 2033. Interest on the debt is payable May 1 and November 1 each
year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA with interest rates
ranging from 2.00% to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity. Funds from the debt service reserve
fund are expected to be applied to the final payment on the debt. Earnings on the balance in the debt
service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.

MSCBA Series 2014C bond issuance

During December 2014, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $10,669,502 from a
MSCBA bond issuance. These funds, net of bond issuance costs and a debt service reserve fund, are
being used for Phase V of renovations to the Hammond Campus Center. This obligation will be repaid
solely by the University through dedicated student fees and operating funds. The University also
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executed a management agreement with MSCBA whereby MSCBA provided management services to
the University for the renovations.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, amounts held by MSCBA related to the debt issue and the Project are
as follows:

2018 2017
Unexpended debt proceeds $ - $ 7,533
Debt service reserve fund 596,968 596,968

$ 596,968 $ 604,501

The amounts held by MSCBA are included in the accompanying statements of net position at June 30,
2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Restricted cash and cash equivalents:
Current $ - $ 7,533
Noncurrent 596,968 596,968

$ 596,968 $ 604,501

During fiscal 2018, the remaining unexpended MSCBA bond proceeds from Phase V in the amount of
$2,530 were transferred to the Landry Arena renovation project. During fiscal 2017, unexpended
MSCBA bond proceeds from prior issuances in the amount of $972,628 were transferred to Phase V for
renovations of the Hammond Campus Center project. From this amount, unexpended proceeds
amounted to $7,533 at June 30, 2017, which are included in the accompanying 2017 statement of net
position as current restricted cash and cash equivalents.

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final
principal payment is due May 1, 2034. Interest on the debt is payable May 1 and November 1 each
year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA with interest rates
ranging from 3.00% to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity. Funds from the debt service reserve
fund are expected to be applied to the final payment on the debt. Earnings on the balance in the debt
service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.

DCAMM Clean Energy Investment Program

In November 2016, the University entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with DCAMM to
undertake a Comprehensive Energy Performance Contracting Project (the "Project"). The Project's goal
is to upgrade boilers, replace the chiller, lighting, EMS expansion and improvements, HVAC upgrades,
and various energy conservation measures.

The total estimated cost for the Project is $9,270,332, including estimated contingency costs of
$900,000. The cost of the Project is expected to be funded from Clean Energy Investment Program
Funds ("CEIP Funds") in the amount of $5,420,360, capital grants of $3,600,000, and energy incentives
from the contractor in the amount of $249,972. CEIP Funds for the Project are to be repaid over 20
years at 3.00% interest. Annual payments of principal and interest for the Project in the amount of
$364,333 will commence on January 1, 2020. Additionally, the agreement provides for the University to
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fund annual maintenance costs to be paid over the first five years of the Project totaling approximately
$244,500. These maintenance costs are expected to be offset by energy savings as a result of the
Project.

MSCBA Series 2017A bond issuance

During January 2017, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $4,166,418 from a
MSCBA bond issuance. These funds, net of bond issuance costs and a debt service reserve fund, are
being used for renovations to the Landry Arena. This obligation will be repaid solely by the University
through dedicated student fees and operating funds. The University also executed a management
agreement with MSCBA whereby MSCBA is providing management services to the University for the
renovations.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, amounts held by MSCBA related to the debt issue and the Project are
as follows:

2018 2017
Unexpended debt proceeds $ 191,655 $ 3,740,460
Debt service reserve fund 103,073 103,073

$ 294,728 $ 3,843,533

The amounts held by MSCBA are included in the accompanying statements of net position at June 30,
2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Restricted cash and cash equivalents:
Current $ 191,655 $ -
Noncurrent 103,073 3,843,533

$ 294,728 $ 3,843,533

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each June 30 commencing in
fiscal 2018. The final principal payment is due June 30, 2037. Interest on the debt is payable June 30
and December 30 each year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by
MSCBA with interest rates ranging from 3.00% to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity. Funds
from the debt service reserve fund are expected to be applied to the final payment on the debt.
Earnings on the balance in the debt service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.
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Aggregate principal and interest payments due to maturity consist of the following:

Amortization of Estimated
Year ending June 30: Principal bond premium Total principal interest (1) Total
2019 $ 3,223,066 $ 264,283 $ 3,487,349 $ 2,235,779 $ 5,723,128
2020 3,568,669 264,283 3,832,952 2,255,014 6,087,966
2021 3,709,660 264,283 3,973,943 2,104,445 6,078,388
2022 3,886,365 264,283 4,150,648 1,931,191 6,081,839
2023 4,059,860 264,283 4,324,143 1,757,930 6,082,073
2024 - 2028 19,949,675 1,308,153 21,257,828 6,262,340 27,520,168
2029 - 2033 16,635,013 1,224,343 17,859,356 2,448,884 20,308,240
2034 - 2038 3,384,941 160,784 3,545,725 306,700 3,852,425
2039 - 2043 353,724 - 353,724 10,612 364,336
Total $ 58,770,973 $ 4,014,695 $ 62,785,668 $ 19,312,895 $ 82,098,563

(1) The interest rate in effect at June 30, 2018 of 5.943% was used to calculate the estimated interest
on the MDFA Series J-3 bond included above.

Other Interagency activity

The oversight of various capital projects on campus is provided by MSCBA. To fund these projects, the
University provides equity contributions, by advancing funds to the MSCBA, which are then held by
MSCBA until used for the payment of the capital project costs. During fiscal 2018, the University
provided an equity contribution of $1,000,000 toward the Southside Chiller Project, of which $290,598
of these funds was subsequently transferred to the Fitchburg Theatre account at MSCBA for the
Fitchburg Theatre renovations project. During fiscal 2018, Landry Arena funds of $350,000 were
transferred to the Fitchburg Theatre account at MSCBA for the Fitchburg Theatre renovations project.
As of June 30, 2018, amounts held by MSCBA representing the unexpended portion of the University's
contributions totaled $43,257 related to the Southside Chiller Project, $3,809 related to the Landry
Arena Project, and $660,931 related to the Fitchburg Theatre Project, of which $172,084 is included in
current restricted cash and cash equivalents and $535,913 is included in noncurrent restricted cash and
cash equivalents in the accompanying 2018 statement of net position. During 2017, the University
provided an equity contribution of $800,000 toward the Southside Chiller Project. During 2017, the
University provided the remaining equity contribution of $972,628 to fund their portion of the renovation
costs of Phase V of the Hammond Campus Center project, of which $350,000 of these funds was
subsequently transferred to the Landry Arena account at MSCBA for the Landry renovations project. As
of June 30, 2018, amounts held by MSCBA representing the unexpended portion of the University's
contributions totaled $98,323 related to the Hammond Campus Center project, $832,283 related to the
Southside Chiller project, and $344,308 related to the Landry Arena project, of which $297,053 is
included in current restricted cash and cash equivalents and $977,861 is included in noncurrent
restricted cash and cash equivalents in the accompanying 2018 statement of net position.
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Note 13 - Capital lease obligation

During fiscal year 2017, the University entered into a noncancellable capital lease agreement with a
financial institution in the amount of $1,261,206 for an upgrade to its wireless network equipment. The
lease has a term of five years and requires semi-annual payments of $132,483, which commenced on
March 23, 2017 and continues through September 23, 2021. The assets and capital lease obligation
were recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments based upon an interest rate
of 1.81% which was determined to be applicable at the inception of the lease. The capital lease
obligation is secured by the related assets.

The University's wireless network equipment held under capital lease totaled $1,261,206 as of both
June 30, 2018 and 2017. The assets under the capital lease are being depreciated over their estimated
useful lives and the depreciation of these assets is included in depreciation expense. The accumulated
depreciation on the leased assets amounted to $441,422 and $189,181 at June 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. Depreciation expense totaled $252,241 and $189,181 for the years ended June 30, 2018
and 2017, respectively.

Interest expense incurred on the capital lease totaled $19,530 and $11,414 in fiscal 2018 and 2017,
respectively.

The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments under this capital lease at June 30,
2018:

Year ending June 30, Amount
2019 $ 264,966
2020 264,966
2021 264,966
2022 132,483
Total minimum lease payments 927,381
Less amount representing interest (32,679)
Present value of future minimum lease payments 894,702
Less current portion 249,898
Present value of long-term portion $ 644,804
65
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Note 14 - FSU Foundation’s long-term debt

FSU Foundation's long-term debt consists of the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
First mortgage notes payable $ 3,064,779 $ 3,123,323
Notes payable - bank 514,276 533,121
3,579,055 3,656,444
Less net debt issuance costs (20,333) (23,801)
3,558,722 3,632,643
Less current portion (756,909) (188,765)

$ 2,801,813 $ 3,443,878

The Foundation has a mortgage note payable in the original amount of $550,000, dated April 16, 2008,
with Fidelity Cooperative Bank. The proceeds of the note were used to acquire certain real estate
properties on the Fitchburg State University campus. The note is secured by a first mortgage interest in
the real estate and related personal property located thereon, and an assignment of leases and rents.
Furthermore, any and all deposits held by the lender serve as additional collateral for the loan.

The loan agreement has a term of 20 years and provided for a fixed rate of interest of 5.75% per annum
for the first 10 years of the loan term. Thereafter, the interest rate was to be fixed at the Federal Home
Loan Bank Ten Year Cost of Funds Rate in effect as of the first day of the final 10 years of the term of
the loan plus 118 basis points. The interest rate was adjusted to 4.27% per annum for the remainder of
the loan term pursuant to the provisions of a Change in Terms Agreement dated October 19, 2016. The
loan required monthly installments of principal and interest of $3,862 through October 16, 2016.
Thereafter, the loan requires monthly installments of principal and interest of $2,454 commencing on
November 16, 2016 with a final principal payment due in the amount of $210,752 at the loan's maturity
date of April 16, 2028. The note may be prepaid at any time, in whole or in part, without premium or
penalty.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of this mortgage note payable amounted
to $372,278 and $385,211, respectively.

In August 2006, the Foundation Supporting Organization acquired land and a building consisting of
4,179 square feet of office space and 53,429 square feet of warehouse space located in Fitchburg,
Massachusetts near the University campus. The entire property has been leased to DCAMM on behalf
of the University (see Note 23). The University is currently using the property for its print services,
maintenance, and shipping and receiving and financial services.

The acquisition and related costs were funded with the proceeds of an offering of tax-exempt revenue
bonds, Massachusetts Development Finance Agency Revenue Bonds, FSC Foundation Supporting
Organization Issue, Series 2006 (the "bonds"), dated August 1, 2006, in the amount of $1,900,000,
issued by the Massachusetts Development Finance Agency ("MDFA"), pursuant to a Loan and Trust
Agreement. People's United Bank, as successor in interest to Chittenden Trust Company, is the bond
Trustee. MDFA assigned all of its rights, title, and interest in and to the loan and related loan
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documents to the bond Trustee as security for repayment of the bonds. The loan is secured by a first
mortgage interest in the real estate and related personal property located thereon, and an assignment
of leases and rents. Payment and performance of the Foundation Supporting Organization's obligations
under the loan agreement have been guaranteed by the Foundation.

The loan agreement has a term of 20 years and provides for a fixed rate of interest of 5.5% per annum
for the first five years of the loan term. Thereafter, the interest rate will be adjusted at five-year intervals
(August 16, 2011, 2016 and 2021) to a fixed rate of interest equal to 80% of the bank's prime rate, but
no greater than 1% or less than 1% of the interest rate in effect for the immediately preceding five-year
adjustment interval. The interest rate was adjusted to 4.5% per annum on August 16, 2011 pursuant to
the provisions of the loan agreement. The loan required monthly installments of principal and interest of
$13,154 through August 16, 2011 and $12,306 until August 16, 2016. The interest rate was adjusted to
3.5% per annum on August 16, 2016 pursuant to the provisions of the loan agreement. Commencing
thereafter, the monthly installments of principal and interest are $11,739 until the next five-year interval
adjustment date of August 16, 2021. The loan matures on August 16, 2026. The loan agreement
requires the Foundation Supporting Organization to maintain a Debt Service Coverage Ratio, as
defined, of not less than 1.10 to 1 to be measured annually at the end of its fiscal year.

The mortgage note was issued pursuant to the Loan and Trust Agreement and related loan documents
and is subject to and governed by the terms and conditions of those agreements. The loan may be
prepaid in accordance with the terms of the Loan and Trust Agreement for prepayment of the bonds as
more fully described in the Loan and Trust Agreement.

The loan documents contain cross default provisions with the DCAMM lease.

As of June 30, 2018, the outstanding principal balance of the mortgage note payable of $997,414, less
net debt issuance costs of $20,333, amounted to $977,081.

As of June 30, 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the mortgage note payable of $1,100,877,
less net debt issuance costs of $23,801, amounted to $1,077,076.

Workers' Credit Union ("WCU") provided financing to the Foundation Supporting Organization in the
form of a note, dated February 27, 2009, in the amount of $750,000. The note is secured by a first
mortgage interest in certain real estate owned by the Foundation Supporting Organization and an
assignment of certain leases and rents. The note is also collateralized by all funds held by the lender.
At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Foundation Supporting Organization has total cash balances of $6,935
and $6,308, respectively, held by the lender which serve as additional collateral for the loan.

The mortgage note has a term of 10 years, expiring on February 27, 2019, and provided for a fixed rate
of interest of 5.74% per annum. The interest rate was adjusted to 4.99% per annum on June 20, 2013
pursuant to the provisions of a loan modification agreement. The note required monthly installments of
principal and interest of $4,714, through June 20, 2013, based on a 20-year principal amortization.
Commencing thereafter, the monthly installments of principal and interest are $4,422, based on a 20-
year principal amortization with a final principal payment due in the amount of $561,619 at the loan's
maturity date of February 27, 2019.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of this first mortgage loan amounted to
$576,100 and $599,769, respectively.
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Rollstone Bank & Trust provided financing to the Foundation Supporting Organization in the form of a
note, dated December 22, 2014 in the amount of $240,000. The note is secured by a first mortgage
interest in the real estate property located at 131 Highland Avenue in Fitchburg, Massachusetts and an
assignment of leases and rents on the property. The note has a term of 20 years, maturing on
December 22, 2034, and provides for a fixed rate of interest of 3.25% per annum. The loan requires
monthly installments of principal and interest of $1,367 based on a 20-year principal amortization. The
loan agreement requires the Foundation Supporting Organization to maintain a ratio of Cash Flow (after
distributions), as defined, to the Current Maturity of Long-Term Debt plus interest, as defined, of not
less than 1.0 to 1 for any fiscal year. The loan agreement also contains, among other covenants,
restrictions relating to future borrowings, capital expenditures by lease or purchase, distributions,
making of advances or loans to other parties, making of investments, and sale, lease or transfer of
assets, except as provided for and as more fully described in the loan agreement.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the mortgage note payable amounted
to $208,551 and $217,912, respectively.

Fidelity Co-Operative Bank provided financing to the Foundation Supporting Organization in the form of
a note, dated June 26, 2013, in the amount of $83,200. The note is secured by a first mortgage interest
in the real estate property located at 340 Highland Avenue in Fitchburg, Massachusetts and an
assignment of leases and rents on the property. The mortgage note has a term of 20 years, maturing
on June 26, 2033, and provides for a fixed rate of interest of 3.5% per annum for the first five years of
the loan term. Thereafter, the interest rate will be adjusted at five-year intervals (June 26, 2018, 2023
and 2028) to the Federal Home Loan Bank Boston Classic Advance Five-Year Rate plus 2.75% per
annum. The loan required monthly installments of principal and interest of $376 until the next five-year
interval adjustment date of June 26, 2018. The interest rate was adjusted to 5.93% per annum on June
26, 2018 pursuant to the provisions of the loan agreement. The July and August 2018 monthly
installments of principal and interest remained at $376. On August 27, 2018, the Foundation Supporting
Organization entered into a Change in Terms Agreement with the lender in which the interest rate on
the note was modified to a fixed rate of 5.20% per annum until June 26, 2023. At that time, the interest
rate will be adjusted pursuant to the terms of the original note described above. All other terms,
provisions and conditions of the original note agreement remain in full force and effect. Commencing
with the September 2018 monthly installment of principal and interest, the monthly installments shall be
$450. The note provides for the payment of a prepayment penalty if the loan is paid prior to maturity.
The amount of the penalty shall be a specified percentage of the amount prepaid with such percentage
ranging from 5% if paid before the loan's first anniversary and decreasing by 1% per year to 1% if paid
before the loan's fifth anniversary. The prepayment penalty will reset as defined above at each five-year
anniversary date of the note. The loan agreement contains, among other covenants, restrictions relating
to future borrowings, making of advances or loans to other parties, sale, lease or transfer of assets, and
the granting of further security interests, except as provided for and as more fully described in the loan
agreement. The loan is cross-defaulted and cross-collateralized with any and all other loans made by
the lender to the Foundation Supporting Organization.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the mortgage note payable amounted
to $74,685 and $76,518, respectively.

In October 2016, Fidelity Co-Operative Bank provided financing to the Foundation Supporting
Organization in the form of a promissory note, dated October 19, 2016, in the amount of $118,000. The
note is secured by a Negative Pledge Agreement on the real estate property located at 198 Pearl Street
in Fitchburg, Massachusetts.
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The promissory note has a term of 10 years, maturing on October 21, 2026, and provides for a fixed
rate of interest of 4.11% per annum. Commencing on November 21, 2016, the loan requires monthly
installments of principal and interest of $726 based on a 20-year principal amortization until the maturity
date, at which time the remaining outstanding principal balance of $71,599 and any accrued interest
thereon is due and payable. The note provides for the prepayment of all or a portion of the amount
owed without penalty. The business loan agreement contains, among other covenants, restrictions
relating to future borrowings, making of advances or loans to other parties, sale, lease or transfer of
assets, and the granting of further security interests, except as provided for and as more fully described
in the business loan agreement. The loan is cross-defaulted and cross-collateralized with any and all
other loans made by the lender to the Foundation Supporting Organization.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the loan amounted to $111,291 and
$115,273, respectively.

In January 2017, Fidelity Co-Operative Bank provided financing to the Foundation Supporting
Organization in the form of a promissory note, dated January 13, 2017, in the amount of $220,000. The
note is secured by a Negative Pledge Agreement on the properties located at 9 Clinton Street and 85-
87 Pearl Street in Fitchburg, Massachusetts.

The promissory note has a term of 10 years, maturing on January 13, 2027, and provides for a fixed
rate of interest of 4.76% per annum. Commencing on February 13, 2017, the loan requires monthly
installments of principal and interest of $1,431 based on a 20-year principal amortization until the
maturity date, at which time the remaining outstanding principal balance of $136,868 and any accrued
interest thereon is due and payable. The note provides for the payment of a prepayment penalty if the
loan is paid prior to maturity. The amount of the penalty shall be a specified percentage of the amount
prepaid with such percentage ranging from 5% if paid before the loan's first anniversary and decreasing
by 1% per year to 1% if paid before the loan's fifth anniversary. The prepayment penalty will reset as
defined above at each five-year anniversary date of the note. The loan agreement contains, among
other covenants, restrictions relating to future borrowings, making of advances or loans to other parties,
sale, lease or transfer of assets, and the granting of further security interests, except as provided for
and as more fully described in the loan agreement. The loan is cross-defaulted and cross collateralized
with any and all other loans made by the lender to the Foundation Supporting Organization.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the loan amounted to $209,819 and
$216,683, respectively.

In November 2016, Hometown Bank provided financing to the Foundation Supporting Organization in
the form of a commercial note, dated November 8, 2016, in the amount of $135,000. The note was
secured by a first mortgage interest and collateral assignment of rents and leases on the real estate
property located at 132 Highland Avenue in Fitchburg, Massachusetts.

The commercial note has a term of 25 years, maturing on November 8, 2041, and provided for a fixed
rate of interest of 4.875% per annum. Commencing on December 8, 2016, the loan required monthly
installments of principal and interest of $779 based on a 25-year principal amortization schedule with a
final payment of all unpaid principal and accrued interest thereon due at maturity.

On April 5, 2018, the Foundation Supporting Organization paid off the loan balance in full and related
interest with the proceeds from the sale of the 132 Highland Avenue property.

As of June 30, 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the loan amounted to $133,364.
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In November 2016, Enterprise Bank and Trust Company provided financing to the Foundation
Supporting Organization in the form of a promissory note, dated November 4, 2016, in the amount of
$280,000. The note is secured by a first mortgage interest in the property and an assignment of rents
on the property located at 689-717 Main Street in Fitchburg, Massachusetts.

The promissory note has a term of 10 years, maturing on November 4, 2026, and thereafter is payable
on demand. The note provides for a fixed rate of interest of 4.33% per annum for the first ten years of
the loan term. Thereafter, the interest rate will be adjusted at 10-year intervals to the Daily High Federal
Home Loan Bank Boston Classic Advance Ten Year Regular Rate plus 1.95% per annum.
Commencing on January 1, 2017, the loan requires monthly installments of principal and interest of
$1,401 based on a 30-year principal amortization schedule. If the note is prepaid in whole or in part
during the first 117 months of each fixed rate period for the purpose of refinancing the note with another
financial institution, the note provides for a prepayment penalty equal to 3% of any principal reduction.
Except for the forgoing, the note may be prepaid in whole or in part without penalty. The loan is cross-
defaulted and cross-collateralized with any and all other loans made by the lender to the Foundation
Supporting Organization.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the loan amounted to $273,003 and
$277,716, respectively.

In September, 2017, Webster First Federal Credit Union provided financing to the Foundation
Supporting Organization in the form of a commercial note, dated September 22, 2017, in the amount of
$250,000. The note is secured by a first mortgage interest in the real estate properties located at 66
and 0 Day Street and 721-725 Main Street, Fitchburg, Massachusetts, and an assignment of leases
and rents on the properties. The note has a term of 15 years, maturing on October 1, 2032, and
provides for a fixed rate of interest of 3.75% per annum for the first 10 years of the loan term.
Thereafter, the interest rate will be adjusted to the Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston Five Year
Classic Rate plus 1.5% per annum for the remaining 5 years of the loan term, but no less than a rate of
3.75% per annum. Commencing on November 1, 2017, the loan requires monthly installments of
principal and interest of $1,825 based on a 15-year principal amortization schedule with a final payment
of all unpaid principal and accrued interest thereon due at maturity. The note may be prepaid in whole
or in part at any time without penalty.

As of June 30, 2018, the outstanding principal balance of the loan amounted to $241,638.

The Foundation Supporting Organization has a note payable in the original amount of $680,000, dated
April 26, 2007, with Enterprise Bank and Trust Company. The note is secured by investments with an
equivalent fair value of approximately $2,253,000 and $2,116,000 at June 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. In addition, payment and performance of the Foundation Supporting Organization's
obligations under the loan agreement have been guaranteed by the Foundation.

The promissory note has a term of 30 years, expiring on May 5, 2037, and provides for a fixed rate of
interest of 6% per annum for the first five years of the loan term. Thereafter, the interest rate will be
adjusted at five-year intervals (April 26, 2012, 2017, 2022, 2027 and 2032) to the Federal Home Loan
Bank Boston Classic Advance Five-Year Rate plus 1.15% per annum. The rate was adjusted to 2.62%
per annum on April 26, 2012 pursuant to the provisions of the loan agreement. The loan required
monthly installments of principal and interest of $4,122 through May 7, 2012 and $2,875 until April 26,
2017. The interest rate was adjusted to 3.49% per annum on April 26, 2017 pursuant to the provisions
of the loan agreement. Commencing thereafter, the monthly installments of principal and interest are
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$3,115 until the next five-year interval adjustment date of April 26, 2022. The note may be prepaid at
any time, in whole or in part, without premium or penalty.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of this note payable amounted to
$514,276 and $533,121, respectively.

Principal funding payments and estimated interest due to maturity consist of the following:

Year ending June 30: Principal Interest (1) Total

2019 $ 756,909 $ 132,025 $ 888,934
2020 187,389 106,696 294,085
2021 194,658 99,428 294,086
2022 202,010 92,076 294,086
2023 209,643 84,412 294,055
2024-2028 1,506,091 275,373 1,781,464
2029-2033 362,757 68,146 430,903
2034-2038 159,598 10,371 169,969

Total $ 3,579,055 $ 868,527 $ 4,447,582

(1) The interest rates in effect at June 30, 2018 on the first mortgage notes payable and the note
payable - bank were used to calculate the estimated interest on these debt obligations.

Note 15 - FSU Foundation lines of credit

On August 23, 2017, the Foundation renewed, under substantially the same terms, its existing demand
revolving working capital line of credit agreement with Workers' Credit Union which permits the
Foundation to borrow up to $250,000. The line of credit agreement which expired on March 17, 2017
provided for interest at The Wall Street Journal Prime Rate, but in no event less than 6% per annum.
Pursuant to the provisions of the line of credit agreement, maximum advances under the line are limited
to 70% of the pledged investment collateral unless otherwise approved by the lender. The renewed line
of credit provides for interest at 5.25% through September 1, 2017 and, thereafter, at The Wall Street
Journal Prime Rate (currently 5%) plus 1%. The interest rate charged to the Foundation may not
exceed a rate of 18%. At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the effective interest rate was 6% per annum. In
fiscal 2018, the line of credit was drawn down in the amount of $170,000 and advanced to the
Foundation Supporting Organization. As of June 30, 2018, the outstanding borrowings payable under
the line of credit amounted to $170,000. There were no draws on the line of credit in fiscal 2017 and no
outstanding liability under the line of credit at June 30, 2017. For the years ended June 30, 2018 and
2017, interest expense incurred on borrowings under this line of credit amounted to $830 and $9,576,
respectively. The interest expense incurred on the borrowings has been reflected as an expense on the
books of the Foundation Supporting Organization.

Borrowings under the line are secured by investments with an equivalent fair value of approximately
$9,085,000 at June 30, 2018. The line is also collateralized by all funds held by the lender. At June 30,
2018, the Foundation has total cash balances of $58,583 held by the lender. The Foundation may
prepay outstanding revolving loans under the agreement in whole or in part without premium or penalty.
The line of credit agreement expires on March 25, 2022.
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On August 18, 2016, the Foundation Supporting Organization entered into a demand unsecured
revolving line of credit agreement with Rollstone Bank and Trust which permits the Foundation
Supporting Organization to borrow up to $250,000. The line of credit provides for interest at The Wall
Street Journal Prime Rate less .25% (effective rates of 4.75% at June 30, 2018 and 4% at June 30,
2017). For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, interest expense incurred on borrowings under
this line of credit amounted to $3,440 and $2,470, respectively. The line of credit agreement expired on
August 18, 2017. The line of credit was extended through November 30, 2017, and again through
November 30, 2018, under the same terms and conditions of the previous agreement. On November
30, 2018, the line of credit will be up for renewal. The Foundation Supporting Organization may prepay
outstanding revolving loans under the agreement in whole or in part at any time without premium or
penalty. The line of credit agreement contains, among other covenants, the maintenance of a debt
service coverage ratio, as defined, of at least 1.00 to 1. In addition, the agreement provides that the line
of credit be brought to a zero balance for 30 consecutive days annually during the term of the
agreement. As of June 30, 2018, the Foundation Supporting Organization has made payments of
$250,000 and borrowings of $150,000 under the line of credit agreement. The balance outstanding as
of June 30, 2018 is $150,000. As of June 30, 2017, the Foundation Supporting Organization has made
payments of $110,000 and borrowings of $360,000 under the line of credit agreement. The balance
outstanding as of June 30, 2017 was $250,000.

Note 16 - Long-term liabilities

Long-term liability activity of the University for the year ended June 30, 2018 included the following:

Totals June 30, 2018

Totals Ending Current
June 30, 2017 Additions Reductions balance portion
Interagency payables $ 60,732,776 $ 5,420,360 $ 3,367,468 $ 62,785,668 $ 3,487,348
Total 60,732,776 5,420,360 3,367,468 62,785,668 3,487,348
Other liabilities:
Capital lease obligation 1,140,137 - 245,435 894,702 249,898
Workers' compensation 581,018 194,415 126,662 648,771 141,432
Compensated absences 5,161,246 3,375,331 3,195,296 5,341,281 3,175,133
Loan payable - federal
financial assistance 2,037,912 39,227 231,774 1,845,365
Net pension liability 12,580,841 - 1,150,193 11,430,648
Net OPEB liability 22,384,199 - 151,525 22,232,674
Total other liabilities 43,885,353 3,608,973 5,100,885 42,393,441 3,566,463
Long-term obligations $ 104,618,129 $ 9,029,333 $ 8,468,353 $ 105,179,109 $ 7,053,811
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Long-term liability activity of the University for the year ended June 30, 2017 included the following:

Totals June 30, 2017

Totals Ending Current
June 30, 2016 Additions Reductions balance portion
Interagency payables $ 59,714,524 $ 4,166,418 $ 3,148,166 $ 60,732,776 $ 3,334,367
Total 59,714,524 4,166,418 3,148,166 60,732,776 3,334,367
Other liabilities:
Capital lease obligation - 1,261,206 121,069 1,140,137 245,435
Workers' compensation 507,890 183,848 110,720 581,018 126,662
Compensated absences 5,454,493 3,153,804 3,447,051 5,161,246 3,195,296
Loan payable - federal
financial assistance 2,017,863 35,442 15,393 2,037,912 -
Net pension liability 9,995,092 2,585,749 - 12,580,841 -
Net OPEB liability - 22,384,199 - 22,384,199 -
Total other liabilities 17,975,338 29,604,248 3,694,233 43,885,353 3,567,393
Long-term obligations $ 77,689,862 $ 33,770,666 $ 6,842,399 $ 104,618,129 $ 6,901,760

Long-term liability activity of FSU Foundation for the year ended June 30, 2018 included the following:

Totals June 30, 2018

Totals Ending Current
June 30, 2017 Additions Reductions balance portion
First mortgage notes
payable $ 3,099,522 $ 250,000 $ 305,076 $ 3,044,446 $ 737,411
Notes payable - bank 533,121 - 18,845 514,276 19,498
Long-term obligations $ 3,632,643 $ 250,000 $ 323,921 $ 3,558,722 $ 756,909

Long-term liability activity of FSU Foundation for the year ended June 30, 2017 included the following:

Totals June 30, 2017

Totals Ending Current
June 30, 2016 Additions Reductions balance portion
First mortgage notes
payable $ 2,500,722 $ 753,000 $ 154,200 $ 3,099,522 $ 169,798
Notes payable - bank 553,081 - 19,960 533,121 18,967
Long-term obligations $ 3,053803 % 753,000 ' $ 174,160 $ 3,632,643  $ 188,765

Note 17 - Net position

Unrestricted net position is comprised of net position that is not subject to externally imposed
stipulations; however, they may be subject to internal restrictions. For example, unrestricted net position
may be designated for specific purposes by action of management or the Board of Trustees or may
otherwise be limited by contractual agreements with outside parties. Certain unrestricted net position is
internally designated for academic and research programs and initiatives, and graduate and continuing
education programs. Designated unrestricted net position was $16,218,303 and $13,142,215 at June
30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Undesignated unrestricted net position was $(20,721,479) and

$(17,197,950) at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the net investment in capital assets amount of $118,281,520 and
$116,097,369, respectively, includes the effect of deferring the recognition of revenue from the
installment payments associated with the dining facilities service concession arrangement. At June 30,
2018 and 2017, $1,478,610 and $1,725,044, respectively, of the balance of the deferred inflow of
resources has been included, as a reduction, in the calculation of net investment in capital assets. This
amount will be recognized as revenue and increase the net investment in capital assets net position
over the remaining term of the arrangement.

Note 18 - Net position restricted by enabling legislation

Fitchburg State University Foundation, Inc.'s consolidated statements of net position as of June 30,
2018 and 2017 reflect a restricted net position of $17,441,084 and $15,896,000, respectively. Of these
amounts, $2,357,931 for each year, are restricted by enabling legislation for the State Matching Funds
Program.

Note 19 - Operating expenses

The University's operating expenses for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, on a natural
classification basis, are comprised of the following:

2018 2017

Salaries
Faculty $ 23,802,795 23,376,057
Exempt wages 3,964,775 3,291,824
Non-exempt wages 19,155,607 19,382,008
Benefits 15,414,523 14,919,383
Scholarships 2,731,812 1,992,215
Utilities 4,608,699 4,402,055
Supplies and other services 21,095,664 19,030,383
Depreciation 9,990,725 10,125,427
Bad debt expense 325,079 349,431
Total operating expenses $ 101,089,679 96,868,783

Note 20 - State controlled accounts

Certain significant costs and benefits associated with the operations of the University are appropriated,
expended, controlled, and reported by the Commonwealth through non-University line items in the
Commonwealth's budget. Under generally accepted accounting principles, such transactions must be
recorded in the financial statements of the University. These transactions include payments by the
Commonwealth for the employer's share of funding the Massachusetts State Employees' Retirement
System and for the employer's share of health care premiums.
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The estimated amounts of funding attributable for the Commonwealth's retirement system contribution
and the employer's share of health care premiums for the years ended June 30, 2018, 2017, and 2016
were as follows (see State appropriations under Note 24):

2018 2017 2016
Commonwealth's retirement system
contributions $ 3,893,971 3 3,280,700 $ 3,144,412
Employers share of health care
premium $ 6,711,016 % 6,904,977 % 5,675,058

Note 21 - Retirement plan

Substantially all of the University's full-time employees are covered by the Massachusetts State
Employees' Retirement System ("MSERS"). MSERS, a public employee retirement system ("PERS"), is
a cost-sharing multi-employer defined benefit plan that is administered by the Massachusetts State
Retirement Board and covers substantially all non-student employees. The Commonwealth does not
issue separately audited financial statements for the plan. The financial position and results of
operations of the plan are incorporated into the Commonwealth's financial statements, a copy of which
may be obtained from the Office of the State Comptroller, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, One
Ashburton Place, Room 901, Boston, MA 02108.

MSERS provides retirement, disability, survivor and death benefits to members and their beneficiaries.
Massachusetts General Laws ("MGL") establishes uniform benefit and contribution requirements for all
contributory PERS. These requirements provide for superannuation retirement allowance benefits up to
a maximum of 80% of a member's highest three-year average annual rate of regular compensation. For
employees hired after April 1, 2012, retirement allowances are calculated on the basis of the last five
years or any five consecutive years, whichever is greater in terms of compensation. Benefit payments
are based upon a member's age, length of creditable service, and group creditable service, and group
classification. The authority for amending these provisions rests with the Legislature.

Members become vested after 10 years of creditable service. A superannuation retirement allowance
may be received upon the completion of 20 years of creditable service or upon reaching the age of 55
with 10 years of service. Normal retirement for most employees occurs at age 65; for certain hazardous
duty and public safety positions, normal retirement is at age 55. Most employees who joined the system
after April 1, 2012 cannot retire prior to age 60.

The MSERS' funding policies have been established by Chapter 32 of the MGL. The Legislature has
the authority to amend these policies. The annuity portion of the MSERS retirement allowance is funded
by employees, who contribute a percentage of their regular compensation. Costs of administering the
plan are funded out of plan assets.
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Member contributions for MSERS vary depending on the most recent date of membership:

Hire date % of compensation
Prior to 1975 5% of regular compensation
1975 to 1983 7% of regular compensation
1984 to June 30, 1996 8% of regular compensation
July 1, 1996 to present 9% of regular compensation
1979 to present An additional 2% of regular compensation

in excess of $30,000

In addition, members of Group 1 who join the system on or after April 2, 2012 will have their withholding
rate reduced to 6% after achieving 30 years of creditable service.

The University is not required to contribute from its appropriation allocation or other University funds to
MSERS for employees compensated from State appropriations. For University employees covered by
MSERS but compensated from a trust fund or other source, the University is required to contribute an
amount determined as a percentage of compensation in accordance with a fringe benefit rate
established by the State. The total amount of current funding by the State related to the University's
employees during 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $3,893,971, $3,280,700 and $3,144,412, respectively. The
total amount of funding by the University related to the University's employees compensated from a
trust fund or other source during 2018, 2017, and 2016 was $862,928, $696,825, and $655,160,
respectively. Annual covered payroll was approximately 80%, 81%, and 83% of annual total payroll for
the University in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the University reported a liability of $11,430,648 and $12,580,841,
respectively, for its proportionate share of the net pension liability. The net pension liability was
measured as of January 1, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and the State's total pension liability used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of those dates. The
University's proportion of the net pension liability was based on an effective contribution methodology
which allocates total contributions amongst the employers in a consistent manner based on an
employer's share of total covered payroll. At June 30, 2018, the University's proportion was 0.0891%
which was a decrease of 0.0021% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2017. At June 30, 2017,
the University's proportion was 0.0912%, which was an increase of 0.0034% from its proportion
measured as of June 30, 2016.

For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, the University recognized pension expense of
$5,321,863 and $5,098,931, respectively.
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At June 30, 2018, the University reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
outflows of inflows of
resources resources

Changes of assumptions $ 1,189,533 $ -

Net difference between projected and actual

earnings on pension plan investments - 136,196

Difference between expected and actual experience 441,955 310,999

Changes in proportion due to internal allocation 970,572 228,439

Changes in proportion from Commonwealth 39,150 4,075

University contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 862,928 -
Total $ 3,504,138 $ 679,709

The $862,928 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from University
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension
liability in the year ended June 30, 2019. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ending June 30:

2019 $ 625,236

2020 1,173,909

2021 509,570

2022 (333,628)

2023 (13,586)

Total $ 1,961,501
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At June 30, 2017, the University reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
outflows of inflows of
resources resources

Changes of assumptions $ 1,395,131 $ -

Net difference between projected and actual

earnings on pension plan investments 844,528 -

Difference between expected and actual experience 597,556 -

Changes in proportion due to internal allocation 1,339,317 45,438

Changes in proportion from Commonwealth 28,028 6,061

University contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 696,825 -
Total $ 4,901,385 $ 51,499

The total pension liability for the June 30, 2017 measurement date was determined by an actuarial
valuation as of January 1, 2017 rolled forward to June 30, 2017. This valuation used the following
assumptions:

1.

(a) 7.5% investment rate of return, (b) 3.5% interest rate credited to the annuity savings fund
and (c) 3.0% cost of living increase per year on the first $13,000 per year (3% cost of living
increase for the year ended June 30, 2016).

Salary increases are based on analyses of past experience but range from 4.0% to 9.0%
depending on group and length of service.

Chapter 79 of the Acts of 2014 established an early retirement incentive (“ERI”) program for
certain employees of the highway division of the Massachusetts Department of Transportation
whose positions have been eliminated due to automation of toll collections. Most members
retiring under the ERI program had a date retirement of October 28, 2016. 112 members took
the ERI and retired during FY2017. As a result, the total pension liability of MSERS increased
by approximately $10 million as of June 30, 2017.

Chapter 176 of the Acts of 2011 created a one-time election for eligible members of the
Optional Retirement Plan ("ORP") to transfer to the Massachusetts State Employee's
Retirement System ("MSERS") and purchase service for the period while members of the
ORP. As a result, the total pension liability of MSERS has increased by approximately $400
million as of June 30, 2016.

Mortality rates were as follows:

(i) Pre-retirement - reflects RP-2014 Blue Collar Employees table projected generationally
with Scale MP-2016 and set forward 1 year for females (RP-2000 Employees table
projected generationally with Scale BB and a base year of 2009 (gender distinct) for the
year ended June 30, 2016).
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(i) Post-retirement - reflects RP-2014 Blue Collar Healthy Annuitant table projected
generationally with Scale MP-2016 set forward 1 year for females (RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant table projected generationally with Scale BB and a base year of 2009 (gender
distinct) for the year ended June 30, 2016).

(i) Disability - the mortality rate is assumed to be in accordance with the RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant table projected generationally with Scale BB and a base year of 2015 (gender
distinct) (unchanged from the year ended June 30, 2016).

These changes resulted in an increase of approximately $304 million in the total pension liability
as of June 30, 2017.

6. Experience studies were performed as follows:

() Dated February 27, 2014 and encompass the period January 1, 2006 to December 31,
2011.

Investment assets of MSERS are with the Pension Reserves Investment Trust ("PRIT") Fund. The long-
term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future rates of return are developed for each major
asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting
the expected future rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage. Best estimates of
geometric rates of return for each major asset class included in the PRIT Fund's target asset allocation
as of June 30, 2017 and 2016 are summarized in the following table:

Long-term expected real

Target allocation rate of return

Asset class 2017 2016 2017 2016
Global equity 40.00% 40.00% 5.00% 6.90%
Portfolio completion strategies 13.00% 4.00% 3.60% 3.60%
Core fixed income 12.00% 13.00% 1.10% 1.60%
Private equity 11.00% 10.00% 6.60% 8.70%
Value added fixed income 10.00% 10.00% 3.80% 4.80%
Real estate 10.00% 10.00% 3.60% 4.60%
Timber/natural resources 4.00% 4.00% 3.20% 5.40%
Hedge funds 0.00% 9.00% 3.60% 4.00%
Total 100.00% 100.00%

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability for the measurement years ended June 30,
2017 and 2016 was 7.5% for both years. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount
rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rates and the
University's contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined
contribution rates and the member rates. Based on those assumptions, the net position was projected
to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the
long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

The following presents the University's proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using
the discount rate of 7.5%, for both the measurement years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, as well as
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what the University's proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using
a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.5%) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.5%) than the
current rate:

Measurement year ended 1% decrease Discount rate 1% increase
June 30, 2017 $ 15,568,067 $ 11,430,648 $ 8,097,858
June 30, 2016 16,394,785 12,580,841 9,348,376

Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position is available in the Commonwealth's
financial statements.

Note 22 - Fringe benefits for current employees and post-employment obligations - pension and
non-pension

The University participates in the Commonwealth's Fringe Benefit programs, including active employee
and post - employment health insurance, unemployment, pension, and workers' compensation benefits.
Health insurance and pension costs for active employees and retirees are paid through a fringe benefit
rate charged to the University by the Commonwealth.

On-behalf payments of fringe benefits for benefited employees on the Commonwealth's payroll are
recognized as revenues and expenses in the University's financial statements in each of the fiscal
years presented.

Post-employment other than pensions

In addition to providing pension benefits, under Chapter 32A of the Massachusetts General Laws, the
Commonwealth is required to provide certain health care and life insurance benefits for retired
employees of the Commonwealth. Substantially all of the Commonwealth's employees may become
eligible for these benefits if they reach retirement age while working for the Commonwealth. Eligible
retirees are required to contribute a specified percentage of the health care/benefit costs, which are
comparable to contributions required from employees.

The Commonwealth administers a single employer defined Postemployment Benefits Other Than
Pensions ("OPEB") Plan. Benefits are managed by the Group Insurance Commission ("GIC") and
investments are managed by the Pension Reserves Investment Management (“PRIM”) Board. The
State Retirement Benefits Trust Fund ("SRBT") is set up solely to pay for OPEB benefits and the cost to
administer those benefits. Management of the SRBT is vested with a board of trustees, which consists
of 7 members. GIC administers benefit payments, while the Trustees are responsible for investment
decisions. The SRBT is reported as an OPEB Trust Fund and does not issue a stand-alone audited
financial report. The financial position and results of operations of the plan are incorporated in the
Commonwealth's financial statements, a copy of which may be obtained from the Office of the State
Comptroller, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, One Ashburton Place, Room 901, Boston, MA 02108.

During the fiscal years ended on June 30, 2018 and 2017, the GIC provided health insurance for its
members through indemnity, PPO, and HMO plans. The GIC also administered carve-outs for the
pharmacy benefit and mental health and substance abuse benefits for certain of its health plans. In
addition to health insurance, the GIC sponsors life insurance, long-term disability insurance (for active
employees only), dental and vision coverage for employees not covered by collective bargaining, a
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retiree discount vision plan and retiree dental plan, and finally, a pre-tax health care spending account
and dependent care assistance program (for active employees only).

Employer and employee contribution rates are set in Massachusetts General Law. The Commonwealth
recognizes its share of the costs on an actuarial basis. As of June 30, 2017 and 2016 and as of the
valuation date (January 1, 2017), Commonwealth participants contributed 0% to 20% of premium costs,
depending on the date of hire and whether the participant is active, retiree, or survivor status.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the University reported a liability of $22,232,674 and $22,384,199,
respectively, for its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability. The net OPEB liability was measured
as of January 1, 2017, and the Commonwealth's total OPEB liability used to calculate the net OPEB
liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The University's proportion of the net
OPEB liability was based on an effective contribution methodology which allocates total actual
contributions amongst the employers in a consistent manner based on an employer's share of total
covered payroll. At June 30, 2018, the University's proportion was 0.1272%, which was an increase of
0.0091% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2017.

The amount of funding by the University related to benefits other than OPEB for the years ended June
30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $15,031,796, $14,961,048, and $11,720,616, respectively, which
equaled the required contributions each year charged to it through the Commonwealth's fringe benefit
recovery program. The total amount of current funding by the State related to the OPEB portion of
fringe benefits for the University's employees during 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $2,713,264, $2,429,837
and $2,189,437, respectively. The total amount of funding by the University related to the OPEB portion
of fringe benefits for the University's employees compensated from a trust fund or other source during
2018, 2017, and 2016 was $653,339, $559,677, and $502,044, respectively.

For the year ended June 30, 2018, the University recognized OPEB expense of $4,309,006.

At June 30, 2018, the University reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
outflows of inflows of
resources resources

Changes of assumptions $ - $ 2,518,080

Net differences between projected and actual

investment earnings on OPEB plan investments - 40,563

Difference between expected and actual experience - 51,117

Changes in proportion due to internal allocation 1,375,639 -

Changes in proportion from Commonwealth 46,530 -

University contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 653,339 -
Total $ 2,075,508 $ 2,609,760

The $653,339 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from University
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB
liability in the year ended June 30, 2019. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and
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deferred inflows of resources as a result of the University's requirement to contribute to the Plan will be
recognized in expense as follows:

Year ending June 30:

2019 $  (248,693)
2020 (248,693)
2021 (248,693)
2022 (248,693)
2023 (192,819)
Total $ (1,187,591)

The total OPEB liability for the June 30, 2016 measurement date was determined by an actuarial
valuation as of January 1, 2017 rolled back to June 30, 2016. The total OPEB liability for the June 30,
2017 measurement date was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2017 rolled forward
to June 30, 2017. This valuation used the following assumptions:

1. The following annual healthcare cost trend rates: (1) 8.5%, decreasing by 0.5% each year to
an ultimate rate of 5.0% in 2024 for medical, (2) 5.0% for EGWP and (3) 5.0% for
administration costs.

2. The mortality rate was in accordance with RP 2014 Blue Collar Mortality Table projected with
scale MP-2016 from the central year, with females set forward one year.

3. Participation rates:

() 100% of all retirees who currently have health care coverage will continue with the same
coverage, except that retirees under age 65 with POS/PPO coverage switch to Indemnity
at age 65 and those over age 65 with POS/PPO coverage switch to HMO.

(i)  All current retirees, other than those indicated on the census data as not being eligible by
Medicare, have Medicare coverage upon attainment of age 65, as do their spouses. All
future retirees are assumed to have Medicare coverage upon attainment of age 65.

(i) 80% of current and future contingent eligible participants will elect health care benefits at
age 65, or current age if later.

Actives, upon retirement, take coverage, and are assumed to have the following coverage:

Retirement Age

Under 65 Age 65 +
Indemnity 40.0% 85.0%
POS/PPO 50.0% 0.0%
HMO 10.0% 15.0%

Investment assets of the Plan are with the Pension Reserves Investment Trust ("PRIT") Fund. The
long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using a building-block
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method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future rates of return are developed for each major
asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting
the expected future rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage. Best estimates of
geometric rates of return for each major asset class included in the PRIT Fund's target asset allocation
as of June 30, 2017 and 2016 are summarized in the following table:

Long-term expected real
rate of return

Asset class Target allocation 2017 2016
Global equity 40.00% 5.00% 6.90%
Portfolio completion strategies 13.00% 3.60% 3.60%
Core fixed income 12.00% 1.10% 1.60%
Private equity 11.00% 6.60% 8.70%
Value added fixed income 10.00% 3.80% 4.80%
Real estate 10.00% 3.60% 4.60%
Timber/natural resources 4.00% 3.20% 5.40%
Hedge funds 0.00% 3.60% 4.00%
Total 100.00%

The discount rates used to measure the OPEB liability as of June 30, 2017 and 2016 were 3.63% and
2.88%, respectively. These rates were based on a blend of the Bond Buyer Index rates of 3.58% and
2.85%, respectively, as of the measurement dates June 30, 2017 and 2016 and the expected rates of
return. The plan's fiduciary net position was not projected to be available to make all projected future
benefit payments for current plan members. The projected "depletion date” when projected benefits are
not covered by projected assets is 2023. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on plan
investments of 7.50% per annum was not applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to
determine the total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2017 and 2016.

The following presents the University's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability calculated using
the discount rate as well as what the University's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability would be
if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher
than the current rate:

Measurement year ended 1% decrease Discount rate 1% increase
June 30, 2017 (a) $ 26,391,962 $ 22,232,674 $ 18,925,716
June 30, 2016 (b) 26,758,751 22,384,199 18,925,179

(&) The discount rates as of June 30, 2017 are as follows: 3.63% (current); 2.63% (1% decrease)
and 4.63% (1% increase).

(b) The discount rates as of June 30, 2016 are as follows: 2.88% (current); 1.88% (1% decrease)
and 3.88% (1% increase).
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The following presents the University's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability calculated using
the current healthcare cost trend rate as well as what the University's proportionate share of the net
OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a healthcare cost trend rate that is 1-percentage-point
lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current rate:

Healthcare cost

Measurement year ended 1% decrease (b) trend rates (a) 1% increase (c)
June 30, 2017 $ 18,394,710 $ 22,232,674 $ 27,283,202
June 30, 2016 18,518,013 22,384,199 27,507,072

(&) The current healthcare cost trend rates are as follows: 9.0% (June 30, 2017) and 8.5% (June
30, 2016) for medical and 5.0% for both fiscal years 2017 and 2016 Employer Group Waiver
Plan and administration costs.

(b) The healthcare cost trend rates after a 1% decrease are as follows: 8.0% (June 30, 2017) and
7.5% (June 30, 2016) for medical and 4.0% for both fiscal years 2017 and 2016 Employer
Group Waiver Plan and administration costs.

(c) The healthcare cost trend rates after a 1% increase are as follows: 10.0% (June 30, 2017) and
9.5% (June 30, 2016) for medical and 6.0% for both fiscal years 2017 and 2016 Employer
Group Waiver Plan and administration costs.

Detailed information about the OPEB plan's changes in net OPEB liability, fiduciary net position, and
employees covered by benefit terms separately identified by a) Inactive employees currently receiving
benefit payments, b) Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefit payments, and c)
Active employees is available in the Commonwealth's financial statements.

Note 23 - Lease and license agreements

As disclosed in Note 14, the Foundation Supporting Organization entered into a long-term operating
lease agreement with DCAMM on behalf of the University. The lease commenced on August 16, 2006
and expired on August 16, 2016. The lease provided for base rent of $165,000 per year, payable in
monthly installments of $13,750, for the entire lease term. The University was also responsible for the
payment of normal operating, maintenance and repair costs associated with its use of the property. The
lease continued in effect, after its expiration, under the same terms and conditions until March 9, 2017
when the Foundation Supporting Organization signed a new 10-year lease with the same terms and
conditions as the previous agreement. The new lease agreement became effective as of August 16,
2016. For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, rental income amounted to $165,000 in each year.
The rental income is reflected in revenue from sales and services of educational departments in the
accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. The corresponding rent
expense of the University is reflected in operations and maintenance of plant.
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The following is a schedule of future minimum rental income under the operating lease agreement at
June 30, 2018:

Year ending June 30, Amount
2019 $ 165,000
2020 165,000
2021 165,000
2022 165,000
2023 165,000
Later years 515,625

$ 1,340,625

On August 6, 2008, the Foundation Supporting Organization entered into a 10-year operating lease
agreement with an unrelated third party for 2,350 square feet of office space located in Fitchburg,
Massachusetts. The lease commenced on November 1, 2008 and shall expire on October 31, 2018.
The space is being used by Fitchburg State University as office and classroom space for its Center for
Professional Studies. The lease provided for a base annual rent of $17,625 for each of the first three
years of the lease term, payable in monthly installments of $1,469. Beginning with the fourth year of the
lease there will be a 7.5% increase at the commencement of each three-year period of the lease term,
including the continuous period of any extensions thereof. On November 1, 2011, the base annual rent
increased to $18,947 for the next three-year period of the lease term payable in monthly installments of
$1,579. On July 1, 2014, the Foundation Supporting Organization entered into an amended operating
lease agreement with the unrelated third party adding 20 parking spaces for use in conjunction with the
above mentioned office space and extending the lease term through June 30, 2019. The amended
lease provides for a base annual rent of $28,495 for each of the first three years of the lease term,
payable biannually in installments of $14,247. On July 1, 2017, the annual rent on the lease shall
increase by 7.5% to $30,632 (biannual installments of $15,316). The Foundation Supporting
Organization may extend the initial term of the lease, under the same terms and conditions, for
successive periods of one year provided it is not then in default of the lease terms and it gives proper
notice. The Foundation Supporting Organization may cancel the lease at any time with the payment of
two months' base rent as a termination charge. The Foundation Supporting Organization is also
responsible for the payment of normal operating, maintenance and repair costs associated with the use
of the property. For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, rent expense amounted to $30,632 and
$28,495, respectively.

The future minimum rental payments under this operating lease agreement at June 30, 2018 are
$30,632 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019.

On February 1, 2013, the Foundation Supporting Organization entered into a 10-year operating lease
agreement with the above noted unrelated third party for an additional 1,424 square feet of office space
located in Fitchburg, Massachusetts. The lease commenced on February 1, 2013 and shall expire on
January 31, 2023. The space is being used by Fitchburg State University for additional office and
classroom space. The lease provides for a base annual rent of $5,696 payable in monthly installments
of $475. Effective July 1, 2017, the lease agreement was amended to extend the term of the lease until
June 30, 2023 and modify the lease payment provisions to be in biannual installments of $2,848. The
Foundation Supporting Organization may extend the initial term of the lease, under the same terms and
conditions, for successive periods of one year, provided it is not then in default of the lease terms and it
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gives proper notice. The Foundation Supporting Organization may cancel the lease at any time after
February 1, 2014 with the payment of two months base rent as a termination charge. The Foundation
Supporting Organization is also responsible for the payment of normal operating, maintenance and
repair costs associated with the use of the property. For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, rent
expense amounted to $5,696 in each year.

The following is a schedule of future minimum rental payments under this operating lease agreement at
June 30, 2018:

Year ending June 30, Amount
2019 $ 5,696
2020 5,696
2021 5,696
2022 5,696
2023 5,696

$ 28,480

On June 25, 2015, the Foundation Supporting Organization entered into an operating lease agreement
with an unrelated third party for a building containing residential suites designed for use as a dormitory
for college students. The lease commenced on August 1, 2015 and expired on May 31, 2016. The
lease provided for annual rent of $220,000 to be paid in two installments of $110,000 each on August 1,
2015 and January 1, 2016. In July 2016, the Foundation Supporting Organization extended the initial
term of the lease under the same terms and conditions for the period August 1, 2016 through May 31,
2017. Subject to availability, the Foundation Supporting Organization may extend the term of the lease,
under the same terms and conditions for the periods June 1, 2017 through July 31, 2017 and August 1,
2017 through May 31, 2018. The Foundation Supporting Organization did not renew the lease for an
additional term after the expiration on May 31, 2017. Instead, the building was purchased by the
Massachusetts State College Building Authority ("MSCBA") and is being used by and billed directly to
Fitchburg State University by MSCBA as a part of its semi-annual residence hall revenue assessments.
For the year ended June 30, 2017, rent expense amounted to $220,000.

The Foundation Supporting Organization and the University are parties to License Agreements
whereby the Foundation Supporting Organization granted to the University irrevocable and exclusive
licenses to occupy, manage, maintain and operate certain property owned by the Foundation
Supporting Organization. The License Agreements provide for initial terms of one year and automatic
annual renewals thereafter. The License Agreements provide for annual license fees payable, in
arrears, in four equal quarterly installments. All costs to operate and maintain the property, including
any capital improvements made thereto, shall be borne by the University. The License Agreements may
be terminated by either party upon the expiration of the initial term of the agreements and any
subsequent renewal term with the giving of proper notice. In addition, the University may terminate the
agreements at any time with the giving of proper notice. For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017,
license fee income for the Foundation Supporting Organization amounted to $193,272 and $252,849,
respectively. The license fee income is reflected in revenue from sales and services of educational
departments in the accompanying statements of revenue, expenses and changes in net position. The
corresponding license fee expense of the University is reflected in operations and maintenance of plant.
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Note 24 - Management Accounting and Reporting System

Section 15C of Chapter 15A of the Massachusetts General Laws requires Commonwealth Colleges and
Universities to report activity of campus based funds to the Comptroller of the Commonwealth on the
Commonwealth's Statewide Accounting System, Massachusetts Management Accounting and
Reporting System ("MMARS") on the statutory basis of accounting. The statutory basis of accounting is
a modified accrual basis of accounting and differs from the information included in these financial
statements. The amounts reported on MMARS meet the guidelines of the Comptroller's Guide for
Higher Education Audited Financial Statements.

State appropriations
The University's State appropriations are comprised of the following for the years ended June 30, 2018
and 2017:

2018 2017
Gross State appropriations $ 29,912,499 $ 29,478,899
Add: Fringe benefits for benefited employees on the
Commonwealth payroll 10,604,987 10,185,677
Less: Day school tuition remitted to the Commonwealth
and included in tuition and fee revenue (674,450) (717,267)
Net State appropriations $ 39,843,036 $ 38,947,309

$39,403,569 and $38,873,231 represent appropriations for maintenance and payroll and other
noncapital appropriations during 2018 and 2017, respectively, and $439,467 and $74,078 represent
appropriations for capital improvements for 2018 and 2017, respectively. These amounts are presented
separately in the accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position.

Day school tuition receipts and transfers have been recorded in an agency fund during the year and
had no material balance outstanding at June 30, 2018 and 2017.

Note 25 - Risk management

The University is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the Commonwealth is self-insured. In
addition, the University maintains commercial insurance coverage for certain of those risks.
Management believes such coverage is sufficient to preclude any significant uninsured losses for the
covered risks. The separate insurance policies maintained by the University consist of Director and
Officer's liability, automobile liability, and a foreign package policy. There were no significant reductions
in insurance coverage from coverage in the prior year. The costs of settled claims have not exceeded
policy coverage in any of the past three years.

The University also participates in the Commonwealth's self-insured programs for employee workers'
compensation, health care and other insurance. The Commonwealth assesses the costs of workers'
compensation and unemployment insurance to the University based on the University's actual
experience (see Note 7). The Commonwealth manages workers' compensation as part of its general
operations. No separate fund for workers' compensation is provided for in Massachusetts General
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Laws. The Commonwealth assesses the costs of health care insurance to the University through a
fringe benefit rate and the liability for such coverage is borne by the Commonwealth. The
Commonwealth's Group Insurance Commission manages health insurance and other benefits for the
Commonwealth's active and retired employees (see Note 22).

Massachusetts General Laws limit the risk assumed by the Commonwealth for claims of personal injury
or property damages to $100,000 per occurrence, in most circumstances.

Note 26 - Commitments and contingencies

Pending or threatened lawsuits against governmental agencies arise in the ordinary course of
operations. In the opinion of the University's administration, the ultimate resolution of any legal actions
at this date will not result in a material loss to the University since most of any obligation is expected to
be paid from state appropriated funds.

The University receives significant financial assistance from federal and state agencies in the form of
grants. Expenditure of funds under these programs require compliance with the grant agreements and
are subject to audit by representatives of these federal and state agencies. Any disallowed
expenditures resulting from such audits become a liability of the University. In the opinion of
management, such liabilities, if any, are not expected to materially affect the financial condition of the
University.

The University participates in the Massachusetts College Savings Prepaid Tuition Program. This
program allows participants to pay in advance (against a bond) for future tuition at the cost of tuition at
the time of the bond purchase, increased by changes in the Consumer Price Index plus 2%. The
University is obligated to accept as payment of tuition the amount determined by this program without
regard to the standard tuition rate in effect at the time of the individual's enrollment at the University.
The effect of this program cannot be determined as it is contingent on future tuition increases and the
bond purchasers who attend the University.

The University can perform capital projects that are funded and controlled by another State agency.
These projects would be paid from funds appropriated and under the control of DCAMM. The Projects
generally consist of renovations and improvements and have been recorded in the respective accounts.

The collective bargaining agreements between the Board of Higher Education and three Employee
Unions which impact the University expired in the prior year. As of November 6, 2018, the agreements
have been negotiated by the parties for the three Employee Unions and those agreements are in the
process of being ratified by the Union memberships. The agreements will then be subject to approval
by the Massachusetts Legislature and ratification by the Governor of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts. Accordingly, management cannot, at the current time, determine the impact, if any, that
the results of the negotiations will have on the University's financial statements.

Note 27 - McKay Agreement

The University has an agreement with the City of Fitchburg, whereby the City can use the McKay
building to provide elementary education to local residents on a year to year basis. The University
receives quarterly payments from the City to reimburse the University for its share of payroll and related
operating expenses (the "McKay School expenditures"). Reimbursements received for the years ended
June 30, 2018 and 2017 were $860,487 and $819,487, respectively. These reimbursements are
included in the Sales and Services of Educational Departments revenue amount and the McKay School
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expenditures are included in the appropriate categories under Operating Expenses in the
accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position.

Note 28 - Civic Center

In August 2006, the University and the City of Fitchburg entered into a Memorandum of Understanding
in which the University would assume responsibility for the operations, management and maintenance
of the George R. Wallace, Jr. Civic Center and the Alice G. Wallace Planetarium (collectively, the "Civic
Center"). The Civic Center includes two skating rinks and the adjoining planetarium. The
Commonwealth of Massachusetts acting by and through DCAMM on behalf of the University entered
into a lease agreement for the Civic Center with the City of Fitchburg and the Board of Trustees of the
Civic Center. The lease commenced on October 1, 2007 and is for a term of 99 years. The lease
provided for an initial nominal rent payment and is otherwise a net lease. Pursuant to the terms of the
lease, the University has complete authority, at its sole discretion, to do all such acts and deeds as it
deems reasonably necessary to manage, maintain and operate the Civic Center for the permitted uses
specified in the lease agreement. The University is responsible for payment, from net revenues
generated by its operation of the Civic Center, of all costs associated with the maintenance and
operation of the Civic Center, and certain other payments as specified in the lease agreement.
DCAMM, at the instruction of the University and with 60 days prior written notice, may terminate the
lease in the event that the University, in its sole discretion, determines that continuation of the lease is
not in the interest of the University.

During fiscal 2007, the University commenced initial management, maintenance and operations
activities at the Civic Center in anticipation of the lease agreement being executed. The Commonwealth
of Massachusetts Legislature appropriated an aggregate amount of $2,500,000 for repairs and
upgrades to the Civic Center. During fiscal 2008, the University made repairs and upgrades to the Civic
Center for an aggregate cost of $2,477,381. The University engaged the services of a professional
management company, Facilities Management Corporation ("FMC"), to assist with management,
maintenance and operations activities of the ice-skating rink program at the Civic Center. The initial
management contract expired on December 31, 2008.

On February 1, 2009, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts acting by and through its Division of
Capital Asset Management and Maintenance on behalf of the University entered into a sublease
agreement with FMC for a term of 25 years commencing on the date of the agreement. The sublease
agreement is a net lease and, accordingly, FMC is responsible for all costs associated with the
operations, management, and maintenance of the sublease premises as well as repairs and required
capital improvements. The sublease premises consist of the facilities and related equipment associated
with the operation of a public ice-skating rink program. The planetarium is not part of the sublease
premises and it is not currently operational. FMC is also responsible for certain other payments for and
on behalf of the University related to obligations in existence at the date the University initially assumed
management of the Civic Center. During the term of the sublease agreement, FMC is required to pay
the University monthly percentage rent based upon the actual gross revenues from its operations, as
defined. During each of the first 10 years of the sublease term, no percentage rent is required.

Thereafter, for each of the years 11 through 25, percentage rent at the rate of 1% of actual gross
revenues shall be due and payable on a monthly basis. However, in no event shall the aggregate
amount of percentage rent paid by FMC during the sublease term be less than $107,155.
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The University, officials of the City of Fitchburg, and the Board of Trustees of the Civic Center believe
that their collective efforts will return the Civic Center to a vibrant place where the citizenries of the City
of Fitchburg and its surrounding cities and towns can enjoy athletic, educational and cultural activities.

Note 29 - Correction of an Error and Change in Accounting Principle

In fiscal year 2018, the University adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No.
75 ("*GASB 75”), Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than
Pensions, by recognizing a net OPEB liability of $25,788,376 as of July 1, 2016, which amount was
provided to the University by the State, for the effect of retroactively applying the new standard.
Subsequent to having issued its financial statements on November 6, 2018, the University was
informed by the State of an error in the net OPEB liability allocated to the University. To correct this
error, the University has reduced the amount recognized as of July 1, 2016 in connection with initially
adopting GASB 75 by $3,404,177 to $22,384,199. Information was not available to recognize the
impact on deferred inflows and outflows as of July 1, 2016 of initial adoption.

The error in the net OPEB liability allocated by the State to the University also resulted in
misstatements in the University’'s net OPEB liability as of June 30, 2018 and 2017 as had been
originally reported. Accordingly, the University has restated its financial statements to correct these
errors as shown in the tables below:

2018 (as
previously
reported on
November 6, 2018 (as
2018) restated) Effect of change
Statement of Net Position:
Deferred outflows - OPEB $ 2,291,791 $ 2,075,508 $ (216,283)
Net OPEB liability 25,145,103 22,232,674 (2,912,429)
Deferred inflows - OPEB 3,346,876 2,609,760 (737,116)
Unrestricted net position (7,936,438) (4,503,176) 3,433,262
Total net position 119,954,872 123,388,134 3,433,262
Statement of Revenues, Expenses
and Changes in Net Position:
Institutional support 11,772,986 11,743,901 (29,085)
Increase (decrease) in net position 2,716,130 2,745,215 29,085
90
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2018 and 2017

2017 (as
previously
reported on
November 6, 2017 (as
2018) restated) Effect of change
Statement of Net Position:
Net OPEB liability $ 25,788,376 $ 22,384,199 $ (3,404,177)
Unrestricted net position (7,459,912) (4,055,735) 3,404,177
Total net position 117,238,742 120,642,919 3,404,177
91
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Schedule of the University's Proportionate Share
of the Net Pension Liability and Schedule of University Contributions
Year Ended June 30, 2018

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
University's proportion of the net pension liability (asset) 0.0891% 0.0912% 0.0878% 0.0684% 0.0695%
University's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) $ 11,430,648 $ 12,580,841 $ 9,995,092 $ 5,078,817 $ 6,192,668
University's covered payroll $ 37,747,018 $ 37,408,274 $ 37,167,634 $ 35,389,121 $ 33,794,553
University's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset)
as a percentage of its covered payroll 30.28% 33.63% 26.89% 14.35% 18.32%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total
pension liability 67.21% 63.48% 67.87% 76.32% 70.31%
* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of 6/30.

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Contractually required contribution $ 4,756,899 $ 3977525 $ 3,799572 $ 3,946,690 $ 2,912,032
Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution $ (4,756,899) $ (3,977,525) $ (3,799,572) $ (3,946,690) $ (2,912,032)
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
University's covered payroll $ 37,747,018 $ 37,408,274 $ 37,167,634 $ 35389,121 $ 33,794,553
Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 12.60% 10.63% 10.22% 11.15% 8.62%

See Independent Auditor's Report on Page 2 and Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Notes to Required Supplementary Information - Pension

June 30, 2018

Note 1 - Changes in Pension Plan Benefit Terms and Assumptions
FY2017 Changes in Actuarial Assumptions

Changes in benefit terms

Chapter 79 of the Acts of 2014 established an early retirement incentive (“ERI") program for certain
employees of the highway division of the Massachusetts Department of Transportation whose positions
have been eliminated due to the automation of toll collections. Most members retiring under the ERI
program had a date retirement of October 28, 2016. 112 members took the ERI and retired during
FY2017. As a result, the total pension liability of MSERS increased by approximately $10 million as of
June 30, 2017.

Changes in assumptions

The mortality assumptions changed as follows:

e Pre-retirement - was changed to RP-2014 Blue Collar Employees table projected generationally
with Scale MP-2016 set forward 1 year for females from RP-2000 Employees table projected
generationally with scale BB and a base year of 2009 (gender distinct).

e Post-retirement — was changed to RP-2014 Blue Collar Healthy Annuitant table projected
generationally with Scale MP-2016 set forward 1 year for females from RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant table projected generationally with Scale BB and a base year of 2009 (gender
distinct).

o Disabled members - is assumed to be in accordance with the RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant Table
projected generationally with Scale BB and a base year of 2015 (gender distinct), and is
unchanged from the prior valuation.

FY2016 Changes in Actuarial Assumptions

Changes in benefit terms

Chapter 176 of the Acts of 2011 created a one-time election for eligible members of the Optional
Retirement Plan ("ORP") to transfer to the Massachusetts State Employee's Retirement System
("MSERS") and purchase service for the period while members of the ORP. As a result, the total
pension liability of MSERS has increased by approximately $400 million as of June 30, 2016.

Note 2 - Other information

This schedule is intended to present 10 years of data. Additional years will be presented when
available.
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Schedule of the University's Proportionate Share

of the Net OPEB Liability and Schedule of University Contributions
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Schedule of the University's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability

2018 2017
University's proportion of the net OPEB liability (asset) 0.1272% 0.1181%
University's proportionate share of the total OPEB liability (asset) $ 23,499,661 23,406,837
Less: University's proportionate share of Plan fiduciary net postion 1,266,987 1,022,638
University's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset) $ 22,232,674 22,384,199
University's covered payroll $ 37,747,018 37,408,274
University's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset) as a percentage of its covered payroll 58.90% 59.84%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability 5.39% 4.37%
*The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of 6/30.

Schedule of University Contributions

2018 2017
Contractually required contribution $ 3,366,603 2,989,514
Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution (3,366,603) (2,989,514)
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ - -
University's covered payroll $ 37,747,018 37,408,274
Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 8.92% 7.99%

See Independent Auditor's Report on Page 2 and Notes to Required Supplementary Information.

95

Powered by BoardOnTrack

122 of 282


msnyder_110
Highlight

msnyder_111
Highlight

msnyder_112
Highlight

msnyder_113
Highlight

msnyder_114
Highlight

msnyder_115
Highlight

msnyder_116
Highlight

msnyder_117
Highlight

msnyder_118
Highlight

msnyder_119
Highlight


Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday April 2, 2019 at 8:00 AM

Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Notes to Required Supplementary Information - OPEB
June 30, 2018

Note 1 - Changes in OPEB plan benefit terms and assumptions

There are no changes in plan benefit terms and assumptions since the actuarial valuation as of January
1, 2017 is the initial actuarial valuation performed for the plan.

Note 2 - Other information

This schedule is intended to present 10 years of data. Additional years will be presented when
available.

Detained information about the OPEB plan's changes in net OPEB liability and changes in the plan's
fiduciary net position are not available to the University and, accordingly, are not presented in the
schedule. This information is available in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts' financial statements.
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Residence Hall Fund and Residence Hall Damage Fund Activity
June 30, 2018
The University's Residence Hall Fund and Residence Hall Damage Fund non-classified Statements of Net

Position at June 30, 2018 are as follows:

Statements of Net Position

Residence Residence Hall
Hall Fund Damage Fund
Assets
Cash $ 1,466,614 $ 132,193
Cash held by State Treasurer 184,839 -
Investments 1,026,393 82,159
Prepaid expenses 5,037 -
Accounts receivable, net 77,264 45,862
Total assets 2,760,147 260,214
Liabilities
Accounts payable 81,049 -
Deposits 323,200 -
Salaries payable 64,561 -
Compensated absences 83,879 -
Deferred rental income 2,050 -
Total liabilities 554,739 -
Net position $ 2205408 $ 260,214
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Fitchburg State University

(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Residence Hall Fund and Residence Hall Damage Fund Activity

Year Ended June 30, 2018

The University's Residence Hall Fund and Residence Hall Damage Fund Statements of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Net Position (presented in accordance with the Commonwealth of

Massachusetts' Expenditure Classification plan) for the year ended June 30, 2018 are as follows:

Revenues
Student fees
Interest
Investment income (loss)
Commissions
Rentals
Room damage assessments
Miscellaneous

Total revenues

Expenses
Regular employee compensation
Regular employee related expenses
Special employee/contract services
Pension and insurance
Facility operating supplies and related expenses
Administrative expenses
Energy and space rental
Operational services
Equipment purchases
Equipment lease - purchase, lease, rent, repair
Purchased client services and programs
Construction and improvements
Benefit program
Loans and special payments
Other - bad debt expense (recovery)
Information technology expenses

Total expenses
Transfers (in)/out
Interdepartmental rental income
Printing
Total transfers

Total expenses and transfers

Increase (decrease) in net position
Net position - beginning of year

Net position - end of year
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Residence
Hall Fund

Residence Hall
Damage Fund

$

10,360,099
42,622
32,932
48,282
69,649

37,457

$ -
2,127
1,882

48,766

10,591,041

52,775

1,190,047
15,340
176,921
430,711
78,150
11,869
1,146,012
19,458
45,061
6,132

200
479,844
32,194
6,827,009
18,842
18,556

17,974

10,496,346

(73,249)
647

(72,602)

10,423,744

18,363

167,297
2,038,111

34,412
225,802

2,205,408

$ 260,214
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Residence Hall Fund and Residence Hall Damage Fund Activity
Year Ended June 30, 2018

The above Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position do not include an allocation of
the current year charge for workers' compensation as estimated by the Commonwealth's actuarial review. It
is not practical to allocate any such amount to any specific trust fund.
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CohnReznick LLP COhnRezniCk@

cohnreznick.com ADVISORY « ASSURANCE - TAX

Independent Auditor's Report on Supplementary Information
Required by the Uniform Guidance

To the Board of Trustees
Fitchburg State University

We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities and the discretely presented
component unit of Fitchburg State University (a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) as of
and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise Fitchburg State University's basic financial statements, and our report thereon dated November 6,
2018, which included emphasis of matter paragraphs and which appears on page 3, expressed unmodified
opinions on those financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the
2018 financial statements as a whole. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is
presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations
(CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal
Awards ("Uniform Guidance"), and is not a required part of the 2018 financial statements. Such information
is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the 2018 financial statements. The information has been subjected to
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 2018 financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and
other records used to prepare the 2018 financial statements or to the 2018 financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated
in all material respects in relation to the 2018 financial statements as a whole.

Boston, Massachusetts
November 6, 2018
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Federal CFDA Passed through Federal
Federal Grantor/ Program or Cluster Title Number to Subrecipients Expenditures
National Endowment for the Humanities
Direct Programs
Promotion of the Humanities -
Office of Digital Humanities 45.169 - $ 1,003
Subtotal Direct Programs 1,003
Total National Endowment for the
Humanities $ 1,003
U.S. Department of Education
Direct Programs
English Language Acquisition State Grants
(TESEL: Transforming English and Schools
for English Learners) 84.365Z - $ 33,736
TRIO Cluster:
TRIO - Student Support Services 84.042 - 252,890
TRIO - Upward Bound 84.047 - 369,125
TRIO - Upward Bound Math and Science 84.047 - 119,996
Total TRIO Cluster 742,011
Student Financial Assistance Cluster:
Federal Supplemental Educational
Opportunity Grants 84.007 - 245,710
Federal Work-Study Program 84.033 - 209,728
Federal Perkins Loan Program 84.038 - 1,619,081
Federal Pell Grant Program 84.063 - 7,080,099
Federal Direct Student Loans 84.268 - 26,787,551
Nursing Student Loans 93.364 - 449,618
Total Student Financial Assistance
Cluster 36,391,787
Subtotal Direct Programs 37,167,534
Total U.S. Department of Education $ 37,167,534
Total Federal Expenditures $ 37,168,537

See Independent Auditor's Report on Supplementary Information on Page 101 and Notes to Schedule
of Expenditures of Federal Awards.
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
June 30, 2018

Note 1 - Basis of presentation

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ("SEFA" or "Schedule") includes the
federal award activity of Fitchburg State University (the "University"), under programs of the federal
government for the year ended June 30, 2018. The information in this Schedule is presented in
accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards ("Uniform
Guidance"). Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the University,
it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net position, or cash flows of
the University.

Note 2 - Summary of significant accounting policies

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such
expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein
certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. Fitchburg State
University has not elected to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under the Uniform
Guidance.

Note 3 - Matching costs

Matching costs, i.e., the nonfederal share of certain program costs, are not included in the
accompanying Schedule.

Note 4 - Relationship to federal financial reports

The regulations and guidelines governing the preparation of federal financial reports vary by federal
agency and among programs administered by the same agency. Accordingly, the amounts reported in
the federal financial reports do not necessarily agree with the amounts reported in the accompanying
Schedule.

Note 5 - Federal Direct Student Loans ("FDL")

The Schedule includes FDL ("CFDA 84.268") which are made directly by the U.S. Department of
Education to individual students.

Note 6 - Federal Perkins Loan Program

The Federal Perkins Loan Program ("CFDA 84.038") is administered by Fitchburg State University.
Fiscal year 2018 activity included loan funds disbursed of $0. The outstanding liability to the federal
government under this loan program at June 30, 2018 totaled $1,467,263.

Note 7 - Nursing Student Loans

The Nursing Student Loan Program ("CFDA 93.364") is administered by Fitchburg State University.
Fiscal year 2018 activity included loan funds disbursed of $30,767. The outstanding liability to the
federal government under this loan program at June 30, 2018 totaled $378,102.
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CohnReznick LLP COhnRezniCkVD

cohnreznick.com ADVISORY « ASSURANCE - TAX

Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

To the Board of Trustees
Fitchburg State University

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the business-type
activities and discretely presented component unit of Fitchburg State University (the "University") (a
department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the University's basic financial
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated November 6, 2018, except for Note 29 to the
financial statements which is dated March __, 2019, which included emphasis of matter paragraphs as
indicated on page 3.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the University's internal
control over financial reporting ("internal control") to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University's internal control. Accordingly, we
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the University's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses
may exist that have not been identified.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the University's financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.
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CohnReznick@

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly,
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Boston, Massachusetts
March __, 2019
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CohnReznick LLP COhnRezniCk@

cohnreznick.com ADVISORY « ASSURANCE - TAX

Independent Auditor's Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program
and on Internal Control over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance

To the Board of Trustees
Fitchburg State University

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited Fitchburg State University's compliance with the types of compliance requirements
described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of
Fitchburg State University's major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2018. Fitchburg State
University's major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor's results section of the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

Management's Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions
of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of Fitchburg State University's major
federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We
conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2
U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards ("Uniform Guidance"). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance
with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on
a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about Fitchburg
State University's compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal
program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of Fitchburg State University's
compliance.

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program
In our opinion, Fitchburg State University complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance

requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal
programs for the year ended June 30, 2018.

106
Powered by BoardOnTrack 133 of 282



Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday April 2, 2019 at 8:00 AM

CohnReznick@

Report on Internal Control over Compliance

Management of Fitchburg State University is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal
control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and
performing our audit of compliance, we considered Fitchburg State University's internal control over
compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major
federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on
internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not
express an opinion on the effectiveness of Fitchburg State University's internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency,
or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not
be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type
of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal
control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However,
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Boston, Massachusetts
November 6, 2018
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Summary of Auditor's Results

1.

8.

9.

The auditor's report expresses an unmodified opinion on whether the financial statements of
Fitchburg State University were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles.

No significant deficiencies related to the audit of the financial statements were reported in the
Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance
and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards. No material weaknesses were reported.

No instances of noncompliance material to the financial statements of Fitchburg State
University, which would be required to be reported in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards, were disclosed during the audit.

No significant deficiencies in internal control over major federal award programs were disclosed
during the audit and reported in the Independent Auditor's Report on Compliance for Each
Major Federal Program and on Internal Control over Compliance Required by the Uniform
Guidance. No material weaknesses were reported.

The auditor's report on compliance for the major federal award programs for Fitchburg State
University expressed an unmodified opinion on all major federal programs.

There were no audit findings relating to the major federal award programs for Fitchburg State
University that are required to be reported in accordance with 2 CFR Section 200.516(a) in this
Schedule.

The programs tested as major programs were:

Agency Title CFDA #

Student Financial Assistance Cluster:

U.S. Department of Education Federal Supplemental Educational

Opportunity Grants 84.007
U.S. Department of Education Federal Work-Study Program 84.033
U.S. Department of Education Federal Perkins Loan Program 84.038
U.S. Department of Education Federal Pell Grant Program 84.063
U.S. Department of Education Federal Direct Student Loans 84.268
U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services Nursing Student Loans 93.364

The threshold for distinguishing between Type A and B Programs was $750,000.

Fitchburg State University was determined to be a low-risk auditee.
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended June 30, 2018

B. Findings - Audit of Financial Statements
None
C. Findings and Questioned Costs - Audit of Major Federal Award Programs
None
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Trustees
Fitchburg State University

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities and the discretely
presented component unit of Fitchburg State University (the "University") (a department of the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts), as of and for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, and the related
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the University's basic financial statements as
listed in the Index.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the business-type activities and discretely presented component unit of
Fitchburg State University as of June 30, 2018 and 2017, and the respective changes in financial position
and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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Restatement

As described in Note 29, the University has restated the accompanying financial statements to correct
amounts allocated to the University by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. Our opinion is not modified
with respect to this matter.

Emphasis of Matters

As discussed in Notes 1 and 29 to the financial statements, in fiscal 2018, the University adopted new
accounting guidance, Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB") Statement No. 75, Accounting
and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. Our opinion is not modified
with respect to this matter.

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of Fitchburg State University and its discretely presented
component unit are intended to present the respective financial position, the changes in financial position
and, where applicable, cash flows of only that portion of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts that is attributable to the transactions
of Fitchburg State University and its discretely presented component unit. They do not purport to, and do
not, present fairly the financial position of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts as of June 30, 2018 and
2017, the changes in its financial position, or, where applicable, its cash flows for the years then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not
modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis and the pension and OPEB benefit schedules on pages 5 to 19 and 93 to 96,
respectively, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a
part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries,
the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the 2018 financial statements that
collectively comprise the University's basic financial statements. The residence hall fund and residence hall
damage fund activity shown on pages 97 to 99 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are
not a required part of the 2018 financial statements. The residence hall fund and residence hall damage
fund activity are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 2018 financial statements. The residence hall
fund and residence hall damage fund activity information have been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the 2018 financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing

3
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and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare
the 2018 financial statements or to the 2018 financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In
our opinion, the residence hall fund and residence hall damage fund activity information are fairly stated, in
all material respects, in relation to the 2018 financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 19, 2019
on our consideration of Fitchburg State University's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of Fitchburg State University's internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in
considering Fitchburg State University's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Boston, Massachusetts
November 6, 2018, except Note 29, which is dated March 19, 2019
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Introduction

The following discussion and analysis are intended to provide an overview of the financial position and
results of operations of Fitchburg State University (the "University") for the fiscal years ended June 30,
2018, 2017 and 2016. This discussion is provided by the management of the University and should be
read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto. The purpose of this document is to
give some background to the financial statements, and foster an understanding of how these statements
relate to the mission and activities of the University.

The University, located in North Central Massachusetts, is one of the nine comprehensive public
universities in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the "Commonwealth™). These institutions, along with
the five-campus University of Massachusetts system and the fifteen community colleges comprise public
higher education in Massachusetts. The University offers more than 30 undergraduate degree programs in
sixteen academic departments, 22 graduate degree programs and several Graduate Certificates of
Advanced Study. During fall 2017, there were approximately 3,639 full-time students and thousands of
part-time students enrolled. For fiscal 2018, there was a combined full-time equivalent annual enroliment of
approximately 5,200. Thousands more non-matriculated students take advantage of professional
development programs through the Division of Graduate and Continuing Education ("DGCE"). The
University awarded approximately 1,243 graduate and undergraduate degrees in fiscal 2018. The
University is accredited by the New England Commission of Higher Education ("NECHE"), formerly known
as New England Association of Schools and Colleges ("NEASC"), and many of the University's programs
are accredited by program-specific accrediting bodies.

Financial Highlights
The University experienced positive results from operations in fiscal 2018 resulting in an increase in net
position of approximately 2.3%. The following are key financial highlights for the current period:

» General appropriations from the Commonwealth are approved by the legislature to help fund the
day-to-day operations of the University. The University received appropriations of $29.5 million in
fiscal 2018 as compared with $29.4 million in fiscal 2017 and $29.1 million in fiscal 2016.

» The University undergraduate fees were basically flat this fiscal year. Total mandatory fees per
semester were $4,592, $4,582 and $4,482 in fiscal 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Tuition,
which is controlled by the Commonwealth, has not increased since the fall of 2001 and remains at
$485 per semester for in-state students. The Graduate fees per 3 credit class were $957, $957,
and $912 in fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and the fees for the Accelerated Online
Programs were $933 to $1,251 per 3 credit class in fiscal 2018.

» The University expended $17.6 million from current funds for capital additions in fiscal 2018.
Projects completed during the year included the renovations of the Landry Arena, Thompson Hall
1st Floor, Percival Hall Phase 1, the Southside Chiller and the Pearl Street Improvement Project.
Projects in process at June 30, 2018 included the final renovations to Theater Building Phase 1, the
Edgerly Replacement Elevator, and the Mathematics Emporium Classroom. The following projects
were also in process at June 30, 2018, upgrades to the Holmes Walk in Coolers and the
Energy/Water Retrofit project, improvements to McKay Phase Ill, Percival Hall Phase Il and the
Theater Block.

> Total assets and deferred outflows of resources at the end of fiscal 2018 were $244 million and
exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of resources of $121 million by $123 million (i.e. net
position).

5
Powered by BoardOnTrack

143 of 282



Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday April 2, 2019 at 8:00 AM

Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Management's Discussion and Analysis
(Unaudited)

» Total operating, non-operating, and gift revenue for fiscal 2018 was $105.6 million, while expenses
totaled $102.9 million, resulting in an increase to net position of $2.7 million. The increase in net
position includes a 7.2% increase in student tuition and fee revenues.

» The prior period net position has been decreased as a result of the implementation of
Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB") Statement No. 75. The statement requires
that an allocated portion of the Commonwealth's unfunded post-employment benefits other than
pensions be reported on the financial statements of the individual institutions of higher education.
The allocation is based on the actual contributions paid by the institutions through the group
insurance commission charges of the fringe benefit. The University's portion of the
Commonwealth's unfunded post-employment benefits other than pensions ("OPEB") liability is
calculated at $22.2 million at June 30, 2018 and $22.4 million at June 30, 2017. Net position and
other financial results have been adjusted accordingly.

» Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB") Statement No. 68 requires that an allocated
portion of the Commonwealth's net pension liability be reported on the financial statements of the
individual institutions of higher education. The allocation is based on the actual contributions paid
by the institutions through assessed fringe benefit charges. The University's portion of the
Commonwealth's net pension liability is calculated at $11.4 million at June 30, 2018. The financial
statements have been adjusted accordingly.

» Unrestricted net position (before benefits adjustments of $31.3 million at June 30, 2018) available to
support short-term operations totaled $26.8 million.

Ratio analysis measures certain elements of an institution's overall financial health. The Massachusetts
Department of Higher Education has instituted the use of certain core financial ratios as part of their
performance measures for public universities and colleges in the Commonwealth. Analysis using these
ratios, as well as other commonly accepted ratios, are incorporated throughout this document. These
financial ratios are shown before unfunded benefits adjustments. Net assets benefits adjustments amounts
are $31.3 million in 2018, $30.1 million in 2017 and $6.4 million in 2016.

» Current Ratio: An excess of current assets over current liabilities (the current ratio) is a measure
of liquidity and provides a buffer against future uncertainties. The University's current assets of
$32.5 million are sufficient to cover current liabilities of $17.9 million. The University's current ratio
at June 30 is 1.8 to 1 for 2018, 1.8 to 1 for 2017, and 1.8 to 1 for 2016.

» Return on Net Position Ratio: Net position represents the residual interest in the University's
assets and deferred outflows of resources after liabilities and deferred inflows of resources are
deducted. Comparing the current change in total net position to total net position at the beginning
of the period (return on net position) is an economic measure that determines if the University is
financially better off than in previous years. The University's return on net position at June 30,
2018, 2017 and 2016 was 2.65%, 2.08% and 2.43%, respectively. The increase in 2018 return on
net position ratio is primarily the result of the increase in tuition income from the Accelerated Online
program, increase in grants and contracts received and increase in auxiliary income.

» Primary Reserve Ratio: This ratio indicates how long the University could function using its
expendable reserves without relying on additional net position generated by operations. The
University's primary reserve ratio at June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was 35.14%, 35.05% and
34.41%, respectively.

6
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» Secondary Reserve Ratio: This ratio measures the significance of non-expendable net position in
relation to an institution's operating size. An improving trend shows an improved capital base and
the higher the ratio value, the better the long term financial condition. The University's secondary
reserve ratio at June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was 116.80%, 119.65% and 126.90%, respectively.

» Composite Financial Index: In order to assess and evaluate the total financial health of an
institution, core financial ratios are weighted and combined into a single factor called the Composite
Financial Index ("CFI"). When calculated, a strength factor of three indicates a relatively healthy
institution that can sustain moderate growth with expendable net position exceeding debt levels.
The University's CFI at June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was 1.9, 1.7 and 1.8, respectively.

Using the Financial Statements

Fitchburg State University reports its activity as a business type activity using the full accrual basis of
accounting. The accrual basis of accounting ensures that all amounts owed to the University and all
pending obligations of the University are accounted for in the appropriate period, thus giving a clear picture
of the University's financial position. The University is a department of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts. A summary of the University's financial statements is incorporated in the Commonwealth's
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report in its government-wide financial statements.

The University's financial statements include three major documents: The Statement of Net Position; the
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position; and the Statement of Cash Flows. These
statements are prepared in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards.
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Statement of Net Position

The statement of net position presents the financial position of the University at the end of the year and
includes all assets, liabilities and deferred inflows and outflows of resources of the University, with the
difference reported as net position. Assets, liabilities and deferred inflows and outflows are generally
measured using current values, with a notable exception in capital assets, which are stated at historical
cost less an allowance for depreciation. Net position is one indicator of the financial condition of the
University, while the change in net position from one period to the next is an indicator of whether the
financial condition has improved or worsened. The statements of net position (condensed, in thousands) at

June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, are as follows:

2018 2017 2016
Assets
Current assets $ 32,500 30,337 26,712
Capital assets, net 181,449 173,403 174,998
Other 24,742 28,149 24,170
Total assets 238,691 231,889 225,880
Deferred outflows of resources 5,580 4,901 3,999
Liabilities
Current liabilities 17,950 16,609 15,163
Long-term liabilities 98,126 97,716 70,999
Total liabilities 116,076 114,325 86,162
Deferred inflows of resources 4,807 1,822 2,382
Net position
Net investment in capital assets 118,282 116,097 115,713
Restricted
Nonexpendable 521 506 467
Expendable 9,089 8,096 7,230
Unrestricted
Designated 16,218 13,142 12,271
Undesignated (20,722) (17,198) 5,654
Total net position $ 123,388 120,643 141,335
8
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Current assets consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents (92.0%). Other assets include non-current
restricted cash and cash equivalents, investments in marketable securities and loans receivable. Capital
assets are used to provide services to students, faculty and staff. These assets are not available for
current or future spending. Current liabilities primarily include trade accounts and salaries payable,
accounts payable - construction, the current portion of compensated absences and accrued faculty payroll.
In the normal course of events and based on a consistent past history in this regard, it is anticipated that
obligations due to employees will be funded by state appropriations. Deferred inflows and outflows of
resources represent either the acquisition or use of net assets applicable to future periods and are distinct
from assets and liabilities. Net position in fiscal 2017 has been decreased to reflect the recognition of the
University's unfunded ("OPEB") liability as required by the implementation of GASB Statement No. 75. The
increase in deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources in fiscal year 2018 are a result
of amounts associated with the implementation of GASB No. 75. The overall increase in net position over
the last three years, excluding the impact from the recognition of amounts associated with the
implementation of GASB Statement No. 75, is primarily the result of an influx of grant revenue, tuition and
rental income. These individual elements of revenue and the corresponding increases in net position are
illustrated in the following schedule.

9
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Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

The following Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position (condensed, in thousands)
presents information showing the University's results of operations for the fiscal years ended June 30,
2018, 2017 and 2016. Changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to
the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenue and expenses are
reported in this statement for some items that will result in cash flows in future periods (e.g. the accrual for
compensated absences).

2018 2017 2016
Operating revenues
Tuition and fees (net) $ 41,820 $ 39,020 % 36,408
Grants 9,513 8,243 8,426
Sales and service of educational department 1,523 1,316 1,274
Auxiliary 10,675 9,647 9,270
Other operating revenue 779 862 982
Total operating revenue 64,310 59,088 56,360
Operating expenses
Instruction 37,154 36,052 33,729
Research and public service 660 515 481
Academic support 7,158 6,301 6,088
Student services 10,124 9,545 9,646
Scholarships 2,690 1,960 1,809
Institutional support 11,744 10,784 9,975
Operations and maintenance 11,030 11,961 11,223
Depreciation 9,991 10,126 9,088
Auxiliary 10,539 9,625 8,854
Total operating expenses 101,090 96,869 90,893
Net operating loss (36,780) (37,781) (34,533)
Non-operating revenue and expenses
State appropriations 39,404 38,873 37,159
Investment income 1,030 1,085 (3)
Interest expense and debt issue costs (1,851) (1,963) (1,419)
State capital appropriations 439 74 73
Capital gifts and grants 503 1,404 1,473
Interagency transfers - - -
Total non-operating revenue 39,525 39,473 37,283
Increase in net position 2,745 1,692 2,750
Net position, beginning of the year 120,643 141,335 138,585
Restatement - (22,384) -
Net position, end of the year $ 123,388 120,643 $ 141,335
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State appropriations are reported net of the amount of in state day school tuition collected by the University
on behalf of the Commonwealth. The tuition collected (for in state supported courses taught by state
employees) is then remitted to the Commonwealth as required by Massachusetts General Law. The
following schedule details the Commonwealth appropriations received by the University. Included in
appropriations are the fringe benefit costs for University employees, which are paid by the Commonwealth.
The Commonwealth appropriates general funds to cover the cost of fringe benefits for state employees,
but these funds are not appropriated directly to the University. Employees who are paid from local trust
funds, grants or other sources receive the same fringe benefits. Generally, the University reimburses the
Commonwealth for the benefit costs associated with these employees. In 2012 legislation was passed that
allowed the state universities to retain out of state day tuition. The legislation further mandated that the
Commonwealth would fund the fringe benefits for any employee paid from this funding source. The fringe
benefit rate charged by the Commonwealth, exclusive of compensated absences, for fiscal years 2018,
2017 and 2016 was 34.86%, 33.5% and 29.2%, respectively. The current fringe benefit rate includes group
medical insurance (22.06%); retirement (11.78%) and terminal leave (1.02%).

The following schedule (condensed, in thousands) details the Commonwealth appropriations received by
the University:

2018 2017 2016
Commonwealth general appropriations $ 29,473 $ 29,405 $ 29,109
Appropriations to cover fringe
benefits provided to employees of
the Commonwealth 10,605 10,185 8,820
40,078 39,590 37,929
Tuition remitted back to the
Commonwealth (674) (717) (770)
Net appropriations 39,404 38,873 37,159
Additional state capital appropriations 439 74 73
Total appropriations $ 39,843 $ 38,947 $ 37,232
11
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State appropriations are a significant source of funding for the University. According to the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board, appropriations are considered non-operating revenue. As such, the
University appears to experience a loss from operations. However, it should be noted that state
appropriations are used to fund the operating activities of the University.

The following schedule (condensed, in thousands) illustrates the University's incurred losses from
operations for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

2018 2017 2016
Tuition and fees revenue, net $ 41,820 $ 39,020 $ 36,408
Other operating revenue 22,490 20,068 19,952
Total operating revenue 64,310 59,088 56,360
Operating expenses (101,090) (96,869) (90,893)
Operating loss (36,780) (37,781) (34,533)
Total state appropriations 39,404 38,873 37,159
Other revenue (expense), net 121 600 124
Increase in net position $ 2,745 $ 1,692 $ 2,750

Net Operating Revenues Ratio: This ratio indicates whether total operating activities resulted in a surplus
or deficit. A positive ratio indicates that the institution experienced an operating surplus and is indicative of
efficient and effective operations. For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the
University's net operating revenues ratio was 2.92%, 1.61% and 2.28%, respectively.

12
Powered by BoardOnTrack

150 of 282



Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday April 2, 2019 at 8:00 AM

Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Management's Discussion and Analysis
(Unaudited)

The following is a graphic illustration of total revenue (operating, non-operating and capital) by source.
Total revenue for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $105.6, $100.5 and $95.1
million, respectively:

Total Revenue by Source
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For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, general appropriations essentially remained flat with 2017 funding
levels but total appropriations increased slightly because of the increase in benefits. Collective bargaining
costs were not funded in fiscal 2018 resulting in an increase in the amount of payroll funded from local trust
funds and a corresponding increase in fringe benefit charges from the state. The lack of collective
bargaining funding further exacerbates the continued reduction in state support and forces the University to
rely more heavily on student fees to support operations. Over the last fifteen years, general appropriations
(including fringe benefits) that support the operating costs of the University have decreased to 28.6% from
61.5% in fiscal 2001. In addition to the increasing amount of local payroll, all other operating costs incurred
by the University are funded from other non-state revenue sources. Tuition and fees are reported net of
tuition waivers, exemptions, and scholarship allowances. The amount of tuition charged per semester is
controlled at the state level and remains unchanged. The University fee and targeted course fees were
increased in fiscal 2018 resulting in an overall increase in total tuition and fee revenue of 7.2%. During
fiscal year 2018, 2017 and 2016, in-state tuition, fees and room & board for full time resident students was
$10,347, $10,152 and $9,532 per semester, respectively. In-state tuition and fees for commuting students
in fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $5,077, $5,067 and $4,967 per semester, respectively.

Auxiliary revenue represents revenue received from the operations of the University's residence halls.
Auxiliary revenue does not include fees charged for the student housing facility owned and operated by the
FSU Supporting Organization, Inc. (the "Supporting Organization™). The average residence hall occupancy
rate for the year was 92.2% capacity.

Grant revenue is made up of federal, state and private grants. Grant revenue includes PELL, SEOG and
Federal Work Study financial aid programs.

13
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The following is a graphic illustration of total expenditures (operating and non-operating) by function. Total
expenditures for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $102.9, $98.8 and $92.3
million, respectively:

Total Expenditures by Function
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Expenditures, exclusive of depreciation, increased by 4.8% in FY2018. This increase was primarily due to
increases in benefits mandated by collective bargaining agreements, scholarships, GASB68, GASB75,
increases in resident halls debt payments to MSCBA and increase in commission from the accelerated
online program. The most significant area of expense remains Instruction, which represents 36.1% of total
operating expenses. Faculty payroll ($23.8 million) and related benefits ($7.8 million) represent
approximately 85.0% of instructional expenditures. Institutional Support consists of the day-to-day
operational support of the institution, excluding physical plant operations. Scholarships are funded from
Title V entitlement programs such as PELL and SEOG, as well as, from institutional operating funds.
Operations and Maintenance consists of expenditures related to physical plant. Expenditures in this
functional area include general repair costs and deferred maintenance costs that are below the
capitalization threshold of $50,000. The financial statements include $10.0, $10.1 and $9.1 million in
depreciation expense for 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Demand Ratios: Demand ratios measure the extent to which each type of expense consumes operating
and non-operating revenues. The following table displays the amount of operating and non-operating
revenue, exclusive of capital grants and appropriations, consumed by the various functional expense
categories:

Expense 2018 2017 2016
Instruction 35.2% 35.9% 36.0%
Institutional Support 11.1% 10.7% 10.6%
Academic Support 6.8% 6.3% 6.5%
Student Services & Scholarships 12.1% 11.4% 12.2%
Operations & Maintenance 10.4% 11.9% 12.0%
Auxiliary 10.0% 9.6% 9.4%
Depreciation 9.5% 10.1% 9.7%
14
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Note: The total sum of all Demand Ratios will be greater (less) than 100%, with the difference representing
the surplus (deficit).

Statement of Cash Flows

The statement of cash flows provides pertinent information about the cash receipts and cash payments
during a certain period of time. The statement provides an additional tool to assess the financial health of
the institution. As required by GASB, the statement is reported using the direct method. The direct method
of cash flow reporting portrays net cash flows from operations as major classes of receipts (e.g. tuition and
fees) and disbursements (e.g. cash paid to employees for services).

The following are the University's statements of cash flows (condensed, in thousands) for the fiscal years
ended June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016:

2018 2017 2016
Cash received from operations $ 63,701 $ 59,413 $ 57,063
Cash expended for operations (77,372) (74,760) (74,289)
Net cash used by operations (13,671) (15,347) (17,226)
Net cash provided by noncapital
financing activities 28,799 28,692 28,510
Net cash used in capital and
related financing activities (17,351) (7,128) (23,918)
Net cash provided by investing
activities 29 2,312 455
Net increase (decrease) in cash and
equivalents (2,194) 8,529 (12,179)
Cash and equivalents, beginning of the
year 38,306 29,777 41,956
Cash and equivalents, end of the year $ 36,112 $ 38,306 $ 29,777

The University's cash and cash equivalents decreased by approximately $2.2 million during fiscal 2018,
resulting in the cash and cash equivalents balance of $36.1 million at fiscal year end. The decrease is
primarily due to the increase in capital expenditure and an increase in debt payments. Non-capital
financing activities, as defined by GASB, include state appropriations. These appropriations fund the
operating activities of the University. Investing activities include interest and dividends received from
portfolio investments, as well as, interest earned on University funds held in various short-term money
management vehicles.

Capital Assets
Capital assets consist of land, land improvements, buildings and building improvements, equipment, library

materials, and construction in progress. As of June 30, 2018, net capital assets increased to $181.4 million
net of current depreciation expense of $10.0 million. During the current fiscal year there were $18.0 million
in additions to capital assets.
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Major capital initiatives either continuing or undertaken during 2018 include:

Final renovations to Landry Arena $4 million (to date)
Phase | Percival Hall, $2 million (to date)

Southside Chiller, $1.7 million (to date)

Theater Building, Phase 1, $2.6 million (to date)
Edgerly Elevator Replacement, $1.6 million (to date)
Energy/Water Retrofit project, $6.7 million (to date)

VVVVYVYVY

Additional information on Fitchburg State University's capital assets can be found in footnote 5 to the
accompanying financial statements.

Physical Asset Renewal Ratio: The extent to which capital renewal is occurring as compared to physical
usage (depreciation) can be measured by the physical asset renewal ratio. A ratio above 1:1 indicates
increasing investment in plant facilities. The University's physical asset renewal ratio for fiscal years ended
June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was 1.8, 0.9 and 2.2, respectively.

Long-term Debt

The University has long term debt obligations issued for various capital projects. The debt was issued
through several financing agreements with the Massachusetts Development Finance Agency ("MDFA™)
(formerly the Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority ("MHEFA")), the Massachusetts
State College Building Authority ("MSCBA") and a capital lease through J P Morgan. The interest rate on
the MDFA debt is a floating rate set every 35 days based on market conditions. The interest rate on the
MSCBA debt is based on an increasing coupon rate ranging from 2.00% to 6.54% over the term of the debt
as set by MSCBA. The interest rate on the capital lease is fixed at 1.81%. The debt is being repaid by the
University primarily through dedicated student fees ("DSF"). The following table summarizes the various
debt vehicles, interest rates, debt service and debt outstanding at June 30, 2018 and is inclusive of any
bond premiums or discounts.

Issuing Construction Fiscal Original Funding Effective Debt Debt Maturity
Agency Project Year Issue Source Interest Service Outstanding
Issued Rate Payments
MDFA Recreation Center 1997 $6,000,000 DSF 4.61% $381,934 $2,256,705 2023
MSCBA Holmes Dining 2005 $1,090,000 DSF 3.86% $82,938 $485,000 2025

Hall Renovations

MSCBA Elliot Athletic Field 2005 $4,020,000 DSF 3.86% $298,581 $1,770,000 2025
Improvements
MSCBA Holmes Dining 2006 $2,060,000 DSF 4.07% $144,440 $1,093,571 2026

Hall Renovations

MSCBA Hammond 2011 $15,935,656 DSF & 3.38% $1,131,858 | $11,078,908 2030
Campus Center operating
Renovations funds

MSCBA Hammond 2012 $7,043,416 DSF & 4.96% $510,050 $5,423,181 2031
Campus Center operating
Renovations funds

MSCBA Hammond 2013 $11,300,906 DSF & 3.27% $745,226 $9,075,216 2032
Campus Center operating
Renovations funds
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Issuing Construction Fiscal Original Funding Effective Debt Debt Maturity
Agency Project Year Issue Source Interest Service Outstanding
Issued Rate Payments
MSCBA Parking 2013 $2,563,127 DSF & 3.27% $170,788 $2,055,025 2032
Expansion operating
funds
MSCBA Hammond 2014 $12,235,614 DSF & 5.0% $916,500 $10,510,225 2033
Campus Center operating
Renovations funds
MSCBA Hammond 2015 $10,669,503 DSF & 4.93% $761,850 $9,555,372 2034
Campus Center operating
Renovations funds
MSCBA Landry Arena 2017 $4,166,418 DSF & 3.60% $265,533 $4,062,105 2037
Refurbishment operating
funds
DCAMM CEIP Funds 2016 $5,420,360 DCAMM 3.00% - $5,420,360 2039
JP Morgan | Campus wireless 2017 $1,261,206 DSF & 1.81% $264,966 $894,702 2021
project operating
funds
Total $83,766,206 $5,674,664 | $63,680,370

For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the total debt (current and long term) attributable
to interagency payments, bond premiums and capital lease payments amounted to $63.7, $61.9 and $59.7
million, respectively.

Additional information on Fitchburg State University's long-term debt activity can be found in footnotes 12
and 13 to the accompanying financial statements.

Viability Ratio: The availability of expendable net position to cover debt (the viability ratio) is a basic
determinant of financial health. Expendable net position are those assets not required to be retained in
perpetuity, i.e. those assets available for use for operations. A ratio of 1:1 or greater would indicate, as of
the balance sheet date, an institution has sufficient expandable net position to satisfy debt obligations.
However public institutions can operate effectively on a reduced ratio because of the benefit of state
support which is not captured in the institution's expendable net position. The University's viability ratio,
which has remained relatively consistent over time, is .56% for June 30, 2018, .55% for 2017 and .53% for
2016.

Debt Burden: The debt burden ratio measures an institution's dependence on borrowed funds by
comparing the level of debt service to total expenditures. In order to effectively manage resources,
including debt, industry standards set the upper threshold for institutional debt burden at 7%. As of June
30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the University's debt burden was 6.0%, 5.7% and 5.9%, respectively.

Looking Forward

Fall 2018 school year started out on the right note when sports team members were seen assisting
students move in to their dorm rooms on campus, some of which were recently refurbished. These resident
students are able to take advantage of not only living communities but also learning communities based on
their academic pursuit. The learning communities currently in operation are those for honors, criminal
justice and STEM programs.
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Fitchburg State University has made strides on its strategic goals to strengthen academic programs and to
promote student success by breaking down barriers. With these goals in mind, faculty took two groups of
nursing students to Ghana and San Jose in 2018. On returning from Ghana, a student had this comment to
make, "As | worked in Ghana, there was one thought that stuck with me: Be the change you want to see.
With the growing chaos in the world, be someone that can be a positive influence to bring change. We must
take hold of this opportunity and expand it around the world to help others. This experience has marked my
life forever." Another student remarked, "This trip helped me realize that | can do anything." Fitchburg
State University is working to change lives and thus the world one student at a time.

The University is creating multiple pathways to ensure student success. The faculty developed a Math Lab,
which opened fall 2018; the first year experience ("FYE") committee developed a general syllabus for all
FYE courses; and the community assessment and risk evaluation ("CARE") team changed its focus
towards a more holistic model that examines academic, behavioral, and environmental factors of students.

Fiscal 2018 saw the successful launch of the accelerated graduate and undergraduate online program from
business, nursing and education departments. Because of this, the University has been able to seek and
gain approval from the Massachusetts Board of Higher Education to participate in the State Authorization
Reciprocity Agreement ("SARA"). Fitchburg State received the distinction of being the first public, four-year
institution to be approved in Massachusetts to offer online classes to students in every state.

In September 2018, the first nine students from the 4+1 unique Fitchburg State University police program
graduated with a bachelor's and a master's degree and certification which has prepared them to work full-
time in municipal police departments in Massachusetts. They not only did years of academic study but they
spent the last 17 weeks in a rigorous program of physical training and tactical skills development.

As the University works tirelessly to increase diversity among the student body, its work has not gone
unnoticed. The report card from the University of Southern California's Race and Equity Center places
Fitchburg State University in the top 10 public institutions in the nation for serving black students. The
benchmark they used to determine the University's score included: representation, gender, and completion
equities, and black student to black faculty ratio.

The University continues to invest in capital assets to support the academic programs and to improve the
experience of students on campus. 2018 saw the completion of a number of renovation projects which
were started in prior years. One of the most prominent is that of the Idealab which is housed on the second
floor of the Theater Block which is also the home of a game design intern studio. The Idealab will include a
space that is open and easily reconfigured which will allow different disciplines and individuals from the
school and community to meet and discuss varying problems and hopefully arrive at innovation solutions.
This project has been referenced by Secretary Ash as a model project in which the anchor institution works
with their community to meet joint needs. With the construction of the Edgerly Elevator project completed,
all campus buildings now have automated vertical accessibility. We are now near completion of the Clean
Energy Investment Project ("CEIP") in conjunction with Department of Capital Asset Management and
Maintenance ("DCAMM") to increase energy efficiency on campus and reduce our carbon footprint by
upgrading our aging infrastructure.

Currently, the leadership of the University is working with a collective group from the community of
Fitchburg on the Relmagine North of Main project. This project has received approximately $350,000 in
grant funding from the Health Foundation of Central Massachusetts, Inc. in support of continued
revitalization of downtown Fitchburg. The initiative is also looking at developing a Resident Leadership
Institute, which will increase the campus visibility in the community. Another project of far reaching
consequence that the University has undertaken with the community is that of upgrading the Theater facility
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which currently houses our Idealab. A project team is in place to work on the revitalization and financing of
this project. As a community resource, the institution continues to provide leadership and support for
economic, environmental, and social and culture needs of Fitchburg, north central Massachusetts and the
Commonwealth.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the finances of Fitchburg State University
for anyone interested in this information. Questions concerning any of the data provided in this report or
requests for additional financial information should be addressed to Dr. Richard S. Lapidus, President,
Fitchburg State University, 160 Pearl Street, Fitchburg, Massachusetts, 01420.

Complete financial statements for Fitchburg State University Foundation, Inc., the University's component
unit, can be obtained from the office of the Vice President for Finance and Administration, Fitchburg State
University, 160 Pearl Street, Fitchburg, Massachusetts, 01420.
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Assets
Component Unit Component Unit
Fitchburg State Fitchburg State
University University
Foundation, Inc. Foundation, Inc.
2018 2018 2017 2017
Current assets
Cash and equivalents $ 23,463,140 $ 1,304,617 21,453,223 $ 1,361,159
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6,505,321 - 6,591,903 -
Investments - 8,612,256 - 7,121,426
Accounts receivable, net 2,163,522 37,160 1,956,116 49,239
Contributions receivable, net - 106,469 - 136,800
Loans receivable - current portion 1,207 - 100 -
Other current assets 366,499 28,195 335,835 60,429
Total current assets 32,499,689 10,088,697 30,337,177 8,729,053
Noncurrent assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6,143,787 - 10,260,675 -
Investments 15,880,005 - 14,927,981 -
Endowment investments 848,920 10,177,248 789,875 9,740,479
Accounts receivable, net of current portion 89,866 - 85,557 -
Contributions receivable, net - - - 79,385
Loans receivable, net of current portion 1,702,589 - 1,927,398 -
Capital assets, net 181,449,525 6,043,323 173,403,328 6,773,344
Other noncurrent assets 76,955 91,381 157,098 85,266
Total noncurrent assets 206,191,647 16,311,952 201,551,912 16,678,474
Total assets 238,691,336 26,400,649 231,889,089 25,407,527
Deferred outflows of resources
Deferred outflow - OPEB 2,075,508 - - -
Deferred outflow for pensions 3,504,138 - 4,901,385 -
Total deferred outflows of resources 5,579,646 - 4,901,385 -
20
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Component Unit
Fitchburg State

Component Unit
Fitchburg State
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University University
Foundation, Inc. Foundation, Inc.
2018 2018 2017 2017
Current liabilities
Interagency payables - current portion $ 3,487,348 $ - 3,334,367 $ -
Long-term debt - current portion - 756,909 - 188,765
Bank lines of credit - 320,000 - 250,000
Capital lease obligations - current portion 249,898 - 245,435 -
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,844,430 256,040 2,695,063 258,580
Accounts payable - construction 1,752,153 - 1,447,903 -
Accrued workers' compensation - current
portion 141,432 - 126,662 -
Compensated absences - current portion 3,175,133 - 3,195,296 -
Faculty payroll accrual 3,510,359 - 3,342,746 -
Revenue received in advance 1,417,553 43,475 1,854,294 17,200
Deposits 323,200 - 319,125 -
Other current liabilities 49,067 - 48,371 -
Total current liabilities 17,950,573 1,376,424 16,609,262 714,545
Noncurrent liabilities
Interagency payables, net of current portion 59,298,320 - 57,398,409 -
Accrued workers' compensation, net of current
portion 507,339 - 454,356 -
Compensated absences, net of current portion 2,166,148 - 1,965,950 -
Long-term debt, net of current portion - 2,801,813 - 3,443,878
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion 644,804 - 894,702 -
Loan payable - federal financial assistance
program 1,845,365 - 2,037,912 -
Net OPEB liability 22,232,674 - 22,384,199 -
Net pension liability 11,430,648 - 12,580,841 -
Total noncurrent liabilities 98,125,298 2,801,813 97,716,369 3,443,878
Total liabilities 116,075,871 4,178,237 114,325,631 4,158,423
Deferred inflows of resources
Service concession arrangement 1,517,508 - 1,770,425 -
Deferred inflow - OPEB 2,609,760 - - -
Deferred inflow for pensions 679,709 - 51,499 -
Total deferred inflows of resources 4,806,977 - 1,821,924 -
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Net Position

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

University University
Foundation, Inc. Foundation, Inc.
2018 2018 2017 2017
Net investment in capital assets $ 118,281,520 $ 2,164,600 $ 116,097,369 $ 2,890,701
Restricted for:
Nonexpendable
Scholarships and fellowships 520,615 5,335,072 506,331 4,945,904
Cultural programs - 3,183,493 - 3,175,098
Centennial endowments - 1,592,974 - 1,592,974
Other - 91,427 - 62,830
Expendable
Scholarships and fellowships 484,519 3,801,743 483,510 3,058,555
Cultural programs - 2,983,612 - 2,467,546
Loans 257,864 - 276,568 -
Capital projects 1,253,969 - 1,574,634 -
Debt service 6,699,132 - 5,759,312 -
Other 393,691 452,763 930 593,093
Unrestricted (4,503,176) 2,616,728 (4,055,735) 2,462,403
Total net position $ 123,388,134 $ 22,222,412 $ 120,642,919 $ 21,249,104

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Operating revenues
Student tuition and fees
Student fees restricted for repayment of
Interagency payables
Less: Scholarship allowances

Net student tuition and fees

Federal grants and contracts
State and local grants and contracts
Nongovernmental grants and contracts
Sales and services of educational departments
Gifts and contributions
Auxiliary enterprises:

Residential life

Alcohol awareness and other programs
Other operating revenues

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses

Educational and general
Instruction
Research
Public service
Academic support
Student services
Institutional support
Operations and maintenance of plant
Depreciation and amortization
Scholarships and awards

Auxiliary enterprises
Residential life
Alcohol awareness and other programs

Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

Component Unit
Fitchburg State
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University University
Foundation, Inc. Foundation, Inc.
2018 2018 2017 2017
$ 43,632,761 $ - 40,930,851 $ -
5,909,693 - 5,800,350 -
(7,722,510) - (7,711,629) -
41,819,944 - 39,019,572 -
8,312,288 - 7,739,969 -
292,900 98,042 244,862 392,700
907,615 - 258,594 -
1,522,627 489,634 1,316,111 712,485
- 612,927 - 607,418
10,643,816 262,981 9,616,860 523,798
31,530 - 30,340 -
779,130 - 861,409 -
64,309,850 1,463,584 59,087,717 2,236,401
37,154,391 15,063 36,052,168 14,990
104,463 104,142 10,635 -
555,403 45,755 504,007 76,831
7,157,778 16,613 6,301,324 10,590
10,123,698 140,459 9,544,964 154,259
11,743,901 609,036 10,783,998 537,699
11,030,069 891,685 11,961,134 650,681
9,990,725 249,358 10,125,427 252,521
2,690,116 507,301 1,960,021 561,831
10,514,709 78,067 9,606,338 77,663
24,426 - 18,767 -
101,089,679 2,657,479 96,868,783 2,337,065
(36,779,829) (1,193,895) (37,781,066) (100,664)
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Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
State appropriations
Gifts
Investment income (loss), net of investment
expense
Investment income (loss) on restricted assets,
net of investment expense
Interest expense on Interagency payables and
capital asset related debt
Debt issuance costs

Net nonoperating revenues (expenses)
before capital and endowment additions

Income (loss) before capital and endowment
additions

State capital appropriations

Capital grants

Transfers (to)/from state agencies
Private gifts for endowment purposes
Total capital and endowment additions

Increase (decrease) in net position

Net position - beginning of year, as previously
stated

Restatement (Note 29)

Net position - beginning of
year, as restated

Net position - end of the year

See Notes to Financial Statements.

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

University University
Foundation, Inc. Foundation, Inc.
2018 2018 2017 2017
$ 39,403,569 $ - $ 38,873,231 $ -
100 - - -
908,222 531,317 990,265 448,194
122,149 1,367,217 95,123 1,224,612
(1,851,587) (158,341) (1,900,661) (150,622)
R - (63,345) -
38,582,453 1,740,193 37,994,613 1,522,184
1,802,624 546,298 213,547 1,421,520
439,467 - 74,078 -
503,124 - 1,404,215 -
- 427,010 - 245,750
942,591 427,010 1,478,293 245,750
2,745,215 973,308 1,691,840 1,667,270
120,642,919 21,249,104 141,335,278 19,581,834
- - (22,384,199) -
120,642,919 21,249,104 118,951,079 19,581,834
$ 123,388,134 $ 22,222,412 $ 120,642,919 $ 21,249,104
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2018 2017
Cash flows from operating activities
Tuition and fees $ 41,635,962 $ 38,618,973
Research grants and contracts 9,467,228 8,156,683
Payments to suppliers (20,843,013) (18,784,209)
Payments to utilities (4,437,738) (4,492,220)
Payments to employees (46,193,141) (46,008,199)
Payments for benefits (3,130,009) (3,337,866)
Payments for scholarships (2,731,812) (1,992,215)
Loans issued to students (36,291) (144,555)
Collection of loans to students 248,106 207,231
Auxiliary enterprise receipts
Residential life 10,606,391 9,611,462
Alcohol awareness program 31,530 30,340
Receipts from sales and services of educational departments 923,280 1,916,788
Other receipts 788,702 871,174
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (13,670,805) (15,346,613)
Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
State appropriations 29,473,032 29,404,821
Tuition remitted to State (674,450) (713,312)
Gifts from grants for other than capital purposes 100 -
Net cash provided by (used in) noncapital
financing activities 28,798,682 28,691,509
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
State capital appropriations 439,467 74,078
Loan programs net funds received 55,596 22,813
Interagency payable proceeds received 5,420,360 4,166,418
Payments for capital assets (17,591,182) (6,206,855)
Principal paid on capital debt (3,324,678) (2,954,918)
Interest paid on capital debt (2,349,986) (2,166,777)
Debt issuance costs - (63,345)
Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related
financing activities (17,350,423) (7,128,586)
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Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from sale of investments
Earnings on investments

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents
Cash and equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and equivalents, end of year

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities
Operating loss
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities
Bad debt expense
Depreciation and amortization
Fringe benefits paid by the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts
Change in net pension liability
Change in net OPEB liability
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Other current and noncurrent assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accrued workers' compensation
Compensated absences
Accrued faculty payroll
Revenue received in advance
Other current liabilities
Deposits
Loans to students

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
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2018 2017
$ (3,924,835 $ (6,413,281)
3,396,907 8,375,271
556,921 350,705
28,993 2,312,695
(2,193,553) 8,529,005
38,305,801 29,776,796
$ 36,112,248 $ 38,305,801
$ (36,779,829) $ (37,781,066)
325,079 349,431
9,990,725 10,125,427
10,604,987 10,185,677
875,264 1,376,838
382,727 -
(532,536) (733,587)
49,479 17,641
1,218,053 2,424
67,753 73,128
180,035 (293,247)
167,613 393,441
(436,741) 806,438
696 966
4,075 67,200
211,815 62,676
$ (13,670,805 $ (15,346,613)
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2018 2017
Schedule of noncash investing and financing activities

Acquisition of capital assets $ 18,036,922 8,530,873
Accounts payable thereon:

Beginning of year 1,447,903 1,526,988

End of year (1,752,153) (1,447,903)
Capital lease obligation - (1,261,206)
Capital grants from DCAMM - (1,146,989)
Net interest earned and incurred, capitalized in
construction in progress (141,490) 5,092
Payments for capital assets $ 17,591,182 6,206,855
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments $ 231,987 322,341
Fringe benefits paid by the Commonwealth
of Massachusetts $ 10,604,987 10,185,677
Capital grants - amortization of deferred inflows of
resources - service concession arrangement $ 252,918 252,918

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalent balances

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 23,463,140 21,453,223

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6,505,321 6,591,903
Noncurrent assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6,143,787 10,260,675

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 36,112,248 38,305,801

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Note 1 - Summary of significant accounting policies

Organization

Fitchburg State University (the "University") is a public, State-supported comprehensive four-year
University which offers a quality education leading to baccalaureate and master's degrees in many
disciplines. With its campus located in Fitchburg, Massachusetts, the University provides instruction in a
variety of liberal arts, allied health, and business fields of study. The University also offers, through the
Division of Graduate and Continuing Education, credit and non-credit courses. The University is
accredited by the New England Commission of Higher Education ("NECHE") (formerly known as the
New England Association of Schools and Colleges ("NEASC")).

The University is a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the "State" or the
"Commonwealth"). The accompanying financial statements reflect only the transactions of the
University and its discretely presented component unit. Accordingly, the accompanying financial
statements may not necessarily be indicative of the conditions that would have existed if the University
had been operated independently of the State.

Fitchburg State University Foundation, Inc. (the "Foundation") is a component unit of Fitchburg State
University. The Foundation is a legally separate, tax-exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the
Internal Revenue Code. It was organized on June 6, 1978, exclusively for the benefit of Fitchburg State
University, to establish scholarships and make awards to educationally talented and needy students; to
establish a Distinguished Professor award within the faculty of the University; to subsidize inter-
collegiate athletic programs; to subsidize budgets of departments of the University as needed for
particular purposes; to encourage public use and support of functions and activities which further the
mission of the University; and to encourage other activities necessary for, or incidental to, any or all of
the foregoing. The following programs are supported under the auspices of the Foundation: Center
Stage, Alumni Association, Women in Today's Society, Amelia V. Gallucci - Cirio endowment and the
University's Booster Clubs. The Board of the Foundation is self-perpetuating and consists of graduates
and friends of the University. Although the University does not control the timing or amount of receipts
from the Foundation, the majority of resources, or income thereon that the Foundation holds and
invests are restricted to the activities of the University by the donors. Because these restricted
resources held by the Foundation can only be used by, or for the benefit of, the University, the
Foundation is considered a component unit of the University and is discretely presented in the
University's financial statements.

FSU Foundation Supporting Organization, Inc. (the "Foundation Supporting Organization") was
organized on October 29, 1999 for the exclusive benefit of the Foundation and all of its educational and
charitable activities. The Foundation Supporting Organization is a legally separate, tax-exempt
organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Foundation Supporting
Organization's sole program activity, as of June 30, 2018, has been to acquire, hold, operate and lease
real estate and related improvements for the benefit of the Foundation and the University. The financial
information of the Foundation Supporting Organization is consolidated into the financial statements of
the Foundation. The Foundation and Foundation Supporting Organization are collectively referred to
hereinafter as the FSU Foundation.

During fiscal 2018, FSU Foundation distributed scholarships and awards in the amount of $507,301
directly to students and faculty of the University, and incurred an additional $2,308,519 in support of its
mission in other ways. Complete financial statements for FSU Foundation can be obtained from the
Office of the Vice President for Finance and Administration, Fitchburg State University, 160 Pearl
Street, Fitchburg, MA 01420.
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During fiscal 2017, FSU Foundation distributed scholarships and awards in the amount of $561,831
directly to students and faculty of the University, and incurred an additional $1,925,856 in support of its
mission in other ways.

Basis of presentation

The University's financial statements have been prepared using the "economic resources measurement
focus" and the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America, as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
("GASB"). Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred,
regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as
soon as all eligibility requirements have been met.

FSU Foundation, as a nonprofit organization, reports under Financial Accounting Standards Board
("FASB") guidance on financial reporting for Not-for-Profit Entities. As such, certain revenue recognition
criteria and presentation features are different from GASB revenue recognition criteria and presentation
features. Other than the reclassification of certain items, no modifications have been made to FSU
Foundation's consolidated financial information in the University's financial reporting entity for these
differences.

The University's policy for defining operating activities in the statements of revenues, expenses and
changes in net position are those that generally result from exchange transactions such as the payment
received for services and payment made for the purchase of goods and services. Certain other
transactions are reported as nonoperating activities in accordance with GASB Statement No. 35. These
nonoperating activities include the University's operating and capital appropriations from the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts, net investment income, gifts, and interest expense.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the University's policy to use
the restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

GASB Statement No. 34 requires that resources be classified for accounting purposes into the following
three net position categories:

o Net investment in capital assets: Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and
outstanding principal balances of debt attributable to the acquisition, construction or
improvement of those assets. Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
that are attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets or related
debt are also included in this component of net position.

e Restricted:

Nonexpendable - Component of net position whose net assets are subject to externally-
imposed stipulations that they be maintained permanently by the University. Such assets
include the University's permanent endowment funds.

Expendable - Component of net position whose use of net assets by the University is
subject to externally-imposed stipulations that can be fulfilled by actions of the University
pursuant to those stipulations or that expire by the passage of time.

o Unrestricted: All other categories of net position. Unrestricted net position may be designated
for specific purposes by action of management or the Board of Trustees.
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In accordance with the requirements of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, the University's
operations are accounted for in several trust funds. All of these trust funds have been consolidated and
are included in these financial statements.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts and disclosures reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Although these
estimates are based on management's knowledge of current events and actions it may undertake in the
future, they may ultimately differ from actual results.

Cash and cash equivalents and investments

The University's cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, cash and cash
equivalents held by the Commonwealth's Treasurer and Receiver-General, Massachusetts
Development Finance Agency ("MDFA") and Massachusetts State College Building Authority
("MSCBA"), and short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of
acquisition.

Investments for the University are reported at fair value. Any investments held with the
Commonwealth's Treasurer and Receiver-General in the Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust
("MMDT") are also at fair value. This external investment pool, run by the Treasurer and Receiver-
General, operates in accordance with appropriate laws and regulations. The reported value of the pool
is the same as the fair value of the pool shares.

Investments include marketable debt and equity securities which are carried at their readily
determinable fair values. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are included in nonoperating
revenues. Gains and losses on the disposition of investments are determined based on specific
identification of securities sold or the average cost method. Investment income is recognized when
earned and is generally credited to the trust fund holding the related assets.

Dividends, interest and net gains or losses on investments are reported in the Statements of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Net Position. Any net earnings not expended are included in net position
categories as follows:

() asincreases in restricted - nonexpendable net position if the terms of the gift require that they
be added to the principal of a permanent endowment fund;

(i) asincreases in restricted - expendable net position if the terms of the gift or the University's
interpretation of relevant state law impose restrictions on the current use of the income or net
gains. The University has relied upon the Attorney General's interpretation of state law that
unappropriated endowment gains should be classified as restricted - expendable; and

(i) asincreases in unrestricted net position in all other cases.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the University had $321,111 and $339,750, respectively, in endowment
income available for authorization for expenditure, which is included in restricted-expendable net
position for scholarships and fellowships.

Massachusetts General Law, Chapter 15 grants authority to the University Board of Trustees to
administer the general business of the University. Inherent in this authority is the authority to invest
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funds of the University. Chapter 15 further grants the Trustees the authority to delegate, to the
President, any said powers or responsibilities. The Board of Trustees of Fitchburg State University has
delegated the authority to make specific investment decisions to the President of the University and the
Finance Committee of the Board of Trustees. The University's endowment investments consist of debt,
marketable equity securities, mutual funds, and other investments which are carried at their fair values.
The primary cash equivalent funds are within the MMDT, the external investment pool for political
subdivisions of the Commonwealth.

The University's authorized spending rule provides that all earnings on endowment investments may be
expended pursuant to the stipulations placed on these endowments. If a donor has not provided
specific instructions, Massachusetts General Law permits the University's Board of Trustees to
authorize for expense the net appreciation (realized and unrealized) of the investments of endowment
funds. Any net appreciation that is spent is required to be spent for the purposes for which the
endowment was established.

FSU Foundation's investments consist of debt, marketable equity securities, mutual funds and other
investments which are carried at their fair values. Unrealized gains and losses are included in revenue.
Restricted investment income and gains are reported as increases in unrestricted net position, unless a
donor or law temporarily (expendable) or permanently (non-expendable) restricts their use. Gains and
losses on the disposition of investments are principally determined based on the first-in, first-out
method or specific identification of securities sold. Investment income is recognized when earned.
Dividends are recorded on the ex-dividend date.

FSU Foundation maintains cash and equivalents and an investment pool that is available for use by all
funds. Each fund's portion is reflected in the financial statements under cash and equivalents and
investments. Earnings on cash and investments of the unrestricted net position and temporarily
restricted (expendable) net position are reflected in the fund in which the assets are recorded.

The FSU Foundation's endowments consist of approximately 110 and 100 individual funds at June 30,
2018 and 2017, respectively, that are restricted by donors to function as endowments primarily for the
granting of scholarships and to fund other academic and cultural programs. During fiscal 2018, FSU
Foundation's Board of Directors voted to earmark $25,000 as a board-designated fund entitled The
Fund for Fitchburg State to function as an endowment fund. The fund is designated for students with
financial needs to be awarded financial aid scholarships. No funds have been designated by the Board
of Directors to function as endowments as of June 30, 2017. In accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America, net assets associated with endowment funds,
including funds designated by the Board of Directors to function as endowments, are classified and
reported based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.

FSU Foundation's Board of Directors has interpreted the Massachusetts Uniform Prudent Management
of Institutional Funds Act ("UPMIFA") as requiring the preservation of the fair value of the original gift as
of the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the
contrary. As a result of this interpretation, FSU Foundation classifies as permanently restricted net
assets (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent endowment, (b) the original value of
subsequent gifts to the permanent endowment, and (c) accumulations to the permanent endowment
made in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift instrument at the time the
accumulation is added to the fund. The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund that
is not classified in permanently restricted net assets is classified as temporarily restricted net assets
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until those amounts are appropriated for expenditure by FSU Foundation in a manner consistent with
the standard of prudence prescribed by UPMIFA.

In accordance with UPMIFA, FSU Foundation considers the following factors in making a determination
to appropriate or accumulate restricted endowment funds: (i) the duration and preservation of the fund,
(ii) the purposes of FSU Foundation and the donor-restricted endowment fund, (iii) general economic
conditions, (iv) the possible effect of inflation and deflation, (v) the expected total return from income
and the appreciation of investments, (vi) other resources of FSU Foundation, and (vii) the investment
policies of FSU Foundation.

FSU Foundation has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that attempt to
provide a predictable stream of funding while seeking to maintain the purchasing power of the
endowment assets. Endowment assets include those assets of donor-restricted funds that FSU
Foundation must hold in perpetuity or for donor-specified periods as well as board-designated funds.
Under this policy, as approved by FSU Foundation's Board of Directors, the endowment assets are
invested in a variety of investments that aim to preserve principal, generate income and provide the
opportunity for conservative growth.

FSU Foundation's performance goals are to provide an average annual total rate of return, net of fees,
that equals or exceeds its spending rate plus inflation ("CPI") over a rolling five-year period.
Additionally, the endowment assets are invested in a manner that is intended to produce results that
equal or exceed the average return of appropriate capital market indices weighted by FSU Foundation's
asset allocation target percentages over a rolling five-year period. FSU Foundation's performance goals
are also intended to produce results that equal or exceed the average return of a universe of similarly
managed funds. FSU Foundation's performance goals are based upon a long-term investment horizon.
Accordingly, actual returns in any given year may vary from these amounts.

To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, FSU Foundation relies on a total return strategy in
which investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and
current yield (interest and dividends). FSU Foundation targets a diversified asset allocation that places
a greater emphasis on equity-based investments to achieve its long-term return objectives within
prudent risk constraints.

FSU Foundation has a spending policy of appropriating for distribution each year a percentage of its
endowment fund's average fair value over the preceding three years. The amount to be appropriated for
distribution shall not exceed 5%. In establishing this policy, FSU Foundation considered the long-term
expected return on its endowment fund assets. Accordingly, over the long-term, FSU Foundation
expects the current spending policy to be consistent with the FSU Foundation's objective of seeking to
maintain the purchasing power of the endowment fund assets held in perpetuity or for a specified term
as well as to provide additional real growth through investment return.

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment funds
may fall below the level that the donor or Massachusetts General Laws requires FSU Foundation to
retain as a fund of perpetual duration. In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America, deficiencies of this nature are reported in unrestricted net assets. As of
June 30, 2018 and 2017, there were no deficiencies of this nature.

The University's and FSU Foundation's investment income are presented net of investment expense in
the statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. The University's investment
expense amounted to $85,581 and $96,668 for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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FSU Foundation's investment expense amounted to $107,210 and $96,801 for the years ended June
30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount the University expects to collect from outstanding
balances. The University provides for probable uncollectible amounts through a charge to operations
and a credit to a valuation allowance based on its assessment of the current status of individual
accounts. Balances that are still outstanding after the University has used reasonable collection efforts
are written off through a charge to the valuation allowance and a credit to accounts receivable.

Accounts receivable also include a receivable from the operator of the University's food services
operation in connection with a service concession arrangement between the University and the
operator. The receivable has been recorded at the net present value of the installments to be received
from the operator using a discount rate determined by management of the University.

Loans receivable and payable

Loans receivable consist, primarily, of the Federal Perkins Loan Program ("Perkins") and the Federal
Nursing Student Loan Program ("NSL"). The federal government provides the majority of the funds to
support these programs. Loan payments received from students made under the Perkins and NSL
programs may be re-loaned after collection. The portion of the Perkins and NSL Loan Programs
provided by the federal government is refundable to the federal government upon the ending
(liguidation) of the University's participation in the programs. The amount due to the federal government
upon liquidation by the University is $1,467,263 and $1,619,081 for Perkins and $378,102 and
$418,831 for NSL at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. These amounts are included as a
noncurrent liability in the accompanying statements of net position.

The prescribed practices for the Perkins and NSL programs do not provide for accrual of interest on
student loans receivable or for the provision of an allowance for doubtful loans. Accordingly, interest on
loans is recorded as received and loan balances are reduced subsequent to the determination of their
uncollectability and have been accepted (assigned) by the Department of Education and the
Department of Health and Human Services. Management closely monitors outstanding balances and
assigns loans to the Department of Education based upon such factors as student payment history,
current status of applicable students, and the results of collection efforts.

Capital assets

Capital assets are controlled but not owned by the University. The University is not able to sell or
otherwise pledge its assets, since the assets are all owned by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.
Capital assets, which include land, land improvements, buildings, building improvements, equipment
and other assets are reported in the statements of net position at cost or fair market value, if donated.
Capital assets are defined by the University as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than
$50,000 in accordance with the Commonwealth's capitalization policy. The University does not hold
collections of historical treasures, works of art, or other items not requiring capitalization or
depreciation.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially
extend asset lives are not capitalized.

Capital assets, with the exception of land, are depreciated using the straight-line method over estimated
useful lives of 40 years for buildings, 20 years for building and land improvements, 5 years for furniture
and 3 to 10 years for equipment.
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Library materials acquired for the most recent five-year period are capitalized. The cost of library
materials purchased in the current year is added and the cost of purchases made in the earliest year of
the five-year period is deducted from the net position balance.

The land on which the residence halls stand is leased by the MSCBA from the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts at a yearly cost of one dollar. The leases are long-term leases which can be extended
at the end of their terms for additional 10-year periods.

The University, in accordance with a management and services agreement between the MSCBA and
Commonwealth of Massachusetts, is charged a semi-annual revenue assessment which is based on a
certified occupancy report, the current rent schedule, and the design capacity for each of the residence
halls. This revenue assessment is used by MSCBA to pay principal and interest due on its long-term
debt obligations. These obligations may include the costs of periodic renovations and improvements to
the residence halls. The revenue assessment amounts for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017
were $6,827,009 and $6,175,634, respectively, and are included in the Residential life auxiliary
enterprises in the accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. All
facilities and obligations of the MSCBA are included in the financial statements of the MSCBA. Itis not
practical to determine the specific asset cost or liability attributable to the University. The leases,
therefore, are accounted for under the operating method for financial statement purposes.

FSU Foundation's capital assets are recorded at cost, if purchased or constructed and, if donated, at
fair value at the date of donation. Capital assets, with the exception of land, are depreciated using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets of 40 years for buildings, 20 years for
building and land improvements, 7 and 10 years for furniture and fixtures, 5 years for equipment and 3
years for computer software and equipment. FSU Foundation generally capitalizes all additions and
improvements with an individual cost or, if donated, fair value in excess of $5,000.

Contributions and bequests

FSU Foundation recognizes contributions revenue when the donor makes a promise to give, thatis, in
substance, unconditional. Unconditional promises to give are reported at net realizable value if at the
time the promise is made collection is expected to be received in one year or less. Unconditional
promises to give that are expected to be collected in more than one year are reported at fair value using
present value techniques and a discount rate determined by management of FSU Foundation.
Amortization of discounts is recorded as additional contribution revenue in accordance with donor-
imposed restrictions, if any, on the contributions. Conditional promises to give are recognized only
when the conditions on which they depend are substantially met and the promises become
unconditional. Contributions in the form of property and equipment and other assets are recorded at the
fair value on the date the donation is received. All contributions are considered to be available for
unrestricted use by FSU Foundation unless specifically restricted by the donor. FSU Foundation
provides for probable uncollectible amounts of unconditional promises to give through a charge to
earnings and a credit to a valuation allowance based on its assessment of the current status of
individual account balances.

Compensated absences

Employees earn the right to be compensated during absences for vacation leave and sick leave.
Accrued vacation is the amount earned by all eligible employees through June 30 each year. Pursuant
to statewide experience on sick pay buy-back agreements applicable to state employees, the University
accrues sick leave to a level representing 20% of amounts earned by those University employees with
ten or more years of State service at the end of the fiscal year. Upon retirement, these employees are
entitled to receive payment for this accrued balance (see also Note 8).
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Student fees

Student tuition and fees are presented net of scholarships applied to students' accounts. Certain other
scholarship amounts are paid directly to, or refunded to, the student and are generally reflected as
expenses.

Revenue received in advance

Deposits and advance payments received for tuition and fees related to the University's summer
programs and tuition billed for the following fiscal year are recorded as revenues received in advance.
Funds received in advance from various grants and contracts are also included in revenues received in
advance.

Agency funds

Agency funds consist of resources held by the University as custodian or fiscal agent of student
organizations, the State Treasurer and others. Transactions are recorded to asset and liability
accounts. There were no material balances at June 30, 2018 and 2017.

Bond premiums
Bond premiums are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the related debt
agreements.

Interest expense and capitalization

The University follows the policy of capitalizing interest expense as a component of the cost of capital
assets constructed for its own use. During 2018 and 2017, total interest costs incurred were accounted
for as follows:

2018 2017
Total interest costs incurred $ 2,290,601 $ 2,216,234
Less: Interest income on unused funds from tax
exempt borrowings (9,299) (6,050)
Bond premium amortization (288,225) (314,615)
1,993,077 1,895,569
Less: Capitalized portion of net interest earned (141,490) 5,092
and incurred
Interest expense $ 1,851587 $ 1,900,661

Pension plan

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of
the Massachusetts State Employees' Retirement System ("MSERS") and additions to/deductions from
MSERS's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by
MSERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at
fair value.
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OPEB plan

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to post-employment benefits other than pensions, and OPEB expense, information
about the fiduciary net position of the OPEB Trust Fund and additions to/deductions from OPEB Trust
Fund's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the
OPEB Trust Fund. Investments are reported at fair value.

Fringe benefits

The University participates in the Commonwealth's fringe benefit programs, including health insurance,
unemployment, pension and workers' compensation benefits. Workers' compensation coverage is
provided by the Commonwealth on a self-insured basis. Health insurance and pension costs are billed
through a fringe benefit rate charged to the University. Workers' compensation and unemployment
insurance costs are assessed separately based on the University's actual experience.

Tax status
The University is a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and is, therefore, exempt from
federal and state income taxes.

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2017 financial statements to conform to the 2018
presentation.

Recently adopted accounting pronouncements

In June 2015, the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. The primary objective of GASB Statement No. 75 is to
improve accounting and financial reporting by state and local governments for postemployment benefits
other than pensions (other postemployment benefits or "OPEB"). GASB Statement No. 75 requires
governments providing defined benefit OPEB plans to recognize their long-term obligation for OPEB
benefits as a liability for the first time, and to more comprehensively and comparably measure the
annual costs of OPEB benefits. GASB Statement No. 75 also enhances accountability and
transparency through revised and new note disclosures and required supplementary information. The
provisions in GASB Statement No. 75 are effective for financial statements for fiscal years beginning
after June 15, 2017 with earlier application encouraged. The University adopted this standard in fiscal
year 2018.

In March 2017, the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 85, Omnibus 2017. The objective of GASB
Statement No. 85 is to address practice issues that have been identified during implementation and
application of certain GASB Statements, including GASB Statement No. 75. The applicable provisions
of GASB Statement No. 85 have been adopted in fiscal year 2018 with the University's initial adoption
of GASB Statement No. 75.

The impact of implementing GASB Statements No. 75 and 85 on the University's financial statements is
further discussed in Notes 22 and 29.
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Note 2 - Cash and cash equivalents, and investments

Cash and cash equivalents - unrestricted and restricted - include the following at June 30, 2018 and
2017:
2018
Current Current Noncurrent
unrestricted restricted restricted
Cash and money market accounts $ 13,076,865 $ 5,769,441 $ 2,428,922
Cash equivalents held by MDFA * - 293,344 283,274
Cash equivalents held by MSCBA ** - 363,739 3,307,247
Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust 5,950,122 - 124,344
Massachusetts State Treasurer *** 4,435,208 78,797 -
Petty cash 945 - -

$ 23,463,140 $ 6,505,321 $ 6,143,787

2017

Current Current Noncurrent

unrestricted restricted restricted
Cash and money market accounts $ 12,356,254 $ 5288931 $ 1,950,069
Cash equivalents held by MDFA * - 276,740 293,261
Cash equivalents held by MSCBA ** - 304,586 7,894,943
Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust 5,857,201 - 122,402

Massachusetts State Treasurer *** 3,238,798 721,646 -

Petty cash 970 - -

*

**

*k%k

Mone
amou

$ 21,453,223 $ 6,591,903 $ 10,260,675

This amount consists of cash equivalents which are restricted by the Massachusetts
Development Finance Agency ("MDFA") for the funding of payments to retire the bonds (see
Note 12). The University does not have access to these funds except by the authorization of
MDFA.

This amount consists of cash and cash equivalents which are restricted by the Massachusetts
State College Building Authority ("MSCBA") for the funding of certain construction projects at the
University and payments to retire bonds (see Note 12). The University does not have access to
these funds except by authorization of MSCBA. Interest earned on debt service reserve funds is
used on a current basis to offset annual debt service payments.

The University has recorded cash held for the benefit of the University by the State Treasurer in
the amount of $4,435,208 and $3,238,798 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, for University
funds and $78,797 and $721,646 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, to pay year-end
liabilities. The latter balance represents amounts paid from State appropriations subsequent to
the fiscal year-end.

y market funds include the Goldman Sachs Financial Square Government Fund in the aggregate
nt of $93,465 and $63,402 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The Goldman Sachs
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Financial Square Government Fund invests in U.S. Government securities and repurchase agreements.
The fund seeks to maximum current income consistent with the preservation of capital and liquidity, and
the maintenance of a stable $1.00 per share net asset value. At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the fund's
investment securities had a weighted average maturity of 32 and 24 days, respectively. The fund had
an average credit quality rating of AAAm at both June 30, 2018 and 2017.

Money market funds include the Northern Institutional U.S. Government Portfolio (formerly known as
the Northern Institutional Government Assets Portfolio) in the aggregate amount of $99,475 and
$231,979 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The Northern Institutional U.S. Government
Portfolio invests primarily in marketable securities issued or guaranteed as to principal and interest by
the U.S. Government, or any of its agencies or instrumentalities, and repurchase agreements backed
by such securities. The fund seeks to maximize current income to the extent consistent with the
preservation of capital and maintenance of liquidity. At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the fund's investment
securities had a weighted average maturity of 45 days and 25 days, respectively. The fund had an
average credit quality rating of AAAm at June 30, 2018 and Aa at June 30, 2017.

Money market funds also include the RWM Cash Management money market account with a balance
of $27,959 and $62,187 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

The Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust ("MMDT") is not subject to FDIC insurance. According
to the MMDT, the Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust is an investment pool for political
subdivisions in the Commonwealth which was designed as a legal means to safely invest temporarily
available cash. Its primary purpose is to provide a safe, liquid, high-yield investment vehicle offering
participation in a diversified portfolio of high quality debt instruments. The MMDT is not a bank, savings
institution, or financial institution. The MMDT is an instrumentality of the State Treasurer.

The University maintains a cash and investment pool that is available for use by all trust funds. Each
fund type's portion of this pool is reflected in the financial statements under the caption, cash and cash
equivalents and investments. The method of allocating interest earned on pooled cash and investments
is to record all interest to the appropriate fund based on that fund's average monthly balance. Interest
earnings attributable to each trust fund are included under investment income.

Custodial credit risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the University's deposits
may not be returned to it. The University's deposit policy provides for bank balances to be held in
interest-bearing checking accounts and, where account activity and balances warrant it, in money
market accounts. All bank balances are to be held at financial institutions of high credit quality. At June
30, 2018 and 2017, the University had uninsured cash balances totaling approximately $5,920,900 and
$5,963,600, respectively.

The University does not have a formal policy with respect to the custodial credit risk. Custodial credit
risk is that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the University will not be able to recover the
value of investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.

Certain investments are covered by the Securities Investor Protection Corporation ("SIPC") up to
$500,000, including $250,000 of cash from sale or for purchase of investments, but not cash held solely
for the purpose of earning interest. SIPC protects securities such as notes, stocks, bonds, debentures,
certificates of deposit and money funds. Certain cash balances are covered by the National Credit
Union Administration's Share Insurance Fund up to $250,000.
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The following University investments at June 30, 2018 and 2017 are held by the counterparty's trust
department or agent but not in the University's name and, therefore, are subject to custodial credit risk
as follows:

2018 2017
U.S. Treasury Notes and Government Securities $ 1,295,626 $ 1,293,367
Corporate Debt Securities 1,929,532 1,944,881
Equity Securities 6,825,505 6,273,275
Mutual Funds 6,678,262 6,206,333
Total 16,728,925 15,717,856
Less insured amounts 1,500,000 1,500,000
Amount subject to Custodial Credit Risk $ 15,228,925 $ 14,217,856

Credit risk

The University is required to comply with the Commonwealth of Massachusetts' deposit and investment
policies which are principally defined in the Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 29. State Statutes
permit investment in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, authorized bonds of all states, bankers'
acceptances, certificates of deposit, commercial paper rated within the three highest classifications
established by Standard & Poor's Corporation and Moody's Commercial Paper Record and repurchase
agreements secured by any of these obligations. The University has also adopted its own formal
investment policy, the objectives of which are: safety of principal; liquidity for operating needs; return on
investment; and diversification of risk. The University's investment policy generally limits the maturities
of investments to not more than one year. However, the University may invest in securities with
maturities in excess of one year if it is determined to be in the best interest of the University as
described in the University's investment policy. The University may also appoint a professional fund
manager and invest in equity and bond funds. Eligible investments shall be consistent with those
permitted by State Statutes.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the fair values of the University's deposits held at the Massachusetts
Municipal Depository Trust were $6,074,466 and $5,979,603, respectively. At June 30, 2018, the
approximate percentage of the University's deposits held at the MMDT and the respective investment
maturities in days were as follows: 71% at 30 days or less; 20% at 31-90 days; 9% at 91-180 days; and
0% at 181 days or more. At June 30, 2018, approximately 100% of the MMDT's cash portfolio had a
First Tier credit quality rating.

The University's funds held at MDFA are invested in the Short-Term Asset Reserve ("STAR") Fund and
had a fair value of $576,618 and $570,001 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The STAR Fund
invests primarily in U.S. Treasury bills, notes, and other obligations guaranteed by the U.S. government
or its agencies or instrumentalities. Additionally, the fund invests in repurchase agreements, bankers'
acceptances, certificates of deposit, commercial paper, notes, and both corporate floating rate and
corporate fixed-rate securities. The STAR Fund maintains a net asset value of $1 per share and had a
fund credit quality rating of AAAm as of both June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. At June 30, 2018
and 2017, the fund's investment securities maintain a weighted average maturity of 37 and 41 days,
respectively.
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At June 30, 2018, certain of the University's funds are held at MSCBA. Of the total, $1,599,693 is
deposited in various cash accounts which are fully collateralized by securities in accounts in the name
of MSCBA, and $2,071,293 is invested in various funds as listed below:

Investment maturities (in years)

Fair Less Greater Credit
Investment type value than 1 1-5 6-10 than 10 rating
Federal Home Loan Bank
Discount Notes $ 144,841  $ 144,841  $ - $ - $ - N/A
Federal Farm Credit 881,963 - 881,963 - - AA+
Massachusetts ST Bonds 1,044,489 80,326 - 964,163 AAA
Total $ 2,071,293 $ 225,167  $ 881,963 % - $ 964,163

At June 30, 2017, certain of the University's funds are held at MSCBA. Of the total, $5,937,112 is
deposited in various cash accounts which are fully collateralized by securities in accounts in the name
of MSCBA, and $2,262,417 is invested in various funds as listed below:

Investment maturities (in years)

Fair Less Greater Credit
Investment type value than 1 1-5 6-10 than 10 rating
Federal Home Loan Bank
Discount Notes $ 144,841 $ 144,841  $ - $ - $ - N/A
Federal Farm Credit 667,799 - 667,799 - - AA+
Massachusetts ST Bonds 1,449,777 - 485,614 - 964,163 AAA
Total $ 2,262,417 $ 144,841 $ 1,153,413 $ - $ 964,163

The University's investments in marketable securities are represented by the following at June 30, 2018
and 2017:

2018 2017
Cost Fair value Cost Fair value

Noncurrent:

U.S. Treasury Notes and

Government Securities $ 1,360,003 $ 1,295,626 $ 1,346,929 $ 1,293,367
Corporate Debt Securities 1,985,769 1,929,532 1,935,769 1,944,881
Equity Securities 5,276,629 6,825,505 5,011,045 6,273,275
Mutual Funds 6,591,075 6,678,262 6,140,651 6,206,333

$ 15,213,476 $ 16,728,925 $ 14,434,394 $ 15,717,856

The University's investments at fair value are presented in the accompanying statements of net position
as follows:

2018 2017
Investments $ 15,880,005 $ 14,927,981
Endowment investments 848,920 789,875

$ 16,728,925 $ 15,717,856
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At June 30, 2018, the University's U.S. Treasury Notes and Government Securities and corporate debt
securities along with their investment maturities and credit quality ratings are as follows:

Investment maturities (in years)

Fair Less Greater Credit
Investment type value than 1 1-5 6-10 than 10 rating

U.S. Treasury Notes and
Government Securities

1.625% to 3.375% $ 1,295,626 $ 301,472 $ 767,048 $ 227,106 $ - AA+
Corporate Debt Securities

1.875% to 5.625% 366,153 59,984 306,169 - - A
Corporate Debt Securities

3.100% to 6.000% 405,536 - 169,893 235,643 - A-
Corporate Debt Securities

2.800% to 3.300% 366,339 - 180,186 186,153 - A+
Corporate Debt Securities

3.400% to 3.625% 171,926 - 171,926 - - AA
Corporate Debt Securities

1.750% to 3.625% 267,285 - 170,760 96,525 - AA-
Corporate Debt Securities

3.200% to 4.650% 107,232 - - 107,232 - AA+
Corporate Debt Securities

3.125% 49,120 - - 49,120 - AAA
Corporate Debt Securities

1.400% to 5.000% 195,941 60,796 62,023 73,122 - BBB+
Total $ 3,225,158 $ 422,252 $ 1,828,005 $ 974,901 $ -

At June 30, 2017, the University's U.S. Treasury Notes and Government Securities and corporate debt
securities along with their investment maturities and credit quality ratings are as follows:

Investment maturities (in years)

Fair Less Greater Credit
Investment type value than 1 1-5 6-10 than 10 rating

U.S. Treasury Notes and
Government Securities

1.625% to 3.500% $ 1,293,367 $ 212,642 $ 769,878 $ 310,847 $ - AA+
Corporate Debt Securities

1.875% to 5.625% 497,053 121,218 375,835 - - A
Corporate Debt Securities

3.100% to 6.000% 355,362 61,348 51,753 242,261 - A-
Corporate Debt Securities

2.800% to 3.300% 183,960 - 62,739 121,221 - A+
Corporate Debt Securities

3.400% to 3.625% 178,576 - 126,314 52,262 - AA
Corporate Debt Securities

1.750% to 3.625% 303,356 - 116,245 187,111 - AA-
Corporate Debt Securities

3.200% to 4.650% 111,579 - - 111,579 - AA+
Corporate Debt Securities

3.125% 51,017 - - 51,017 - AAA
Corporate Debt Securities

1.400% to 5.000% 263,978 59,950 127,228 76,800 - BBB+
Total $ 3,238,248 $ 455,158 $ 1,629,992 $ 1,153,098 $ -

41

Powered by BoardOnTrack 179 of 282



Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday April 2, 2019 at 8:00 AM

Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2018 and 2017

FSU Foundation's cash and cash equivalents consist of the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Cash and other demand deposits $ 471,462 $ 708,072
Money Market Funds 833,155 653,087

$ 1,304,617 $ 1,361,159

Money market funds include the SSgA US Government Money Market Fund, the Goldman Sachs
Financial Square Government Fund, RWM Cash Management and the Fidelity Bank LifeDesign
Business Cash Management Money Market accounts in the amounts of $112,880, $104,726, $146,615
and $468,934 at June 30, 2018.

Money market funds include the SSgA US Government Money Market Fund, the Goldman Sachs
Financial Square Government Fund, RWM Cash Management and the Fidelity Bank LifeDesign
Business Cash Management Money Market accounts in the amounts of $51,013, $68,472, $91,288 and
$442,314 at June 30, 2017.

The cash balances are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") up to $250,000.
At June 30, 2018 and 2017, FSU Foundation's uninsured cash and equivalent balances, including the
SSgA US Government Money Market Fund, Goldman Sachs Financial Square Government Fund,
RWM Cash Management and the Fidelity Bank LifeDesign Business Cash Management Money Market
accounts, amounted to approximately $554,900 and $706,700, respectively.

FSU Foundation's investment policy consists of an asset allocation range of 50% to 70% equity
securities, 30% to 50% fixed income securities and up to 10% in cash and cash equivalents.

FSU Foundation's investments are represented by the following at June 30:

2018 2017

Fair Fair

Cost value Cost value
Equities $ 5,956,602 $ 9,755,423 $ 5,735,924 $ 8,765,351
Preferred Stocks 72,335 73,216 95,092 97,245
Mutual Funds 4,546,413 5,207,596 4,100,943 4,480,726
Corporate Bonds 1,795,019 1,751,921 1,570,558 1,579,007
U.S. Government Securities 2,056,409 2,001,348 1,954,323 1,939,576

$ 14,426,778 $ 18,789,504 $ 13,456,840 $ 16,861,905
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FSU Foundation's investments at fair value are presented in the accompanying statements of net
position as follows:

2018 2017
Current assets
Investments $ 8,612,256 $ 7,121,426
Noncurrent assets
Endowment investments 10,177,248 9,740,479

$ 18,789,504 $ 16,861,905

At June 30, 2018, net unrealized gains in FSU Foundation's investment portfolio amounted to
$4,362,726. At June 30, 2017, net unrealized gains in FSU Foundation's investment portfolio amounted
to $3,405,065.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, equities include securities in the consumer goods sector which represent
17% in each year of the fair value of FSU Foundation's investment portfolio.

At June 30, 2018, equities include securities in the technology sector which represent 10% of the fair
value of FSU Foundation's investment portfolio.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, 8% of the fair value of FSU Foundation's investment portfolio in each year
represents foreign investments.

Investments held by FSU Foundation with an equivalent fair value of $11,338,000 at June 30, 2018
collateralize certain debt agreements (see Notes 14 and 15).

At June 30, 2018, the fair value of FSU Foundation's investments in debt securities by contractual
maturities is as follows:

Maturity
Within 1-5 6-10 More than
1 year years years 10 years Total
Corporate Bonds $ 25,005 $ 1,462,981 $ 263,935 $ - $ 1,751,921
U.S. Government
Securities 242,898 1,494,970 263,480 - 2,001,348
$ 267,903 $ 2,957,951 $ 527,415 $ - $ 3,753,269
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At June 30, 2017, the fair value of FSU Foundation's Investments in debt securities by contractual
maturities is as follows:

Maturity
Within 1-5 6-10 More than
1 year years years 10 years Total
Corporate Bonds $ 261,280 $ 853,493 $ 464,234 $ - $ 1,579,007
U.S. Government
Securities 400,388 1,187,142 352,046 - 1,939,576
$ 661,668 $ 2,040,635 $ 816,280 $ - $ 3,518,583

The University's investments are measured at fair value on a recurring basis and have been
categorized based upon the fair value hierarchy in accordance with GASB 72 below. Similarly, the FSU
Foundation follows similar guidance in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board
Accounting Standards Codification ASC 820-10, which prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques
used to measure fair value of investment assets into three levels also.

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
University can access at measurement date.

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for an asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for an asset or liability.
The University's investments' fair value measurements are as follows at June 30, 2018:

Quoted prices in

active markets Significant other Significant
for identical observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs
Investments Fair value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

U.S. Treasury Notes and
Government Securities $ 1,295,626  $ - $ 1,295,626  $ -
Corporate Debt Securities 1,929,532 - 1,929,532 -
Equity Securities 6,825,505 6,825,505 - -
Mutual Funds 6,678,262 6,678,262 - -

$ 16,728,925 $ 13,503,767 $ 3,225,158 $ -
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The University's investments' fair value measurements are as follows at June 30, 2017:

Quoted prices in

active markets Significant other Significant
for identical observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs
Investments Fair value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

U.S. Treasury Notes and
Government Securities $ 1,293,367 $ - $ 1,293,367 $ -
Corporate Debt Securities 1,944,881 - 1,944,881 -
Equity Securities 6,273,275 6,273,275 - -
Mutual Funds 6,206,333 6,206,333 - -
$ 15,717,856 $ 12,479,608 $ 3,238,248 $ -

FSU Foundation's investments' fair value measurements are as follows at June 30, 2018:

Quoted prices in

active markets Significant other Significant
for identical observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs
Investments Fair value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

U.S. Treasury Notes and
Government Securities $ 2,001,348 $ - $ 2,001,348 $ -
Preferred Stocks 73,216 - 73,216 -
Corporate Bonds 1,751,921 - 1,751,921 -
Equity Securities 9,755,423 9,755,423 - -
Mutual Funds 5,207,596 5,207,596 - -
$ 18,789,504 $ 14,963,019 $ 3,826,485 $ -

FSU Foundation's investments' fair value measurements are as follows at June 30, 2017:

Quoted prices in

active markets Significant other Significant
for identical observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs
Investments Fair value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

U.S. Treasury Notes and
Government Securities $ 1939576 $ - $ 1939576 $ -
Preferred Stocks 97,245 - 97,245 -
Corporate Bonds 1,579,007 - 1,579,007 -
Equity Securities 8,765,351 8,765,351 - -
Mutual Funds 4,480,726 4,480,726 - -
$ 16,861,905 $ 13,246,077 $ 3,615,828 $ -
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Mutual funds and equity securities categorized as Level 1 are valued based on prices quoted in active
markets for those securities. Debt securities categorized as Level 2 are valued using a matrix pricing

technique that values securities based on their relationship to benchmark quoted prices.

Changes in FSU Foundation's board-designated and donor-restricted endowment net position by type
of fund for the year ended June 30, 2018 are as follows:

Endowment net position,

beginning of year

Investment return
Investment income
Appreciation (depreciation),
realized and unrealized

Total investment return

Contributions

Appropriation of endowment
assets for expenditure
Investment management fees
Reclassification of net position

Transfers to create board-designated

endowment funds

Transfer upon removal of donor restrictions - -

Endowment net position,
end of year

Temporarily Permanently
restricted restricted
Unrestricted (Expendable) (Nonexpendable) Total

$ - $ 5,065,644 $ 9,776,806 $ 14,842,450
- 244,587 - 244,587

- 1,195,940 - 1,195,940

- 1,440,527 - 1,440,527

- 13,975 427,010 440,985
- (218,165) - (218,165)
- (77,283) - (77,283)
- (24,060) 500 (23,560)

25,000 - - 25,000
(1,350) (1,350)

$ 25,000 $ 6,200,638 $ 10,202,966 $ 16,428,604

Changes in FSU Foundation's donor-restricted endowment net position by type of fund for the year
ended June 30, 2017 are as follows:

Endowment net position,

beginning of year

Investment return
Investment income
Appreciation (depreciation),
realized and unrealized

Total investment return

Contributions

Appropriation of endowment
assets for expenditure
Investment management fees
Reclassification of net position

Endowment net position,
end of year

Temporarily Permanently
restricted restricted
Unrestricted (Expendable) (Nonexpendable) Total
$ - $ 4,130,783 $ 9,505,236 $ 13,636,019
- 231,627 - 231,627
- 1,060,615 - 1,060,615
- 1,292,242 - 1,292,242
- 12,140 245,750 257,890
- (284,794) - (284,794)
- (70,933) - (70,933)
- (13,794) 25,820 12,026
$ - $ 5,065,644 $ 9,776,806 $ 14,842,450
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Note 3 - Accounts and contributions receivable

The University's accounts receivable include the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Student accounts receivable $ 1,921,064 1,793,529
Parking and other fines receivable 104,485 89,796
Commissions receivable 111,269 67,631
Grants receivable 464,096 220,567
Compass receivable, including accrued
interest of $11,848 and $7,540 (see Note 11) 89,866 85,557
FSU Foundation receivable 203,534 229,878
Miscellaneous other receivables - 28,509
2,894,314 2,515,467
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (640,926) (473,794)
$ 2,253,388 2,041,673

FSU Foundation's contributions receivable consist of the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Receivable in less than one year $ 106,585 136,800
Receivable in one to five years 400 80,600
106,985 217,400
Discount on pledges (516) (1,215)
$ 106,469 216,185

Contributions which are to be received in more than one year are reflected net of a discount determined

at the time of contribution ranging from 1% to 2%.
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Note 4 - Loans receivable

Loans receivable include the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Perkins loans receivable $ 1,408,153 $ 1,601,156
Nursing loans receivable 295,643 326,342
Emergency student loans receivable 3,018 3,018

1,706,814 1,930,516
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (3,018) (3,018)

$ 1,703,796 $ 1,927,498

The federal law authorizing the disbursing of Perkins loans expired on September 30, 2017. As of
October 1, 2017, the University is prohibited from issuing new Perkins loans to undergraduate students.
As of October 1, 2016, the University is prohibited from issuing new Perkins loans to graduate students
who received them prior to October 1, 2015. The Perkins loan program ended any further new loans
being issued after September 30, 2017. The University may remit all federal proceeds and loans at any
time thereafter to the Department of Education or continue to maintain them for five additional years.
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Note 5 - Capital assets

Capital assets activity of the University for the year ended June 30, 2018 is as follows:

Reclassifications*

Totals and Totals

Capital assets: June 30, 2017 Additions reductions June 30, 2018
Non-depreciable capital assets
Land $ 5,478,125 $ - $ - $ 5,478,125
Construction in progress 6,184,439 10,459,780 (4,312,293) 12,331,926
Total non-depreciable assets 11,662,564 10,459,780 (4,312,293) 17,810,051
Depreciable capital assets
Land improvements 16,777,625 655,169 146,528 17,579,322
Buildings 80,591,909 - - 80,591,909
Building improvements 146,360,296 5,572,887 3,688,309 155,621,492
Equipment 17,400,275 1,250,937 477,456 19,128,668
Furniture 597,676 - - 597,676
Library materials 493,446 98,149 (89,874) 501,721
Total depreciable assets 262,221,227 7,577,142 4,222,419 274,020,788
Total capital assets 273,883,791 18,036,922 (89,874) 291,830,839
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Land improvements 6,123,733 854,250 - 6,977,983
Buildings 42,266,570 1,153,760 - 43,420,330
Building improvements 36,417,644 7,248,539 - 43,666,183
Equipment 15,074,840 644,302 - 15,719,142
Furniture 597,676 - - 597,676
Library materials - 89,874 (89,874) -
Total accumulated depreciation 100,480,463 9,990,725 (89,874) 110,381,314
Capital assets, net $ 173,403,328 $ 8,046,197 $ - $ 181,449,525

As of June 30, 2018, capital assets of the University with a cost of approximately $54,241,000 were
fully depreciated and still in service.

*  Construction costs incurred for various capital projects were included in construction in progress
and subsequently transferred to capital asset additions upon completion during the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2018.

The University enters into various contract commitments with contractors, from time to time, for
improvements to its facilities. Remaining contract commitments totaled approximately $3,773,000 and
$4,646,000 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Capital assets activity of the University for the year ended June 30, 2017 is as follows:

Reclassifications*

Totals and Totals

Capital assets: June 30, 2016 Additions reductions June 30, 2017
Non-depreciable capital assets
Land $ 5,478,125 $ - $ - $ 5,478,125
Construction in progress 3,483,129 3,921,005 (1,219,695) 6,184,439
Total non-depreciable assets 8,961,254 3,921,005 (1,219,695) 11,662,564
Depreciable capital assets
Land improvements 16,777,625 - - 16,777,625
Buildings 80,591,909 - - 80,591,909
Building improvements 142,152,855 3,179,856 1,027,585 146,360,296
Equipment 15,888,447 1,319,718 192,110 17,400,275
Furniture 597,676 - - 597,676
Library materials 489,364 110,294 (106,212) 493,446
Total depreciable assets 256,497,876 4,609,868 1,113,483 262,221,227
Total capital assets 265,459,130 8,530,873 (106,212) 273,883,791
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Land improvements 5,285,393 838,340 - 6,123,733
Buildings 41,049,115 1,217,455 - 42,266,570
Building improvements 29,274,488 7,143,156 - 36,417,644
Equipment 14,254,576 820,264 - 15,074,840
Furniture 597,676 - - 597,676
Library materials - 106,212 (106,212) -
Total accumulated depreciation 90,461,248 10,125,427 (106,212) 100,480,463

Capital assets, net $ 174,997,882 $ (1,594,554) $ - $ 173,403,328

As of June 30, 2017, capital assets of the University with a cost of approximately $52,804,000 were
fully depreciated and still in service.

* Construction costs incurred for various capital projects were included in construction in progress
and subsequently transferred to capital asset additions upon completion during the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2017.

The University has considered the requirements of GASB Statement No. 49, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Pollution Remediation Obligations, and has noted no implications of this standard to the
University's financial statements for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017.
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Capital assets activity of FSU Foundation for the year ended June 30, 2018 is as follows:

Capital assets:

Real estate under lease to the University:

Land
Building
Building improvements

Real estate used for student housing:
Land
Buildings
Building improvements

Other:
Land
Land improvements
Buildings
Building improvements
Equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Library materials

Total capital assets

Less: Accumulated depreciation

Real estate under lease to the University:

Building
Building improvements

Real estate used for student housing:
Buildings
Building improvements

Other:
Land improvements
Buildings
Building improvements
Equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Library materials

Total accumulated depreciation

Capital assets, net

Reclassifications

Totals and Totals
June 30, 2017 Additions reductions June 30, 2018
$ 402,663 $ - $ - $ 402,663
1,557,724 - - 1,557,724
100,452 - - 100,452
2,060,839 - - 2,060,839
253,555 - - 253,555
434,225 - - 434,225
28,600 - - 28,600
716,380 - - 716,380
2,333,018 110,172 (726,493) 1,716,697
158,127 - - 158,127
1,249,071 266,737 (135,892) 1,379,916
1,109,006 - - 1,109,006
759,307 - - 759,307
60,773 - - 60,773
6,570 - - 6,570
5,675,872 376,909 (862,385) 5,190,396
8,453,091 376,909 (862,385) 7,967,615
421,883 38,944 - 460,827
51,063 5,022 - 56,085
472,946 43,966 - 516,912
109,461 10,856 - 120,317
11,202 1,430 - 12,632
120,663 12,286 - 132,949
75,250 11,145 - 86,395
154,866 23,709 - 178,575
157,836 60,261 (4,813) 213,284
657,238 93,711 - 750,949
34,378 4,280 - 38,658
6,570 - - 6,570
1,086,138 193,106 (4,813) 1,274,431
1,679,747 249,358 (4,813) 1,924,292
$ 6,773,344 $ 127,551 $ (857,572) $ 6,043,323
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Non-depreciable capital assets of FSU Foundation total $2,372,915 at June 30, 2018, which is
comprised of land.

At June 30, 2018, capital assets of FSU Foundation with a cost of approximately $507,100 were fully
depreciated and still in service.

On November 28, 2017, the Foundation Supporting Organization transferred seven properties,
consisting solely of land, to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts acting by and through DCAMM on
behalf of Fitchburg State University. On the date the properties were transferred, the seven properties
collectively had a net book value of $678,470. A loss of $678,470 was recorded from the transfers of
the properties and recognized in operations and maintenance of plant in FSU Foundation's
accompanying 2018 statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position.

On April 5, 2018, the Foundation Supporting Organization sold a property consisting of land and a
building to Massachusetts State College Building Authority ("MSCBA") with an original cost of $183,915
and a net book value of $179,102 for a net sales price of $133,196. A loss of $45,906 was recorded
from the sale of the property and recognized in operations and maintenance of plant in FSU
Foundation's accompanying 2018 statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. The
property is being renovated by MSCBA for use by the University for faculty/staff housing.

The Foundation Supporting Organization is planning a major renovation and expansion of a property
consisting of land and a building that it acquired in fiscal 2017. The renovation of the property which
when completed is expected to cost approximately $25,000,000 and consist of a multi-phased project
providing academic space, student support services space, retail and community space and a theatre
renovation. The space is expected to be used by the University and the Fitchburg and surrounding
communities. Fitchburg State University will be responsible for the costs of the project's development
and construction pursuant to the terms of the license agreement between the University and the
Foundation Supporting Organization. Funding for the project is expected to come from a variety of
sources including, but not limited to, New Market Tax Credits, Historic Tax Credits, bonds, grants and
philanthropy. The project is in the very early stages of development and is estimated to require four
years to completion. At some point during that period, the property will be transferred to a new entity.
The Foundation Supporting Organization will pay for certain legal services incurred in connection with
the project which the Foundation Supporting Organization currently estimates to be approximately
$148,000 for the entire project. For the year ended June 30, 2018, the Foundation Supporting
Organization has incurred $9,342 of legal costs related to the project. Fitchburg State University has
incurred $3,181,520 of costs which have been capitalized to construction in progress as of June 30,
2018.
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Capital assets activity of FSU Foundation for the year ended June 30, 2017 is as follows:

Capital assets:

Real estate under lease to the University:

Land
Building
Building improvements

Real estate used for student housing:
Land
Buildings
Building improvements

Other:
Land
Land improvements
Buildings
Building improvements
Equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Library materials

Total capital assets

Less: Accumulated depreciation

Real estate under lease to the University:

Building
Building improvements

Real estate used for student housing:
Buildings
Building improvements

Other:
Land improvements
Buildings
Building improvements
Equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Library materials

Total accumulated depreciation

Capital assets, net

Reclassifications

Totals and Totals
June 30, 2016 Additions reductions June 30, 2017
$ 402,663 $ - $ - $ 402,663
1,557,724 - - 1,557,724
100,452 - - 100,452
2,060,839 - - 2,060,839
253,555 - - 253,555
434,225 - - 434,225
28,600 - - 28,600
716,380 - - 716,380
1,913,847 419,171 - 2,333,018
158,127 - - 158,127
893,022 641,946 (285,897) 1,249,071
1,109,006 - - 1,109,006
758,208 1,099 - 759,307
60,773 - - 60,773
6,570 - - 6,570
4,899,553 1,062,216 (285,897) 5,675,872
7,676,772 1,062,216 (285,897) 8,453,091
382,941 38,942 - 421,883
46,040 5,023 - 51,063
428,981 43,965 - 472,946
98,605 10,856 - 109,461
9,772 1,430 - 11,202
108,377 12,286 - 120,663
61,410 13,840 - 75,250
132,540 22,326 - 154,866
102,384 55,452 - 157,836
558,167 99,071 - 657,238
28,797 5,581 - 34,378
6,570 - - 6,570
889,868 196,270 - 1,086,138
1,427,226 252,521 - 1,679,747
$ 6,249,546 $ 809,695 $ (285,897) $ 6,773,344
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Non-depreciable capital assets of FSU Foundation totaled $2,989,236 at June 30, 2017, which is
comprised of land.

At June 30, 2017, capital assets of FSU Foundation with a cost of approximately $507,100 were fully
depreciated and still in service.

In fiscal 2017, the Foundation Supporting Organization acquired three properties in close proximity to
the Fitchburg State University campus consistent with its mission and the University's strategic plan
which includes campus expansion. The properties, which each included land and a building, were
acquired for an aggregate cost of $359,467. The Foundation Supporting Organization razed the
buildings on the properties to create green space. As a result of its decision to raze the buildings,
management determined, in accordance with the requirements of accounting guidance, that the
properties were impaired and they were written down to their aggregate fair value of $73,570 resulting
in an impairment charge to operations in the amount of $285,897. The impairment charges (noncash
accounting charges) to operations on the three properties are included in operations and maintenance
of plant in FSU Foundation's accompanying 2017 statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net
position and had no impact on FSU Foundation's fiscal 2017 cash flow or its ability to generate cash
flow in the future. The fair values of the properties were measured using significant unobservable inputs
(Level 3) pursuant to the accounting guidance on fair value measurements. The fair values of the
properties were determined based upon the properties' assessment values at the purchase dates.

Note 6 - Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities include the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Accounts payable - trade $ 1,367,592 $ 777,936
Salaries and fringe benefits payable 1,758,301 1,022,131
Accrued interest payable 286,962 355,647
Tuition due State 75,539 75,766
Other 356,036 463,583

$ 3,844,430 $ 2,695,063

Note 7 - Accrued workers' compensation

Independent actuarial reviews of the outstanding loss reserve requirements for the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts' self-insured workers' compensation program were conducted as of June 30, 2018 and
2017. Based upon the Commonwealth's analyses, $648,771 and $581,018 of accrued workers'
compensation has been recorded as a liability at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Note 8 - Accrued compensated absences

Accrued compensated absences are comprised of the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017

Vacation time payable $ 2,623,970 $ 2,430,615
Sick time payable 2,717,311 2,730,631
Total $ 5,341,281 $ 5,161,246
Amount representing obligations due to employees

funded through sources other than State appropriations  $ 248,299 $ 224,486
Amount representing obligations due to employees

compensated through State appropriations 5,092,982 4,936,760
Total $ 5341281 $ 5161,246

It is anticipated that the obligation due to employees funded through State appropriations will be
discharged through future State appropriations and the balance is expected to be liquidated through
trust funds. Had these amounts not been reflected as obligations of the University, the University's
unrestricted net position (deficiency) balances would be $589,806 and $881,025 at June 30, 2018 and
2017, respectively (see Note 1, Compensated absences).

Note 9 - Faculty payroll accrual

The contract for full-time faculty begins on September 1 and ends on May 31, of any given academic
year. The Commonwealth of Massachusetts and Fitchburg State University pay all faculty over the 12-
month period from September through August. Consequently, on June 30 of each year there is a
balance due on each faculty contract which is to be paid from the subsequent year's State
appropriation. The total amount due at June 30, 2018 of $3,510,359 will be paid from the University's
fiscal 2019 State appropriations. The total amount due at June 30, 2017 of $3,342,746 was paid from
the University's fiscal 2018 State appropriations.

Note 10 - Revenue received in advance

Revenue received in advance includes tuition received in advance from students for summer courses
commencing after June 30 and grant funds received in advance.
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Revenue received in advance includes the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Tuition, fees and professional development $ 1,215,856 $ 1,036,336
Grants 103,367 787,961
Other 98,330 29,997

$ 1,417,553 $ 1,854,294

Note 11 - Deferred inflows of resources from service concession arrangement

Deferred inflows of resources from service concession arrangement at June 30, 2018 and 2017 in the
amounts of $1,517,508 and $1,770,425, respectively, consist of the unamortized balances of a service
concession arrangement with Compass Group USA, Inc. ("Compass") to manage and operate the
University's food services operation at the University's dining services locations as more fully described
in the arrangement. The service concession arrangement commenced on July 1, 1999 for a term of 10
years through June 30, 2009 and has been amended several times thereafter to modify its terms,
provide for additional payments to the University for investment in improvements in or at the University
as mutually agreed upon by the parties, and extend the term of the arrangement until June 30, 2024.
The last such amendment to the service concession arrangement was effective May 1, 2014 and
provides for the extension of the arrangement to June 30, 2024 and payments to the University totaling
$2,500,000. These payments shall be made to the University by Compass in seven installments as
follows: $300,000 in fiscal 2011; $1,200,000 in fiscal 2012; $200,000 in fiscal 2014; $500,000 in fiscal
2015; $200,000 in fiscal 2016; $50,000 in fiscal 2020; and $50,000 in fiscal 2022. As of June 30, 2018,
the University has received the first five installments from Compass. In addition, Compass has agreed
to pay the University specified percentages of 4%, 4 1% or 12% of specified sales receipts from the
food services operation as more fully described in the arrangement. All improvements and equipment
purchased with the payments received from Compass shall remain the property of the University. The
arrangement may be terminated by either party at any time, without cause, by giving not less than 60
days prior written notice to the other party. The arrangement contains provisions, whereby, in the event
of termination of the arrangement, the University shall be required to repay a portion of any payments
made to the University by Compass. The portion required to be repaid shall be determined in
accordance with amortization schedules prepared by Compass. The amortization schedules assume
that all funds will be received from Compass. The University does not anticipate that the arrangement
will be terminated prior to its expiration date.

The University has recorded the service concession arrangement as a deferred inflow of resources at
its present value using a 5% discount rate determined by management of the University. In fiscal 2011,
the University recorded an accounts receivable from Compass at the present value of the future
payments to be received from Compass, using a 5% discount rate determined by management of the
University. At June 30, 2018, the accompanying statement of net position includes a remaining
receivable from Compass in the amount of $89,866, which includes accrued interest receivable of
$11,848 (see Note 3). At June 30, 2017, the accompanying statement of net position includes a
remaining receivable from Compass in the amount of $85,557, which includes accrued interest
receivable of $7,540 (see Note 3). The deferred inflow of resources is being amortized to revenue on a
straight-line basis over the term of the arrangement. Amortization in the amounts of $252,918 has been
recognized in capital grants revenue in the accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and
changes in net position for each of the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017.
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The following table summarizes the University's Interagency payables as of June 30, 2018:

MDFA Series J-3
MSCBA Series 2005A
MSCBA Series 2006A
MSCBA Series 2010B
MSCBA Series 2012A
MSCBA Series 2012C
MSCBA Series 2014A
MSCBA Series 2014C
DCAMM CEIP Funds
MSCBA Series 2017A

Total

*Effective Interest Rates are calculated by dividing total interest paid during the year by the average outstanding balance of the Interagency payable.

Effective

Original Interest interest Interagency Unamortized Total interagency

Issue date amount rates (%) Due date rates (%)* payable balance bond premiums payable
11/22/1996 $ 6,000,000 Floating 7/1/2023 4.61 $ 2,256,705 $ - $ 2,256,705
3/1/2005 5,110,000 3.50-5.00 5/1/2025 3.86 2,255,000 - 2,255,000
3/8/2006 2,060,000 3.50-5.00 5/1/2026 4.07 1,050,000 43,571 1,093,571
12/17/2010 11,078,908 4.89-6.54 5/1/2030 3.38 11,078,908 - 11,078,908
1/4/2012 7,043,416 3.00-5.00 5/1/2031 4.96 4,810,000 613,181 5,423,181
12/20/2012 13,864,033 2.00-5.00 5/1/2032 3.27 10,320,000 810,241 11,130,241
1/7/2014 12,235,614 2.00-5.00 5/1/2033 5.00 9,510,000 1,000,226 10,510,226
12/17/2014 10,669,502 3.00-5.00 5/1/2034 4.93 8,235,000 1,320,371 9,555,371
11/7/2016 5,420,360 3.00 1/1/2039 0.00 5,420,360 - 5,420,360
1/25/2017 4,166,418 3.00-5.00 6/30/2037 3.60 3,835,000 227,105 4,062,105
$ 77,648,251 $ 58,770,973 $ 4,014,695 $ 62,785,668
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The following table summarizes the University's Interagency payables as of June 30, 2017:

MDFA Series J-3
MSCBA Series 2005A
MSCBA Series 2006A
MSCBA Series 2010A
MSCBA Series 2010B
MSCBA Series 2012A
MSCBA Series 2012C
MSCBA Series 2014A
MSCBA Series 2014C
DCAMM CEIP Funds
MSCBA Series 2017A

Total

*Effective Interest Rates are calculated by dividing total interest paid during the year by the average outstanding balance of the Interagency payable.

Effective
Original Interest interest Interagency Unamortized Total interagency
Issue date amount rates (%) Due date rates (%)* payable balance bond premiums payable

11/22/1996 $ 6,000,000 Floating 7/1/2023 211 $ 2,566,545 $ - $ 2,566,545
3/1/2005 5,110,000 3.50-5.00 5/1/2025 3.03 2,530,000 - 2,530,000
3/8/2006 2,060,000 3.50-5.00 5/1/2026 3.75 1,155,000 49,254 1,204,254
12/17/2010 4,856,749 3.00-5.00 5/1/2018 3.38 717,403 23,942 741,345
12/17/2010 11,078,908 4.89-6.54 5/1/2030 3.38 11,078,908 - 11,078,908
1/4/2012 7,043,416 3.00-5.00 5/1/2031 4.95 5,075,000 658,602 5,733,602
12/20/2012 13,864,033 2.00-5.00 5/1/2032 3.25 10,880,000 866,442 11,746,442
1/7/2014 12,235,614 2.00-5.00 5/1/2033 4.97 9,930,000 1,064,757 10,994,757
12/17/2014 10,669,502 3.00-5.00 5/1/2034 4.86 8,575,000 1,400,597 9,975,597

11/7/2016 5,420,360 3.00 1/1/2039 0.00 - - -
1/25/2017 4,166,418 3.00-5.00 6/30/2037 3.28 3,922,000 239,326 4,161,326
$ 82,505,000 $ 56,429,856 $ 4,302,920 $ 60,732,776
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MDFA Series J-3 bond issuance

On November 22, 1996, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $6,000,000 from a
MDFA (formerly Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority ("MHEFA")) bond issuance
to be used for the construction of the University's athletic facility. This obligation is being repaid solely
by the University. Construction of the athletic facility was completed in August 2000. MDFA retained
$502,899 of the bond proceeds for a debt service retirement fund.

The University is required to make annual funding payments of principal on this debt each July 1. The
principal payment due July 1, 2018 of $293,344 was made as scheduled. These payments are made to
a restricted cash account held in escrow in the University's name and recorded on the books of the
University. These amounts, along with the remaining balance of the debt service retirement fund, are
held in an escrow account by MDFA. Earnings on this balance are transferred and used by the
University to offset the administrative costs associated with this debt. In a prior year, the University
elected to release the annual funding payments from the reserve to redeem portions of the debt
obligation. Accordingly, each year the funding payments are now being released from the debt service
reserve to redeem portions of the outstanding debt obligation. These debt payments are to be repaid by
the University solely from student fees.

Interest on the debt is paid every 35 days at a floating rate of interest subject to market conditions. The
interest rate is determined by MDFA conducting a true auction of their debt issuance every 35 days, in
which the University's obligation is pooled with other higher education institutions within the
Commonwealth who have debt funded through MDFA. The most recent auctioned interest rate in effect
at June 30, 2018 and 2017 was 5.943% and 1.737%, respectively. The University is also responsible to
pay for program expenses at an annual rate of 0.926% (2018) and 0.900% (2017) of the outstanding
principal balance, calculated and payable every 35 days when the rate is auctioned.

MDFA is responsible to determine, subject to certain criteria, if income earned on unexpended bond
proceeds exceeds the interest cost to the bondholders. Any excess income earned is held in a rebate
fund by an appointed trustee. Such amounts are held until every fifth year, whereby payment is to be
made as indicated by the bond indenture agreement.

MSCBA Series 2005A bond issuance

During March 2005, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $5,110,000 from a MSCBA
bond issuance. These funds were used for renovations of the athletic fields and dining hall (the
"Projects") at the University. This obligation will be repaid solely by the University through dedicated
student fees.

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final
principal payment is due on May 1, 2025. Interest on the debt is payable May 1 and November 1 each
year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA using an
increasing coupon rate of interest ranging from 3.50% to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity.
Funds from the debt service reserve fund are expected to be applied to the final payment on the debt.
Earnings on the balance in the debt service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.
The effective interest rate at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, reflects interest savings as a result
of bond refundings in prior years.

MSCBA Series 2006A bond issuance

During March 2006, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $2,060,000 from a MSCBA
bond issuance. These funds were used for renovations of the dining hall (the "Project") at the
University. This obligation will be repaid solely by the University through dedicated student fees.
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As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, MSCBA held debt service reserve funds in the amount of $144,841
each year, which are included in the accompanying statements of net position at June 30, 2018 and
2017 as noncurrent restricted cash and cash equivalents.

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final
principal payment is due on May 1, 2026. Interest on the debt is payable May 1 and November 1 each
year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA using an
increasing coupon rate of interest ranging from 3.50% to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity.
Funds from the debt service reserve fund are expected to be applied to the final payment on the debt.
Earnings on the balance in the debt service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.

MSCBA Series 2010A bond issuance

During December 2010, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $4,856,749 from a
MSCBA bond issuance. These funds, net of bond issuance costs and a debt service reserve fund, were
used for renovations to the Hammond Campus Center. This obligation was repaid solely by the
University through dedicated student fees and operating funds.

During 2018, debt service reserve funds in the amount of $405,288 were released and applied to the
final payment on the debt. As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, MSCBA held debt service reserve funds in
the amount of $80,326 and $485,614, respectively, which is included in the accompanying statements
of net position at June 30, 2018 and 2017 as noncurrent restricted cash and cash equivalents.

The University was required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final
principal payment was due on May 1, 2018. Interest on the debt was payable May 1 and November 1
each year. Interest payments were based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA with
interest rates ranging from 3.00% to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity. Earnings on the
balance in the debt service reserve fund were used to defray debt service costs. During May 2018, the
University made the final payment on the 2010A bonds.

MSCBA Series 2010B bond issuance

During December 2010, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $11,078,908 from a
MSCBA bond issuance. These funds, net of bond issuance costs and a debt service reserve fund, were
used for renovations to the Hammond Campus Center. This obligation will be repaid solely by the
University through dedicated student fees and operating funds.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, MSCBA held debt service reserve funds in the amount of $964,163
each year, which are included in the accompanying statements of net position at June 30, 2018 and
2017 as noncurrent restricted cash and cash equivalents.

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1 commencing in
fiscal 2019. The final principal payment is due on May 1, 2030. Interest on the debt is payable May 1
and November 1 each year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by
MSCBA with interest rates ranging from 4.89% to 6.54% over the term of the debt to maturity. Funds
from the debt service reserve fund are expected to be applied to the final payment on the debt.
Earnings on the balance in the debt service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.
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MSCBA Series 2012A bond issuance

During December 2011, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $7,043,416 from a
MSCBA bond issuance. These funds, net of bond issuance costs, were used for renovations to the
Hammond Campus Center. This obligation will be repaid solely by the University through dedicated
student fees and operating funds.

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final
principal payment is due on May 1, 2031. Interest on the debt is payable May 1 and November 1 each
year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA with interest rates
ranging from 3.00% to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity.

MSCBA Series 2012C bond issuance

During December 2012, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $13,864,033 from a
MSCBA bond issuance. These funds, net of bond issuance costs and a debt service reserve fund, were
used for Phase Il of renovations to the Hammond Campus Center and parking expansion. This
obligation will be repaid solely by the University through dedicated student fees and operating funds.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, MSCBA held debt service reserve funds in the amount of $214,164
each year, which are included in the accompanying statements of net position at June 30, 2018 and
2017 as noncurrent restricted cash and cash equivalents.

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final
principal payment is due on May 1, 2032. Interest on the debt is payable May 1 and November 1 each
year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA with interest rates
ranging from 2.00% to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity. Funds from the debt service reserve
fund are expected to be applied to the final payment on the debt. Earnings on the balance in the debt
service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.

MSCBA Series 2014A bond issuance

During January 2014, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $12,235,614 from a
MSCBA bond issuance. These funds, net of bond issuance costs and a debt service reserve fund, were
used for Phase IV of renovations to the Hammond Campus Center. This obligation will be repaid solely
by the University through dedicated student fees and operating funds.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, MSCBA held debt service reserve funds in the amount of $667,799
each year, which are included in the accompanying statements of net position at June 30, 2018 and
2017 as noncurrent restricted cash and cash equivalents.

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final
principal payment is due on May 1, 2033. Interest on the debt is payable May 1 and November 1 each
year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA with interest rates
ranging from 2.00% to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity. Funds from the debt service reserve
fund are expected to be applied to the final payment on the debt. Earnings on the balance in the debt
service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.
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MSCBA Series 2014C bond issuance

During December 2014, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $10,669,502 from a
MSCBA bond issuance. These funds, net of bond issuance costs and a debt service reserve fund, are
being used for Phase V of renovations to the Hammond Campus Center. This obligation will be repaid
solely by the University through dedicated student fees and operating funds. The University also
executed a management agreement with MSCBA whereby MSCBA provided management services to
the University for the renovations.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, amounts held by MSCBA related to the debt issue and the Project are
as follows:

2018 2017
Unexpended debt proceeds $ - $ 7,533
Debt service reserve fund 596,968 596,968

$ 596,968 $ 604,501

The amounts held by MSCBA are included in the accompanying statements of net position at June 30,
2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Restricted cash and cash equivalents:
Current $ - $ 7,533
Noncurrent 596,968 596,968

$ 596,968 $ 604,501

During fiscal 2018, the remaining unexpended MSCBA bond proceeds from Phase V in the amount of
$2,530 were transferred to the Landry Arena renovation project. During fiscal 2017, unexpended
MSCBA bond proceeds from prior issuances in the amount of $972,628 were transferred to Phase V for
renovations of the Hammond Campus Center project. From this amount, unexpended proceeds
amounted to $7,533 at June 30, 2017, which are included in the accompanying 2017 statement of net
position as current restricted cash and cash equivalents.

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final
principal payment is due May 1, 2034. Interest on the debt is payable May 1 and November 1 each
year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA with interest rates
ranging from 3.00% to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity. Funds from the debt service reserve
fund are expected to be applied to the final payment on the debt. Earnings on the balance in the debt
service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.

DCAMM Clean Energy Investment Program

In November 2016, the University entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with DCAMM to
undertake a Comprehensive Energy Performance Contracting Project (the "Project™). The Project's goal
is to upgrade boilers, replace the chiller, lighting, EMS expansion and improvements, HVAC upgrades,
and various energy conservation measures.
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The total estimated cost for the Project is $9,270,332, including estimated contingency costs of
$900,000. The cost of the Project is expected to be funded from Clean Energy Investment Program
Funds ("CEIP Funds") in the amount of $5,420,360, capital grants of $3,600,000, and energy incentives
from the contractor in the amount of $249,972. CEIP Funds for the Project are to be repaid over 20
years at 3.00% interest. Annual payments of principal and interest for the Project in the amount of
$364,333 will commence on January 1, 2020. Additionally, the agreement provides for the University to
fund annual maintenance costs to be paid over the first five years of the Project totaling approximately
$244,500. These maintenance costs are expected to be offset by energy savings as a result of the
Project.

MSCBA Series 2017A bond issuance

During January 2017, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $4,166,418 from a
MSCBA bond issuance. These funds, net of bond issuance costs and a debt service reserve fund, are
being used for renovations to the Landry Arena. This obligation will be repaid solely by the University
through dedicated student fees and operating funds. The University also executed a management
agreement with MSCBA whereby MSCBA is providing management services to the University for the
renovations.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, amounts held by MSCBA related to the debt issue and the Project are
as follows:

2018 2017
Unexpended debt proceeds $ 191,655 $ 3,740,460
Debt service reserve fund 103,073 103,073

$ 294,728 $ 3,843,533

The amounts held by MSCBA are included in the accompanying statements of net position at June 30,
2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Restricted cash and cash equivalents:
Current $ 191,655 $ -
Noncurrent 103,073 3,843,533

$ 294,728 $ 3,843,533

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each June 30 commencingin
fiscal 2018. The final principal payment is due June 30, 2037. Interest on the debt is payable June 30
and December 30 each year. Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by
MSCBA with interest rates ranging from 3.00% to 5.00% over the term of the debt to maturity. Funds
from the debt service reserve fund are expected to be applied to the final payment on the debt.
Earnings on the balance in the debt service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.
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Aggregate principal and interest payments due to maturity consist of the following:

Amortization of Estimated
Year ending June 30: Principal bond premium Total principal interest (1) Total
2019 $ 3,223,066 $ 264,283 $ 3,487,349 $ 2,235,779 $ 5,723,128
2020 3,568,669 264,283 3,832,952 2,255,014 6,087,966
2021 3,709,660 264,283 3,973,943 2,104,445 6,078,388
2022 3,886,365 264,283 4,150,648 1,931,191 6,081,839
2023 4,059,860 264,283 4,324,143 1,757,930 6,082,073
2024 - 2028 19,949,675 1,308,153 21,257,828 6,262,340 27,520,168
2029 - 2033 16,635,013 1,224,343 17,859,356 2,448,884 20,308,240
2034 - 2038 3,384,941 160,784 3,545,725 306,700 3,852,425
2039 - 2043 353,724 - 353,724 10,612 364,336
Total $ 58,770,973 $ 4,014,695 $ 62,785,668 $ 19,312,895 $ 82,098,563

(1) The interest rate in effect at June 30, 2018 of 5.943% was used to calculate the estimated interest
on the MDFA Series J-3 bond included above.

Other Interagency activity

The oversight of various capital projects on campus is provided by MSCBA. To fund these projects, the
University provides equity contributions, by advancing funds to the MSCBA, which are then held by
MSCBA until used for the payment of the capital project costs. During fiscal 2018, the University
provided an equity contribution of $1,000,000 toward the Southside Chiller Project, of which $290,598
of these funds was subsequently transferred to the Fitchburg Theatre account at MSCBA for the
Fitchburg Theatre renovations project. During fiscal 2018, Landry Arena funds of $350,000 were
transferred to the Fitchburg Theatre account at MSCBA for the Fitchburg Theatre renovations project.
As of June 30, 2018, amounts held by MSCBA representing the unexpended portion of the University's
contributions totaled $43,257 related to the Southside Chiller Project, $3,809 related to the Landry
Arena Project, and $660,931 related to the Fitchburg Theatre Project, of which $172,084 is included in
current restricted cash and cash equivalents and $535,913 is included in noncurrent restricted cash and
cash equivalents in the accompanying 2018 statement of net position. During 2017, the University
provided an equity contribution of $800,000 toward the Southside Chiller Project. During 2017, the
University provided the remaining equity contribution of $972,628 to fund their portion of the renovation
costs of Phase V of the Hammond Campus Center project, of which $350,000 of these funds was
subsequently transferred to the Landry Arena account at MSCBA for the Landry renovations project. As
of June 30, 2018, amounts held by MSCBA representing the unexpended portion of the University's
contributions totaled $98,323 related to the Hammond Campus Center project, $832,283 related to the
Southside Chiller project, and $344,308 related to the Landry Arena project, of which $297,053 is
included in current restricted cash and cash equivalents and $977,861 is included in noncurrent
restricted cash and cash equivalents in the accompanying 2018 statement of net position.

Note 13 - Capital lease obligation

During fiscal year 2017, the University entered into a noncancellable capital lease agreement with a
financial institution in the amount of $1,261,206 for an upgrade to its wireless network equipment. The
lease has a term of five years and requires semi-annual payments of $132,483, which commenced on
March 23, 2017 and continues through September 23, 2021. The assets and capital lease obligation
were recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments based upon an interest rate
of 1.81% which was determined to be applicable at the inception of the lease. The capital lease
obligation is secured by the related assets.
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The University's wireless network equipment held under capital lease totaled $1,261,206 as of both
June 30, 2018 and 2017. The assets under the capital lease are being depreciated over their estimated
useful lives and the depreciation of these assets is included in depreciation expense. The accumulated
depreciation on the leased assets amounted to $441,422 and $189,181 at June 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. Depreciation expense totaled $252,241 and $189,181 for the years ended June 30, 2018

and 2017, respectively.

Interest expense incurred on the capital lease totaled $19,530 and $11,414 in fiscal 2018 and 2017,

respectively.

The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments under this capital lease at June 30,

2018:

June 30, 2018 and 2017

Year ending June 30, Amount
2019 $ 264,966
2020 264,966
2021 264,966
2022 132,483
Total minimum lease payments 927,381
Less amount representing interest (32,679)
Present value of future minimum lease payments 894,702
Less current portion 249,898
Present value of long-term portion $ 644,804

Note 14 - FSU Foundation's long-term debt

FSU Foundation's long-term debt consists of the following at June 30, 2018 and 2017:

First mortgage notes payable
Notes payable - bank

Less net debt issuance costs

Less current portion

2018 2017
$ 3064779 $ 3,123,323
514,276 533,121
3,579,055 3,656,444
(20,333) (23,801)
3,558,722 3,632,643
(756,909) (188,765)
$ 2801813 $ 3,443,878
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The Foundation has a mortgage note payable in the original amount of $550,000, dated April 16, 2008,
with Fidelity Cooperative Bank. The proceeds of the note were used to acquire certain real estate
properties on the Fitchburg State University campus. The note is secured by a first mortgage interest in
the real estate and related personal property located thereon, and an assignment of leases and rents.
Furthermore, any and all deposits held by the lender serve as additional collateral for the loan.

The loan agreement has a term of 20 years and provided for a fixed rate of interest of 5.75% per annum
for the first 10 years of the loan term. Thereafter, the interest rate was to be fixed at the Federal Home
Loan Bank Ten Year Cost of Funds Rate in effect as of the first day of the final 10 years of the term of
the loan plus 118 basis points. The interest rate was adjusted to 4.27% per annum for the remainder of
the loan term pursuant to the provisions of a Change in Terms Agreement dated October 19, 2016. The
loan required monthly installments of principal and interest of $3,862 through October 16, 2016.
Thereafter, the loan requires monthly installments of principal and interest of $2,454 commencing on
November 16, 2016 with a final principal payment due in the amount of $210,752 at the loan's maturity
date of April 16, 2028. The note may be prepaid at any time, in whole or in part, without premium or
penalty.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of this mortgage note payable amounted
to $372,278 and $385,211, respectively.

In August 2006, the Foundation Supporting Organization acquired land and a building consisting of
4,179 square feet of office space and 53,429 square feet of warehouse space located in Fitchburg,
Massachusetts near the University campus. The entire property has been leased to DCAMM on behalf
of the University (see Note 23). The University is currently using the property for its print services,
maintenance, and shipping and receiving and financial services.

The acquisition and related costs were funded with the proceeds of an offering of tax-exempt revenue
bonds, Massachusetts Development Finance Agency Revenue Bonds, FSC Foundation Supporting
Organization Issue, Series 2006 (the "bonds"), dated August 1, 2006, in the amount of $1,900,000,
issued by the Massachusetts Development Finance Agency ("MDFA"), pursuant to a Loan and Trust
Agreement. People's United Bank, as successor in interest to Chittenden Trust Company, is the bond
Trustee. MDFA assigned all of its rights, title, and interest in and to the loan and related loan
documents to the bond Trustee as security for repayment of the bonds. The loan is secured by a first
mortgage interest in the real estate and related personal property located thereon, and an assignment
of leases and rents. Payment and performance of the Foundation Supporting Organization's obligations
under the loan agreement have been guaranteed by the Foundation.

The loan agreement has a term of 20 years and provides for a fixed rate of interest of 5.5% per annum
for the first five years of the loan term. Thereafter, the interest rate will be adjusted at five-year intervals
(August 16, 2011, 2016 and 2021) to a fixed rate of interest equal to 80% of the bank's prime rate, but
no greater than 1% or less than 1% of the interest rate in effect for the immediately preceding five-year
adjustment interval. The interest rate was adjusted to 4.5% per annum on August 16, 2011 pursuant to
the provisions of the loan agreement. The loan required monthly installments of principal and interest of
$13,154 through August 16, 2011 and $12,306 until August 16, 2016. The interest rate was adjusted to
3.5% per annum on August 16, 2016 pursuant to the provisions of the loan agreement. Commencing
thereafter, the monthly installments of principal and interest are $11,739 until the next five-year interval
adjustment date of August 16, 2021. The loan matures on August 16, 2026. The loan agreement
requires the Foundation Supporting Organization to maintain a Debt Service Coverage Ratio, as
defined, of not less than 1.10 to 1 to be measured annually at the end of its fiscal year.
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The mortgage note was issued pursuant to the Loan and Trust Agreement and related loan documents
and is subject to and governed by the terms and conditions of those agreements. The loan may be
prepaid in accordance with the terms of the Loan and Trust Agreement for prepayment of the bonds as
more fully described in the Loan and Trust Agreement.

The loan documents contain cross default provisions with the DCAMM lease.

As of June 30, 2018, the outstanding principal balance of the mortgage note payable of $997,414, less
net debt issuance costs of $20,333, amounted to $977,081.

As of June 30, 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the mortgage note payable of $1,100,877,
less net debt issuance costs of $23,801, amounted to $1,077,076.

Workers' Credit Union ("WCU") provided financing to the Foundation Supporting Organization in the
form of a note, dated February 27, 2009, in the amount of $750,000. The note is secured by a first
mortgage interest in certain real estate owned by the Foundation Supporting Organization and an
assignment of certain leases and rents. The note is also collateralized by all funds held by the lender.
At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Foundation Supporting Organization has total cash balances of $6,935
and $6,308, respectively, held by the lender which serve as additional collateral for the loan.

The mortgage note has a term of 10 years, expiring on February 27, 2019, and provided for a fixed rate
of interest of 5.74% per annum. The interest rate was adjusted to 4.99% per annum on June 20, 2013
pursuant to the provisions of a loan modification agreement. The note required monthly installments of
principal and interest of $4,714, through June 20, 2013, based on a 20-year principal amortization.
Commencing thereafter, the monthly installments of principal and interest are $4,422, based on a 20-
year principal amortization with a final principal payment due in the amount of $561,619 at the loan's
maturity date of February 27, 2019.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of this first mortgage loan amounted to
$576,100 and $599,769, respectively.

Rollstone Bank & Trust provided financing to the Foundation Supporting Organization in the form of a
note, dated December 22, 2014 in the amount of $240,000. The note is secured by a first mortgage
interest in the real estate property located at 131 Highland Avenue in Fitchburg, Massachusetts and an
assignment of leases and rents on the property. The note has a term of 20 years, maturing on
December 22, 2034, and provides for a fixed rate of interest of 3.25% per annum. The loan requires
monthly installments of principal and interest of $1,367 based on a 20-year principal amortization. The
loan agreement requires the Foundation Supporting Organization to maintain a ratio of Cash Flow (after
distributions), as defined, to the Current Maturity of Long-Term Debt plus interest, as defined, of not
less than 1.0 to 1 for any fiscal year. The loan agreement also contains, among other covenants,
restrictions relating to future borrowings, capital expenditures by lease or purchase, distributions,
making of advances or loans to other parties, making of investments, and sale, lease or transfer of
assets, except as provided for and as more fully described in the loan agreement.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the mortgage note payable amounted
to $208,551 and $217,912, respectively.
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Fidelity Co-Operative Bank provided financing to the Foundation Supporting Organization in the form of
a note, dated June 26, 2013, in the amount of $83,200. The note is secured by a first mortgage interest
in the real estate property located at 340 Highland Avenue in Fitchburg, Massachusetts and an
assignment of leases and rents on the property. The mortgage note has a term of 20 years, maturing
on June 26, 2033, and provides for a fixed rate of interest of 3.5% per annum for the first five years of
the loan term. Thereafter, the interest rate will be adjusted at five-year intervals (June 26, 2018, 2023
and 2028) to the Federal Home Loan Bank Boston Classic Advance Five-Year Rate plus 2.75% per
annum. The loan required monthly installments of principal and interest of $376 until the next five-year
interval adjustment date of June 26, 2018. The interest rate was adjusted to 5.93% per annum on June
26, 2018 pursuant to the provisions of the loan agreement. The July and August 2018 monthly
installments of principal and interest remained at $376. On August 27, 2018, the Foundation Supporting
Organization entered into a Change in Terms Agreement with the lender in which the interest rate on
the note was modified to a fixed rate of 5.20% per annum until June 26, 2023. At that time, the interest
rate will be adjusted pursuant to the terms of the original note described above. All other terms,
provisions and conditions of the original note agreement remain in full force and effect. Commencing
with the September 2018 monthly installment of principal and interest, the monthly installments shall be
$450. The note provides for the payment of a prepayment penalty if the loan is paid prior to maturity.
The amount of the penalty shall be a specified percentage of the amount prepaid with such percentage
ranging from 5% if paid before the loan's first anniversary and decreasing by 1% per year to 1% if paid
before the loan's fifth anniversary. The prepayment penalty will reset as defined above at each five-year
anniversary date of the note. The loan agreement contains, among other covenants, restrictions relating
to future borrowings, making of advances or loans to other parties, sale, lease or transfer of assets, and
the granting of further security interests, except as provided for and as more fully described in the loan
agreement. The loan is cross-defaulted and cross-collateralized with any and all other loans made by
the lender to the Foundation Supporting Organization.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the mortgage note payable amounted
to $74,685 and $76,518, respectively.

In October 2016, Fidelity Co-Operative Bank provided financing to the Foundation Supporting
Organization in the form of a promissory note, dated October 19, 2016, in the amount of $118,000. The
note is secured by a Negative Pledge Agreement on the real estate property located at 198 Pearl Street
in Fitchburg, Massachusetts.

The promissory note has a term of 10 years, maturing on October 21, 2026, and provides for a fixed
rate of interest of 4.11% per annum. Commencing on November 21, 2016, the loan requires monthly
installments of principal and interest of $726 based on a 20-year principal amortization until the maturity
date, at which time the remaining outstanding principal balance of $71,599 and any accrued interest
thereon is due and payable. The note provides for the prepayment of all or a portion of the amount
owed without penalty. The business loan agreement contains, among other covenants, restrictions
relating to future borrowings, making of advances or loans to other parties, sale, lease or transfer of
assets, and the granting of further security interests, except as provided for and as more fully described
in the business loan agreement. The loan is cross-defaulted and cross-collateralized with any and all
other loans made by the lender to the Foundation Supporting Organization.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the loan amounted to $111,291 and
$115,273, respectively.
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In January 2017, Fidelity Co-Operative Bank provided financing to the Foundation Supporting
Organization in the form of a promissory note, dated January 13, 2017, in the amount of $220,000. The
note is secured by a Negative Pledge Agreement on the properties located at 9 Clinton Street and 85-
87 Pearl Street in Fitchburg, Massachusetts.

The promissory note has a term of 10 years, maturing on January 13, 2027, and provides for a fixed
rate of interest of 4.76% per annum. Commencing on February 13, 2017, the loan requires monthly
installments of principal and interest of $1,431 based on a 20-year principal amortization until the
maturity date, at which time the remaining outstanding principal balance of $136,868 and any accrued
interest thereon is due and payable. The note provides for the payment of a prepayment penalty if the
loan is paid prior to maturity. The amount of the penalty shall be a specified percentage of the amount
prepaid with such percentage ranging from 5% if paid before the loan's first anniversary and decreasing
by 1% per year to 1% if paid before the loan's fifth anniversary. The prepayment penalty will reset as
defined above at each five-year anniversary date of the note. The loan agreement contains, among
other covenants, restrictions relating to future borrowings, making of advances or loans to other parties,
sale, lease or transfer of assets, and the granting of further security interests, except as provided for
and as more fully described in the loan agreement. The loan is cross-defaulted and cross collateralized
with any and all other loans made by the lender to the Foundation Supporting Organization.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the loan amounted to $209,819 and
$216,683, respectively.

In November 2016, Hometown Bank provided financing to the Foundation Supporting Organization in
the form of a commercial note, dated November 8, 2016, in the amount of $135,000. The note was
secured by a first mortgage interest and collateral assignment of rents and leases on the real estate
property located at 132 Highland Avenue in Fitchburg, Massachusetts.

The commercial note has a term of 25 years, maturing on November 8, 2041, and provided for a fixed
rate of interest of 4.875% per annum. Commencing on December 8, 2016, the loan required monthly
installments of principal and interest of $779 based on a 25-year principal amortization schedule with a
final payment of all unpaid principal and accrued interest thereon due at maturity.

On April 5, 2018, the Foundation Supporting Organization paid off the loan balance in full and related
interest with the proceeds from the sale of the 132 Highland Avenue property.

As of June 30, 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the loan amounted to $133,364.

In November 2016, Enterprise Bank and Trust Company provided financing to the Foundation
Supporting Organization in the form of a promissory note, dated November 4, 2016, in the amount of
$280,000. The note is secured by a first mortgage interest in the property and an assignment of rents
on the property located at 689-717 Main Street in Fitchburg, Massachusetts.

The promissory note has a term of 10 years, maturing on November 4, 2026, and thereafter is payable
on demand. The note provides for a fixed rate of interest of 4.33% per annum for the first ten years of
the loan term. Thereafter, the interest rate will be adjusted at 10-year intervals to the Daily High Federal
Home Loan Bank Boston Classic Advance Ten Year Regular Rate plus 1.95% per annum.
Commencing on January 1, 2017, the loan requires monthly installments of principal and interest of
$1,401 based on a 30-year principal amortization schedule. If the note is prepaid in whole or in part
during the first 117 months of each fixed rate period for the purpose of refinancing the note with another
financial institution, the note provides for a prepayment penalty equal to 3% of any principal reduction.
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Except for the forgoing, the note may be prepaid in whole or in part without penalty. The loan is cross-
defaulted and cross-collateralized with any and all other loans made by the lender to the Foundation
Supporting Organization.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the loan amounted to $273,003 and
$277,716, respectively.

In September, 2017, Webster First Federal Credit Union provided financing to the Foundation
Supporting Organization in the form of a commercial note, dated September 22, 2017, in the amount of
$250,000. The note is secured by a first mortgage interest in the real estate properties located at 66
and 0 Day Street and 721-725 Main Street, Fitchburg, Massachusetts, and an assignment of leases
and rents on the properties. The note has a term of 15 years, maturing on October 1, 2032, and
provides for a fixed rate of interest of 3.75% per annum for the first 10 years of the loan term.
Thereafter, the interest rate will be adjusted to the Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston Five Year
Classic Rate plus 1.5% per annum for the remaining 5 years of the loan term, but no less than a rate of
3.75% per annum. Commencing on November 1, 2017, the loan requires monthly installments of
principal and interest of $1,825 based on a 15-year principal amortization schedule with a final payment
of all unpaid principal and accrued interest thereon due at maturity. The note may be prepaid in whole
or in part at any time without penalty.

As of June 30, 2018, the outstanding principal balance of the loan amounted to $241,638.

The Foundation Supporting Organization has a note payable in the original amount of $680,000, dated
April 26, 2007, with Enterprise Bank and Trust Company. The note is secured by investments with an
equivalent fair value of approximately $2,253,000 and $2,116,000 at June 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. In addition, payment and performance of the Foundation Supporting Organization's
obligations under the loan agreement have been guaranteed by the Foundation.

The promissory note has a term of 30 years, expiring on May 5, 2037, and provides for a fixed rate of
interest of 6% per annum for the first five years of the loan term. Thereafter, the interest rate will be
adjusted at five-year intervals (April 26, 2012, 2017, 2022, 2027 and 2032) to the Federal Home Loan
Bank Boston Classic Advance Five-Year Rate plus 1.15% per annum. The rate was adjusted to 2.62%
per annum on April 26, 2012 pursuant to the provisions of the loan agreement. The loan required
monthly installments of principal and interest of $4,122 through May 7, 2012 and $2,875 until April 26,
2017. The interest rate was adjusted to 3.49% per annum on April 26, 2017 pursuant to the provisions
of the loan agreement. Commencing thereafter, the monthly installments of principal and interest are
$3,115 until the next five-year interval adjustment date of April 26, 2022. The note may be prepaid at
any time, in whole or in part, without premium or penalty.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal balance of this note payable amounted to
$514,276 and $533,121, respectively.
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Principal funding payments and estimated interest due to maturity consist of the following:

Year ending June 30: Principal Interest (1) Total

2019 $ 756,909 $ 132,025 $ 888,934
2020 187,389 106,696 294,085
2021 194,658 99,428 294,086
2022 202,010 92,076 294,086
2023 209,643 84,412 294,055
2024-2028 1,506,091 275,373 1,781,464
2029-2033 362,757 68,146 430,903
2034-2038 159,598 10,371 169,969

Total $ 3,579,055 $ 868,527 $ 4,447,582

(1) The interest rates in effect at June 30, 2018 on the first mortgage notes payable and the note
payable - bank were used to calculate the estimated interest on these debt obligations.

Note 15 - FSU Foundation lines of credit

On August 23, 2017, the Foundation renewed, under substantially the same terms, its existing demand
revolving working capital line of credit agreement with Workers' Credit Union which permits the
Foundation to borrow up to $250,000. The line of credit agreement which expired on March 17, 2017
provided for interest at The Wall Street Journal Prime Rate, but in no event less than 6% per annum.
Pursuant to the provisions of the line of credit agreement, maximum advances under the line are limited
to 70% of the pledged investment collateral unless otherwise approved by the lender. The renewed line
of credit provides for interest at 5.25% through September 1, 2017 and, thereafter, at The Wall Street
Journal Prime Rate (currently 5%) plus 1%. The interest rate charged to the Foundation may not
exceed a rate of 18%. At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the effective interest rate was 6% per annum. In
fiscal 2018, the line of credit was drawn down in the amount of $170,000 and advanced to the
Foundation Supporting Organization. As of June 30, 2018, the outstanding borrowings payable under
the line of credit amounted to $170,000. There were no draws on the line of credit in fiscal 2017 and no
outstanding liability under the line of credit at June 30, 2017. For the years ended June 30, 2018 and
2017, interest expense incurred on borrowings under this line of credit amounted to $830 and $9,576,
respectively. The interest expense incurred on the borrowings has been reflected as an expense on the
books of the Foundation Supporting Organization.

Borrowings under the line are secured by investments with an equivalent fair value of approximately
$9,085,000 at June 30, 2018. The line is also collateralized by all funds held by the lender. At June 30,
2018, the Foundation has total cash balances of $58,583 held by the lender. The Foundation may
prepay outstanding revolving loans under the agreement in whole or in part without premium or penalty.
The line of credit agreement expires on March 25, 2022.

On August 18, 2016, the Foundation Supporting Organization entered into a demand unsecured
revolving line of credit agreement with Rollstone Bank and Trust which permits the Foundation
Supporting Organization to borrow up to $250,000. The line of credit provides for interest at The Wall
Street Journal Prime Rate less .25% (effective rates of 4.75% at June 30, 2018 and 4% at June 30,
2017). For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, interest expense incurred on borrowings under
this line of credit amounted to $3,440 and $2,470, respectively. The line of credit agreement expired on
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August 18, 2017. The line of credit was extended through November 30, 2017, and again through
November 30, 2018, under the same terms and conditions of the previous agreement. On November
30, 2018, the line of credit will be up for renewal. The Foundation Supporting Organization may prepay
outstanding revolving loans under the agreement in whole or in part at any time without premium or
penalty. The line of credit agreement contains, among other covenants, the maintenance of a debt
service coverage ratio, as defined, of at least 1.00 to 1. In addition, the agreement provides that the line
of credit be brought to a zero balance for 30 consecutive days annually during the term of the
agreement. As of June 30, 2018, the Foundation Supporting Organization has made payments of
$250,000 and borrowings of $150,000 under the line of credit agreement. The balance outstanding as
of June 30, 2018 is $150,000. As of June 30, 2017, the Foundation Supporting Organization has made
payments of $110,000 and borrowings of $360,000 under the line of credit agreement. The balance
outstanding as of June 30, 2017 was $250,000.

Note 16 - Long-term liabilities

Long-term liability activity of the University for the year ended June 30, 2018 included the following:

Totals June 30, 2018

Totals Ending Current
June 30, 2017 Additions Reductions balance portion
Interagency payables $ 60,732,776 $ 5,420,360 $ 3,367,468 $ 62,785,668 $ 3,487,348
Total 60,732,776 5,420,360 3,367,468 62,785,668 3,487,348
Other liabilities:
Capital lease obligation 1,140,137 - 245,435 894,702 249,898
Workers' compensation 581,018 194,415 126,662 648,771 141,432
Compensated absences 5,161,246 3,375,331 3,195,296 5,341,281 3,175,133
Loan payable - federal
financial assistance 2,037,912 39,227 231,774 1,845,365 -
Net pension liability 12,580,841 - 1,150,193 11,430,648 -
Net OPEB liability 22,384,199 - 151,525 22,232,674 -
Total other liabilities 43,885,353 3,608,973 5,100,885 42,393,441 3,566,463
Long-term obligations $ 104,618,129 $ 9,029,333 $ 8,468,353 $ 105,179,109 $ 7,053,811
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Long-term liability activity of the University for the year ended June 30, 2017 included the following:

Totals June 30, 2017

Totals Ending Current
June 30, 2016 Additions Reductions balance portion
Interagency payables $ 59,714,524 $ 4,166,418 $ 3,148,166 $ 60,732,776 $ 3,334,367
Total 59,714,524 4,166,418 3,148,166 60,732,776 3,334,367
Other liabilities:
Capital lease obligation - 1,261,206 121,069 1,140,137 245,435
Workers' compensation 507,890 183,848 110,720 581,018 126,662
Compensated absences 5,454,493 3,153,804 3,447,051 5,161,246 3,195,296
Loan payable - federal
financial assistance 2,017,863 35,442 15,393 2,037,912 -
Net pension liability 9,995,092 2,585,749 - 12,580,841 -
Net OPERB liability - 22,384,199 - 22,384,199 -
Total other liabilities 17,975,338 29,604,248 3,694,233 43,885,353 3,567,393
Long-term obligations $ 77,689,862 $ 33,770,666 $ 6,842,399 $ 104,618,129 $ 6,901,760

Long-term liability activity of FSU Foundation for the year ended June 30, 2018 included the following:

Totals June 30, 2018

Totals Ending Current
June 30, 2017 Additions Reductions balance portion
First mortgage notes
payable $ 3,099,522 % 250,000 $ 305076 $ 3,044,446 $ 737,411
Notes payable - bank 533,121 - 18,845 514,276 19,498
Long-term obligations $ 3,632,643 $ 250,000 $ 323,921 $ 3,558,722 $ 756,909

Long-term liability activity of FSU Foundation for the year ended June 30, 2017 included the following:

Totals June 30, 2017

Totals Ending Current
June 30, 2016 Additions Reductions balance portion
First mortgage notes
payable $ 2,500,722 $ 753,000 $ 154,200 $ 3,099,522 % 169,798
Notes payable - bank 553,081 - 19,960 533,121 18,967
Long-term obligations $ 3,053,803 $ 753,000 $ 174,160 $ 3,632,643 $ 188,765

Note 17 - Net position

Unrestricted net position is comprised of net position that is not subject to externally imposed
stipulations; however, they may be subject to internal restrictions. For example, unrestricted net position
may be designated for specific purposes by action of management or the Board of Trustees or may
otherwise be limited by contractual agreements with outside parties. Certain unrestricted net position is
internally designated for academic and research programs and initiatives, and graduate and continuing
education programs. Designated unrestricted net position was $16,218,303 and $13,142,215 at June
30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Undesignated unrestricted net position was $(20,721,479) and
$(17,197,950) at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the net investment in capital assets amount of $118,281,520 and
$116,097,369, respectively, includes the effect of deferring the recognition of revenue from the
installment payments associated with the dining facilities service concession arrangement. At June 30,
2018 and 2017, $1,478,610 and $1,725,044, respectively, of the balance of the deferred inflow of
resources has been included, as a reduction, in the calculation of net investment in capital assets. This
amount will be recognized as revenue and increase the net investment in capital assets net position
over the remaining term of the arrangement.

Note 18 - Net position restricted by enabling legislation
Fitchburg State University Foundation, Inc.'s consolidated statements of net position as of June 30,
2018 and 2017 reflect a restricted net position of $17,441,084 and $15,896,000, respectively. Of these
amounts, $2,357,931 for each year, are restricted by enabling legislation for the State Matching Funds
Program.

Note 19 - Operating expenses

The University's operating expenses for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, on a natural
classification basis, are comprised of the following:

2018 2017

Salaries
Faculty $ 23,802,795 23,376,057
Exempt wages 3,964,775 3,291,824
Non-exempt wages 19,155,607 19,382,008
Benefits 15,414,523 14,919,383
Scholarships 2,731,812 1,992,215
Utilities 4,608,699 4,402,055
Supplies and other services 21,095,664 19,030,383
Depreciation 9,990,725 10,125,427
Bad debt expense 325,079 349,431
Total operating expenses $ 101,089,679 96,868,783

Note 20 - State controlled accounts

Certain significant costs and benefits associated with the operations of the University are appropriated,
expended, controlled, and reported by the Commonwealth through non-University line items in the
Commonwealth's budget. Under generally accepted accounting principles, such transactions must be
recorded in the financial statements of the University. These transactions include payments by the
Commonwealth for the employer's share of funding the Massachusetts State Employees' Retirement
System and for the employer's share of health care premiums.
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The estimated amounts of funding attributable for the Commonwealth's retirement system contribution
and the employer's share of health care premiums for the years ended June 30, 2018, 2017, and 2016
were as follows (see State appropriations under Note 24):

2018 2017 2016
Commonwealth's retirement system
contributions $ 3893971 $ 3,280,700 $ 3,144,412
Employers share of health care
premium $ 6,711,016 $ 6,904,977 $ 5,675,058

Note 21 - Retirement plan

Substantially all of the University's full-time employees are covered by the Massachusetts State
Employees' Retirement System ("MSERS"). MSERS, a public employee retirement system ("PERS"), is
a cost-sharing multi-employer defined benefit plan that is administered by the Massachusetts State
Retirement Board and covers substantially all non-student employees. The Commonwealth does not
issue separately audited financial statements for the plan. The financial position and results of
operations of the plan are incorporated into the Commonwealth's financial statements, a copy of which
may be obtained from the Office of the State Comptroller, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, One
Ashburton Place, Room 901, Boston, MA 02108.

MSERS provides retirement, disability, survivor and death benefits to members and their beneficiaries.
Massachusetts General Laws ("MGL") establishes uniform benefit and contribution requirements for all
contributory PERS. These requirements provide for superannuation retirement allowance benefits up to
a maximum of 80% of a member's highest three-year average annual rate of regular compensation. For
employees hired after April 1, 2012, retirement allowances are calculated on the basis of the last five
years or any five consecutive years, whichever is greater in terms of compensation. Benefit payments
are based upon a member's age, length of creditable service, and group creditable service, and group
classification. The authority for amending these provisions rests with the Legislature.

Members become vested after 10 years of creditable service. A superannuation retirement allowance
may be received upon the completion of 20 years of creditable service or upon reaching the age of 55
with 10 years of service. Normal retirement for most employees occurs at age 65; for certain hazardous
duty and public safety positions, normal retirement is at age 55. Most employees who joined the system
after April 1, 2012 cannot retire prior to age 60.

The MSERS' funding policies have been established by Chapter 32 of the MGL. The Legislature has
the authority to amend these policies. The annuity portion of the MSERS retirement allowance is funded
by employees, who contribute a percentage of their regular compensation. Costs of administering the
plan are funded out of plan assets.
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Member contributions for MSERS vary depending on the most recent date of membership:

Hire date % of compensation
Prior to 1975 5% of regular compensation
1975 to 1983 7% of regular compensation
1984 to June 30, 1996 8% of regular compensation
July 1, 1996 to present 9% of regular compensation
1979 to present An additional 2% of regular compensation

in excess of $30,000

In addition, members of Group 1 who join the system on or after April 2, 2012 will have their withholding
rate reduced to 6% after achieving 30 years of creditable service.

The University is not required to contribute from its appropriation allocation or other University funds to
MSERS for employees compensated from State appropriations. For University employees covered by
MSERS but compensated from a trust fund or other source, the University is required to contribute an
amount determined as a percentage of compensation in accordance with a fringe benefit rate
established by the State. The total amount of current funding by the State related to the University's
employees during 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $3,893,971, $3,280,700 and $3,144,412, respectively. The
total amount of funding by the University related to the University's employees compensated from a
trust fund or other source during 2018, 2017, and 2016 was $862,928, $696,825, and $655,160,
respectively. Annual covered payroll was approximately 80%, 81%, and 83% of annual total payroll for
the University in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the University reported a liability of $11,430,648 and $12,580,841,
respectively, for its proportionate share of the net pension liability. The net pension liability was
measured as of January 1, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and the State's total pension liability used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of those dates. The
University's proportion of the net pension liability was based on an effective contribution methodology
which allocates total contributions amongst the employers in a consistent manner based on an
employer's share of total covered payroll. At June 30, 2018, the University's proportion was 0.0891%
which was a decrease of 0.0021% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2017. At June 30, 2017,
the University's proportion was 0.0912%, which was an increase of 0.0034% from its proportion
measured as of June 30, 2016.

For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, the University recognized pension expense of
$5,321,863 and $5,098,931, respectively.
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At June 30, 2018, the University reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
outflows of inflows of
resources resources

Changes of assumptions $ 1,189,533 $ -

Net difference between projected and actual

earnings on pension plan investments - 136,196

Difference between expected and actual experience 441,955 310,999

Changes in proportion due to internal allocation 970,572 228,439

Changes in proportion from Commonwealth 39,150 4,075

University contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 862,928 -
Total $ 3,504,138 $ 679,709

The $862,928 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from University
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension
liability in the year ended June 30, 2019. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ending June 30:

2019 $ 625,236

2020 1,173,909

2021 509,570

2022 (333,628)

2023 (13,586)

Total $ 1,961,501
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At June 30, 2017, the University reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
outflows of inflows of
resources resources

Changes of assumptions $ 1,395,131 $ -

Net difference between projected and actual

earnings on pension plan investments 844,528 -

Difference between expected and actual experience 597,556 -

Changes in proportion due to internal allocation 1,339,317 45,438

Changes in proportion from Commonwealth 28,028 6,061

University contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 696,825 -
Total $ 4,901,385 $ 51,499

The total pension liability for the June 30, 2017 measurement date was determined by an actuarial
valuation as of January 1, 2017 rolled forward to June 30, 2017. This valuation used the following
assumptions:

1.

(a) 7.5% investment rate of return, (b) 3.5% interest rate credited to the annuity savings fund
and (c) 3.0% cost of living increase per year on the first $13,000 per year (3% cost of living
increase for the year ended June 30, 2016).

Salary increases are based on analyses of past experience but range from 4.0% to 9.0%
depending on group and length of service.

Chapter 79 of the Acts of 2014 established an early retirement incentive ("ERI") program for
certain employees of the highway division of the Massachusetts Department of Transportation
whose positions have been eliminated due to automation of toll collections. Most members
retiring under the ERI program had a date retirement of October 28, 2016. 112 members took
the ERI and retired during FY2017. As a result, the total pension liability of MSERS increased
by approximately $10 million as of June 30, 2017.

Chapter 176 of the Acts of 2011 created a one-time election for eligible members of the
Optional Retirement Plan ("ORP") to transfer to the Massachusetts State Employee's
Retirement System ("MSERS") and purchase service for the period while members of the
ORP. As a result, the total pension liability of MSERS has increased by approximately $400
million as of June 30, 2016.

Mortality rates were as follows:

(i) Pre-retirement - reflects RP-2014 Blue Collar Employees table projected generationally
with Scale MP-2016 and set forward 1 year for females (RP-2000 Employees table
projected generationally with Scale BB and a base year of 2009 (gender distinct) for the
year ended June 30, 2016).
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(i) Post-retirement - reflects RP-2014 Blue Collar Healthy Annuitant table projected
generationally with Scale MP-2016 set forward 1 year for females (RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant table projected generationally with Scale BB and a base year of 2009 (gender
distinct) for the year ended June 30, 2016).

(i) Disability - the mortality rate is assumed to be in accordance with the RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant table projected generationally with Scale BB and a base year of 2015 (gender
distinct) (unchanged from the year ended June 30, 2016).

These changes resulted in an increase of approximately $304 million in the total pension liability
as of June 30, 2017.

6. Experience studies were performed as follows:

() Dated February 27, 2014 and encompass the period January 1, 2006 to December 31,
2011.

Investment assets of MSERS are with the Pension Reserves Investment Trust ("PRIT") Fund. The long-
term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future rates of return are developed for each major
asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting
the expected future rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage. Best estimates of
geometric rates of return for each major asset class included in the PRIT Fund's target asset allocation
as of June 30, 2017 and 2016 are summarized in the following table:

Long-term expected real

Target allocation rate of return

Asset class 2017 2016 2017 2016
Global equity 40.00% 40.00% 5.00% 6.90%
Portfolio completion strategies 13.00% 4.00% 3.60% 3.60%
Core fixed income 12.00% 13.00% 1.10% 1.60%
Private equity 11.00% 10.00% 6.60% 8.70%
Value added fixed income 10.00% 10.00% 3.80% 4.80%
Real estate 10.00% 10.00% 3.60% 4.60%
Timber/natural resources 4.00% 4.00% 3.20% 5.40%
Hedge funds 0.00% 9.00% 3.60% 4.00%
Total 100.00% 100.00%

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability for the measurement years ended June 30,
2017 and 2016 was 7.5% for both years. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount
rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rates and the
University's contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined
contribution rates and the member rates. Based on those assumptions, the net position was projected
to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the
long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

The following presents the University's proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using
the discount rate of 7.5%, for both the measurement years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, as well as
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what the University's proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using
a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.5%) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.5%) than the
current rate:

Measurement year ended 1% decrease Discount rate 1% increase
June 30, 2017 $ 15,568,067 $ 11,430,648 $ 8,097,858
June 30, 2016 16,394,785 12,580,841 9,348,376

Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position is available in the Commonwealth's
financial statements.

Note 22 - Fringe benefits for current employees and post-employment obligations - pension and
non-pension

The University participates in the Commonwealth's Fringe Benefit programs, including active employee
and post - employment health insurance, unemployment, pension, and workers' compensation benefits.
Health insurance and pension costs for active employees and retirees are paid through a fringe benefit
rate charged to the University by the Commonwealth.

On-behalf payments of fringe benefits for benefited employees on the Commonwealth's payroll are
recognized as revenues and expenses in the University's financial statements in each of the fiscal
years presented.

Post-employment other than pensions

In addition to providing pension benefits, under Chapter 32A of the Massachusetts General Laws, the
Commonwealth is required to provide certain health care and life insurance benefits for retired
employees of the Commonwealth. Substantially all of the Commonwealth's employees may become
eligible for these benefits if they reach retirement age while working for the Commonwealth. Eligible
retirees are required to contribute a specified percentage of the health care/benefit costs, which are
comparable to contributions required from employees.

The Commonwealth administers a single employer defined Postemployment Benefits Other Than
Pensions ("OPEB") Plan. Benefits are managed by the Group Insurance Commission ("GIC") and
investments are managed by the Pension Reserves Investment Management ("PRIM") Board. The
State Retirement Benefits Trust Fund ("SRBT") is set up solely to pay for OPEB benefits and the cost to
administer those benefits. Management of the SRBT is vested with a board of trustees, which consists
of 7 members. GIC administers benefit payments, while the Trustees are responsible for investment
decisions. The SRBT is reported as an OPEB Trust Fund and does not issue a stand-alone audited
financial report. The financial position and results of operations of the plan are incorporated in the
Commonwealth's financial statements, a copy of which may be obtained from the Office of the State
Comptroller, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, One Ashburton Place, Room 901, Boston, MA 02108.

During the fiscal years ended on June 30, 2018 and 2017, the GIC provided health insurance for its
members through indemnity, PPO, and HMO plans. The GIC also administered carve-outs for the
pharmacy benefit and mental health and substance abuse benefits for certain of its health plans. In
addition to health insurance, the GIC sponsors life insurance, long-term disability insurance (for active
employees only), dental and vision coverage for employees not covered by collective bargaining, a

80

Powered by BoardOnTrack 218 of 282



Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday April 2, 2019 at 8:00 AM

Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2018 and 2017

retiree discount vision plan and retiree dental plan, and finally, a pre-tax health care spending account
and dependent care assistance program (for active employees only).

Employer and employee contribution rates are set in Massachusetts General Law. The Commonwealth
recognizes its share of the costs on an actuarial basis. As of June 30, 2017 and 2016 and as of the
valuation date (January 1, 2017), Commonwealth participants contributed 0% to 20% of premium costs,
depending on the date of hire and whether the participant is active, retiree, or survivor status.

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the University reported a liability of $22,232,674 and $22,384,199,
respectively, for its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability. The net OPEB liability was measured
as of January 1, 2017, and the Commonwealth's total OPEB liability used to calculate the net OPEB
liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The University's proportion of the net
OPEB liability was based on an effective contribution methodology which allocates total actual
contributions amongst the employers in a consistent manner based on an employer's share of total
covered payroll. At June 30, 2018, the University's proportion was 0.1272%, which was an increase of
0.0091% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2017.

The amount of funding by the University related to benefits other than OPEB for the years ended June
30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $15,031,796, $14,961,048, and $11,720,616, respectively, which
equaled the required contributions each year charged to it through the Commonwealth's fringe benefit
recovery program. The total amount of current funding by the State related to the OPEB portion of
fringe benefits for the University's employees during 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $2,713,264, $2,429,837
and $2,189,437, respectively. The total amount of funding by the University related to the OPEB portion
of fringe benefits for the University's employees compensated from a trust fund or other source during
2018, 2017, and 2016 was $653,339, $559,677, and $502,044, respectively.

For the year ended June 30, 2018, the University recognized OPEB expense of $4,309,006.

At June 30, 2018, the University reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
outflows of inflows of
resources resources

Changes of assumptions $ - $ 2,518,080

Net differences between projected and actual

investment earnings on OPEB plan investments - 40,563

Difference between expected and actual experience - 51,117

Changes in proportion due to internal allocation 1,375,639 -

Changes in proportion from Commonwealth 46,530 -

University contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 653,339 -
Total $ 2,075,508 $ 2,609,760

The $653,339 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from University
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB
liability in the year ended June 30, 2019. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and
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deferred inflows of resources as a result of the University's requirement to contribute to the Plan will be
recognized in expense as follows:

Year ending June 30:

2019 $  (248,693)
2020 (248,693)
2021 (248,693)
2022 (248,693)
2023 (192,819)
Total $ (1,187,591)

The total OPEB liability for the June 30, 2016 measurement date was determined by an actuarial
valuation as of January 1, 2017 rolled back to June 30, 2016. The total OPEB liability for the June 30,
2017 measurement date was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2017 rolled forward
to June 30, 2017. This valuation used the following assumptions:

1. The following annual healthcare cost trend rates: (1) 8.5%, decreasing by 0.5% each year to
an ultimate rate of 5.0% in 2024 for medical, (2) 5.0% for EGWP and (3) 5.0% for
administration costs.

2. The mortality rate was in accordance with RP 2014 Blue Collar Mortality Table projected with
scale MP-2016 from the central year, with females set forward one year.

3. Participation rates:

()  100% of all retirees who currently have health care coverage will continue with the same
coverage, except that retirees under age 65 with POS/PPO coverage switch to Indemnity
at age 65 and those over age 65 with POS/PPO coverage switch to HMO.

(i)  All currentretirees, other than those indicated on the census data as not being eligible by
Medicare, have Medicare coverage upon attainment of age 65, as do their spouses. All
future retirees are assumed to have Medicare coverage upon attainment of age 65.

(i) 80% of current and future contingent eligible participants will elect health care benefits at
age 65, or current age if later.

Actives, upon retirement, take coverage, and are assumed to have the following coverage:

Retirement Age

Under 65 Age 65 +
Indemnity 40.0% 85.0%
POS/PPO 50.0% 0.0%
HMO 10.0% 15.0%

Investment assets of the Plan are with the Pension Reserves Investment Trust ("PRIT") Fund. The
long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using a building-block
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method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future rates of return are developed for each major
asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting
the expected future rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage. Best estimates of
geometric rates of return for each major asset class included in the PRIT Fund's target asset allocation
as of June 30, 2017 and 2016 are summarized in the following table:

Long-term expected real
rate of return

Asset class Target allocation 2017 2016
Global equity 40.00% 5.00% 6.90%
Portfolio completion strategies 13.00% 3.60% 3.60%
Core fixed income 12.00% 1.10% 1.60%
Private equity 11.00% 6.60% 8.70%
Value added fixed income 10.00% 3.80% 4.80%
Real estate 10.00% 3.60% 4.60%
Timber/natural resources 4.00% 3.20% 5.40%
Hedge funds 0.00% 3.60% 4.00%
Total 100.00%

The discount rates used to measure the OPEB liability as of June 30, 2017 and 2016 were 3.63% and
2.88%, respectively. These rates were based on a blend of the Bond Buyer Index rates of 3.58% and
2.85%, respectively, as of the measurement dates June 30, 2017 and 2016 and the expected rates of
return. The plan's fiduciary net position was not projected to be available to make all projected future
benefit payments for current plan members. The projected "depletion date” when projected benefits are
not covered by projected assets is 2023. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on plan
investments of 7.50% per annum was not applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to
determine the total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2017 and 2016.

The following presents the University's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability calculated using
the discount rate as well as what the University's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability would be
if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher
than the current rate:

Measurement year ended 1% decrease Discount rate 1% increase
June 30, 2017 (a) $ 26,391,962 $ 22,232,674 $ 18,925,716
June 30, 2016 (b) 26,758,751 22,384,199 18,925,179

(&) The discount rates as of June 30, 2017 are as follows: 3.63% (current); 2.63% (1% decrease)
and 4.63% (1% increase).

(b) The discount rates as of June 30, 2016 are as follows: 2.88% (current); 1.88% (1% decrease)
and 3.88% (1% increase).
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The following presents the University's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability calculated using
the current healthcare cost trend rate as well as what the University's proportionate share of the net
OPESB liability would be if it were calculated using a healthcare cost trend rate that is 1-percentage-point
lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current rate:

Healthcare cost

Measurement year ended 1% decrease (b) trend rates (a) 1% increase (c)
June 30, 2017 $ 18,394,710 $ 22,232,674 $ 27,283,202
June 30, 2016 18,518,013 22,384,199 27,507,072

(&) The current healthcare cost trend rates are as follows: 9.0% (June 30, 2017) and 8.5% (June
30, 2016) for medical and 5.0% for both fiscal years 2017 and 2016 Employer Group Waiver
Plan and administration costs.

(b) The healthcare cost trend rates after a 1% decrease are as follows: 8.0% (June 30, 2017) and
7.5% (June 30, 2016) for medical and 4.0% for both fiscal years 2017 and 2016 Employer
Group Waiver Plan and administration costs.

(c) The healthcare cost trend rates after a 1% increase are as follows: 10.0% (June 30, 2017) and
9.5% (June 30, 2016) for medical and 6.0% for both fiscal years 2017 and 2016 Employer
Group Waiver Plan and administration costs.

Detailed information about the OPEB plan's changes in net OPEB liability, fiduciary net position, and
employees covered by benefit terms separately identified by a) Inactive employees currently receiving
benefit payments, b) Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefit payments, and c)
Active employees is available in the Commonwealth's financial statements.

Note 23 - Lease and license agreements

As disclosed in Note 14, the Foundation Supporting Organization entered into a long-term operating
lease agreement with DCAMM on behalf of the University. The lease commenced on August 16, 2006
and expired on August 16, 2016. The lease provided for base rent of $165,000 per year, payable in
monthly installments of $13,750, for the entire lease term. The University was also responsible for the
payment of normal operating, maintenance and repair costs associated with its use of the property. The
lease continued in effect, after its expiration, under the same terms and conditions until March 9, 2017
when the Foundation Supporting Organization signed a new 10-year lease with the same terms and
conditions as the previous agreement. The new lease agreement became effective as of August 16,
2016. For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, rental income amounted to $165,000 in each year.
The rental income is reflected in revenue from sales and services of educational departments in the
accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. The corresponding rent
expense of the University is reflected in operations and maintenance of plant.
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The following is a schedule of future minimum rental income under the operating lease agreement at
June 30, 2018:

Year ending June 30, Amount
2019 $ 165,000
2020 165,000
2021 165,000
2022 165,000
2023 165,000
Later years 515,625

$ 1,340,625

On August 6, 2008, the Foundation Supporting Organization entered into a 10-year operating lease
agreement with an unrelated third party for 2,350 square feet of office space located in Fitchburg,
Massachusetts. The lease commenced on November 1, 2008 and shall expire on October 31, 2018.
The space is being used by Fitchburg State University as office and classroom space for its Center for
Professional Studies. The lease provided for a base annual rent of $17,625 for each of the first three
years of the lease term, payable in monthly installments of $1,469. Beginning with the fourth year of the
lease there will be a 7.5% increase at the commencement of each three-year period of the lease term,
including the continuous period of any extensions thereof. On November 1, 2011, the base annual rent
increased to $18,947 for the next three-year period of the lease term payable in monthly installments of
$1,579. On July 1, 2014, the Foundation Supporting Organization entered into an amended operating
lease agreement with the unrelated third party adding 20 parking spaces for use in conjunction with the
above mentioned office space and extending the lease term through June 30, 2019. The amended
lease provides for a base annual rent of $28,495 for each of the first three years of the lease term,
payable biannually in installments of $14,247. On July 1, 2017, the annual rent on the lease shall
increase by 7.5% to $30,632 (biannual installments of $15,316). The Foundation Supporting
Organization may extend the initial term of the lease, under the same terms and conditions, for
successive periods of one year provided it is not then in default of the lease terms and it gives proper
notice. The Foundation Supporting Organization may cancel the lease at any time with the payment of
two months' base rent as a termination charge. The Foundation Supporting Organization is also
responsible for the payment of normal operating, maintenance and repair costs associated with the use
of the property. For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, rent expense amounted to $30,632 and
$28,495, respectively.

The future minimum rental payments under this operating lease agreement at June 30, 2018 are
$30,632 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019.

On February 1, 2013, the Foundation Supporting Organization entered into a 10-year operating lease
agreement with the above noted unrelated third party for an additional 1,424 square feet of office space
located in Fitchburg, Massachusetts. The lease commenced on February 1, 2013 and shall expire on
January 31, 2023. The space is being used by Fitchburg State University for additional office and
classroom space. The lease provides for a base annual rent of $5,696 payable in monthly installments
of $475. Effective July 1, 2017, the lease agreement was amended to extend the term of the lease until
June 30, 2023 and modify the lease payment provisions to be in biannual installments of $2,848. The
Foundation Supporting Organization may extend the initial term of the lease, under the same terms and
conditions, for successive periods of one year, provided it is not then in default of the lease terms and it

85
Powered by BoardOnTrack

223 of 282



Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday April 2, 2019 at 8:00 AM

Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2018 and 2017

gives proper notice. The Foundation Supporting Organization may cancel the lease at any time after
February 1, 2014 with the payment of two months base rent as a termination charge. The Foundation
Supporting Organization is also responsible for the payment of normal operating, maintenance and
repair costs associated with the use of the property. For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, rent
expense amounted to $5,696 in each year.

The following is a schedule of future minimum rental payments under this operating lease agreement at
June 30, 2018:

Year ending June 30, Amount
2019 $ 5,696
2020 5,696
2021 5,696
2022 5,696
2023 5,696

$ 28,480

On June 25, 2015, the Foundation Supporting Organization entered into an operating lease agreement
with an unrelated third party for a building containing residential suites designed for use as a dormitory
for college students. The lease commenced on August 1, 2015 and expired on May 31, 2016. The
lease provided for annual rent of $220,000 to be paid in two installments of $110,000 each on August 1,
2015 and January 1, 2016. In July 2016, the Foundation Supporting Organization extended the initial
term of the lease under the same terms and conditions for the period August 1, 2016 through May 31,
2017. Subject to availability, the Foundation Supporting Organization may extend the term of the lease,
under the same terms and conditions for the periods June 1, 2017 through July 31, 2017 and August 1,
2017 through May 31, 2018. The Foundation Supporting Organization did not renew the lease for an
additional term after the expiration on May 31, 2017. Instead, the building was purchased by the
Massachusetts State College Building Authority ("MSCBA") and is being used by and billed directly to
Fitchburg State University by MSCBA as a part of its semi-annual residence hall revenue assessments.
For the year ended June 30, 2017, rent expense amounted to $220,000.

The Foundation Supporting Organization and the University are parties to License Agreements
whereby the Foundation Supporting Organization granted to the University irrevocable and exclusive
licenses to occupy, manage, maintain and operate certain property owned by the Foundation
Supporting Organization. The License Agreements provide for initial terms of one year and automatic
annual renewals thereafter. The License Agreements provide for annual license fees payable, in
arrears, in four equal quarterly installments. All costs to operate and maintain the property, including
any capital improvements made thereto, shall be borne by the University. The License Agreements may
be terminated by either party upon the expiration of the initial term of the agreements and any
subsequent renewal term with the giving of proper notice. In addition, the University may terminate the
agreements at any time with the giving of proper notice. For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017,
license fee income for the Foundation Supporting Organization amounted to $193,272 and $252,849,
respectively. The license fee income is reflected in revenue from sales and services of educational
departments in the accompanying statements of revenue, expenses and changes in net position. The
corresponding license fee expense of the University is reflected in operations and maintenance of plant.
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Note 24 - Management Accounting and Reporting System

Section 15C of Chapter 15A of the Massachusetts General Laws requires Commonwealth Colleges and
Universities to report activity of campus based funds to the Comptroller of the Commonwealth on the
Commonwealth's Statewide Accounting System, Massachusetts Management Accounting and
Reporting System ("MMARS") on the statutory basis of accounting. The statutory basis of accounting is
a modified accrual basis of accounting and differs from the information included in these financial
statements. The amounts reported on MMARS meet the guidelines of the Comptroller's Guide for
Higher Education Audited Financial Statements.

State appropriations
The University's State appropriations are comprised of the following for the years ended June 30, 2018
and 2017:

2018 2017
Gross State appropriations $ 29,912,499 $ 29,478,899
Add: Fringe benefits for benefited employees on the
Commonwealth payroll 10,604,987 10,185,677
Less: Day school tuition remitted to the Commonwealth
and included in tuition and fee revenue (674,450) (717,267)
Net State appropriations $ 39,843,036 $ 38,947,309

$39,403,569 and $38,873,231 represent appropriations for maintenance and payroll and other
noncapital appropriations during 2018 and 2017, respectively, and $439,467 and $74,078 represent
appropriations for capital improvements for 2018 and 2017, respectively. These amounts are presented
separately in the accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position.

Day school tuition receipts and transfers have been recorded in an agency fund during the year and
had no material balance outstanding at June 30, 2018 and 2017.

Note 25 - Risk management

The University is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the Commonwealth is self-insured. In
addition, the University maintains commercial insurance coverage for certain of those risks.
Management believes such coverage is sufficient to preclude any significant uninsured losses for the
covered risks. The separate insurance policies maintained by the University consist of Director and
Officer's liability, automobile liability, and a foreign package policy. There were no significant reductions
in insurance coverage from coverage in the prior year. The costs of settled claims have not exceeded
policy coverage in any of the past three years.

The University also participates in the Commonwealth's self-insured programs for employee workers'
compensation, health care and other insurance. The Commonwealth assesses the costs of workers'
compensation and unemployment insurance to the University based on the University's actual
experience (see Note 7). The Commonwealth manages workers' compensation as part of its general
operations. No separate fund for workers' compensation is provided for in Massachusetts General
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Laws. The Commonwealth assesses the costs of health care insurance to the University through a
fringe benefit rate and the liability for such coverage is borne by the Commonwealth. The
Commonwealth's Group Insurance Commission manages health insurance and other benefits for the
Commonwealth's active and retired employees (see Note 22).

Massachusetts General Laws limit the risk assumed by the Commonwealth for claims of personal injury
or property damages to $100,000 per occurrence, in most circumstances.

Note 26 - Commitments and contingencies

Pending or threatened lawsuits against governmental agencies arise in the ordinary course of
operations. In the opinion of the University's administration, the ultimate resolution of any legal actions
at this date will not result in a material loss to the University since most of any obligation is expected to
be paid from state appropriated funds.

The University receives significant financial assistance from federal and state agencies in the form of
grants. Expenditure of funds under these programs require compliance with the grant agreements and
are subject to audit by representatives of these federal and state agencies. Any disallowed
expenditures resulting from such audits become a liability of the University. In the opinion of
management, such liabilities, if any, are not expected to materially affect the financial condition of the
University.

The University participates in the Massachusetts College Savings Prepaid Tuition Program. This
program allows participants to pay in advance (against a bond) for future tuition at the cost of tuition at
the time of the bond purchase, increased by changes in the Consumer Price Index plus 2%. The
University is obligated to accept as payment of tuition the amount determined by this program without
regard to the standard tuition rate in effect at the time of the individual's enrollment at the University.
The effect of this program cannot be determined as it is contingent on future tuition increases and the
bond purchasers who attend the University.

The University can perform capital projects that are funded and controlled by another State agency.
These projects would be paid from funds appropriated and under the control of DCAMM. The Projects
generally consist of renovations and improvements and have been recorded in the respective accounts.

The collective bargaining agreements between the Board of Higher Education and three Employee
Unions which impact the University expired in the prior year. As of November 6, 2018, the agreements
have been negotiated by the parties for the three Employee Unions and those agreements are in the
process of being ratified by the Union memberships. The agreements will then be subject to approval
by the Massachusetts Legislature and ratification by the Governor of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts. Accordingly, management cannot, at the current time, determine the impact, if any, that
the results of the negotiations will have on the University's financial statements.

Note 27 - McKay Agreement

The University has an agreement with the City of Fitchburg, whereby the City can use the McKay
building to provide elementary education to local residents on a year to year basis. The University
receives quarterly payments from the City to reimburse the University for its share of payroll and related
operating expenses (the "McKay School expenditures™). Reimbursements received for the years ended
June 30, 2018 and 2017 were $860,487 and $819,487, respectively. These reimbursements are
included in the Sales and Services of Educational Departments revenue amount and the McKay School
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expenditures are included in the appropriate categories under Operating Expenses in the
accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position.

Note 28 - Civic Center

In August 2006, the University and the City of Fitchburg entered into a Memorandum of Understanding
in which the University would assume responsibility for the operations, management and maintenance
of the George R. Wallace, Jr. Civic Center and the Alice G. Wallace Planetarium (collectively, the "Civic
Center"). The Civic Center includes two skating rinks and the adjoining planetarium. The
Commonwealth of Massachusetts acting by and through DCAMM on behalf of the University entered
into a lease agreement for the Civic Center with the City of Fitchburg and the Board of Trustees of the
Civic Center. The lease commenced on October 1, 2007 and is for a term of 99 years. The lease
provided for an initial nominal rent payment and is otherwise a net lease. Pursuant to the terms of the
lease, the University has complete authority, at its sole discretion, to do all such acts and deeds as it
deems reasonably necessary to manage, maintain and operate the Civic Center for the permitted uses
specified in the lease agreement. The University is responsible for payment, from net revenues
generated by its operation of the Civic Center, of all costs associated with the maintenance and
operation of the Civic Center, and certain other payments as specified in the lease agreement.
DCAMM, at the instruction of the University and with 60 days prior written notice, may terminate the
lease in the event that the University, in its sole discretion, determines that continuation of the lease is
not in the interest of the University.

During fiscal 2007, the University commenced initial management, maintenance and operations
activities at the Civic Center in anticipation of the lease agreement being executed. The Commonwealth
of Massachusetts Legislature appropriated an aggregate amount of $2,500,000 for repairs and
upgrades to the Civic Center. During fiscal 2008, the University made repairs and upgrades to the Civic
Center for an aggregate cost of $2,477,381. The University engaged the services of a professional
management company, Facilities Management Corporation ("FMC"), to assist with management,
maintenance and operations activities of the ice-skating rink program at the Civic Center. The initial
management contract expired on December 31, 2008.

On February 1, 2009, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts acting by and through its Division of
Capital Asset Management and Maintenance on behalf of the University entered into a sublease
agreement with FMC for a term of 25 years commencing on the date of the agreement. The sublease
agreement is a net lease and, accordingly, FMC is responsible for all costs associated with the
operations, management, and maintenance of the sublease premises as well as repairs and required
capital improvements. The sublease premises consist of the facilities and related equipment associated
with the operation of a public ice-skating rink program. The planetarium is not part of the sublease
premises and it is not currently operational. FMC is also responsible for certain other payments for and
on behalf of the University related to obligations in existence at the date the University initially assumed
management of the Civic Center. During the term of the sublease agreement, FMC is required to pay
the University monthly percentage rent based upon the actual gross revenues from its operations, as
defined. During each of the first 10 years of the sublease term, no percentage rent is required.

Thereafter, for each of the years 11 through 25, percentage rent at the rate of 1% of actual gross
revenues shall be due and payable on a monthly basis. However, in no event shall the aggregate
amount of percentage rent paid by FMC during the sublease term be less than $107,155.
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The University, officials of the City of Fitchburg, and the Board of Trustees of the Civic Center believe
that their collective efforts will return the Civic Center to a vibrant place where the citizenries of the City
of Fitchburg and its surrounding cities and towns can enjoy athletic, educational and cultural activities.

Note 29 - Correction of an error and change in accounting principle

In fiscal year 2018, the University adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No.
75 ("GASB 75"), Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than
Pensions, by recognizing a net OPEB liability of $25,788,376 as of July 1, 2016, which amount was
provided to the University by the State, for the effect of retroactively applying the new standard.
Subsequent to having issued its financial statements on November 6, 2018, the University was
informed by the State of an error in the net OPEB liability allocated to the University. To correct this
error, the University has reduced the amount recognized as of July 1, 2016 in connection with initially
adopting GASB 75 by $3,404,177 to $22,384,199. Information was not available to recognize the
impact on deferred inflows and outflows as of July 1, 2016 of initial adoption.

The error in the net OPEB liability allocated by the State to the University also resulted in
misstatements in the University's net OPEB liability as of June 30, 2018 and 2017 as had been
originally reported. Accordingly, the University has restated its financial statements to correct these
errors as shown in the tables below:

2018
(as previously
reported on

November 6, 2018

2018) (as restated) Effect of change
Statement of Net Position:
Deferred outflows - OPEB $ 2,291,791 $ 2,075,508 $ (216,283)
Net OPEB liability 25,145,103 22,232,674 (2,912,429)
Deferred inflows - OPEB 3,346,876 2,609,760 (737,116)
Unrestricted net position (7,936,438) (4,503,176) 3,433,262
Total net position 119,954,872 123,388,134 3,433,262
Statement of Revenues, Expenses
and Changes in Net Position:
Institutional support 11,772,986 11,743,901 (29,085)
Increase (decrease) in net position 2,716,130 2,745,215 29,085
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2017
(as previously
reported on

November 6, 2017
2018) (as restated) Effect of change
Statement of Net Position:
Net OPEB liability $ 25,788,376 $ 22,384,199 $ (3,404,177)
Unrestricted net position (7,459,912) (4,055,735) 3,404,177
Total net position 117,238,742 120,642,919 3,404,177
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2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
University's proportion of the net pension liability (asset) 0.0891% 0.0912% 0.0878% 0.0684% 0.0695%
University's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) $ 11,430,648 $ 12,580,841 $ 9,995,092 $ 5,078,817 $ 6,192,668
University's covered payroll $ 37,747,018 $ 37,408,274 $ 37,167,634 $ 35,389,121 $ 33,794,553
University's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset)
as a percentage of its covered payroll 30.28% 33.63% 26.89% 14.35% 18.32%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total
pension liability 67.21% 63.48% 67.87% 76.32% 70.31%
* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of 6/30.

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Contractually required contribution $ 4,756,899 $ 3977525 $ 3799572 $ 3,946,690 $ 2,912,032
Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution $ (4,756,899) $ (3,977,525) $ (3,799572) $ (3,946,690) $ (2,912,032)
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
University's covered payroll $ 37,747,018 $ 37,408,274 $ 37,167,634 $ 35389,121 $ 33,794,553
Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 12.60% 10.63% 10.22% 11.15% 8.62%

See Independent Auditor's Report on Page 2 and Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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Note 1 - Changes in Pension Plan Benefit Terms and Assumptions
FY2017 Changes in Actuarial Assumptions

Changes in benefit terms

Chapter 79 of the Acts of 2014 established an early retirement incentive ("ERI") program for certain
employees of the highway division of the Massachusetts Department of Transportation whose positions
have been eliminated due to the automation of toll collections. Most members retiring under the ERI
program had a date retirement of October 28, 2016. 112 members took the ERI and retired during
FY2017. As a result, the total pension liability of MSERS increased by approximately $10 million as of
June 30, 2017.

Changes in assumptions

The mortality assumptions changed as follows:

e Pre-retirement - was changed to RP-2014 Blue Collar Employees table projected generationally
with Scale MP-2016 set forward 1 year for females from RP-2000 Employees table projected
generationally with scale BB and a base year of 2009 (gender distinct).

e Post-retirement - was changed to RP-2014 Blue Collar Healthy Annuitant table projected
generationally with Scale MP-2016 set forward 1 year for females from RP-2000 Healthy
Annuitant table projected generationally with Scale BB and a base year of 2009 (gender
distinct).

o Disabled members - is assumed to be in accordance with the RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant Table
projected generationally with Scale BB and a base year of 2015 (gender distinct), and is
unchanged from the prior valuation.

FY2016 Changes in Actuarial Assumptions

Changes in benefit terms

Chapter 176 of the Acts of 2011 created a one-time election for eligible members of the Optional
Retirement Plan ("ORP") to transfer to the Massachusetts State Employee's Retirement System
("MSERS") and purchase service for the period while members of the ORP. As a result, the total
pension liability of MSERS has increased by approximately $400 million as of June 30, 2016.

Note 2 - Other information

This schedule is intended to present 10 years of data. Additional years will be presented when
available.
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Schedule of the University's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability

2018 2017
University's proportion of the net OPEB liability (asset) 0.1272% 0.1181%
University's proportionate share of the total OPEB liability (asset) $ 23,499,661 23,406,837
Less: University's proportionate share of Plan fiduciary net postion 1,266,987 1,022,638
University's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset) $ 22,232,674 22,384,199
University's covered payroll $ 37,747,018 37,408,274
University's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset) as a percentage of its covered payroll 58.90% 59.84%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability 5.39% 4.37%
*The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of 6/30.

Schedule of University Contributions

2018 2017
Contractually required contribution $ 3,366,603 2,989,514
Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution (3,366,603) (2,989,514)
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ - -
University's covered payroll $ 37,747,018 37,408,274
Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 8.92% 7.99%

See Independent Auditor's Report on Page 2 and Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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Note 1 - Changes in OPEB plan benefit terms and assumptions

There are no changes in plan benefit terms and assumptions since the actuarial valuation as of January
1, 2017 is the initial actuarial valuation performed for the plan.

Note 2 - Other information

This schedule is intended to present 10 years of data. Additional years will be presented when
available.

Detained information about the OPEB plan's changes in net OPEB liability and changes in the plan's
fiduciary net position are not available to the University and, accordingly, are not presented in the
schedule. This information is available in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts' financial statements.
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Residence Hall Fund and Residence Hall Damage Fund Activity
June 30, 2018
The University's Residence Hall Fund and Residence Hall Damage Fund non-classified Statements of Net

Position at June 30, 2018 are as follows:

Statements of Net Position

Residence Residence Hall
Hall Fund Damage Fund
Assets
Cash $ 1,466,614 $ 132,193
Cash held by State Treasurer 184,839 -
Investments 1,026,393 82,159
Prepaid expenses 5,037 -
Accounts receivable, net 77,264 45,862
Total assets 2,760,147 260,214
Liabilities
Accounts payable 81,049 -
Deposits 323,200 -
Salaries payable 64,561 -
Compensated absences 83,879 -
Deferred rental income 2,050 -
Total liabilities 554,739 -
Net position $ 2,205,408 $ 260,214
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Fitchburg State University

(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Residence Hall Fund and Residence Hall Damage Fund Activity

Year Ended June 30, 2018

The University's Residence Hall Fund and Residence Hall Damage Fund Statements of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Net Position (presented in accordance with the Commonwealth of

Massachusetts' Expenditure Classification plan) for the year ended June 30, 2018 are as follows:

Revenues
Student fees
Interest
Investment income (loss)
Commissions
Rentals
Room damage assessments
Miscellaneous

Total revenues

Expenses
Regular employee compensation
Regular employee related expenses
Special employee/contract services
Pension and insurance
Facility operating supplies and related expenses
Administrative expenses
Energy and space rental
Operational services
Equipment purchases
Equipment lease - purchase, lease, rent, repair
Purchased client services and programs
Construction and improvements
Benefit program
Loans and special payments
Other - bad debt expense (recovery)
Information technology expenses

Total expenses
Transfers (in)/out
Interdepartmental rental income
Printing
Total transfers

Total expenses and transfers

Increase (decrease) in net position
Net position - beginning of year

Net position - end of year
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Residence

Hall Fund

Residence Hall
Damage Fund

$

10,360,099
42,622
32,932
48,282
69,649

37,457

$ -
2,127
1,882

48,766

10,591,041

52,775

1,190,047
15,340
176,921
430,711
78,150
11,869
1,146,012
19,458
45,061
6,132

200
479,844
32,194
6,827,009
18,842
18,556

17,974

10,496,346

(73,249)

647

(72,602)

10,423,744

18,363

167,297
2,038,111

34,412
225,802

2,205,408

$ 260,214
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Residence Hall Fund and Residence Hall Damage Fund Activity
Year Ended June 30, 2018

The above Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position do not include an allocation of
the current year charge for workers' compensation as estimated by the Commonwealth's actuarial review. It
is not practical to allocate any such amount to any specific trust fund.
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CohnReznick LLP COhnRezniCk@

cohnreznick.com ADVISORY * ASSURANCE * TAX

Independent Auditor's Report on Supplementary Information
Required by the Uniform Guidance

To the Board of Trustees
Fitchburg State University

We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities and the discretely presented
component unit of Fitchburg State University (a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) as of
and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise Fitchburg State University's basic financial statements, and our report thereon dated November 6,
2018, which included emphasis of matters paragraphs and which appears on page 3, expressed
unmodified opinions on those financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming
opinions on the 2018 financial statements as a whole. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of
federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal
Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards ("Uniform Guidance"), and is not a required part of the 2018 financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 2018 financial statements. The
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 2018 financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 2018 financial statements or to the
2018 financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures
of federal awards is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the 2018 financial statements as a
whole.

Boston, Massachusetts
November 6, 2018

101
Powered by BoardOnTrack 239 of 282



Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday April 2, 2019 at 8:00 AM

Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Federal CFDA Passed through Federal
Federal Grantor/ Program or Cluster Title Number to Subrecipients Expenditures
National Endowment for the Humanities
Direct Programs
Promotion of the Humanities -
Office of Digital Humanities 45.169 - $ 1,003
Subtotal Direct Programs 1,003
Total National Endowment for the
Humanities $ 1,003
U.S. Department of Education
Direct Programs
English Language Acquisition State Grants
(TESEL: Transforming English and Schools
for English Learners) 84.365Z - $ 33,736
TRIO Cluster:
TRIO - Student Support Services 84.042 - 252,890
TRIO - Upward Bound 84.047 - 369,125
TRIO - Upward Bound Math and Science 84.047 - 119,996
Total TRIO Cluster 742,011
Student Financial Assistance Cluster:
Federal Supplemental Educational
Opportunity Grants 84.007 - 245,710
Federal Work-Study Program 84.033 - 209,728
Federal Perkins Loan Program 84.038 - 1,619,081
Federal Pell Grant Program 84.063 - 7,080,099
Federal Direct Student Loans 84.268 - 26,787,551
Nursing Student Loans 93.364 - 449,618
Total Student Financial Assistance
Cluster 36,391,787
Subtotal Direct Programs 37,167,534
Total U.S. Department of Education $ 37,167,534
Total Federal Expenditures $ 37,168,537

See Independent Auditor's Report on Supplementary Information on Page 101 and Notes to Schedule
of Expenditures of Federal Awards.
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
June 30, 2018

Note 1 - Basis of presentation

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ("SEFA" or "Schedule") includes the
federal award activity of Fitchburg State University (the "University"), under programs of the federal
government for the year ended June 30, 2018. The information in this Schedule is presented in
accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards ("Uniform
Guidance"). Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the University,
it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net position, or cash flows of
the University.

Note 2 - Summary of significant accounting policies

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such
expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein
certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. Fitchburg State
University has not elected to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under the Uniform
Guidance.

Note 3 - Matching costs

Matching costs, i.e., the nonfederal share of certain program costs, are not included in the
accompanying Schedule.

Note 4 - Relationship to federal financial reports

The regulations and guidelines governing the preparation of federal financial reports vary by federal
agency and among programs administered by the same agency. Accordingly, the amounts reported in
the federal financial reports do not necessarily agree with the amounts reported in the accompanying
Schedule.

Note 5 - Federal Direct Student Loans ("FDL")

The Schedule includes FDL ("CFDA 84.268") which are made directly by the U.S. Department of
Education to individual students.

Note 6 - Federal Perkins Loan Program

The Federal Perkins Loan Program ("CFDA 84.038") is administered by Fitchburg State University.
Fiscal year 2018 activity included loan funds disbursed of $0. The outstanding liability to the federal
government under this loan program at June 30, 2018 totaled $1,467,263.

Note 7 - Nursing Student Loans

The Nursing Student Loan Program ("CFDA 93.364") is administered by Fitchburg State University.
Fiscal year 2018 activity included loan funds disbursed of $30,767. The outstanding liability to the
federal government under this loan program at June 30, 2018 totaled $378,102.
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CohnReznick LLP COhnRezniCk@

cohnreznick.com ADVISORY * ASSURANCE * TAX

Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

To the Board of Trustees
Fitchburg State University

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the business-type
activities and discretely presented component unit of Fitchburg State University (the "University") (a
department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the University's basic financial
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated November 6, 2018, except for Note 29 to the
financial statements which is dated March 19, 2019, which included emphasis of matters paragraphs as
indicated on page 3.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the University's internal
control over financial reporting ("internal control") to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University's internal control. Accordingly, we
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the University's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses
may exist that have not been identified.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the University's financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.
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CohnReznick@

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly,
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Boston, Massachusetts
March 19, 2019
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CohnReznick LLP COhnRezniCk@

cohnreznick.com ADVISORY * ASSURANCE * TAX

Independent Auditor's Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program
and on Internal Control over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance

To the Board of Trustees
Fitchburg State University

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited Fitchburg State University's compliance with the types of compliance requirements
described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of
Fitchburg State University's major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2018. Fitchburg State
University's major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor's results section of the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

Management's Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions
of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of Fitchburg State University's major
federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We
conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2
U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards ("Uniform Guidance"). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance
with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on
a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about Fitchburg
State University's compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal
program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of Fitchburg State University's
compliance.

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program
In our opinion, Fitchburg State University complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance

requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal
programs for the year ended June 30, 2018.

106
Powered by BoardOnTrack 244 of 282



Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday April 2, 2019 at 8:00 AM

CohnReznick@

Report on Internal Control over Compliance

Management of Fitchburg State University is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal
control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and
performing our audit of compliance, we considered Fitchburg State University's internal control over
compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major
federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on
internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not
express an opinion on the effectiveness of Fitchburg State University's internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency,
or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not
be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type
of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal
control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However,
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Boston, Massachusetts
November 6, 2018
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Summary of Auditor's Results

1.

8.

9.

The auditor's report expresses an unmodified opinion on whether the financial statements of
Fitchburg State University were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles.

No significant deficiencies related to the audit of the financial statements were reported in the
Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance
and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards. No material weaknesses were reported.

No instances of noncompliance material to the financial statements of Fitchburg State
University, which would be required to be reported in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards, were disclosed during the audit.

No significant deficiencies in internal control over major federal award programs were disclosed
during the audit and reported in the Independent Auditor's Report on Compliance for Each
Major Federal Program and on Internal Control over Compliance Required by the Uniform
Guidance. No material weaknesses were reported.

The auditor's report on compliance for the major federal award programs for Fitchburg State
University expressed an unmodified opinion on all major federal programs.

There were no audit findings relating to the major federal award programs for Fitchburg State
University that are required to be reported in accordance with 2 CFR Section 200.516(a) in this
Schedule.

The programs tested as major programs were:

Agency Title CFDA #

Student Financial Assistance Cluster:

U.S. Department of Education Federal Supplemental Educational

Opportunity Grants 84.007
U.S. Department of Education Federal Work-Study Program 84.033
U.S. Department of Education Federal Perkins Loan Program 84.038
U.S. Department of Education Federal Pell Grant Program 84.063
U.S. Department of Education Federal Direct Student Loans 84.268
U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services Nursing Student Loans 93.364

The threshold for distinguishing between Type A and B Programs was $750,000.

Fitchburg State University was determined to be a low-risk auditee.
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Fitchburg State University
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended June 30, 2018

B. Findings - Audit of Financial Statements
None
C. Findings and Questioned Costs - Audit of Major Federal Award Programs
None
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Cover Sheet

Acceptance of Financial Audit Restatement - VOTE

Section:

Item:

Purpose:
Submitted by:
Related Material:

(21-18/19)

VI. Financial Audit Restatement
C. Acceptance of Financial Audit Restatement - VOTE (21-18/19)
Vote

VOTE FY2018 Audit - Restated.pdf
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Fitchburg State University
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION

TO: Board of Trustees

DATE:

April 2, 2019

FROM: The President

SUBJECT: FY2018 Audit

REQUEST NUMBER:

21-18/19

It is requested that the Board of Trustees accept the restated FY2018 audit.
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Cover Sheet

Resolution - VOTE (22-18/19)

Section: VII. Support of Increased Funding for Public Higher Education
Item: A. Resolution - VOTE (22-18/19)
Purpose: Vote

Submitted by:

Related Material: = CHERISH Act.pdf
VOTE Resolution.pdf
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SENATE DOCKET, NO. 740 FILED ON: 1/16/2019

SENATE . . ............ No.741

The Commontwealth of Massachusetts

PRESENTED BY:

Joanne M. Comerford

To the Honorable Senate and House of Representatives of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts in General
Court assembled:

The undersigned legislators and/or citizens respectfully petition for the adoption of the accompanying bill:

An Act committing to higher education the resources to Insure a strong and healthy public higher
education system.

PETITION OF:
NAME: DISTRICT/ADDRESS:
Joanne M. Comerford Hampshire, Franklin and Worcester
Tami L. Gouveia 14th Middlesex 1/22/2019
Natalie M. Blais Ist Franklin 1/22/2019
Jack Patrick Lewis 7th Middlesex 1/22/2019
John Barrett, 111 1st Berkshire 1/28/2019
Michael J. Barrett Third Middlesex 2/1/2019
Jennifer E. Benson 37th Middlesex 1/29/2019
Joseph A. Boncore First Suffolk and Middlesex 1/30/2019
Michael D. Brady Second Plymouth and Bristol 2/1/2019
Peter Capano 11th Essex 1/31/2019
Harriette L. Chandler First Worcester 2/12/2019
Mike Connolly 26th Middlesex 1/28/2019
Brendan P. Crighton Third Essex 1/30/2019
Julian Cyr Cape and Islands 2/1/2019
Marcos A. Devers 16th Essex 2/27/2019
Sal N. DiDomenico Middlesex and Suffolk 1/30/2019
Diana DiZoglio First Essex 2/1/2019
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Mindy Domb 3rd Hampshire 1/23/2019
James B. Eldridge Middlesex and Worcester 1/31/2019
Nika C. Elugardo 15th Suffolk 1/29/2019
Paul R. Feeney Bristol and Norfolk 1/30/2019
Sean Garballey 23rd Middlesex 1/23/2019
Carmine Lawrence Gentile 13th Middlesex 1/25/2019
Anne M. Gobi Worcester, Hampden, Hampshire and 1/30/2019
Middlesex
James K. Hawkins 2nd Bristol 2/5/2019
Adam G. Hinds Berkshire, Hampshire, Franklin and 1/30/2019
Hampden
Russell E. Holmes 6th Suffolk 2/1/2019
Daniel J. Hunt 13th Suffolk 1/30/2019
Patricia D. Jehlen Second Middlesex 2/1/2019
Mary S. Keefe 15th Worcester 1/28/2019
Kay Khan 11th Middlesex 1/30/2019
Kathleen R. LaNatra 12th Plymouth 1/31/2019
David Henry Argosky LeBoeuf 17th Worcester 1/28/2019
Eric P. Lesser First Hampden and Hampshire 1/31/2019
Jason M. Lewis Fifth Middlesex 1/23/2019
Michael O. Moore Second Worcester 2/1/2019
Mathew J. Muratore 1st Plymouth 1/30/2019
James M. Murphy 4th Norfolk 1/31/2019
Tram T. Nguyen 18th Essex 1/26/2019
Marc R. Pacheco First Plymouth and Bristol 1/28/2019
Angelo J. Puppolo, Jr. 12th Hampden 1/28/2019
Rebecca L. Rausch Norfolk, Bristol and Middlesex 2/1/2019
John H. Rogers 12th Norfolk 2/1/2019
Lindsay N. Sabadosa 1st Hampshire 2/22/2019
Thomas M. Stanley 9th Middlesex 1/31/2019
Walter F. Timilty Norfolk, Bristol and Plymouth 1/29/2019
José F. Tosado 9th Hampden 1/30/2019
John C. Velis 4th Hampden 1/31/2019
James T. Welch Hampden 2/4/2019
Susannah M. Whipps 2nd Franklin 2/1/2019
Bud L. Williams 11th Hampden 1/30/2019
2 of4
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SENATE DOCKET, NO. 740 FILED ON: 1/16/2019
SENATEooooooooooooooNOo741

By Ms. Comerford, a petition (accompanied by bill, Senate, No. 741) of Joanne M. Comerford,
Tami L. Gouveia, Natalie M. Blais, Jack Patrick Lewis and other members of the General Court
for legislation to commit to higher education the resources to Insure a strong and healthy public
higher education system. Higher Education.

The Commontwealth of Massachusetts

In the One Hundred and Ninety-First General Court
(2019-2020)

An Act committing to higher education the resources to Insure a strong and healthy public higher
education system.

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives in General Court assembled, and by the authority
of the same, as follows:

SECTION 1. Chapter 15A of the General Laws, as appearing in the 2016 Official

Edition, is hereby amended by adding the follow section:-

Section 15A. It is the intention of the general court to assure fair and adequate funding
for the commonwealth’s public institutions of higher education by assuring that the appropriation
to fund such institutions equals the level of funding in effect in fiscal year 2001, adjusted for
inflation, and maintained, at a minimum, at that level thereafter. Effective in fiscal year 2020, the
annual budget request for the public institutions of higher education shall be determined by the
council and the secretary in accordance with this section for the University of Massachusetts, the
state university system, the community college system, and needs-based financial assistance
administered by the council under section 9B. Notwithstanding any general or special law to the

contrary, the council shall establish a 5-year schedule, beginning in fiscal year 2020, to restore
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the level of funding of public institutions of higher education and needs based financial
assistance developed under section 15B to no less than the total per student appropriation for
fiscal year 2001, adjusted for inflation to the current fiscal year using the consumer price index
for all urban consumers, U.S. city average, as determined by the United States Bureau of Labor
Statistics. Notwithstanding any general or special law to the contrary, the budget request to the
secretary of administration and finance for the system of institutions of public higher education
and needs-based financial assistance developed under section 15B shall be not less than the
amount determined by said schedule, and, in fiscal year 2024 and following, shall not be less
than the total per-student appropriation for fiscal year 2001 as so adjusted for inflation. The
council shall submit its annual budget request to the secretary of administration and finance, the

house and senate committees on ways and means and the joint committee on higher education.

SECTION 2. Notwithstanding section 7H of chapter 29 or any other general or special
law to the contrary, the governor shall submit to the general court annually a request for an
appropriation that complies with the funding requirements of section 15A of chapter 15A. Said
appropriation request shall not propose any direct or indirect reductions in any other state
appropriation including, but not limited to, collective bargaining agreements pursuant to chapter
150E of the General Laws, and scholarships and need-based financial assistance authorized by

chapter 15A of the General Laws.

SECTION 3. In fiscal years 2020 through 2024, no tuition or fees shall increase for
students enrolled at public institution of higher education in any fiscal year where the
appropriation for public institutions of higher education is at least the amount requested by the

council as provided in section 15A of chapter 15A of the General Laws.
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Fitchburg State University
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION

DATE:

TO: Board of Trustees
April 2, 2019

FROM: The President REQUEST NUMBER:
22-18/19

SUBJECT: Resolution in Support of Increased Funding for Public Higher

Education

It is requested that the Fitchburg State University Board of Trustees vote to approve the
following resolution:

Resolution in Support of Increased Funding for Public Higher Education

WHEREAS, public education that is available to all students from prekindergarten through
higher education is foundational to our democracy; and

WHEREAS, all of our students, no matter where they live or study, deserve access to an
affordable public college or university, which prepares them for fulfilling careers and to be
contributing members of their communities; and

WHEREAS, the Commonwealth’s per-student funding for public higher education has declined
by 32 percent since 2001; and

WHEREAS, student debt for public higher education has reached staggering levels,
impoverishing students and families, and preventing many from completing their degree
programs; and

WHEREAS, faculty and staff in community colleges, state universities and the University of
Massachusetts system are experiencing the elimination of programs, service cuts, and increased
use of part-time faculty and staff; and

WHEREAS, the Higher Education Finance Commission found in 2014 that our public colleges
and universities are underfunded by more than $500 million a year; and

WHEREAS, the vast majority of students who attend our public colleges and universities live
and work in Massachusetts after they graduate, contributing their knowledge and skills to our
economy and our communities;

THEREFORE, be it resolved that the Board of Trustees at Fitchburg State University urges the
Legislature to approve and fund a foundation budget for our public higher education system that
guarantees all students access to high-quality, debt-free public higher education.
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IX. President's Report
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President's Approval - B.S. in Educational Studies.pdf
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Massachusetts Department of Higher Education

MAIN OFFICE OFFICE of STUDENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE Carlos E. Santiago
One Ashburton Place, Room 1401 75 Pleasant Street Comimissioner
Boston, MA 02108 Malden, MA 02148 Chris Gabrieli
TEL (617) 994-6950 TEL (617) 391-6070 Board Chairman
WEB www.mass.edu WEB www.mass.edu/osfa

March 14, 2019

Dr. Richard Lapidus
President

Fitchburg State University
160 Pearl Street

Fitchburg, r\%mzo
c

Dear President kapidus:

| am writing to inform you that at its meeting on Tuesday, March 12, 2019, the Board of
Higher Education approved the application of Fitchburg State University to award the
Bachelor of Science in Educational Studies.

Upon graduating the first class for this program, the University shall submit to the Board
a status report addressing its success in reaching program goals as stated in the

application and in the areas of enrollment, curriculum, faculty resources, and program
effectiveness.

| wish you much success with this new program.

Sincerely,

AN

Carlos E. Santiago, Ph.
Commissioner
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BOARD OF HIGHER EDUCATION
REQUEST FOR COMMITTEE AND BOARD ACTION

COMMITTEE: Academic Affairs NO: AAC 19-13

COMMITTEE DATE: March 5, 2019
BOARD DATE: March 12, 2019

APPLICATION OF FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY TO AWARD THE BACHELOR OF
SCIENCE IN EDUCATIONAL STUDIES

MOVED: The Board of Higher Education hereby approves the application of
Fitchburg State University to award the Bachelor of Science in
Educational Studies.

Upon graduating the first class for this program, the University shall
submit to the Board a status report addressing its success in reaching
program goals as stated in the application and in the areas of
“enrollment, curriculum, faculty resources, and program effectiveness.

Authority: Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 15A, Section 3(b)

Contact: Winifred M. Hagan, Ed.D., Associate Commissioner for Academic Affairs
and Student Success
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Massachusetts Department of Higher Education

MAIN OFFICE OFFICE of STUDENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE Carlos E. Santiago
One Ashburton Place, Room 1401 75 Pleasant Street Commissioner
Boston, MA 02108 Malden, MA 02148 Chris Gabriels
TEL (617) 994-6950 TEL (617) 391-6070 Board Chairman
WEB www.mass.edu WEB www.mass.edu/osfa

March 14, 2019

Dr. Richard Lapidus
President

Fitchburg State University
160 Pearl Street

Fitchburg, WTZQO
/

| am writing to inform you that at its meeting on Tuesday, March 12, 2019, the Board of
Higher Education approved the application of Fitchburg State University to award the
Bachelor of Science in Environmental Public Health.

Upon graduating the first class for this program, the University shall submit to the Board
a status report addressing its success in reaching program goals as stated in the

application and in the areas of enrollment, curriculum, faculty resources, and program
effectiveness.

| wish you much success with this new program.

Sincerely,

75 2

Carlos E. Santiago, Ph.D.
Commissioner
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BOARD OF HIGHER EDUCATION
REQUEST FOR COMMITTEE AND BOARD ACTION
COMMITTEE: Academic Affairs NO: AAC 19-14
COMMITTEE DATE: March 5, 2019
BOARD DATE: March 12, 2019
APPLICATION OF FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY FOR THE BACHELOR OF SCIENCE

IN ENVIRONMENTAL PUBLIC HEALTH

MOVED: The Board of Higher Education hereby approves the applicaticn of
Fitchburg State University to award the Bachelor of Science in
Environmental Public Health.

Upon graduating the first class for this program, the University shall
submit to the Board a status report addressing its success in reaching
program goals as stated in the application and in the areas of
enrollment, curriculum, faculty resources, and program effectiveness.

Authority: Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 15A, Section 9(b)

Contact: Winifred M. Hagan, Ed.D., Associate Commissioner for Academic Affairs
and Student Success
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Item: H. 2019-2020 Academic Calendar
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Submitted by:
Related Material: 2019-2020 Academic Calendar.pdf
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¥ FITCHBURG STATE 160 Pearl Street, Fitchburg, MA 01420-2697
’ U N I V E RS I T Y Tel 978.665.3101 = Fax 978.665.3699

rlapidus@fitchburgstate.edu

www.fitchburgstate.edu

Richard S. Lapidus, Ph.D.

PRESIDENT
2019-2020 ACADEMIC CALENDAR
FALL 2019
Sept 2 Monday Labor Day - NO CLASSES;
Residence halls open for first year students
Sept 3 Tuesday Development Day for Faculty
4 Wednesday President's address; Department meetings;
Residence halls open for all students
5 Thursday CLASSES BEGIN AT 8:00 a.m.;
New student advising
12 Thursday Final day to drop a course
17 Tuesday CTL Professional Development Program
19 Thursday Final day to add a course with a Red Card
Oct 8 Tuesday Final day for making up Incomplete grades
from previous semester
14 Monday Columbus Day - NO CLASSES
15 Tuesday CTL Professional Development Program
18 Friday Deficiency grades due
Oct 21-Nov 8 Advising period
Nov 11 Monday Veteran's Day Observed - NO CLASSES
12-18 Registration for Spring classes
19 Tuesday CTL Professional Development Program
21 Thursday Final day for withdrawal from courses
26 Tuesday Thanksgiving recess begins at 4:45 p.m.
Dec 1 Sunday Thanksgiving recess ends
11 Wednesday FINAL DAY OF CLASSES
12-13,16-18 Final Examinations
19 Thursday Snow day for Final Examinations
20 Friday Commencement 6:30 p.m.
21 Saturday Snow Day for Commencement - 2:00 p.m.

Page 1 of 2
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Spring 2020

Faculty Development Day

Department meetings

Martin Luther King Day - NO CLASSES
CLASSES BEGIN AT 8:00 a.m.;

CTL Professional Development Program
Final day to drop a course

Final day to add a course with a Red Card
Final day for making up Incomplete grades
U.S. Presidents' Day - NO CLASSES

CTL Professional Development Program

Spring vacation begins 4:45 p.m.;

Residence halls close at 7:00 p.m.

Spring vacation ends; Residence halls reopen at 9:00 a.m.
CTL Professional Development Program

Deficiency grades due

Advising period

Final day for withdrawal from courses
Registration for Fall classes

Patriots' Day - NO CLASSES

CTL Professional Development Program
Undergraduate Research Conference;
Convocation (NO DAY CLASSES)

FINAL DAY OF CLASSES

Final Examinations

Residence halls close

Graduate Commencement 6:30 p.m.
Undergraduate Commencement 10:00 a.m.;
Residence halls close for Graduating Seniors
Development Day for Faculty

Feb. 19, 2019

Page 2 of 2
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Cover Sheet

News Articles

Section: IX. President's Report
Item: I. News Articles
Purpose: FYI

Submitted by:
Related Material:  Clips for April 2019 (1).pdf
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A New Canvas inFichbug,state Jniversity g y Ap

Gateway City Looks to Art for Downtown Revival
Unlock Link | Reprints | Print

Fitchburg’s public and non-profit sectors are preparing to roll out a $100 million red carpet to entice private developers,
retailers and restaurateurs to join in revitalization efforts of the city’s downtown area.

There have already been a number of encouraging private-sector initiatives in the once-booming mill city along the
Nashua River, mostly on the periphery and well outside the downtown area: the recently converted Yarn Works mill into
96 residential units by Winn Development, and development of the massive Fitchburg Game On Sports and Performance
Complex.

This central Massachusetts city has also seen, or will soon see, other private-sector developments, such as the recent
$10 million renovation of the Sanitoy Mill into office and industrial space and AVJ Group LLC’s planned conversion of the
former Iver Johnson firearms and bicycle mill into a mixed-use residential, commercial and retail complex.

But Fitchburg’s tired downtown, where even the old City Hall has temporarily closed up shop, is where public and
nonprofit officials are now focusing their attention in the hope of spurring private development in the city’s core
district.

The downtown projects include the planned conversion of the old BF Brown School and two adjoining buildings into
artist live/work residences and studios, in coordination with the Fitchburg Art Museum; renovation of the Main Street
Theater Block by Fitchburg State University, including restoration of a now-vacant 1,200-seat theater; and rehabilitation
of the old City Hall, which had to be abandoned a few years ago due to a fractured roof truss.

Combined the downtown proposals, many of which are still awaiting word on various state and federal tax credit
approvals, add up to about $100 million in public and nonprofit investments, officials say.

“We've got a lot going on,” said Mayor Stephen DiNatale, noting the city’s recent designation by the state as a
“Transformative Development Initiative” (TDI) district, entitling Fitchburg to state assistance on its downtown
redevelopment efforts. “Our goal is to make the downtown noticed as a place to go and we want to be known as a
business-friendly city.”

Locals hope to spur private development in Fitchburg’s tired
downtown, where even the old City Hall has temporarily closed
up shop. Photo Courtesy of Nick Allen / CC BY-SA 4.0

From Schoolhouse to Creative Economy Housing

NewVue Communities, a nonprofit community development
corporation, is spearheading the more than $20 million BF Brown
I redevelopment project, across the street from the Fitchburg Art

| Museum on Elm Street. The goal: Turning the boarded-up historic
buildings into 62 residential units and work spaces for artists and
others within the “creative economy,” such as graphic designers
. “ and video technicians. The ground floor of the “Fitchburg Arts
Academy” will likely include exhibition space for artists.
“It’s going to be a real attraction for artists,” said Marc Dohan, executive director of NewVue. “Many artists in
Cambridge and Boston are getting priced out of their market and there’s fairly high demand for artist housing [in the
region].”
Nick Capasso, director of the Fitchburg Art Museum, said his institution will coordinate artist programs and is currently
consulting with NewVue on what might be needed to make the center more artistically vibrant and attractive.
“We think it’s going to be a real shot in the arm for Fitchburg’s downtown,” Capasso said of the center, which is
still several years away from getting off the ground.

The planned Main Street Theater Block is being spearheaded by Fitchburg State University, which three years ago
purchased the abandoned, 1,200-seat theater across from the old City Hall for $350,000.
The planned Main Street Theater Block is being spearheaded bv F|tchburg State University, which three years ago

purchased an abandoned, 1,200-seat theater on Miain SUreet across rom the old City Hall for $350,000. The first phazs63 o 282



of the project—a $3 m'”“htchburg State Unlversrty Board of Trustees Age'ﬁaaf ‘T‘uesd:;y‘Ar"JﬂlAz“Z‘OIQ at 8: 00 AMdy been compIEted and
school officials and student have moved in, said Jay Bry, FSU’s vice president of finance and administration. The new

space will also host a new “Ideas Center,” aimed at helping small businesses and entrepreneurs get off the ground. The
project’s second phase, renovation of the now-vacant theater at an estimated cost of $35 million, is still in the design
stage, but Bry said FSU envisions the theater being used by the school for performing arts and school events, with retail
space on the ground floor. The project would be paid via state and federal tax credits, private donations and possibly
some borrowing.

”We want it to be a catalyst for the economic revitalization of the downtown,” said Bry.

. As for the old City Hall, originally built in 1853, officials hope
to start on its $23 million renovation this spring. It sat
empty for four years due to structural problems, including a

fractured roof truss that forced the city to evacuate the
% building in favor of temporary offices.
| Boston-based ICON Architecture is involved in both the BF
y Brown and City Hall projects —and Janis Mamayek of ICON
said she sees their rejuvenation as vital components of
redeveloping downtown Fitchburg as a whole.
“We’'re verv excited by the momentum we’ve seen in

o Powered by BoardOnTrack
== ritcnourg, she said.
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THE LARGEST MBA PROGRAMS IN MASSACHUSETTS

RANKED BY ENROLLMENT AS OF FALL 2018
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THE SENTINEL & ENTERPRISE, FITCHBURG, MASSACHUSETTS

WEDNESDAY, MARCH 13, 2019

IFSU has biggest female Mass. MBA enrollment

FITCHBURG — The Boston
Business Journal’s latest rankings
of MBA programs in Massachu-
setts shows Fitchburg State Uni-
versity boasts the largest program
with majority female enrollment.

The university, which offers face-
to-face and 100 percent online iter-
ations of the MBA program, was
ranked fifth in the state for overall
enrollment, according to the Busi-
ness Journal. Of those top five, only
Fitchburg State had a majority of
women in its program, with more

than 54 percent female students.

Professor Joseph McAloon, who
chairs the MBA program at Fitch-
burg State, said the accelerated 17-
month program and online options
have helped increase enrollment in
the program.

“People are increasingly seeking
new options and greater flexibility
as they pursue advanced degrees,”
McAloon said. “Eighty percent of
working adults are 25 or older. A
successful MBA program requires

bl Aok D o oI [ O [
fI'equenPowered by BoardOnTrack

tuition, a streamlined admissions
process, and a high-quality prod-
uct. These attributes have made
our nationally accredited program,
which can be completed for just
$12,500, attractive to a diverse
group of students. Our graduates
are enhancing their careers on a
schedule that works for them, and
lets them preserve a meaningful
work-life balance.”

To learn more about Fitchburg
State’s MBA options, please visit
fitchburgstate.edu /mba.
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WEDNESDAY, January 30,2019 ~ www.sentinelandenterprise.com

Fitchburg State senior Jules Stackhouse addresses the crowd during the grand opening of FSU’s video game design
studio and entrepreneurship lab in the Theater Block on Main Street. SENTINEL & ENTERPRISE PHOTOS/JOHN LOVE

Tomorrow’s visions start here

Fitchburg State, city leaders celebrate opening of Theater Block
game studio entrepreneurlal lab— and new downtown energy

By Mina Corpuz
mcorpuz@sentinelandenterprise.com

ITCHBURG — After
remaining vacant for
nearly 40 years, Main
Street’s Theater Block
has found new life as a
Fitchburg State Univer-
sity video game design studio and
entrepreneurship lab that brings the
school and community together.

“Part of what we’re doing here is to
create an opportunity to convene dif-
ferent groups of people and to have
opportunities to look at problems,
share ideas, and realize dreams,” said
university President Richard
Lapidus.

University and city officials, stu-
dents, and members of the community
gathered Tuesday for a ribbon cutting
of Phase One of renovations for the
Theater Block — the completed game
design studio and ideal.ab.

Cuttlng the rlbbo are, from Ieft state Rep. Stephan Hay, FSU senior Jules
Stackhouse, FSU President Richard Lapidus and Mayor Stephen DiNatale.
Please see THEATER/8 See slidex)cici by BoardonTracdenterprise.com. 269 of 282
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From PaGE ONE SENTINEL & ENTERPRISE

A

Fitchburg State senior Tyler LaValley of Newburyport talks with junior Rolinda Marcelino, right, of Brockton about the Game Studio Capstone course during

the grand opening of FSU’s video game design studio and entrepreneurship lab in the Theater Block on Main Street.

SENTINEL & ENTERPRISE PHOTOS/JOHN LOVE

FSU studio, lab brmg fresh energy t to Main St.

THEATER/From Page 1

Lapidus said university faculty
and students came up with the
concept for the lab as a place off-

students behlnd computers on
their projects.

By the end of the semester,
Stackhouse hopes he and his
classmates can show off their

- | ]

campus to connect work.
Wifih the COmIIEUI:iiFY He wants to work
and pursue interdis- I . for a video game
ciplinary work. ) ThlS s design company or
The.game design real ly a place develop his own game
studio is where stu- after graduation.
dents can get real- where I f eel Fitchburg State
world experience . )
through internships like I can get 53:: }ﬁ?scelg ltl? ;(’)I‘llge
or capstone projects. my ideas and plans to renovate
“This is really a do 9 itin three phases.
place where I feel wn. The university is
like I can get my Jules Stackhouse, working with NewVue
ideas down,” said FSU senior studying ~Communities on the
Jules Stackhouse, a game design Theater Block. Con-
senior studying struction for Phase
game design. One of the $2.8 million

He’s excited to come to the stu-
dio every day and for the opportu-
nity the university has given him.

On the way to the ideaLab,
attendees peered into the game
design studio and saw about 20

project began in the fall of 2017.

Now that the second floor is
complete, they can move toward
renovating the first floor to put
in storefronts and rehabilitate
the theater.

FSU professor Jeff Warmouth, left, who teaches the Game Studio
Capstone Course at the Idealab, listens with the crowd.

| the Fitchburg Arts Community

FSU President Richard Lapidus addresses the crowd at the ribbon
cutting. Below, FSU senior Denzel Weatherspoon of Leominster
talks about the game he designed called Obsolete Souls.

Mayor Stephen DiNatale said
Fitchburg state has been a good
partner, especially for economic
development in downtown.

“Fitchburg does collaboration
better than any other city I've
encountered,” he said. “We really
do.”

The Theater Block project is
among ongoing redevelopment
projects in the city, which include

and City Hall renovations.

Rep. Stephan Hay said he is
impressed by how much the city
and university have grown over the
years. He’s also looking forward to
work that will come from the lab.

“I can’t wait to read the New
York Times or watch CNN to see
some idea from the Fitchburg
State ideaLiab germinated here,”
Hay said, “so get to work.”

Follow Mina on Twitter

@mlcornu>
Powered by BoardOnTrack
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News

THE SENTINEL & ENTERPRISE, FITCHBURG, MASSACHUSETTS

FITCHBURG — Fitch-
burg State University
continued its streak of
strong showings at the
American Moot Court
Association national
championship this month,
with a team finishing in
the top 10 percent of
teams in North America.

Riley Grinkis, Class of
2018, of Gardner, and
Matthew Murphy, Class
of 2020, of Milton, made it
to the second day of oral
arguments in the national
competition, and also fin-
ished second overall in
the brief writing contest.

Fitchburg State stu-
dents Kajahna Matos,
Class of 2020, of
Lawrence, and Theresa
Klobucher, Class of 2020,
of Lowell, finished 10th in
the brief writing competi-
tion.

The competition pits
students on opposing
sides of legal issues in a
simulated federal appel-
late court setting. The
students are grilled by
panels of judges who ana-
lyze their arguments and
question their perspec-
tives. Fitchburg State’s
program, overseen by Pro-
fessor Paul Weizer, has a
long history of success in
the competition.

Grinkis graduated
from Fitchburg State in

scholarship. Matos and
Klobucher will graduate
from Fitchburg State in
May and will enroll this
fall at UMass Law School
through the “3+3” com-
pact whose graduates will
complete bachelor’s and
law degrees in six years.

Grinkis was competing
for the second time in the
program this year.

“It is truly an honor to
have represented Fitch-
burg State these past two
years and I couldn’t have
asked for a more reward-
ing experience,” she said.
“I honestly cannot think
of a better program or
experience to prepare me
for my next endeavor at
Northeastern University
Law School.

“Moot court has
allowed for me to gain

FSU students recognized at national moot court

experience in legal writ-
ing, oral argument, and
case reading and briefing
before entering law
school, all of which will be
an advantage to have
experienced beforehand,”
she continued. “Moot
court has created an envi-
ronment for me to have a
taste of the legal field and
ensure that it was some-
thing I wanted to do and
loved. I couldn’t be more
grateful for the knowl-
edge and skills I've gained
from participating in
moot court.”

Murphy, who plans to
compete again in 2019,
said the course is chal-
lenging but rewarding.

“The greatest lesson
I've learned from moot
court is that preparation

Please see COURT/6

A
From left, Fitchburg State University’s Matthew Murphy, Riley Grinkis, Kajahna
Matos and Theresa Klobucher recently participated in the American Moot
Court Association national championship.

December and is headed
to Northeastern Univer-
sity Law School on a full

SUBMITTED PHOTO
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and practice are every-
thing,” he said. “The differ-
ence is night and day
between teams that are
well prepared and well-
practiced and teams that
just try to wing it. Our
Fitchburg State teams
more than held their own
against some of the best
teams and most presti-
gious schools in the coun-
try.”

Participating in the
class has shown Murphy
that law school will be his
next educational endeavor.
“Every student consider-
ing law school should take
moot court,” he said. “The
experience gained is
invaluable.”

Matos and Klobucher,
both bound for law school
this fall, concurred.

“Moot court made me
100 percent prepared for
law school,” said Matos. “I
learned strategies to read-

11g cases allu LI L pres-
ent an argument before
the court. Being a part of
the 3+3 program allowed
me to be ahead of the game
and pushed me to further
limits in my college career.
Students like me, who
work two part-time jobs
and are full-time students,
need flexible programs like
this to finish school as fast
as possible.”

Klobucher, who called
moot court the most chal-
lenging course of her col-
lege career, said her criti-
cal thinking skills and
confidence in public speak-
ing were enhanced greatly
by the class.

“By the end of the
course, I nolonger doubted
my ability to speak in front
of an audience and no
longer feared being ques-
tioned,” she said. “Moot
court gave me the confi-
dence I lacked and I am
extremely grateful for Dr.
Weizer’s coaching.”

Klobucher has always
imagined a career in law,

Powered by BoardOnTrack

this program confirmed
her goals.

“I'have always wanted
to be a lawyer,” she said.
“The 3+3 program was the
main reason why I chose
Fitchburg State. Having
the opportunity to start
law school a year early was
an opportunity I felt T
couldn't refuse. However,
it forced me to work
extremely hard and I had
to juggle both school work
and studying for the LSAT.
Balancing this work was
very stressful and limited
my time. However, being
able to start my dream
career early was my moti-
vation throughout the
semester and drove me to
work harder.”

To learn more about the
3+3 program, visit fitch-
burgstate.edu [ academ-
ics/ academic-depart-
ments [ economics-history-a
nd-political-science-
dept/get-a-law-degree-in-
six-years /.
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COMMENTARY

T&G FACULTY FORUM

What can we do to reduce our negative impact on the environment?

ile Central
Massachusetts has
been battling regular

snow and sub-zero tempera-
tures, other areas of the country
and planet have seen devastat-
ing wildfires and other types

of natural disasters. A recent
United Nations report shows
that if nothing is changed, not
only will environmental prob-
lems get worse, but they will also
affect more people. What can be
done by the average person to
reduce our negative impact on the
environment, and decrease the
likelihood of natural disasters,
here in Central Massachusetts,
and elsewhere in the world?

Christopher Picone,
Fitchburg State University

Studying climate change can

leave us depressed and despairing.

Climate scientists are increas-
ingly confident about our “car-
bon budget,” or how much more
carbon dioxide we can add to the
atmosphere before global warm-
ing exceeds 1.5-2 degrees celcius.
We have already warmed 1 degree
celcius, so we now must leave
most fossil fuels in the ground.

Yet that necessary solution
feels almost impossible. Five of
the ten largest corporations on
Earth are fossil fuel companies,
and they impede any real progress
on climate change. Another chal-
lenge is that we have been spoiled
by the cheap, abundant energy
in fossil fuels. While the science
is clear that we need to reduce
emissions dramatically, global
emissions have been increasing
by 1-3% every year. For decades!

So what can we dn?
Powered by BoardOnTrack

We must rapidly transform our
energy infrastructure towards
renewable sources, as the Green
New Deal and the MA100%
Renewable Energy Act would do.
Such ambitious change requires
massive, informed social move-
ments, as well as elected leaders
who value scientific reasoning.

We must also change the way
we produce and eat food, which
accounts for 30 percent of green-
house gas emissions. Those
emissions are reduced by agroeco-
logical techniques such as diver-
sified crops, perennial plants,
integrated livestock, organic
fertilizers, and reduced tillage.
Eating less meat is also necessary.

Focusing on food develops
solutions that beget more solu-
tions. Agroecological farming
builds soil organic matter which
pulls carbon dioxide out of the
atmosphere. Such farms are
more resilient to droughts and
extreme rainfall, which are more
common as our climate changes.
These farms also serve as ref-
uges for biodiversity, require less
pesticides, and improve nutri-
tion for farming communities.

Just a few generations past, we
defeated global threats of fascism
by transforming our economy,
trusting science, and fostering a
sense of duty and self-sacrifice. If
we did it once, we can do it again.

Christopher Picone, Ph.D.,
is a professor of ecology and
environmental science at
Fitchburg State University.
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Fitchburg State University students, from left, Tyler Lavalley, Jaime Vasquez, and Jules Stackhouse give each other
feedback on their projects Monday in the IdeaLab on Main Street, Fitchburg. [PHOTO/BRITTANY VERMILYEA]

FSU opens IdealLab
for game design,
entrepreneurial ventures

By Paula]. Owen
Correspondent

FITCHBURG - Fitchburg State
University officials envision the
space in the renovated Theater
Block on Main Street as a hub
of intellectual capital that will
attract creative minds to start
their businesses in Fitchburg.

The IdeaLab, at 717 Main St. in
downtown, includes interdisci-
plinary entrepreneurship space
as well as a state-of-the-art game
design studio for FSU studentsin
that program, which is the first of
its kind in a public institution in
the Northeast.

Fitchburg State University is
working to generate interest in the
lab and has targeted prospective
entrepreneurs in the area.

Though it recently opened the
IdeaLab, Fitchburg State plans
an official ribbon-cutting cer-
emony and open house at 10 a.m.
Tuesday.

FSU is completing renovations
to the theater block in phases,
in partnership with NewVue
Communities.

Inthe first phase, 7,000 square
feet of space on the second floor
wasrenovated. The area includes
a computer lab and co-working
space for the game design pro-
gram, and an entrepreneurship

That’s the idea

center with “idealab” and flexible
event and meeting space.

Renovations also are planned
to 6,000 square feet of space on
the first floor that will include the
reconfiguration of retail space for
student -led businesses, as well as
restaurant and other retail busi-
nesses. The university also plans
to restore and rehabilitate the
25,000-square-foot, 1,600-seat
theater for the theater program
with potential use by community
organizations.

FSU purchased the Main Street
theater block, which was vacant
for nearly 30 years, for $350,000
in November 2016 to help revi-
talize the distressed section of
downtown, and embarked on a
multimillion-dollar renovation
project.

FSU President Richard S.
Lapidus said the university
bought the property in an effort
to expand the campus footprint
downtown and create opportuni-
ties for interdisciplinary learning
and entrepreneurship studies.
The university is also hoping the
project will make the area more
appealing to students, to help
keep them in the city.

Game design classes started in
the space last week, and NewVue
Communities, Reimagine North
of Main and MassDevelopment
have set up offices in the space,
Mr. Lapidus said.

“It is a centralized location of
activity,” he said. “Part of the

Powered by BoardOnTrack

vision was to establish one-stop
shopping for students to under-
stand how to start, build and
grow a business. All theresources
required are right there in their
hands to do that.”

He said the IdeaLab also gives
students in the game design pro-
gram an authentic experience.

“Every student puts their hands
on ameaningful project that sup-
ports their interests,” he said.
“When we first started talking
to faculty and students, there
was tremendous interest to go
and play, get off campus and try
new ideas. As a public institu-
tion, we’reresponsible toleverage
expertise we have here to help the
community thrive. The ideaLab
is for those who have interest-
ing ideas and need expertise or a
place to convene. We see it as a
triangulation point for all differ-
ent populations to get together
and talk.”

NewVue Communities
Executive Director Marc Dohan
said the IdeaLab will bring pro-
spective entrepreneurs together.
Expertise from his organization
and the university will make it
a great place for Fitchburg resi-
dents, FSU students and alumni
to learn from each other and
help spur Fitchburg’s creative
economy.

“It’s taking people who have a
dream and helping them realize

See IDEA, B2
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it,” Mr. Dohan said.

Jeff Warmouth, FSU professor
in the department of communica-
tions media, said the game studio
course offered in the Theater Block
is a capstone graduation require-
ment course for FSU’s game
design program. The 12-credit
class that Mr. Warmouth team-
teaches with colleague Jonathan
Amakawa attempts to mirror the
experience of working full-time in
a professional game studio startup
company, he said. Students are
required to complete 36 to 48 hours
aweek of supervised and/or inde-
pendent practice.

This semester 22 students are
enrolled in the course, he said,
working on industry-standard
workstations running professional
game engines and development
software.

“The class started (Tuesday)
morning,” Mr. Warmouth said
last week. “The students will spend
their first week developing pitches
and prototypes for games they
would like to spend the semester
developing. Next Monday they
will present these prototypes to
the faculty, and we will determine -
with their input - which projectsto
green-light. We will then organize
into game development teams.”

One of the main goals of the
courseistoenable studentstotran-
sition to professionals, he said.

“The Theater Block is an excel -
lent satellite location for this to
happen,” he said. “It is just far
enough from the main campus to
get students out of their comfort
zone and to start thinking like
professional game developers. We
hope that they will have conver -
sations with the other users of the

- Agenda - Tuesday April 2, 2019 at 8:00 Al
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eal.ab, and begin thinking about
business plans.”

Each semester, students decide
how they will manage copyright
of their work, Mr. Warmouth
explained, and sofar, all students
have opted for the MIT license
that allows anyone to modify,
release, distribute, publish or sell
the product.

“The idea is that a project that
is co-developed by a large team
should have a relatively permis-
sive license,” he said. “If any
team members wished to take
the project created in game studio
and rework it and add content,
they could do so and then sell the
project. For students trying to
break into the industry, it makes
more sense for their works to be
available for potential employ-
ers to see, rather than behind a
paywall.”

This year is the fifth time FSU
has offered the game studio pro-
gram, Mr. Warmouth said, though
the first time in its new permanent
location in the Theater Block.

“We are the only bachelor’s
degree in game design in a public
university in New England,” he
added.

FSU sees itself as an anchor in
the community, Mr. Lapidus said,
and the additional visibility on
Main Street “can’t hurt.”

“A couple of years from now
we’ll realize our dream of open-
ing the theater,” he said.

Architects have produced ren-
derings of the proposed theater
and engineers have gone through
the theater, Mr. Lapidus said, and
confirmed the project’s viability,
suitability and safety.

“It’s solid as arock,” he said.

Consultants are helping with
philanthropy and financing,
he said, that will be “cobbled
together” and include historic and
new market tax credits.

HH fea Ml S -
The ceiling of the IdealLal Powered by BoardOnTrack

various styles of digital game artwork. [PHOTO/BRITTANY VERMILYEA]
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For gateway
cities to thrive,
partnerships matter

ateway cities face challenges unique to their
roles as welcoming communities for new
arrivals in this country from all over the world.

vV v v Vv ¥V

At the same time, these old mill
towns strive to reinvent them-
selves into economic engines of the
21st century.

And while success in accomplish-
ing these daunting tasks may vary,
Fitchburg and Lowell have been
able to forge working relationships
with the higher education commu-
nity, to the benefit of both parties.

The phase-one ribbon-cutting
earlier this week of Fitchburg State
University’s renovation of Main
Street’s Theater Block serves as the
latest example of that town-gown
partnership.

After sitting virtually vacant for
nearly two decades, the Theater
Block initially will house FSU’s
video game design studio and
entrepreneurship lab.

When the university purchased
the Theater Block in November 2016,
it announced plans to rehab the
structure in three stages, to bring
students and foot traffic downtown.

Construction for the $2.8 million
project’s first phase, funded by the
university’s operational resources,
began in the fall of 2017. That
entailed stripping the roughly
6,000-square-foot space to the studs.

FSU President Richard Lapidus
said the Idea Center will provide
support and planning for students
and community members inter-
ested in entrepreneurship. For
example, game design students
will get real-world experience
through internships.

With the second floor completed,
first-floor renovations will com-
mence, rehabilitating the theater
and providing storefront space.

Mayor Stephen DiNatale

Powered by BoardOnTrack

praised FSU for its role in spurring
economic development downtown.

Fitchburg’s experience with FSU
mirrors Middlesex Community Col-
lege’s effort to transform an historic
building in downtown Lowell into a
home for its theater, music and dance
program. The 1876 Rialto Building,
once a Boston & Maine railroad
depot, debuted as the Richard and
Nancy Donahue Family Academic
Arts Center last September.

The multi-purpose structure,
which once housed theaters and
bowling alleys, dodged demolition
in 1989 thanks to the Lowell His-
toric Preservation Commission.
The Lowell National Historical
Park renovated the exterior. MCC
took ownership in 2008.

The renovated center features a
large, egg-shaped structure with a
190-seat proscenium theater, 103-
seat music recital hall and 900-
square-foot dance studio.

Of the $21 million spent, about
$13 million came from the state
Division of Capital Asset Manage-
ment and Maintenance and about
$8 million came through the college.

That funding couldn’t have
occurred without the city’s State-
house delegation and other stake-
holders. As City Manager — and
former state senator — Eileen
Donoghue said at the unveiling of
this inviting new gateway, “it
really does take a village” to move
something of this scope from con-
cept to fruition.

And now Fitchburg State Uni-
versity, like MCC and UMass Low-
ell, have experienced the concrete
results that come from being a part-

ner in its city’s urban revitalization.
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Among those at Fitchburg State University talking about Title IX were Laura Bayless, left, the vice president of student affairs,

and Amanda Sapienza, the Fitchburg Anti-Violence Education co-coordinator.

SENTINEL & ENTERPRISE/JOHN LOVE

Title IX changes? FSU officials say they’re ready

By Mina Corpuz Vice President of Student Affairs Laura Bay-
mcorpuz@sentinelandenterprise.com less. “We have all the right people at the
FITCHBURG — As the U.S. Department  table to address the problem.”
of Education considers changes to the law Campus sexual assault and misconduct
that lays out how schools investigate sexual ~ are often addressed through Title IX, a fed-
assault and harassment, Fltchburg State eral civil I'lghtS law that pI'OhlbltS discrimi-
University officials say the school has builta  nation on the basis of sex for education pro-
system that supports survivors, educates grams and activities that receive federal
students and focuses on prevention. funding.
“We’re making very good strides,” said Fitchburg State has an investigative

model to handle complaints, a policy that it
shares with the other state universities. It
addresses sexual violence such as rape,
assault, domestic violence as well as stalking
and harassment.

Students can file a formal complaint with
the Title IX coordinator, campus police, resi-
dence life, and other university staff. There
is the option to report anonymously and on

Please see TITLE IX/5

Powered by BoardOnTrack
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Dean of Students Affairs Bill Cummings, left, and Robert Hynes, the
co-coordinator of the Fitchburg Anti-Violence Education program, discuss Title
IX at Fitchburg State.

SENTINEL & ENTERPRISE/JOHN LOVE

FSU makes ‘strides’ to combat
sexual assaults, harrassment

TITLE IX/From Page 1

behalf of another person.

Investigations include a private inter-
view with the person who filed the com-
plaint, witnesses, and the person who
allegedly committed the act, according to
university policy.

Alternative dispute resolution is also
possible.

Kristen Murphy, the university’s Title
IX coordinator, said there is an individu-
alized approach to handling complaints
and providing accommodations for sur-
vivors.

Bayless said she wants to make sure
that the university is doing what it can to
help all students involved in the process
whether they are the one who filed the
complaint and or is the subject of it.

In November, the U.S. Department of
Education proposed changes to Title IX.

“That starts with having clear policies
and fair processes that every student can
rely on,” Education Secretary Betsy
DeVos said in a statement. “Every sur-
vivor of sexual violence must be taken
seriously, and every student accused of
sexual misconduct must know that guilt
is not predetermined.”

Schools would have to respond to all
known reports of sexual harassment and
investigate formal complaints.

The proposed rules would require live
hearings, written notice of allegations
with the opportunity to review evidence,
and the right cross-examine.

DeVos's office is collecting public com-
ments about the proposed rules.

The American Council on Education
wrote a 33-page letter to the education
secretary expressing concerns that about
60 educational organizations signed.

Among those are groups that some
Massachusetts state universities, Uni-
versity of Massacuhsetts schools, and
public community colleges belong.

A main concern expressed in the letter
was having live hearings and cross exam-
ination.

Another is how the changes could
require schools to dismiss complaints
that don’t fall under the definitions in
Title IX, like if a sexual assault involving
two students happened at an off-campus
house owned by a fraternity or while stu-
dents were abroad through a school pro-
gram.

Fitchburg State officials saidPowered by BoardOnTraclina on Twitter @mlcorpi278 of 282

watching for any changes to Title IX.

In the meantime, it is focusing on edu-
cation about sexual assault and harass-
ment and prevention efforts.

Amanda Sapienza and Robert Hynes
are co-coordinators of the Fitchburg Anti-
Violence program at the university, which
was started in 2010 through a Depart-
ment of Justice grant.

In the past year, Fitchburg State
implemented a program for all incoming
students that teaches students about sex-
ual harassment and assault.

Sapienza said in April, FAVE is plan-
ning for Sexual Assault Awareness Month
that could include Title IX programming.

She and Hynes have noticed that stu-
dents are more aware about sexual
assault and are finding ways to address
the issue, like by participating in events
on campus like Take Back the Night and
helping organize exhibits like “What
Were You Wearing?” to share stories of
people who have been sexually assaulted.

“People want to have the conversation
and be involved,” Hynes said.

When the FAVE program began, there
was a slight spike in the number of com-
plaints, Cummings said, which reflects
how some students have felt comfortable
reporting sexual harassment or assault,
crimes that are often underreported.

“We see students are more willing to
engage in the process,” he said.

Fitchburg State University Police
received 11 rape reports between 2015
and 2017, according to the university’s
most recent annual security and fire
report. Most of the crimes occurred on
campus.

In that same period, there were 13
reported domestic violence crimes and
two reported crimes relating to dating
violence, according to the report.

It also included five reported crimes
for fondling and 33 for stalking.

There has also been more awareness
about Title IX and what it means for stu-
dents.

When Cummings began as dean about
a decade ago, people didn’t know what
the law was. Now students are coming in
aware of their rights under the law and
are paying attention to federal policy that
could change it, he said.

Some students reached out to his office
about submitting letters to the U.S.
Department of Education.
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womenin arts

FITCHBURG —
Fitchburg State Uni-
versity’s observations
of Women’s History
Month continue next
week with a show-
case celebrating
women in the arts.

“Women in the
Arts” will be cele-
brated at 4 p.m.

Thursday, March 21 in Kent Recital Hall in the
Conlon Fine Arts Building, 367 North St. Admis-
sion is free and open to the public. The program will
feature music, visual art, poetry, and film by women
from the university community, including students,
faculty, staff, and administration.

“We're celebrating the creative force of women
artists, including exhibiting paintings, musical per-
formances, poetry readings, and short film screen-
ings, all in one place, and for free,” said Professor
Jonathan Harvey, a member of the committee organ-
izing Fitchburg State’s month-long series of events.

The event is co-sponsored by Women, Gender
and Sexuality Studies; Feminist Conversations;
and the Department of Eeanamics History and

Political Sciericd &t $3 b s Seae Sniversicy. O 282
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Performances, lectures highlight
Women'’s History Month at FSU

FITCHBURG — Fitchburg
State University will observe
Women’s History Month with a
series of talks and performances
highlighting the work of students
as well as guest lecturers including
Boston Globe associate editor and
columnist Renée Graham.

The observations begin with
International Women’s Day on
Tuesday, March 5, when empower-
ment-themed student organiza-
tions will make presentations from
1to 2 p.m. in room GO1 of Ham-
mond Hall, 160 Pearl St.

Participating organizations
include Feminist Conversations,
Fitchburg Anti-Violence Education,
the Gay Straight Alliance, Sigma
Sigma Sigma, Phi Sigma Sigma,

Alpha Sigma
Tau, and World
Integrated
Nations.

The event
continues at 2
p.m. with the
“Herstory” dis-
cussion circle
facilitated by
students in Pro-
fessor Viera Lorencova’s intercul-
tural communication class and Pro-
fessor Ozge Ozay’s political
economy of gender class.

The International Women’s Day
observations are co-sponsored by
Women, Gender and Sexuality
Studies; the International Educa-
tion Office; Communications Media

Graham

Department; and the student club
Feminist Conversations.

Also at 5 p.m. Tuesday, March 5
acclaimed novelist, playwright,
poet, and journalist Dacia Maraini
will discuss her work in the Falcon
Hub at Hammond Hall, 160 Pearl
St.

The daughter of a Sicilian
princess and a Florentine ethnolo-
gist, Maraini was interned in a
Japanese concentration camp with
her family for refusing to recognize
Mussolini's Republic of Salo. She
went on to become one of the clear-
est voices for social justice of her
generation. During a life of world
travel, she has written novels,

Please see WOMEN/5

Performances, lectures highlight

Women'’s History Month at FSU

WOMEN/From Page 3

short stories, plays, sev-
eral investigative studies,
and collections of poetry
and essays, and her works
have been translated into
more than 30 languages
and adapted for award-
winning films.

Mariani’s talk is spon-
sored by the Center for
Italian Culture and the
Division of Arts & Sci-
ences.

Music, poetry, dance
and more will be featured
at Women in The Arts: A
Celebration for Women’s
History Month at 4 p.m.
Thursday, March 21 in
Kent Recital Hall in the
Conlon Fine Arts Building,
367 North St. The event is
co-sponsored by Women,
Gender and Sexuality
Studies; Feminist Conver-
sations; and the Depart-
ment of Economics, His-
tory and Political Science.

The annual
Lead(h)ership Conference
will be held from 2 to 5
p.m. Friday, March 29 in
Hammond Hall. The
theme for this year’s event
is “Breaking Boundaries,”
and is co-sponsored by
Women, Gender and Sexu-
ality Studies and Feminist
Conversations. Feminist
Conversations, a recently
formed student group on
campus, has designed this
conference as a series of
workshops in which partic-
ipants will literally break
barriers in their explo-

ration of contemporary
gender-linked issues.
Aligned with the theme of
the conference, this year’s
sessions will challenge tra-
ditional conference for-
mats, and offer instead
practical, interactive, and
collaborative sessions in
which attendees will be
active and engaged partici-
pants focused interviewing
skills, brand management,
and self-care. While there
will be sign-ups to reserve
a spot, the registration
process will not be prohibi-
tive; students will be able
to walk into any of the ses-
sions. This event is open to
anyone who would like to
attend, regardless of their
gender practice or identifi-
cation. Please email fem-
con@student.fitchburg.edu
to register.

Boston Globe Associate
Editor and Columnist
Renée Graham will deliver
the annual Nancy Kelly
Memorial Lecture at 4 p.m.
Thursday, April 11 in Pres-
idents’ Hall in the Mazza-
ferro Center, 291 Highland
Ave. “Women on the Hill:
2018 and Beyond” is co-
sponsored by the univer-
sity’s Economics, History
and Political Science
Department; the English
Studies Department;
Women, Gender and Sexu-
ality Studies; and Feminist
Conversations.

The university’s
Women’s History Month
observances are organized

by a committee iPowered by BoardOnTrack

MARCH 5, 2019

INTERNATIONAL
WOMEN'’S DAY

MARCH 5, 2019 1:00 - 3:30 PM
HAMMOND HALL GO1

Fem

faculty members DeMisty
Bellinger-Delfled (English
Studies), Katharine
Covino-Poutasse (English
Studies), Viera Lorencov-
(Communications Media),
Ozge Ozay (Economics,
History and Political Sci-
ence), Jonathan Harvey
(Humanities) and student
Kaitlynn Chase, from the
Feminist Conversations
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Executive Session

Section: X. Executive Session
Item: A. Executive Session
Purpose: Vote

Submitted by:
Related Material: VOTE Executive Session April 2, 2019.pdf

Powered by BoardOnTrack 281 of 282



Fitchburg State University - Board of Trustees - Agenda - Tuesday April 2, 2019 at 8:00 AM

Fitchburg State University
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION

DATE:

TO: Board of Trustees
April 2, 2018

FROM: The President REQUEST NUMBER:
22-18/19

SUBJECT: Executive Session

It is requested that the Board of Trustees of Fitchburg State University enter into executive

session to discuss honorary degrees, and not to return to open session.

Powered by BoardOnTrack
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